
 
 
A meeting of the Council will be held in the Civic Hall, Leeds on Wednesday, 2nd 
July, 2008 at 1.30 pm 
 
Members of the Council are invited to attend and transact the following business: 
 
 

 CONTENTS 2ND JULY 08 

1. Minutes  

 To confirm the minutes of the Annual Council Meeting held on 22nd May 2008. 
  
 

2. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members 
  
 

3. Communications  

 To receive such communications as the Lord Mayor, the Leader,  Members of the 
Executive Board or the Chief Executive consider appropriate  
 

4. Deputations  

 To receive deputations in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10  
 

5. Reports  

 To consider reports as follows (the Chief Executive considers that these reports are 
appropriate to be received at this meeting in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 2.2(f)): 
 
(a) That the following nominations for receipt of the Leeds Award be approved 

and that the Lord Mayor be requested to undertake an appropriate award 
ceremony: 

 
 Sir Jimmy Saville OBE 
 Mr Stanley Cundle 
 Stuart Firth 
 Sheila Miller 
 Kim Milner 
 Dawn Newsome 
 

R BRETT 
 
(b) That the Scrutiny Boards’ Annual Report to Council prepared in accordance 

with Article 6 of the Constitution be approved 
 

J PROCTER 
 

(c) That the report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) on 

Public Document Pack



appointments be noted 
 

J PROCTER 
  
 

6. Questions  

 To deal with questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11  
 

7. Recommendations of the Executive Board  

   
That reports be approved as follows: 
  
a) The report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance)on 
recommendations of the Executive Board in relation to the Safer Leeds Partnership 
Plan 
 
b) The report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 
on recommendations of the Executive Board in relation to the Council Business Plan  
 
c) The report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 
on recommendations of the Executive Board in relation to the Leeds Strategic Plan  
 
 
 

R BRETT 
  
 

8. Recommendations of the Standards Committee  

 That the report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance), on the 
recommendation of the Standards Committee that the annual report of the 
Committee be received, be approved. 
 

C CAMPBELL  
 

9. Recommendations of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee  

 That the report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance), on the 
recommendation of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee that the annual 
report of the committee be received, be approved 
 

J BALE 
  
 

10. Minutes  

 To receive the minutes in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 2.2(m) 
 

R BRETT 
  
 

11. White Paper Motion - Unacceptable High Levels of Truancy  

 This Council condemns the Conservative and Liberal Democrat coalition for the 
current unacceptably high levels of unauthorised absence in many schools in Leeds 
and is appalled that two of the three schools with the worst records for truancy in 



England are in Leeds.  
 
Recognising that high levels of truancy have an enormous impact on outcomes for 
young people and their communities, council therefore instructs the Conservative 
and Liberal Democrat administration to make tackling truancy a key priority, so that 
levels of unauthorised absence in Leeds schools are substantially reduced. 
 
In addition, Council requests that the Executive Board members for Learning and 
Environment and Neighbourhoods work together and investigate the links between 
high levels of truancy, low educational performance, and incidents of crime and anti 
social behaviour, and report their findings to the Executive Board this autumn. 
 

L MULHERIN 
  
 

12. White Paper Motion - Control of Lap Dancing Clubs  

 This Council welcomes the moves by Roberta Blackman-Woods MP and the 
Licensing Minister Gerry Sutcliffe to give local authorities more power to control the 
number of lap-dancing clubs within their boundaries, and urges Leeds City Council 
to support these proposed changes 
 

J BLAKE 

  
 

13. White Paper Motion - Fish Migration  

 Council notes that prior to the Industrial Revolution the local rivers were famous for 
their fish, and that recent improvements in water quality have resulted in salmon re-
colonising the lower reaches of the River Aire. Unfortunately further fish migration to 
potential spawning grounds in the Yorkshire Dales is impeded, principally by 
Knostrop Weir and by other smaller weirs in the Kirkstall Valley. 
 
Council considers that it would add considerably to Leeds reputation if salmon were 
often seen to jump the local weirs, and that this could bring economic and 
environmental benefits to the entire city. 
 
Council therefore instructs the Chief Executive to report on the possible inclusion of 
fish passes around major weirs in the relevant Area Action Plans, to investigate the 
opportunities for joint funding, and also to prepare a fishing and fish conservation 
policy for consideration by Executive Board. 
 

J ILLINGWORTH 
  
 

14. White Paper Motion - Unacceptable High Levels of Child Poverty and Lower 
Life Expectancy  

 This Council notes the Government’s recent changes to the tax system hitting the 
poorest in society, the unacceptably high levels of child poverty and lower life 
expectancy in the most deprived areas of Leeds and the high level of demand for 
social housing in the city. 
 
This Council calls for the government to devote resources from the WNF for Leeds 
 

R BRETT 
  
 



15. White Paper Motion Submitted Under the Provisions of Council Procedure 
Rule 3.1(d) - Plastic Carrier Bags  

 This Council recognises the growing public concern about the environmental 
damage caused by Britain's use of an estimated 13 billion single use plastic carrier 
bags every year.   This Council therefore calls on the government to act on its 
pledge to legislate to end the provision of free plastic bags.  
 
Council further resolves to minimise its own use and promotion of plastic bags, 
including investigating promoting the use of bags for life in our own outlets and 
promoting the use of domestic green bins for the disposal of plastic bags.   
 
Council resolves to take a lead in reducing free bag provision by launching a Leeds-
wide campaign to gain voluntary agreement between the Council, business, and 
other interested parties to end the practice of providing free plastic bags within the 
City. 
 

R BRETT 
  
 

 
 

Chief Executive 
Civic Hall 
Leeds 
LS1 1UR 
 
 
NOTE – The order in which White Paper motions will be debated will be determined by 
Whips prior to the meeting 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



LEEDS CITY COUNCIL   
2ND JULY  2008 
 
CONTENTS 
 
Item  
No 
 
1 Minutes of Council – 22nd May 2008 ....................................................... 1 
 
5 Reports 
 
 (a) Leeds Award .................................................................................... - 
 (b) Scrutiny Boards’ Annual Report ...................................................... 5 
 (c) Appointments ............................................................................... 65 
 
7 Recommendations of the Executive Board 
 
 (a) Safer Leeds Partnership Plan ...................................................... 69 
 (b) Council Business Plan ................................................................. 97 
 (c)       Leeds Strategic Plan .................................................................. 143 
 
8 Recommendations of the Standards Committee ............................. 217 
 
9 Recommendations of the Corporate Governance and  
 Audit Committee. ......................................................................................247 
 
10 Minutes: 
 
 (a) Executive Board –  
  16th April, 14th May and 11th June 2008....................................... 281 
 
 (b) Overview and Scrutiny Committee- 
  8th April 2008 .............................................................................. 304 
 
 (c) Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) –  
  10th April and 24th April 2008....................................................... 311 
 
 (d) Scrutiny Board (City Development) -  
  18th March and 22nd April  2008 .................................................. 321 
 
 (e) Scrutiny Board (Culture and Leisure) –  
  14th April 2008............................................................................. 334 
 
 (f) Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) – 
  26th March and 13th May 2008 ................................................... 341 
 
 (g) Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social Care) - 
  17th March and 21st April 2008 .................................................... 350 
 
 (h) Scrutiny Board (Resources) - 
  2nd and 25th April  2008 ............................................................... 364 
 
 (i) Standards Committee – 
  14th April  2008 ........................................................................... 380 
  
NOTE: For Internet purposes, the minutes referred to in this index can be found under the individual 
headings for each of the Boards, Panels or Committees referred to. 



 
 (j) Employment Committee - 
  1st April 2008.. ............................................................................. 385 
 
 (k) Plans Panel (East) - 
  10th April, 8th May and 5th June 2008........................................... 386 
 
 (l) Plans Panel (West) – 
  20th March, 17th April and 15th May 2008 .................................... 419 
 
 (m) Plans Panel (City Centre) - 
  27th March, 24th April and 21st May 2008..................................... 439 
 
 (n) Licensing and Regulatory Panel – 
  6th May and 3rd June 2008........................................................... 472 
 
 (o) Corporate Governance and Audit Committee – 
  19th March, 23rd April and 14th May 2008 .................................... 482 
 
 (p) Member Management Committee – 
  8th April 2008............................................................................... 496 
 
 (q) North West (Inner) Area Committee – 
  3rd April 2008............................................................................... 497 
 
 (r) North West (Outer) Area Committee – 
  14th April 2008 ............................................................................ 508 
 
 (s) North East (Inner) Area Committee – 
  17th April 2008 ............................................................................ 514 
 
 (t) North East (Outer) Area Committee – 
  31st March 2008 ......................................................................... 518 
 
 (u) East (Outer) Area Committee – 
  15th April 2008  ........................................................................... 522 
 
 (v) South (Inner) Area Committee – 
  8th  April 2008 ............................................................................. 529 
 
 (w) South (Outer) Area Committee – 
  14thApril 2008 ............................................................................. 537 
 
 (x) West (Inner) Area Committee – 
  3rd April 2008 .............................................................................. 544 
 
 (y) West (Outer) Area Committee – 
  18th April 2008 ............................................................................ 550 
  
 
 
 
 
NOTE: For Internet purposes, the minutes referred to in this index can be found under the individual 
headings for each of the Boards, Panels or Committees referred to. 

 



 
Proceedings of the Meeting of the Leeds City Council held at the  

Civic Hall, Leeds on Thursday, 22nd May, 2008 
 
PRESENT: 
 

The Lord Mayor Councillor Brian Cleasby in the Chair 

WARD WARD 
  
ADEL & WHARFEDALE CALVERLEY & FARSLEY 
  
Barry John Anderson  
John Leslie Carter  
Clive Fox 
 

Andrew Carter 
Joseph William Marjoram 
Frank Robinson 
 

ALWOODLEY CHAPEL ALLERTON 
  
Ronald David Feldman 
Ruth Feldman 
Peter Mervyn Harrand 
 

Eileen Taylor 
Mohammed Rafique 
Jane Dowson 
 

ARDSLEY & ROBIN HOOD CITY & HUNSLET 
  
Karen Renshaw 
Jack Dunn  
Lisa Mulherin 
 

Elizabeth Nash 
Patrick Davey 
Mohammed Iqbal 
 

ARMLEY CROSS GATES & WHINMOOR 
  
Alison Natalie Kay Lowe 
James McKenna 
Janet Harper 
 

Suzi Armitage 
Pauleen Grahame 
Peter John Gruen 
 

BEESTON & HOLBECK FARNLEY & WORTLEY 
  
Angela Gabriel 
Adam Ogilvie 
David Congreve 
 

David Blackburn 
Ann Blackburn  
Luke Russell 
 

BRAMLEY & STANNINGLEY GARFORTH & SWILLINGTON 
  
Angela Denise Atkinson  
Ted Hanley 
Neil Taggart 
 

Andrea McKenna 
Mark Dobson 
Thomas Murray 
 

BURMANTOFTS & RICHMOND HILL GIPTON & HAREHILLS 
  
Ralph Pryke 
Richard Brett  
David Hollingsworth 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Alan Leonard Taylor 
Arif Hussain 
Roger Harington 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



GUISELEY & RAWDON MORLEY NORTH 
  
Graham Latty 
Stuart Andrew  
John Bale 
 

Robert Finnigan 
Robert William Gettings 
Thomas Leadley 
 

HAREWOOD MORLEY SOUTH 
  
Ann Castle 
Rachael Procter  
Alec Shelbrooke 
 

Judith Elliot 
Terrence Grayshon 
Christopher James Beverley 
 

HEADINGLEY OTLEY & YEADON 
  
Jamie Matthews 
James John Monaghan 
Martin Hamilton 
 

Graham Peter Kirkland 
Colin Campbell 
Ryk Downes 
 

HORSFORTH PUDSEY 
  
Christopher Townsley 
Andrew Barker  
Brian Cleasby 
 

Josephine Patricia Jarosz 
Richard Alwyn Lewis  
Mick Coulson 
 

HYDE PARK & WOODHOUSE ROTHWELL 
  
Penny Ewens 
Kabeer Hussain 
Linda Valerie Rhodes-Clayton 
 

Donald Michael Wilson 
Steve Smith 
Barry Stewart Golton 
 

KILLINGBECK & SEACROFT ROUNDHAY 
  
Graham Hyde 
Veronica Morgan  
Brian Michael Selby 
 

Matthew Lobley 
Valerie Kendall 
Paul Wadsworth 
 

KIPPAX & METHLEY TEMPLE NEWSAM 
  
John Keith Parker 
James Lewis 
Keith Ivor Wakefield 
 

William Schofield Hyde  
Jacqueline Langdale 
Michael Lyons 
 

KIRKSTALL WEETWOOD 
  
Lucinda Joy Yeadon 
John Anthony Illingworth 
Bernard Peter Atha 
 

Ben Chastney 
Susan Bentley 
Judith Mara Chapman 
 

MIDDLETON PARK WETHERBY 
  
Geoffrey Driver 
Judith Blake 
Debra Ann Coupar 
 

Gerald Wilkinson 
Alan James Lamb 
John Michael Procter 
 

MOORTOWN  
  
Mark Daniel Harris 
Brenda Lancaster  
Richard Harker 

 

 

Page 2



 
1 Election of Lord Mayor  

It was moved by Councillor A Carter, seconded by Councillor D Blackburn, supported 
by Councillors Parker, Townsley and Elliott and 
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY – That Councillor Frank Robinson be elected the Lord 
Mayor of the City of Leeds to hold office until the date of the Annual meeting of the 
Council in 2009. 
 
Councillor Robinson made the declaration of acceptance of office and took the Chair. 
 

2 Vote of Thanks to Retiring Lord  Mayor  
Councillor Lancaster moved a vote of thanks to the retiring Lord Mayor, Councillor 
Cleasby. This was seconded by Councillor Iqbal, supported by Councillors Bale, 
Grayshon and A Blackburn. 
 

3 Deputy Lord Mayor  
It was moved by the Lord Mayor seconded by Councillor Hamilton and 
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY – That Councillor Gerald Wilkinson be appointed 
Deputy Lord Mayor of the City of Leeds to hold office until the date of the Annual 
meeting of the Council in 2009. 
 

4 Minutes  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Council meeting held on 9th April 2008 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

5 Election of Leader  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor J Procter and 
 
RESOLVED – To elect as leader Councillor Brett for the period 22nd May 2008 to 30th 
November 2008 and Councillor A Carter for the period commencing  1st December 
2008 to the Annual Meeting in 2009 
 

6 Amendments to the Constitution  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations of the Corporate Governance and Audit 
Committee with regard to amendments to the Constitution as detailed in the report of 
the Chief Democratic Services Officer be approved. 
 

7 Establishment of Committees  and Appropriate Terms of Reference  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That Committees be established having Terms of Reference as 
detailed in Schedule (8)(a) to the agenda subject to an amended introductory page 
as circulated at the meeting. 
 

8 Membership of Committees, Boards and Panels  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – 
(a) That appointments to Committees, Boards and Panels as detailed in 

Schedule 8(b)(i) as circulated at the meeting be approved, subject to 
amendments to replace the name of Councillor G Hyde with that of Councillor 

Page 3



Dowson on the Licensing and Regulatory Panel, that of Councillor Illingworth 
with that of Councillor E Taylor on the Scrutiny Board (Adult Social Care) and 
that of Councillor E Taylor with that of Councillor Illingworth on the Scrutiny 
Board (Health); alternative arrangements in accordance with Section 17 of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1979 being applicable to this schedule. 

(b) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) be authorised, in 
consultation with appropriate Whips, to change appointments now made, 
during the period between this meeting and the next ordinary meeting of 
Council. 

 
9 Membership of the Standards Committee  

It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That appointments to the Standards Committee as detailed in 
Schedule 8(b)(ii) circulated at the meeting be approved. 
 

10 Appointments to Outside Organisations  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That appointments to outside organisations as detailed in Schedule 
8(c) circulated at the meeting be approved. 
 

11 Scheme of Delegation  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That the Officer Delegation Scheme (Council (Non-Executive) 
Functions) as detailed in Schedule 9 be approved. 
 

12 Calendar of Meetings  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That the Calendar of Meetings as contained in Schedule 10 to the 
agenda be approved. 
 

13 Executive Functions  
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton seconded by Councillor Gruen and 
 
RESOLVED – That the list presented by the Leader setting out the arrangements for 
the discharge of executive functions detailed in Schedule 11 and on the amended 
page circulated at the meeting be noted. 
 
 
 
Council rose at 7.30 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Foreword         page 3

Work of the Boards page 4

Overview and Scrutiny Committee     page 5

Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) page 8

Scrutiny Board (City Development) page 14

Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) page 24

Scrutiny Board (Health and Social Care) page 33

Scrutiny Board (Culture and Leisure) page 38

 Scrutiny Board (Resources)      page 46

Developing Scrutiny       page 57

List of publications        page 60

2

Page 6



Cllr Pauleen Grahame, Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

3

Welcome to the Annual report of the Council’s Scrutiny Boards.  This report details the work 
undertaken by the Council’s seven Scrutiny Boards in 2007/08.

I am delighted that the Council has been awarded four stars following this year’s 
Comprehensive Performance Assessment and I would like to acknowledge the contribution 
Scrutiny Members have made in achieving this score.  This is a fantastic result.  However we 
must continue to improve, and therefore I look forward to working with our external Auditors, 
KPMG, in the coming year in their review of Scrutiny.

Areas I am sure that will be of interest to the Auditors will be the relationship Scrutiny has with 
the Executive and the added value our work programmes give to the running of the City. 

Meaningful involvement of the Scrutiny function in the business of the Council requires 
effective engagement with Executive Members and service areas.  It also requires the 
development of scrutiny work programmes that take account of the Council’s priorities.  The 
recently agreed Memorandum of Agreement between Scrutiny Boards and the Executive will, I 
hope, go a long way to addressing these issues.  However success will largely depend on the 
willingness of the Executive to engage with Scrutiny and of Scrutiny Boards to ensure that 
their work is timely and adds value.

This coming year will also see elements of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act come into force which will have a direct effect on how Scrutiny works.  I believe a 
key challenge for Scrutiny will be how well we engage with our partners and scrutinise 
performance against the targets set in the Local Area Agreement.  In many respects how we 
undertake this Scrutiny will have a significant impact on the Council’s reputation.  It is 
important that we create positive expectations about Scrutiny with our partners. I am pleased 
therefore that Overview and Scrutiny Committee was able to agree with our partners the 
‘Protocol between Scrutiny and Statutory Public Sector Partners in Leeds’. 

Such challenges will require us to review the training needs of Scrutiny Members.  Therefore 
we look forward to working with the Member Development Working Group in drawing up a 
programme of training opportunities. 

Finally I would like to thank my fellow Chairs for their hard work and commitment this year. 

Cllr Pauleen Grahame 
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 7



4

In 2007/08 there were 7 Scrutiny Boards: 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services)

Scrutiny Board (City Development) 

Scrutiny Board (Environments and Neighbourhoods) 

Scrutiny Board (Health and Social Care) 

Scrutiny Board (Culture and Leisure)

Scrutiny Board (Resources) 

Each individual Board has reported its work in more detail in this report.

Call In 

There have been two Call Ins this year;

the review of parking facilities including adjustments to prices.
(decision released for implementation) 

grant aid to Radio Asian Fever 
(resolved that the decision of the Area Committee be reconsidered) 

Summary of Scrutiny Work in 2007/08 

Each Scrutiny Board identifies the type of work it does.  This allows scrutiny 
Members to see at a glance the balance of the items on their work programme and 
support them in deciding what types of work they would like to focus on. 

The bar chart below represents the types of work that the Scrutiny Boards have done 
this year. 

Summary of Scrutiny Work in 2007/08

42
33

26 24

8 9 10
2

0

10

20
30

40

50

B
ri
e
fi
n
g
s

P
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

M
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t

R
e
v
ie

w
 o

f 
e
x
is

it
in

g

p
o
lic

y

D
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f

n
e
w

 p
o
lic

y

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 

fo
r

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

S
ta

tu
to

ry

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 b

u
d
g
e
t

a
n
d
 p

o
lic

y

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

S
c
ru

ti
n
y

R
e
c
o
m

m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s

C
a
ll 

In

Type of Item

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

It
e

m
s

Page 8



Cllr Pauleen Grahame
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Chair’s Summary 

Membership of the Board: 
Cllr Pauleen Grahame (Chair) 
Cllr Barry Anderson 
Cllr Sue Bentley
Cllr Judith Chapman (part)
Cllr Bob Gettings 
Cllr Stewart Golton (part) 
Cllr Ted Hanley
Cllr Andrea McKenna 
Cllr Bill Hyde
Cllr Elizabeth Minkin 
Cllr Ralph Pryke 

Because of the ‘overview’ remit of this Committee, our work this year has rightly focused on 
a number of operational matters and high level corporate performance management issues.
This has to a certain extent restricted our ability to concentrate on a single topic of inquiry.
Nevertheless, I believe the Committee has undertaken a number of interesting and 
worthwhile investigations. 

I am particularly pleased with the way in which we have embedded the performance 
management system this year.  This process is now firmly established as part of the work 
programmes of Scrutiny Boards and will, I believe, inform the content of a lot of our future 
Inquiries.

Our involvement in the drafting of the Leeds Strategic Plan has been beneficial to its 
development.  It is very important that Members are given the opportunity to shape the 
direction of the City. I now look forward to seeing Scrutiny Boards holding to account those 
who must now deliver our agreed objectives and targets.

It was pleasing that the Committee agreed two important documents this year, firstly the 
‘Memorandum of Understanding between Executive Board and Overview and Scrutiny’ and 
secondly the ‘Protocol  between Scrutiny and Statutory Public Sector Partners in Leeds’.
Both documents can be viewed on the Council’s Internet. 

As always I would like to thank my colleagues on the Committee for their attendance, 
contributions and hard work in making the year a success. 

Cllr Pauleen Grahame 
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

5

Page 9



Memorandum of Understanding between Executive Board 
and Overview and Scrutiny

Protocol between Scrutiny and Statutory 
Public Sector Partners in Leeds

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act will 
extend the powers that local authorities already have to scrutinise 
health services within their areas to the activities of a number of 
named public sector partners, as part of their wider community 
leadership role for the City. 

The purpose of the Protocol is to provide guidance and a common 
understanding for how scrutiny of statutory public sector partners 
will operate in Leeds. The Protocol has been drawn up during the 
early stages of the new arrangements and may be amended and 
further developed as the relationship between Scrutiny and public 
sector partners develops. The aim is for all parties to help ensure 
that Scrutiny remains a positive and challenging process.

“I want to argue 
that there is a 
perfectly
respectable
alternative career 
in public life and it 
is the job of 
holding powerful 
people to account” 

Jeremy Paxman, 
Writer and broadcaster
Centre for Public
Scrutiny Annual
Conference

The statutory relationship between the Executive Board and the Scrutiny function is clearly 
defined within the Local Government Act 2000.

However, this does not address the subtleties and nuances required to establish successful 
and robust scrutiny in a dynamic political environment.  Since the introduction of the Overview 
and Scrutiny function there has been a continued national debate around the relationship
between the two bodies.

Much of this discussion has alluded to the need to establish a culture of parity between Scrutiny 
Boards and the Executive Board in a way that allows robust challenge of decision making and 
also nurtures the ability of the Executive Board to sponsor elements of the work programme for 
the common good of the Council’s policy making process.

The Memorandum of Understanding aims to set out a broad agreement which will underpin the 
relationship between the two functions ensuring the promotion of mutual respect to foster a 
climate of openness leading to constructive debate, with a view to ensuring service 
improvements.

6

Page 10



Performance Management 

Performance Management is a key tool for holding the Executive to 
account for its activities.  The Committee continues to receive high level 
performance information from which it can identify areas that require 
further Scrutiny.

The Committee’s full work programme 2007/08 

Call In – Review of Parking Facilities including Adjustments to 
Prices

Call In – Grant to Radio Asian Fever

Personnel Panel Appeal Arrangements

Scrutiny of the Budget and Quarterly Monitoring 

Quarterly Performance Monitoring 

Review of Planning Performance 

Review of the Disability Equality Scheme 

Annual Audit and Inspection Letter 2007 

Leeds Strategic Plan 

Development of a Protocol between Scrutiny and Statutory Public 
Sector Partners in Leeds. 

 Direct payments

Inquiry – Responding to the needs of Migrants and their Families 

Review of the Leeds Half Marathon 

Consideration of  a number of Operational/Constitutional matters 
Tracking and Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations 
Responding to the Government’s consultation document on 
Petitions and Calls for Action 
Review of Call In Arrangements 

7

Page 11



The Chair’s Summary 

8

Membership of the Board: 
Councillor Bill Hyde (Chair) Mr Tony Britten 
Councillor Colin Campbell Mr Ian Falkingham 
Councillor Judith Chapman (part) Ms Celia Foote
Councillor Judith Elliott Prof Peter Gosden 
Councillor Ronald Feldman Mr Robert Greaves 
Councillor Sharon Hamilton Mr Tim Hales 
Councillor Roger Harington Mrs Sandra Hutchinson
Councillor Alan Lamb Ms Taira Kayani 
Councillor Brenda Lancaster Mrs Sue Knights 
Councillor Jacqueline Langdale Ms Jeannette Morris-Boam 
Councillor David Morton (part) 
Councillor Tom Murray 
Councillor Karen Renshaw

It has been a pleasure and a privilege to return to chairing the Scrutiny Board this year. As always, 
the members of the Board have been tireless in their commitment to scrutiny, and I must 
particularly pay tribute to those who willingly volunteer for working groups, visits and other 
activities over and above the monthly Board meetings. Without this additional work, there is no 
doubt that we would not be nearly as effective, given the breadth of our remit. 

This year the council has been subject to both a Corporate Assessment and Joint Area Review 
inspection, and inspectors from both teams interviewed Board members as part of the assessment 
process. Whilst we still await the outcome of the inspection report, I would like to thank those 
officers who continued to support our inquiries conscientiously at the same time as they were busy 
meeting the demands of the inspection process. 

As always, our work programme has been a delicate balancing act. We need to ensure that we 
maintain an overview and focus on performance, holding people to account for delivering the 
Every Child Matters outcomes, whilst also identifying some more in-depth pieces of work where 
we can add value to the development of policy and service delivery. Our inquiry on services for 8-
13 year olds is a good example of this. We have also responded to external requests for our input, 
as in our inquiry on Fountain Primary School. 

This year has been the first year of a new, more rigorous recommendation tracking system for 
scrutiny, which has helped us to keep a closer eye on the impact of our recommendations. I look 
forward to seeing this become embedded over the next year, enabling us to be robust in 
challenging any areas where progress is not happening.

I am especially pleased that we have continued to support the Young People’s Scrutiny Forum this 
year, and am proud that their work was chosen as a case study of good practice by the IDeA for 
their children’s services scrutiny toolkit. Following the publication of the ‘Catching the Bus’ report 
last year, Forum members have worked jointly with Scrutiny Board members and officers to 
monitor their recommendations and also to progress some of them. I wish the Forum well with 
their new inquiry, on the environment. 

Cllr Bill Hyde 
Chair of Scrutiny Board 
(Children’s Services)

Cllr Bill Hyde
Chair of Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services)

Page 12



9

Services for 8-13 year olds 

The Leeds Children and Young People’s Plan sets out local priorities and actions to 
deliver universal and targeted services to all children and young people aged 0-19, 
and older for those with special needs. 

Within this framework, the Scrutiny Board identified the 8-13 age group as a key 
target group. Early years and youth services are well established services with 
recognised target age ranges at either end of the 0-19 age spectrum. Members felt 
there was now a need to extend this approach to join up in the middle in a more 
formalised manner. This complemented the strong conclusion of the Board’s inquiry 
on youth services, carried out last year, which was that there needed to be more 
investment in universal and targeted services for the 8-13 age group, and that 
seeking to re-engage young people and their families in structured provision and 
support at 13-plus was often very difficult.

The Board identified a number of aspects of the ‘infrastructure’ necessary to 
successful delivery of universal and targeted services for 8-13 year olds as the focus 
for the inquiry: 

Meeting the requirement to provide information for children, young people and 
families

The use of assets, particularly schools but also other buildings, to deliver services 

Governance models in relation to extended schools 

The role of councillors in supporting and promoting local delivery of services for 
8-13 year olds 

The opportunities that are available for young people aged 8-13 to participate in 
decision-making and influence issues that affect them 

The infrastructure required to deliver the play strategy 

The Board heard from a wide range of witnesses involved in the delivery of services 
to this age group, and also carried out visits to various providers as part of the 
inquiry.

Some of our main recommendations were:

That an in-depth review of transport take place, to promote more effective use of 
existing resources and improve access to services 

Assistance and encouragement for families to access holiday activities 

Ensuring up to date information and local activity programmes 

That all schools not yet participating in extended services provision are 
encouraged to do so 

Developing local networks to support smaller organisations 

We also highlighted the need for a more stable funding framework for services to 8-
13 year olds, and to ensure that the core offer of universal provision is available to 
children across all areas of the city.

We asked to be kept informed of progress with the Play Partnership and the 
Participation Partnership. 

Page 13



10

Education Standards 

At its first meeting of the year, the Scrutiny Board identified education standards as a 
topic for one of its major inquiries for the year. The choice of this topic accorded with 
priorities in the Vision for Leeds and the Children and Young People’s Plan, as well 
as reflecting a recurrent theme identified from the Board’s regular consideration of 
performance management information. 

Members initially identified two potential areas of focus for the inquiry: the 14-19 age 
group, and early years and primary transition. Having considered the two areas, the 
Board decided to focus this year’s inquiry on trying to help break the cycle of 
underachievement at the 14-19 stage of the education system and to reduce the 
numbers of young people not in education, employment and training (NEET). 

However this was accompanied by a strong recommendation that an inquiry is 
prioritised in 2008/09 on those entering the education system.

The Board’s inquiry looked at the following areas: 

How pupils are identified as at risk of becoming NEET 

The support provided to pupils in schools to support their attainment and to 
prepare them for adult life 

The role of school improvement services and curriculum development in 
supporting the achievement of this group of pupils 

Attendance, behaviour and exclusion strategies to encourage pupils to engage in 
their education 

The role of other services such as extended services and study support, and 
family support services 

Tracking of pupil destinations and achievement post-16 

The inquiry combined the presentation of written evidence to formal Board meetings, 
with a number of visits to schools, colleges and training providers. Members were 
able to discuss the issues with a range of young people as well as with 
professionals.

The final inquiry report will be agreed by the Board in summer 2008. 

Page 14



11

Young People’s Scrutiny Forum 

Following the very successful ‘Catching the Bus’ report produced by the Young 
People’s Scrutiny Forum last year, young people have chosen ‘Protecting our 
Environment’ as their next theme.

Their inquiry, which spans this year and next year, will focus on three themes: waste 
management, education and sustainable buildings. The inquiry aims to: 

Establish ways in which schools and other Leeds City Council services can 
reduce their impact upon the environment, and encourage them to implement 
these changes 

Encourage Leeds City Council and Education Leeds to play a part in raising 
awareness of environmental issues among the people of Leeds 

Ensure the opinions of young people in Leeds, with regard to environmental 
issues, are heard and acted upon by decision makers.

The Forum hopes to make a short film to accompany their inquiry. 

In the meantime, a joint group of young people, Scrutiny Board members and 
officers from the council and Metro, have worked together to monitor progress with 
the recommendations of the ‘Catching the Bus’ report.  This has been an important
development in ensuring that the young people are able to see the results of their 
work translated into action. 

Members of the Young People’s Scrutiny Forum
during scoping of the environment inquiry 

Page 15



12

Inclusion

A scrutiny working group looked in detail at two of the key objectives of the revised 
Leeds Inclusive Learning Strategy: 

The further development of specialist provision, including the role of the 
Specialist Inclusive Learning Centres (SILCs) 

The further development of the behaviour continuum and provision, including the 
role of the pupil referral units. 

The working group also assessed progress with the recommendations of the 
Scrutiny Board’s 2006 report on the SILCs. 

We intend to continue to monitor progress in this area next year, as the Inclusive 
Learning Strategy develops further. In particular we have made some 
recommendations regarding the effectiveness of behaviour interventions and the use 
of inclusion finances by schools.

Fountain Primary School

Early in the year the Board was asked to undertake an independent inquiry into the 
way Fountain Primary School had been established by Education Leeds.
The focus of the inquiry was to explore the circumstances surrounding this particular
primary school reorganisation scheme, that consequently led to the need for staffing 
reductions after only two years of the new school being in operation.  As a result of
the Scrutiny Board agreeing to do this work, staff called off planned strike action.

Our main recommendations included: 

That priority be given to funding the project to bring the school together on one 
site (this project has recently been agreed) 

Improved and more transparent projections of pupil numbers to inform future 
decisions about the need for school places 

Improved communication with parents when new schools are established 

Proposals for closer working between schools, governing bodies and Education 
Leeds through all stages of school reorganisation and the period immediately
following.

Page 16



The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Review of existing policy
Education Standards Inquiry 
Fountain Primary School Inquiry
Inclusion
Parenting Support 

Development of new policy
Inquiry into services for 8-13 year olds 
Inclusion Strategy 
Review of 14-19 education and training provision in Leeds 

Performance Management and Monitoring
Overview of Children’s Services and Children and Young People’s Plan priorities 
Performance Management information 
Standards in Leeds schools and Ofsted inspections 
Monitoring of recommendations from previous inquiries including: 

Specialist Inclusive Learning Centres (SILCs) 

Adoption in Leeds 

Catching the Bus 

Implications of Trust Schools for the Local Authority 

 Youth Services

Review of 14-19 education and training provision in Leeds 

 Departmental Communications

Budget and Policy Framework
Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-2011 
Children and Young People’s Plan 

Briefings
David Young Community Academy 

Young People’s Scrutiny Forum
Monitoring of recommendations from Catching the Bus inquiry
Protecting the Environment Inquiry 

13

Page 17



14

Cllr Ralph Pryke 
   Chair of Scrutiny Board

  (City Development)

                       The Chair’s Summary

Membership of the Board: 

 Cllr Ralph Pryke (Chair) 
 Cllr Geoff Driver 
 Cllr Jack Dunn 
 Cllr Penny Ewens 
 Cllr Janet Harper 
 Cllr Matthew Lobley 
 Cllr James Monaghan
 Cllr Rachael Procter 
 Cllr Brian Selby 
 Cllr Neil Taggart 
 Cllr Paul Wadsworth* 

Cllr Alec Shelbrooke* was a member until 
Cllr Wadsworth was appointed on 20th

February 2008

I am delighted to present this year’s Annual Report for Scrutiny Board (City Development). My 
thanks go to all colleagues on the Board who have faced the challenges of the year with their 
customary enthusiasm, good humour and rigour throughout the year. 

This year the Scrutiny Board considered two requests for scrutiny concerning disposal of the 
former Miles Hill and Royal Park schools.  As a consequence of these requests we agreed to 
undertake an inquiry on the consultation processes used by the Council in respect to such 
disposals. We also decided to widen this inquiry to incorporate a case study specifically to 
review how the City Development department had consulted with regard to the Aire Valley Area 
Action Plan. We identified a number of issues and recommendations as a result of our 
endeavours.

We considered a request for scrutiny from the Deputy Chair of the Alliance of Service Users and 
Carers concerning the City Development department’s proposals to increase the use of “shared 
space” between pedestrians and vehicles in the form of shared surface, shared area and home 
zones. We received a large number of letters, emails and telephone calls from a number of 
groups representing the blind, partially sighted and other disabled people on this matter.  We 
were able to make two interim recommendations and agree that a formal inquiry should be 
carried out once the City Development department was able to give advice on how it wished to 
proceed, having undertaken further work to identify best practice and the results of new 
emerging studies. 

We received two very interesting and useful presentations on the Leeds Initiative and the work 
and responsibilities of the Chief Officers within the City Development department. 

Page 18



We have actively monitored and challenged the performance indicators of the City
Development department particularly those which could impact on the Council’s CPA score.

In particular we reviewed the work being undertaken to improve the performance on planning 
appeals (Performance Indicator BV204). 

Our aim has always been to challenge and hold to account the decision makers, and we were 
therefore pleased to have a meaningful dialogue with the Executive Board Member under our 
‘Members’ Questions’ item. 

We have continued to review, monitor and challenge the development of policies within the 
City Development department. In particular, along with other Scrutiny Boards, we commented 
on and contributed to the development of the Leeds Strategic Plan.

We have also commented on a number of ongoing plans and strategies which provide a 
framework for many other projects, such as the Local Development Framework which will 
soon replace the Unitary Development Plan. 

All members can bring individual concerns to Scrutiny, and this year we spent some time on a 
disagreement between ward members and officers on the need for planning permission in 
addition to the deemed consent to construct bus lanes in Kirkstall, on the implementation of 
20 mph limits near schools and in residential areas, and the lack of progress in opening Park 
and Ride services or agreeing a successor “Plan B” for the rejected Supertram proposal. 

Under the new tracking arrangements we reviewed progress on implementing the 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Commission’s Inquiry into the impact of flooding events on 
the Leeds district. 

In 2007 the City Development department took responsibility for the Council’s highways and 
leisure functions and we acknowledge the challenge of managing such a demanding and 
wide ranging portfolio.

In 2008/09 sections of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act will come
into force and this will affect how scrutiny operates in the future.  We will need to engage with 
our partners much more and scrutinise performance against the targets set in the Local Area 
Agreement.

My thanks to the Board’s support officers and to all those witnesses from within and outside 
the council who have contributed their experience and professionalism to our work over the 
past year.

Cllr Ralph Pryke
Chair of Scrutiny Board (City Development)

15

Page 19



Inquiry to Review Consultation Processes 

Our main recommendation was:.

16

We  agreed in developing our work programme to undertake an inquiry to review some of 
the consultation processes in the City Development department to ensure that they were 
fit for purpose.  Subsequently - and before agreeing our terms of reference for this inquiry 
- we received two requests for scrutiny from Councillor Jane Dowson and Councillor David 
Morton concerning the lack of consultation in respect of the former school sites at Miles 
Hill and Royal Park respectively.  We decided to widen our inquiry beyond the City 
Development department and include consultation on the disposal of school buildings and 
land involving Education Leeds and the Environment and Neighbourhoods department. 

We decided to focus our inquiry on two specific case studies :- 

 Case Study 1

To review the consultation processes applied by Education Leeds, the City Development 
and Environment and Neighbourhoods departments when school buildings and land are
declared surplus to requirements using Miles Hill and Royal Park as case studies. 

 Case Study 2

To review the consultation processes applied by the City Development department on the 
development of the Aire Valley Leeds Area Action Plan.

Our Main Recommendations 

(i) That Education Leeds be asked to 
communicate with relevant service 
departments and identify much earlier in 
the process schools which may be 
declared surplus to requirements in order 
to improve long term strategic planning. 

(ii) That Education Leeds, the City 
Development department and service 
departments (mainly Environment and 
Neighbourhoods) consider how this could 
be achieved in the new municipal year 
whilst  recognising the sensitivity of the 
issues involved.

“We are grateful to Councillor 
Jane Dowson and Councillor 
David Morton for drawing our 
attention to this issue 
and requesting scrutiny. 

We have spent some 
considerable time investigating 
the processes involved in 
consultation particularly with 
regard to the disposal of former 
schools and identified a number of 
improvements that can be made”

Councillor Ralph Pryke (Chair) 

  Scrutiny Board (City Development)

Page 20



   Our other recommendations were:

(a) To the extent that 

(i) surplus sites have already been 
approved for disposal by the Executive 
Board, the proposals in the Executive
Board report of August 2007 should apply. 

(ii) aspirations for community use of those 
surplus sites / buildings arise after the 
Executive Board decision, then officers of 
the relevant service departments should 
communicate clearly with the community 
and explain the criteria which will apply if a 
case is to be made for community use. 

(b) That in view of the sensitive issues
surrounding school buildings due to 
become surplus, the Chief Executive of 
Education Leeds and the Directors of City 
Development and Environment and 
Neighbourhoods develop a basic set of 
principles, that is supported by all Council 
departments and Elected Members, and
which are transparent and provide a 
consistent approach in determining the 
future of these Council assets.

   (c) That the Directors of City Development
   and Environment and Neighbourhoods
   introduce a fixed time frame for bringing
   forward alternative uses for former school

buildings and that it be incorporated into
   the basic set of principles. 

(d) That the Director of Environment and 
Neighbourhoods with other relevant 
service departments assess the level of 
consultation that can be applied in 
determining gaps in service provision in 
a community and how community groups 
might assist the Council in delivering the 
Council’s objectives in that community. 

(f) That the Director of City 
Development
(i) in developing future Area Action 
Plans (and the preparation of 
Development Plan Documents as a 
whole), continues to engage a wide 
range of stakeholders in the process 
and monitors the effectiveness of 
such activity, as a basis for continued 
improvement.
(ii) within the context of the Local 
Development Framework (LDF) 
Statement of Community Involvement 
and available resources, ensures that 
consultation activity is appropriately 
targeted and tailored, to ensure that 
the quality and quantity of 
engagement is fit for purpose. 

(e) That the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development ensure that an 
appropriate annual seminar is held for 
Elected Members on the disposal of 
Council assets including former school 
buildings.

       Aire Valley Regeneration 

17

Page 21



Request for Scrutiny: Shared Spaces & the New Street Design Guide

We considered a request for scrutiny from the Deputy Chair of the Alliance of Service 
Users and Carers, Mr Keith Spellman. It concerned the City Development department’s 
proposal to expand the use of shared spaces between vehicles and pedestrians. This 
had been incorporated into the new draft Street Design Guide which was out for 
consultation.

We received a great deal of correspondence on this matter from a range of 
organisations including the National Federation of the Blind, Leeds Society for Deaf and 
Blind People, Talking Newspaper, Otley and the Leeds Jewish Blind Society. 

18

“The National Federation of 
the Blind is totally opposed to 
shared spaces which are being 
introduced by local 
authorities.”

Jill Allen-King and Barry Naylor
National Federation of the Blind.

Initial Recommendations 

(1) We suggested that, because of the 
complaints made to the Board about 
organisations who allegedly had not been 
consulted on this matter, the consultation period 
be extended by at least 4 weeks and this was 
agreed by the Director of City Development.

(2) We were subsequently advised by the 
department that it needed to give further 
consideration to the issues raised with regard to 
“shared space”  in the context of national best 
practice, new government guidance and 
emerging studies. We therefore agreed that a 
scrutiny inquiry  should be undertaken on 
“shared spaces” in the new municipal year once 
the position became clearer. 

  Shared space street in a new development

   A65 Kirkstall Road 

Request for Scrutiny: A65 Quality Bus Initiative Environment
Assessment

We considered a request for scrutiny from Councillor John Illingworth, Member for 
Kirkstall Ward, concerning the A65 Quality Bus Initiative Environment Assessment. 

Before determining his request we received legal advice from the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Corporate Governance) with regard to planning applications, permitted 
development rights, the Council as highways authority and details of Counsel’s advice 
received. We also obtained evidence from the City Development department on the 
cumulative impact assessment that had been undertaken with regard to this scheme. We 
considered past, present and future consultation opportunities that had been given 
regarding the A65 Quality Bus Initiative. 

We decided on the basis of the evidence presented to us not to undertake further scrutiny 
of this matter. 

  “We were grateful to Councillor Illingworth for raising 

this issue but, having taken into account all the 
evidence presented to us and received officers’ 
assurances regarding measures to consult with the 140 
householders who were directly affected by the 
scheme, the Board voted not to proceed with a formal 
inquiry”

           Cllr Ralph Pryke (Chair)

Page 22



Presentation and Reports 

We received during the course of the year a number of  wide ranging reports and 
presentations as part of our monitoring and review role. These included: 

Leeds Initiative 

We received a detailed presentation 
from the Director of Leeds Initiative 
and members of her team on the 
progress being made to restructure 
this organisation to meet the 
changing needs and expectations of 
the Council and of its partners. 

We were particularly interested to 
hear about how the Local Area 
Agreement and local area 
partnerships were influencing these
changes and the issues involved. 

19

20mph Zones 

We reviewed the rationale behind the strategy 
for introducing 20mph zones in certain parts 
of the city.  We noted that Leeds requires that 
there must be put in place a significant
number of speed reducing features such as 
speed humps so that speeds are reduced and 
kept down to 20mph throughout the zone, 
although this is not required elsewhere 
(notably Portsmouth).  The department’s 
resources in this regard are targeted towards 
areas where there have been accidents.  We 
noted that frequent changes in speed limits 
can be unnecessarily confusing to drivers.

Flooding Events 

We spent some time reviewing the 
progress which has been made on 
implementing the recommendations 
of the 2006 Scrutiny Commission 
Inquiry into flooding within Leeds. 

We were particularly interested in the 
partnership working through Aire 
Action Leeds, the flood resilience
scheme and the additional staffing 
resources provided to the land 
drainage section.

  Flooded Road

Typical entry to a 20mph Zone

Land Drainage Works

Page 23



Planning & Development Services 

The City Development department in 2007 
undertook a strategic review of its planning & 
development services which identified five 
improvement themes to consider, namely: 

 capacity building & working with the private 
sector
 realising a definitive officer view 
 development and support for Plans Panels
 information & communication technology 
 improved customer services 

We received a report from the department on the 
progress which had been made to date in 
implementing solutions within these themes. 

We also received a specific report outlining and 
analysing planning appeals against the BV204 
performance indicators and the work being 
undertaken to improve performance in this area. 

Local Area Agreement 

We focused our endeavours on the performance 
management arrangements  that have been or are 
being put in place as targets within the Local Area 
Agreement and which fall within our area of 
responsibility.

Leeds Local Enterprise Growth Initiative 

  We reviewed progress in delivering “Sharing the Success”, the Leeds Local
Enterprise Growth Initiative.  We were delighted to hear that 20 projects are up 
and running, including two flagship projects as a result of this initiative. 

Partnerships

   Planning Application

City Square

City Centre Area Action Plan 

We identified and discussed a 
number of issues arising from a paper 
submitted by the Director of City 
Development summarising the scale 
and nature of the responses received 
during the formal consultation stage 
on the City Centre Area Action Plan 
Preferred Options. 

Housing in City Centre 

20

Page 24



21

City Centre Housing 

We considered some of the trends affecting the 
demand for and supply of flats and houses in the 
city centre, vacancy levels and the infrastructure 
required to support a mixed population in the city 
centre.

We were concerned at the lack of facilities within 
some of these flat and housing developments in 
the city centre. Clearly, there was a danger that 
market forces were dictating the type of city centre 
population and the facilities that  they need rather 
than trying to plan for more sustainable and mixed 
communities providing the necessary school 
places, doctors, dentists and shops early in the 
process. We  recognised that this was a difficult 
balance to achieve. 

We received some anecdotal evidence of the 
reluctance of older people, seeking to down-size, to 
move into the city centre. 

 Off Millennium Square

 K2 City Centre 

   University of Leeds 

The Local Economic Impact of 
Students on Leeds 

We received interim papers outlining the 
work currently being undertaken in 
conjunction with the local Universities to try 
to identify the economic impact of students, 
and the Universities themselves, on the local 
economy.

The impact is significant and growing, and 
we thought further study into this together 
with their indirect economic effects could 
lead to better understanding, and therefore 
potential mitigation, of real and perceived 
problems for all residents and businesses.

   Leeds Metropolitan University

Leeds Regeneration Plan
2005 -2008

Town & District Centre Regeneration 

The City Development department updated the 
Board on the operation and achievements of the 
Town & District Regeneration Scheme since its 
inception in 2005. 

Page 25



22

Newton Grove, Chapel Allerton

City Point 

Park Square

 Otley Library 

Management & Capacity of the 
Planning Compliance Service 

We considered a report of the Chief 
Planning Officer on the management and 
capacity of the planning compliance 
service.

We supported and endorsed the 
following actions: 

(i) Review of the career graded 
progression and training and 
development opportunities available 
to compliance staff. 

(ii) Regular progress reports to 
appropriate parties on key 
enforcement cases. 

(iii) Review prosecution procedures 
including making provision for 
holding taped interviews compliant 
with PACE requirements and provide 
appropriate training for enforcement 
officers.

(iv) that the Head of Scrutiny and 
Member Development consider the 
inclusion in the 2008/09 Member 
training programme of the 
compliance service and discuss with 
the Chief Planning Officer the most
appropriate time for this to take 
place.

(v) that the Board’s successor be asked 
to review this issue in 2008/09. 

Page 26



The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Request for Scrutiny A65 Quality Bus Initiative Environment
Assessment

Impact of Flooding Events on the Leeds District 

Request for Scrutiny - Former Miles Hill and Royal Park Schools 

Inquiry to Review Consultation Processes 

Update on the Strategic Review of Planning and Development Services 

Request for Scrutiny regarding the increased use of Shared Surfaces 
under the Council’s new Street Design Guide

Presentation by Chief Officers of the City Development department 

Strategy for Introducing 20 mph Zones 

Questions to the Member with portfolio responsibility for Development 
and Regeneration 

Presentation on the Leeds Initiative current work and future 
development plans of the organisation 

City Centre Area Action Plan – Preferred Options Consultation
Responses

Consultation on the Strategic Outcomes and Improvement Priorities for 
the Leeds Strategic Plan 

Leeds Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (LEGI) - Sharing the Success 

Performance Management Indicators for Quarters one, two and three 

Detailed look at Corporate Plan Indicator (i) ED50 Businesses satisfied 
with the Council in helping to create a good business environment (ii) 
BV165 % of Pedestrian Crossings with facilities for disabled people 
and (iii) BV204 Performance on Planning Appeals 

Introduction and Questions to the Chief Highways Officer 

Local Development Framework Annual Monitoring Report 

Presentation from the Chief Planning Officer 

Update on the Strategic Review of Planning & Development Services 

Housing Mix, Vacancy Rates and Infrastructures - City Centre 

The Local Economic Impact of Students in Leeds 

Section 106 Planning and Section 278 Highways Agreements 

Traffic Congestion – Key Locations

Town and District Centre Regeneration Scheme 

Review of the Conservation Team 

The Local Economic Impact of Students at Leeds’ Two Universities 

Budgetary Issues and Considerations 

Review of Compliance Unit, City Development department 

Local Area Agreement Performance Management 

23

Page 27



Membership of the Board: 

 Cllr Barry Anderson (Chair) 
 Cllr Christopher Beverley
 Cllr Ann Blackburn 
 Cllr Debra Coupar 
 Cllr Mrs Ruth Feldman 
 Cllr Angela Gabriel 
 Cllr David Hollingsworth
 Cllr Graham Hyde 
 Cllr Richard Lewis 
 Cllr Adam Ogilvie 
 Cllr Linda Rhodes-Clayton 
 Cllr Frank Robinson 

Cllr Barry Anderson 
Chair of Scrutiny Board

(Environment and Neighbourhoods)

The Chair’s Summary 

It has been another busy year working with the Scrutiny Board and I am pleased to 
present this annual report. 

There is a huge remit for the Board covering two Executive Board Member portfolios, and 
I am grateful for the work and commitment of other Board members throughout the year.
However, I feel there is still much to do and in many ways regard this report as ‘work in 
progress’.

I am pleased with the progress of the inquiry into housing lettings and the interim report 
that the Board has produced – I look forward to receiving an initial response to our 
recommendations and monitoring progress against these.  Nonetheless, like many of the 
Board members, I do not feel that our work in these areas is complete but I also 
recognise that this in itself may present a significant challenge for the Board next year.
With such a wide remit we will need to focus on the outcome of our efforts and think very 
carefully about our future work programme, placing a higher priority on those areas we 
wish to examine in more detail.

I am equally pleased with the work we have done around the Council’s own CO2

emissions, but also feel somewhat frustrated that, as a Board, we have not achieved 
more in this area.  Perhaps this reflects the importance of establishing realistic  priorities 
at the beginning of the year and maintaining that focus as the year progresses. 

I am grateful to Councillor Les Carter and Councillor Steve Smith, both Executive Board 
Members, who have attended the Board on more than one occasion this year and 
discussed a number of key issues facing the Council.

24

Page 28



25

I was particularly heartened by the discussion with Councillor Les Carter, which led to the 
Board undertaking its inquiry into housing lettings.  I feel this provides a good example of 
the benefits to be had when Scrutiny and the Executive work collaboratively to identify a 
policy area that will benefit from some detailed examination by a cross-party group of 
local councillors.  I am sure that I reflect the views of other Board  members when stating 
that I truly hope the recommendations we have identified help to address some of the 
housing pressures across the City.

Finally, it has been an honour to Chair the Scrutiny Board (Environment and 
Neighbourhoods) during the current year and I am extremely grateful to my fellow Board 
members, officers, and other witnesses who have contributed to the work of the Board 
and shown a true committment to improving services for the residents of Leeds. 

Councillor Barry Anderson 
Chair of Scrutiny Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 

Page 29



26

Inquiry into Housing Lettings Pressures 

A  Council Property 

As members of the Scrutiny Board (Environment and 
Neighbourhoods), we have been extremely keen to 
ensure that Housing remains a priority area 
throughout 2007/08.  In June 2007, as part of the 
Board’s initial work planning discussion, we identified 
a number of potential issues to be considered in detail 
throughout the year and, following a further 
discussion with the Executive Board Member for 
Neighbourhoods and Housing, it was suggested to us 
that we could usefully undertake an inquiry which 
examined the Council’s current Housing Lettings 
Policy, including the Choice Based Lettings scheme. 

We were aware that a number of issues were currently having an impact upon the 
Council’s Lettings Policy in general and we were eager to understand these in more 
detail.  Therefore, we agreed to the suggestion of the Executive Board Member. 

We recognised that there are some significant difficulties and challenges facing the City 
Council and its partners in this regard, but we wanted to understand  more about the 
overall factors affecting the supply and demand for Council Housing in Leeds, while 
maintaining a focus around Local Lettings Policies and the Choice Based Lettings 
scheme.

The inquiry consisted of three dedicated sessions, where we received, considered and 
discussed evidence from a range of different sources, including the Strategic Landlord 
and representatives from each of the three Arms Length Management Organisations 
(ALMOs) and the Belle Isle Tenant Management Organisation (BITMO) – as these 
organisations are responsible for interpreting, implementing and administering the 
Council’s Lettings Policy.  We believed this approach to be a fundamental element to this 
inquiry, helping to ensure it was undertaken in a comprehensive manner.

Main recommendation 

That as a matter of urgency, the 
Strategic Landlord reviews all 
relevant policies and procedures to 
ensure that each ALMO adopts a 
consistent approach and takes 
appropriate legal action when the 
Council becomes aware that any false 
and/or misleading information has 
been provided at any stage during the 
application process. 

Other recommendations were:

That the Strategic Landlord considers how 
best to involve the Scrutiny Board 
(Environment and Neighbourhoods), or its 
successor body, as part of the annual 
review of the Council’s Lettings Policy, 
prior to final approval.

That, through the ALMOs, the Strategic 
Landlord ensures that all local ward 
members are provided with quarterly 
performance information relating to local 
housing issues, in particularly waiting 
times and lettings. 

In December 2007, we wrote to Yvette Cooper MP, the then Government Minister for 
Housing, inviting her to meet with us and discuss the national context for Housing, how 
this impacted locally and any areas for future development.  However, primarily due to a 
ministerial reshuffle, we were unable to secure a convenient date for such a discussion.
Nonetheless, in March 2008 the Chair of the Board was able to secure a meeting with a 
Civil Servant from the Department of Communities and Local Government to discuss 
some emerging themes from the inquiry.

Page 30



The Chair also met with the Council’s Deputy Chief 
Environmental Health Officer to discuss some 
additional matters raised during the third session, 
namely Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
(EDMOs) and Selective Licensing.  However, we 
have not discussed this in any detail and, therefore, 
these remain areas of particular interest that we may 
wish to revisit sometime during 2008/09.

Other recommendations (cont.):

That, in conjunction with the Head of 
Scrutiny and Member Development, the 
Strategic Landlord, as and when 
appropriate, delivers a series of Member
briefing/information sessions on housing 
related matters and following any 
significant changes to policy. 

That, to supplement the Member 
briefing sessions (referred to above), the 
Strategic Landlord produce and 
maintain a Members’ handbook on the 
Council’s Lettings Policies. 

That, to enhance the openness and 
transparency in the development of
Local Lettings Policies (LLPs), the 
Strategic Landlord ensures that, through 
the ALMOs, all local ward members are 
formally consulted in a timely and 
appropriate manner.

That, within each ALMO/ BITMO, the 
Strategic Landlord actively promotes the 
photographing of all main and joint 
tenants at the time of signing their 
tenancy agreements.

That, working with each of the Arms 
Length Management Organisations 
(ALMOs) and the Belle Isle Tenant 
Management Organisation (BITMO), the 
Strategic Landlord seeks to develop a 
set of principles to ensure that all Local 
Lettings Policies in operation across the 
City are easily accessible by all 
members of the public, and are 
presented in a clear and consistent 
manner, by December 2008. 

That by April 2009, the Strategic 
Landlord, through the ALMOs, formulates 
proposals, including the allocation of 
dedicated resources, aimed at proactively 
addressing under- occupancy, in the 
longer-term, across council housing stock 
locally

That, by December 2008, the Strategic 
Landlord review the application 
registration procedures to ensure that 
appropriate checks on customers'
identities are undertaken at an earlier 
stage of the lettings process, for 
example, as part of the housing need 
assessment process. 

That, by December 2008 and in 
conjunction with each ALMO and the 
BITMO, the Strategic Landlord seeks to 
develop and implement suitable 
strategies to tackle sub-letting of council 
properties.

That a review of such strategies is 
undertaken 12 months after 
implementation, with a view to ensuring 
such strategies are and remain fit for 
purpose.

That the Strategic Landlord continues to 
monitor the use of Leeds’ Choice Based 
Lettings (CBL) scheme, and actively 
promotes and encourages its use as a 
mechanism to advertise a range of 
housing options and opportunities,
including private landlord accommodation 
and affordable housing.

That by April 2009, the Strategic 
Landlord, through the ALMOs, ascertains 
the level of under-occupancy across all 
council housing stock. 

27

Page 31



28

Other recommendations (cont.):

That the Strategic Landlord ensures that 
affordable housing solutions are more 
closely linked to the Leeds Homes 
Register and CBL scheme by actively 
identifying appropriate customers and 
signposting them to relevant schemes in 
the city. 

That, by December 2008, the Strategic 
Landlord considers ways in which a 
more proactive approach by staff could 
help provide customers with realistic 
advice and help facilitate mutual 
exchanges where such an approach 
offers an appropriate solution. 

That in considering any proposed 
changes to the Council Lettings Policy, 
the Strategic Landlord seeks to 
undertake a further and more detailed 
examination of the likely implications of 
such, and provides this to the Scrutiny 
Board (Environment and 
Neighbourhoods), or its successor body, 
for consideration.

That the Strategic Landlord provide a 6-
monthly report to the Scrutiny Board 
(Environment and Neighbourhoods), or 
its successor body, regarding progress 
in developing a ‘Housing Solutions’ 
approach and any available 
performance data. 

That by April 2009, the Strategic 
Landlord, through the ALMOs, 
undertakes further research to establish 
the most appropriate interventions for 
reducing under-occupancy across council 
housing stock locally. 

That the Strategic Landlord continues to 
develop and promote a ‘Housing 
Solutions’ approach in order to respond 
to the changing nature of customers’ 
housing needs in the City, including 
appropriate changes to the Council 
Lettings Policy. 

That, by December 2008, the Strategic 
Landlord explores and implements ways 
in which ‘mutual exchanges’ are better 
promoted and marketed as part of the 
available housing options. 

That, in developing a  ‘Housing Solutions’ 
approach, the Strategic Landlord 
develops and implements a robust 
performance framework, in order to 
provide meaningful, accurate and timely 
performance information for all key 
stakeholders.

That, within 12 months, the Chief 
Housing Services Officer establishes and 
commences a process, involving all key 
stakeholders, to determine the future 
customer profile of Council Housing 
within Leeds. 

We believe that this inquiry provides an excellent example of how scrutiny can work in 
conjunction with the Executive and add real value by examining specific policy areas in 
more detail.  We have identified a series of recommendations which we sincerely hope 
go some way to improving the outcomes for the residents of Leeds in relation to meeting 
housing need and we look forward to monitoring progress against these in due course.

As local councillors, housing related issues continue to represent a large proportion of 
our casework and, irrespective of political allegiances, we are all committed to working 
towards improving the availability of and access to quality housing across the city.  As 
such, we look forward to maintaining a focus on housing related matters during 2008/09. 

Page 32



Inquiry into CO2 Emissions 

It has become clear to us that there is now near universal 
acceptance by world governments that climate change is 
occurring as a result of man-made greenhouse gas emissions. 
Previously, the drive for reducing the levels of carbon 
emissions had come from a small, but growing, number of 
committed individuals. However, it is increasingly recognised 
that local councils are uniquely placed to provide leadership, 
raise awareness and influence behaviours and councils are

now recognising that systemic changes locally can have a significant impact on the level 
of carbon emissions in general.  It is also recognised that action by local councils is 
crucial to the achievement of the Government’s 
climate change objectives.  As such, in 
September 2007, we included an inquiry into the 
Council’s Climate Change agenda on our work 
programme.  However, given the potential 
breadth of this topic, we agreed that the inquiry 
should initially focus on the Council’s own CO2

emissions. CO2 emissions impact on climate change 

As part of the inquiry itself, we considered a brief overview of the overall policy drivers 
around CO2 emissions and details of the Council’s targets and current performance.  The 
information presented to us demonstrated that the main sources of CO2 emissions 
identified were Council buildings, street lighting and the Council’s vehicle fleet; areas 
which we examined in more detail and addressed in our statement and 
recommendations.

Our recommendations

That, to provide much needed new 
resources, at least one of the 35 LAA 
priorities for Leeds focuses on climate 
change.

That all major sites are surveyed as 
soon as possible and where the 
certificates are poor, a clear plan of 
action to improve them up to the 
maximum feasible and viable score is 
drawn up. 

That the Board, or its successor body, 
be kept up-to-date regarding: 

(i) The on-going investigations 
around the use of alternative 
fuelled vehicles in the Council’s
fleet.

(ii) The outcome of the current review 
of CO2 emissions from vehicle 
deployment and the arising 
targeted reduction programme.

That the Carbon Reduction Commitment
implications are factored into the 2009 
budget calculations.

That a policy be developed and 
implemented to ensure the use of Whole 
Life Costing analysis when specifying
new-build and major refurbishment
projects, including the development of a 
linked, ring-fenced, fund to pay 
additional capital costs where revenue 
costs would be recouped  within an 
agreed time period. 

That the potential for further reductions 
in CO2 emissions through changes to 
the current usage patterns of street 
lighting be reviewed in more detail, 
including consideration of the 
implications associated with altering the 
times that street lights are on and 
potentially through selective dimming 
late at night. 

29

Page 33



Presentations and reports 

During the course of the year, we received and considered a number of reports and 
presentations covering various aspects within our remit.  Such items helped us fulfil our 
monitoring and review role and included the following areas:

Safer Leeds 

Early in the year, we considered the Safer Leeds 2006/07
Annual Performance Report, which detailed progress 
made towards the 2005-2008 strategy.  Later in the year 
we welcomed Councillor Les Carter in his capacity as 
Chair of the Safer Leeds Board, when we considered the
draft Safer Leeds Partnership Plan (2008 – 2011), which 
set out the Partnership’s proposed priorities and targets

for 2008-2011.  During this discussion, we identified a number of issues, namely around 
prostitution and domestic violence, to be considered as part of the further development 
of the Plan.  We also queried whether the expected reduction in funding would impact on 
the delivery of the priorities.

Integrated Waste Strategy for Leeds 

Kerbside recycling in Leeds 

Throughout the year, we have considered a number of 
areas relating to the issue of waste across the city, 
including: the Council’s approach to recycling and its 
recycling targets; the role of the voluntary and community 
sector in helping to deliver the waste strategy; the issue of 
garden waste; and progress of the Leeds Waste Solution 
project.

Leeds and Moortown Furniture
Store

Community RePaint Leeds

As part of this work we heard from a range of community 
organisations currently operating in various part of the city 
including the Leeds and Moortown Furniture Store – an 
organisation which collects unwanted furniture and redistributes 
this to socially and economically disadvantaged individuals and 
families.  The organisation not only provides a useful service to 
some of the most disadvantaged people in the city, it also diverts 
a significant amount of furniture that might otherwise be sent to 
landfill.

We also heard from Seagulls – an organisation that collects 
surplus paint and redistributes this to various community groups 
and people on low incomes – thus reducing the level of 
hazardous material requiring disposal. 

Leeds Organic Growers (LOGs) is another local enterprise we 
spoke to.  LOGs is currently seeking to establish a green garden 
waste kerbside collection service for households in the Kirkstall 
and Weetwood areas of the City.  We heard that such waste will 
then be composted, sieved and graded.  Bagged compost will be 
available for sale to scheme members and the general public. 

We welcomed the input from the various organisations that we 
spoke to and look forward to their continued involvement in 
helping to deliver the integrated waste strategy for Leeds. Leeds Organic Growers

30

Page 34



Pest Control 

Arising from discussions with the Executive Board Member with 
responsibility for Environmental Services, we requested a report 
detailing the current arrangements for dealing with vermin and 
other pests across the City.  We were presented with the 
following information: A brown rat

A  house mouse

A wasps’ nest 

The Council’s primary legal obligations in relation to pest
control;

Performance trends relating to requests for pest control 
services;

A summary of the pest control service in Leeds; 

An outline of the recently established partnership 
arrangement between the Council and Rentokil, to 
provide the reactive domestic pest control service, 
including current performance levels; 

Details of opportunities to reduce the rodent population in 
Leeds.

Later in the year, we agreed to invite representatives from Rentokil to attend a future 
meeting of the Board (in the new municipal year) to discuss performance issues and the 
operation of the new arrangements with the Council.  We hope this will help us take a 
broader view of the new arrangements and the approach to pest management. 

Performance Reports 

Over the course of the year we have considered 
detailed performance reports on a regular basis.  Using 
a suite of performance indicators, these reports have 
helped to provide us with a very good overview of 
performance and highlight those areas where there is 
room for improvement.  Using the information provided Monitoring performance is a key role

Dealing with abandoned vehicles 
in Leeds 

we identified a number of areas where performance was not 
meeting the targets set and questioned the Director on the 
underlying reasons for any apparent under-performance, or 
where there were concerns regarding the quality of the data 
systems used to produce the information.  This also helped 
us identify issues on which we wanted further and more 
detailed information, such as: 

Vacant homes and re-let times; 

Dealing with abandoned vehicles;

Progress in achieving housing decency standards 

However, while the focus of the Board has tended to be on those areas where 
performance has been below target, we feel it is equally important to recognise and 
acknowledge those areas where performance has been good and targets met. 

31

Page 35



32

The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Main Inquiries

Lettings pressures 

Inquiry into the Council's role in reducing CO2 emissions 

Previous Inquiries – Formal responses and update reports

Monitoring of recommendations – Anti-Social Behaviour 

Monitoring of recommendations – Affordable Housing 

Inquiry into Regeneration in Beeston Hill and Holbeck –  Formal Responses 
to Recommendations 

Other

Performance Report Quarter 4 2006/07 

Performance Report Quarter 1 2007/08 

Performance Report Quarter 2 2007/08 

Performance Report Quarter 3 2007/08 

Members’ questions 

Safer Leeds 2006/07 Annual Performance Report 

Recycling Strategy 

Consultation on Strategic Outcomes and Improvement Priorities for the 
Leeds Strategic Plan 

Voids and Empty Properties Update 

Street Cleansing and Britain's Cleanest City Award Update 

Outcomes of Research into the Housing Market in Leeds 

Rodent Control in Leeds 

Integrated Waste Strategy – Waste Solution for Leeds 

Budgetary Issues and Considerations – Environment and Neighbourhoods 

Integrated Waste Strategy – The Role of the Voluntary and Community 
Sector

Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 

Page 36



33

The Chair’s Summary 

Membership of the Board:
Cllr Judith Chapman (Chair - part)
Cllr Stewart Golton (Chair – part) 
Cllr John Bale 
Cllr Jane Dowson 
Cllr Geoff Driver 
Cllr Penny Ewens
Cllr Clive Fox
Cllr John Illingworth
Cllr Mohammed Iqbal
Cllr Graham Kirkland
Cllr Mohammed Rafique
Cllr Luke RussellCouncillor Judith Chapman

Chair of Scrutiny Board 
(Health and Adult Social Care)

Co-opted Members of the Board:
Joy Fisher – Alliance of Service 
Users and Carers
Eddie Mack – Leeds Voice Health
Forum Co-ordinating Group
Sally Morgan – Equalities 
Somoud Saqfelhait – Touchstone 
Mental Health Services 
Laurence Wood – Leeds Patient
and Public Involvement Forums

I am pleased to present the annual report of Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social Care) for 
2007/08.

As Chair of the Board for the second half of the municipal year, I would like to thank Councillor 
Stewart Golton, Chair of the Board for the first half of the municipal year, for his contribution to 
setting the work programme and starting work on our major inquiry this year into the Localisation 
of Health and Social Care Services in Leeds. 

This year, in addition to our large scale inquiry, we have looked at several other issues, including 
obesity and teenage pregnancy, and carried out a series of site visits to health and social care 
establishments in Leeds. We have continued to examine NHS dentistry, homecare services and 
the reconfiguration of renal services.

This year, we established a new working group to receive details of proposals for changes to 
health services from our colleagues in the local NHS Trusts. This working group has met several 
times during the year and considered a variety of proposals for change at an initial stage, including 
the centralisation of children’s services at Leeds General Infirmary and changes to PCT managed 
GP services in South Leeds. 

One of the major developments this year has been the work undertaken to prepare for the new 
Local Involvement Network  (LINk). As a Board, we have taken a keen interest in the 
arrangements so far and I am sure scrutiny members will wish to continue to monitor progress in 
the next municipal year. Patient and Public Involvement in Health (PPI) forums were abolished at 
the end of March 2008. I would like to take this opportunity to thank the members of all the PPI 
forums in Leeds who gave so much time and effort to examining health issues over the last few 
years and contributed to the work of the Board in a co-opted capacity. 

Finally, I would like to say thank you to all the members of the Board for completing our busy work 
programme with such enthusiasm and commitment. 

Cllr Judith Chapman, Chair of Scrutiny Board (Health and Adult Social Care)

Page 37



34

That thematic groups be developed for health and wellbeing, including adult social care, in each of the 
three areas in Leeds (based on the revised area management structure) and that the thematic groups 
work with Area Committees to discuss and agree the nature and regularity of their dialogue in the future 
That Leeds PCT provides quarterly reports to us during 2008/9 regarding the development of services in 
the new LIFT financed health centres in Leeds 
That, during the summer of 2008, Leeds PCT carries out consultation to determine what services and 
opening times local people would like to see for their new Community Health Centres and reports back 
to us at the October meeting
That Leeds PCT keeps us informed of progress with its programme of buildings refurbishment over the 
next municipal year 
That the strategy for Wharfedale Hospital, due to be developed during early 2008, be presented to the 
first meeting of our Scrutiny Board in the 2008/9 municipal year 
That Leeds Adult Social Services and Leeds PCT make arrangements to produce commissioning and 
procurement documentation in plan English and offer personal contact for voluntary and community
groups to explain tender documentation and procurement processes and report these arrangements 
back to us by December 2008.

We wanted to make an assessment of the range of methods of available for delivering health
and social care services in Leeds. We undertook a series of site visits to four health centres and 
clinics, two intermediate care facilities, a day centre for older people suffering from dementia, 
Wharfedale Hospital and two dental facilities, the Leeds Dental Institute and the Leeds Out of 
Hours Dental Surgery. 

Inquiry into the Localisation of Health and Adult Social Care 
Services in Leeds 

We undertook our inquiry because we wanted 
to learn more about the impact on the people of 
Leeds of the national and local reforms in how 
health and social care services are delivered. 
These reforms place an increasing emphasis on 
delivering care and treatment closer to home, in 
the community. 

Technological advances in recent years mean 
that diagnosis, care and treatment have 
changed over time. It is now possible to treat 
some patients quite safely in their own homes
or at their GP’s surgery or health centre. 

Middleton Community Health Centre (LIFT)

We talked to the Chief Executives of Leeds PCT, 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust and the Council’s 
Director of Adult Social Services in the course of 
our Inquiry, as well as speaking directly to staff and 
service users at the sites we visited. We also 
talked to City Councillors on some of our Area 
Committees as part of our fact-finding about how 
commissioners involve local people in the planning 
and decision-making process. 

We had heard a lot about the new Local 
Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) funded 
community health centres in Leeds. These are 
purpose-built facilities which we feel are not being 
fully utilised. We would like to see their spare 
capacity, and that in Wharfedale Hospital, put to 
use to reflect the needs of the community.

Councillor John Bale, Zoe Kirk, Matron of Wharfedale
Hospital, Councillor Graham Kirkland and Judith Lund,
Assoc Director, Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust, on a 
site visit to Wharfedale Hospital in January 2008

We made 12 recommendations, including:- 

Page 38



Teenage Pregnancy 

We wanted to look at teenage pregnancy this year because we shared the concerns of 
Scrutiny Board (Children’s Services) about the rising rate of teenage pregnancy in 
Leeds.

We gained an overview of the issues at a one-off meeting in February where we talked 
to professionals involved in teenage pregnancy in Leeds, including Teenage Pregnancy 
co-ordinators, a Senior Sexual Health worker and a Teenage Pregnancy Midwife. We 
also considered the findings from a recent report about Leeds written by the Teenage 
Pregnancy National Support Team. 

We are pleased to note that there are good services in Leeds for young women who are 
pregnant or have given birth, but we would like to see a full inquiry  in future, focussing 
on prevention of teenage pregnancy. We therefore recommended that consideration be 
given to setting up a Scrutiny Commission during 2008/09 to carry out this important 
piece of work. 

Obesity

In April 2006, Scrutiny Board (Health and Wellbeing) carried out an inquiry into 
Childhood Obesity: Prevention and Management. We have monitored progress with 
the recommendations in that report and we also felt that we would like to look again at 
obesity during 2007/08, this time with a focus on adult obesity. 

We held a one-off meeting in March 2008, inviting witnesses from within the City 
Council and externally from Leeds PCT, Leeds Metropolitan University, the University 
of Leeds and the Director of Public Health. 

During the meeting, we looked at both obesity prevention and obesity treatment and 
acknowledged the relevance of both to tackling obesity.

Rising levels of obesity are a national problem and we anticipate that future Scrutiny 
Boards with responsibility for Health in Leeds will wish to monitor or further scrutinise 
obesity.

35

Page 39



36

The NHS Dental Contract: One Year 
On

New contractual arrangements for NHS Dentistry 
were implemented in April 2006 and marked a 
radical change in how primary care dental services 
from dental practices are provided and funded in 
England. Last year, the Board carried out an 
inquiry which revealed areas of concern about the 
new NHS Dental Contract. This year, in addition to 
monitoring progress with all eight of the 
recommendations in the Board’s 2006/07 report 
through to conclusion, we held a dentistry 
‘workshop’ meeting in October.  The overall aim of 
the workshop was to provide an opportunity for 
frank discussion about dental provision and oral 
health in the city of Leeds, to look at the challenges 
and barriers and consider solutions for Leeds. 

Following the workshop, attended by Leeds PCT 
and the Leeds Local Dental Committee, we made 
three further recommendations: 

“The Department has always steadfastly
ruled out any underwriting of Patient
Charge Revenue (PCR)  as this would go 
against the principles of aligning budgetary
responsibility and commissioning
responsibility. PCTs have been allocated 
the full budget for dental services in order
to allow them to commission the maximum
amount of services to meet the local needs 
of their population. It is the PCTs’
responsibility to ensure that providers of 
NHS dentistry collect the necessary patient 
charges where they are due. Where PCTs 
develop services in ways that reduce the 
proportion of PCR raised, they need to 
reflect this in their financial planning.”

Department of Health response

Whilst recognising that there are ethical issues involved, we recommend that  Leeds City 
Council re-opens the debate on fluoridation, having regard to the evidence of improved 
dental health in the children of the fluoridated cities of Birmingham and Newcastle.

That Leeds PCT works in partnership with the LLDC to develop a local system to reward 
dentists for improving oral health in Leeds, which can reflect actual work carried out. 

That the Department of Health considers underwriting the PCTs’ shortfalls in anticipated 
patient charge income to enable the PCT to 

plan on the basis of a guaranteed sum for dentistry and; 

commission on the basis of oral health need, rather than having to consider ability to pay 
patient charges. 

Page 40



37

The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Main Inquiry:

The Localisation of Health and Social Care Services in Leeds 

Board Statements:

The NHS Dental Contract: One Year On 

Teenage Pregnancy in Leeds 

Obesity in Leeds 

Previous Inquiries – Formal Responses and update reports:

Childhood Obesity Management and Prevention 

Dignity in Care 

Community Development in Health and Wellbeing 

NHS Dental Contract 

Other:

Leeds Mental Health Teaching NHS Trust Fire Safety Standards

Reconfiguration of Renal Services in Leeds

NHS Annual Health Check

Establishing a Local Involvement Network (LINk) for Leeds 

Neighbourhood Network Service for Sikh Older People 

Partnerships for Older People Programme

Leeds Strategic Plan 

Closure of Ward 1 at Wharfedale Hospital

Home Care Services in Leeds  (quarterly upates) 

Commissioning Strategy for Social Care (quarterly updates) 

Altogether Better 

Care Closer to Home 
Healthy Leeds Partnership Arrangements 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust’s Proposals for Respiratory, Cardiology
and Stroke Rehabilitation Services 

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust’s proposals for Centralisation of 
Colorectal Surgery

Adult Social Care Quarterly Performance Reports 

NHS Annual Health Check 

Proposals for the re-design and re-commissioning of Urgent Care Services in 
Leeds and West Yorkshire 

Local NHS Proposals for service changes to
o Children’s Inpatient services 
o Clinical service reconfiguration 
o GP led Health Centres
o PCT led GP services in South Leeds 

Page 41



38

Cllr Ted Hanley
Chair of Scrutiny Board
(Culture and Leisure)

Membership of the Board: 

 Cllr Ted Hanley (Chair)
 Cllr Bernard Atha 
 Cllr Andrew Barker
 Cllr Bob Gettings 
 Cllr Arif Hussain 
 Cllr Brian Jennings
 Cllr Graham Kirkland
 Cllr Vonnie Morgan 
 Cllr Lisa Mulherin 
 Cllr Linda Rhodes-Clayton 
 Cllr Gerald Wilkinson 

The Chair’s Summary 

Being the Chair of Scrutiny Board (Culture and Leisure) for the 2007/08 municipal year
has been a real privilege.

It has been an interesting and, at times challenging, year.  The work has been intriguing
and rewarding, and I would hope beneficial to the Council and people of Leeds.  I would 
like to thank my fellow Board Members for their considerable hard work both in the full 
Board and various Working Groups.  My thanks go also to the officers who have 
provided us with expert opinion and evidence throughout the year, often at short notice. 

Without doubt, our main piece of work this year has been the Wharfemeadows Fence 
Inquiry.   This Inquiry showed how the use of Scrutiny can defuse a controversial and 
contentious issue by engaging with the affected local communities to provide a balanced 
and objective outcome.  A number of lessons came out of this review not least the role 
Scrutiny could have when the Council needs to take difficult decisions.  While still 
waiting to formally hear from the Executive Board on all of the recommendations, it was 
pleasing to see the positive manner in which the Board’s report was received by the 
Executive, despite, it may seem, a difference of opinion regarding the routine procedure 
for making counsel advice publicly available – which was one of our main 
recommendations.

The other Inquiry which the Board embarked upon related to the Middleton Park 
Equestrian Centre.  The Board’s approach to this issue has been somewhat different to 
that adopted in relation to Wharfemeadows – but I feel the outcome, while yet to be 
finally confirmed, has been equally productive – with the negotiations between the 
Council and the Centre’s Trustees seemingly securing a way forward that will retain the 
service provided by the Centre. 

Page 42



39

I think the Board’s approach to both these inquiries has demonstrated an attempt to 
engage and build a positive relationship between Scrutiny and the Executive.  I believe 
the relationship between Scrutiny and the Executive is a key area that needs to be 
developed and nurtured and while some progress has been made in this area, it 
remains an area for further and continued development.  As such, I believe the regular 
meetings between the Executive Board and Scrutiny Chairs established during the year 
play an important part in this relationship and I look forward to these continuing over the 
coming year. 

Like other Scrutiny Boards we found the discussions on the Leeds Strategic Plan very 
informative and useful, as were the quarterly performance reports, and I hope the 
Board’s comments and observations have been equally helpful.  Clearly, as we move 
into an era where the Local Area Agreement (LAA) provides a common focus for the 
Council and its partners, the Board’s early and continued involvement in these aspects 
of work will be invaluable. 

While not featuring prominently on many of the Board’s meeting agendas, I know that all 
Members of the Board have taken a keen interest in the development of the proposed 
Sports Trust and when advised that ‘the timing wasn’t right for the Board to be provided 
with an update’, we acted quickly and incisively to set up a working group to establish 
the current position.  I look forward to the outcome from this work. 

Having such a large and broad remit, I feel the Board has tried to choose its topics for 
Inquiry with care.   We have tried to receive regular updates on most of the major 
projects and kept a watching brief on numerous other schemes. Inevitably, however, 
some important issues have not been addressed.  Next year’s challenge will be to 
ensure we focus on the issues that really matter and where the Board’s involvement can 
and will make a difference. 

Cllr Ted Hanley 
Chair of Scrutiny Board (Culture and Leisure)

Page 43



40

Inquiry into River Safety Management at
Wharfemeadows Park, Otley 

In July 2007 we received a request for scrutiny 
from the Wharfemeadows Action Group (WAG)
relating to the proposed fencing arrangements 
within Wharfemeadows Park, and agreed to 
undertake a Scrutiny Inquiry to examine the: 

Recent decisions of the Executive Board 
regarding Wharfemeadows; 
Grounds for those decisions; and,

 Advice submitted.

We took evidence from a range of witnesses and 
a number of different sources, including WAG, Otley Town Council,  the local Member of 
Parliament and  a representative from the Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents 
(RoSPA).  We undertook a site visit and also listened to advice from Council officers.

It was abundantly clear to us that there was a genuine level of public concern raised by 
the decision to fence off parts of the river but we accepted that the body of water within 
Wharfemeadows Park, and the potential risk to public safety it posed, had been a source 
of concern to officers for some time.

We concluded that the Executive Board made the decision it did in all good faith with all 
available and appropriate information before it.  We also believed that it would have 
been highly unlikely for there to be public consensus as to whether the fencing should 
have been erected, but felt there were a number of learning points regarding the process 
of decision-making, which had quite clearly generated a significant level of ill-feeling 
towards the Council.

Our Main recommendation:

That the Charter between Leeds City Council
and the Parish and Town Councils within the 
administrative area of Leeds City Council,
particularly Section Three – Working in 
Partnership, is strictly adhered to. 

Section Three states “Consultation will be used 
to involve local councils in decisions of the City 
Council that affect local communities.
Consultation between the partners of this 
Charter is a two-way process, which can only be 
effective where there is a sense of partnership
and mutual trust.

Members’ site visit
Wharfemeadows Park, Otley 

Page 44



41

“We wanted to ensure that there was 
an open and transparent inquiry that 
looked at the decision-making 
process and all the information that 
formed the basis of  the decision 
made.  We also wanted to hear and 
listen to the views and concerns of 
the public.   

I believe we achieved our objectives 
and, through our recommendations, 
gave a very clear message about 
transparent decision-making within 
the Council.” 

Cllr Bob Gettings, Member of the Board

Our other recommendations: 

 That all legal advice obtained by the 
Council is publicly available save in 
circumstances to be determined by the 
Council’s Monitoring Officer.  The 
reasons for any non public disclosure 
should be made clear by the Monitoring 
Officer.

 That all requests for Counsel’s advice 
are made in written form save in 
exceptional and urgent circumstances.

 That the Executive Board and Scrutiny 
Boards work in partnership to identify
future decisions where Scrutiny input 
prior to the decision being made can add 
value to the overall process and the 
decision made. 

In addition to considering the very specific and particular issues associated with 
Wharfemeadows Park, there was unanimous agreement that, as a Board, we ought to 
consider more general issues associated with the Council’s overall Water Safety Policy 
sometime in the near future.

However, while we tried very hard to ensure the final report reflected the range of views 
within the Board, the final report did not receive unanimous agreement and as such a 
minority report was produced and appended to the main report agreed by the Board.

Nonetheless, we were pleased that our report was generally well received by the 
Executive Board, but remained frustrated and disappointed that further consideration of 
Recommendation 2 (relating to the public availability of Counsel advice) was delayed 
until April 2008.  As such, we have been unable to consider the Executive Board’s formal 
response to our report and its recommendations.  However, we hope to do this very 
early in the new municipal year.

Page 45



42

Other Inquiries

Middleton Park Equestrian 
Centre

At the beginning of the municipal year 
we agreed to undertake an inquiry into 
the governance arrangements of 
Middleton Park Equestrian Centre.  This 
followed a report to the Executive Board 
outlining the role of the Council and the 
financial and management 
arrangements of the Equestrian Centre 
Trust.  We wanted to discuss the 
background to current arrangements 
and the proposals for the future. Riding for the disabled:

Middleton Park Equestrian Centre 

We reviewed the management agreement currently in operation and heard from 
Trustees from the Centre and also visited the Equestrian Centre. 

We established that the Centre catered for approximately 220 rides per week, including
carriage rides for the severely disabled.  Those of us that visited the Centre were 
extremely impressed by what we saw, witnessing at first hand the opportunities and 

bvious benefits to those attending. o

We felt the Centre provided a valuable service for some of the most vulnerable people 
from across the City, and as such  welcomed the on-going dialogue between the 
Council and the Centre.  As the year progressed, it became clear that negotiations 
regarding future arrangements were at an advanced stage.  We therefore agreed to 
defer any further consideration of this matter until such negotiations had been concluded 
and a firm proposal had been put forward. 

Leeds Proposed Sports Trust

Sports Trust

Toward the end of the municipal year, in March 2008, 
we established a Working Group to examine the 
development and ascertain the current position 
regarding the Sports Trust. 

In April, we received the first update from the Working 
Group, which included: a brief profile of members of 
the current shadow Trust Board; the current draft 
agreement for lease; and the detailed external legal 
advice received by the Council.  We also received an 
outline of the financial benefits of the proposals and a 
summary of developments since March 2006. 

After reviewing and considering the information 
presented at the meeting, we were disappointed that 
the Board had not been more involved in the 
development of the proposals to date.  However, we 
agreed to continue with our inquiry and identified a 
range of additional information to be presented to a 
future meeting of the Working Group.

Page 46



43

Request for Scrutiny: Disabled Access to the Grand Theatre 

In February 2008 we received a request for scrutiny 
from a member of the public, asking us to examine 
disabled access at the Grand Theatre.  This request was
presented to us in April 2008, alongside an initial 
response from Council officers.

While a lift and disabled toilet facilities have been added 
to the Grand Theatre during recent refurbishment works, 
it was highlighted to us that these were of little 
consequence if initial access to the building was 
restricted. Leeds Grand Theatre

This was essentially confirmed by officers from the Council’s access team who, having 
visited the building, advised us that the Box Office and its route through to the Theatre 
could not be considered accessible by any modern design standard. 

Prior to the meeting where we considered this request, the Chair of the Board visited the 
Grand Theatre to see, first hand, the specific issues being raised.  However, we were 
conscious of the time available to undertake a scrutiny inquiry during the remainder of 
the current municipal year and were also mindful of any duplication that may be caused 
as a result of undertaking a formalscrutiny inquiry.  As such, we heard from the
Council’s Chief Libraries, Arts and Heritage Officer who outlined a proposed action plan, 

aimed at addressing the access issues presented.  In light of this and 
given the time constraints, we decided not to undertake a scrutiny 
inquiry.  Nonetheless, we were very grateful for this matter being 
brought to our attention and we intend to continue to monitor the 
situation and receive a progress report early in the new municipal year. 

Presentations and reports 

To help us fulfil our monitoring and review role, over the course of the year we have 
monitored performance on a range of issues using different mechanisms, including 
quarterly performance reports, which have highlighted areas of good performance and 
also areas for improvement, and question and answer sessions with the Executive
Member for Leisure on a range of topics.

Major Projects 

One other such performance monitoring mechanism we have developed is a process by 
which we have received regular updates on major capital build projects across our remit.
This has helped us keep track of progress and monitor performance (including 
budgetary issues) across a number of projects.  As part of this monitoring work, we also 
undertook site visits – which helped us understand some of the complexities often 
involved.

Some of the projects monitored through the ‘Major Projects’ reporting framework

The New Aquatics Centre Leeds Art Gallery
The New Discovery Centre

Page 47



44

This approach has been a useful tool and we hope to develop and further refine this 
process during the new municipal year – paying particular attention to the Aquatics 
Centre, which we understand to currently be the subject of ongoing sensitive 
negotiations in general terms and specifically regarding the adjustable pool floor (which 
failed soon after the opening of the centre). 

Proposed outline plan: Morley Sports Centre

New Leaf Leisure Centres 

The March Board meeting saw Members given 
an update on the New Leaf Leisure Centres 
PFI Project. Members were advised that 
approval had been gained from the Department 
for Culture Media and Sport (DCMS) for the

outline business case and confirmation of £30 million PFI Credits to build two leisure 
centres (at Morley and Armley) had been received.  Detailed planning applications were 
due to be submitted in April 2008, with on-site works due to commence during August/ 
September 2008.  It was anticipated that the new facilities would be operational in 
May/June 2010.

We clearly welcomed the progress in developing proposals for two new sports centres in 
the Leeds area, but again felt that, as a Board, we had not been updated in the most 
timely and appropriate manner. We also had some concerns regarding the provision of
facilities and the support provided to specific activities and local groups during the 
construction phase of the projects.  This was a particular concern in the Morley area 
given that the new leisure centre could not be constructed without the demolition of the 
existing centre – which would have a clear impact on regular users of the current 
facilities.

The exact Morley Leisure Centre activity programme cannot be recreated at alternative 
leisure centres nearby.  However, we were pleased to hear that a large amount of work 
has been undertaken to develop complementary programmes at other sites and that all 
clubs with block bookings had been spoken to individually by the centre manager to 
discuss their options. 

We were also heartened to learn that consultation regarding the closure of the Morley 
Leisure Centre had been ongoing through a working group.  The working group had 
been meeting regularly since November 2006 and was made up of local Councillors, 
residents, users and clubs.

We were aware of proposals to present the potential programme for relocations to a 
further working group, followed by a drop in session for the public to discuss the plans 
being submitted for final planning approvals, along with any general concerns regarding 
the closure.

While we are not aware of the specific date for the closure of Morley Leisure Centre, we 
have been advised that this is likely to be in or around July 2008.  We were also advised 
that the final programme for the relocations will be displayed on the notice board in the 
reception at Morley Leisure Centre and on the website www.leeds.gov.uk/newleaf.

We believe the development of two new leisure centres in Armley and Morley will not 
only benefit the local communities but all the people of Leeds.  As such, we look forward 
to maintaining a watching brief on these projects at regular intervals throughout the 
coming year. 

Page 48



Roundhay Mansion 

Initially arising from a Major Projects update, the status of the Mansion at Roundhay 
Park became of particular interest to us during the year, and was further stimulated by a 
wide ranging discussion with the Executive Board Member for Leisure regarding the 
current status and future proposals for the Mansion.  This was followed by a site visit 
and further progress updates.

The Mansion is a Grade II Listed building located on the edge of Roundhay Park and for 
many years was used by Craven and Gilpin as a café/bar/function venue.  However, the
lease was surrendered in 2003 and since that time no such facility has been on offer at 
the Mansion – despite an extensive, yet unsuccessful, marketing exercise in 2006. 

The Mansion in Roundhay Park Roundhay Mansion: Visitor Centre Exhibition

The Mansion has seen significant investment in its external fabric and a new Visitor 
Centre and Education Centre has now opened.  We feel these are excellent facilities – 
with the interactive projector proving to be a big hit on our site visit. 

In March we were advised that the appointment of a specialist agent to recruit interest in 
the restaurant and function facilities at the Mansion had proved productive, with in 
excess of 200 requests for additional information on the premises – including some from 
high profile names and businesses.  We were also advised that it was envisaged that 
interested parties would be asked to submit initial offers towards the end of March 2008. 

We acknowledge that progressing initial expressions of interest to a position where the 
Council has a signed lease is a time consuming exercise – and we will monitor progress 
in this regard.  However, we very much look forward to the successful and timely 
conclusion of this project, which will lead to the Mansion being put to full use once again. 

Other Matters 

We also considered a number of other matters, for example the 
high level process for awarding Major Arts Organisations Grant 
Aid and agreed to receive a future and more detailed report on 
how the assessment of all arts grant applications is undertaken 
and the subsequent monitoring arrangements.  We also had 
some input into the development of the Leeds Strategic Plan 

Arts Grants considered

and Council Business Plan, which, once finalised, will outline some key improvement 
activities and performance targets for the Council. 

At our final meeting of the year we considered a report which outlined a number of areas 
that we may wish to consider in the new municipal year.  We have already highlighted 
some of these in this report, such as Middleton Park Equestrian Centre and Roundhay 
Mansion.  Other areas which we feel may warrant more detailed consideration include 
proposals for the Leeds Half Marathon in 2008 and future years and cemetery provision 
across the City.

45

Page 49



The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Main Inquiries

Wharfemeadows Fence Inquiry

Middleton Park Equestrian Centre Inquiry

The Development of the Leeds Sports Trust Proposals 

Previous Inquiries – Formal responses and update reports

Inquiry into Leisure Centres - Response to Recommendations 

Other

Performance Reports (Quarter 4 2006/07 and Quarters 1, 2 & 3 for 2007/08) 

Questions to the member with portfolio responsibility for Leisure and 

Cultural Services

Lift in Leeds Library

Leeds International Concert Season 

Indian International Film Academy Yorkshire - 9th-10th June 2007 – 

Evaluation

Consultation on Strategic Outcomes and Improvement Priorities for the 

Leeds Strategic Plan 

Major Projects Update 

Leeds Grand Theatre and City Varieties Music Hall - Progress Update 

Parks and Countryside Update 

Outdoor Bowls Provision 

Current Governance Arrangements for the Leeds Grand Theatre and City

Varieties

New Leaf Leisure Centres PFI Project 

Roundhay Mansion 

Major Arts Organisations Grant Aid 

Request for Scrutiny – Disabled Access at the Grand Theatre 

Sports Trust – Working Group Update 

Council Business Plan (2008 – 2011) 

46

Page 50



Membership of the Board: 

 Cllr Sue Bentley (Chair)
 Cllr Mark Dobson 
 Cllr Ryk Downes 
 Cllr Clive Fox (part) 
 Cllr Peter Gruen 
 Cllr Josie Jarosz 
 Cllr Val Kendall
 Cllr Graham Latty 
 Cllr James Lewis 
 Cllr Alison Lowe 
 Cllr Ralph Pryke 
Cllr Alec Shelbrooke (part)

Cllr Sue Bentley 
Chair of Scrutiny Board

(Resources)
The Chair’s Summary

47

I am very pleased to present this annual report of the Scrutiny Board (Resources).  Since being 
appointed as Chair of the Board at the Annual Council meeting in May 2007, I have had the 
pleasure of working with Board Members who are enthusiastic and committed to the Scrutiny 
process. I know that because we have a positive approach to scrutiny that has made a 
difference this year in the development of Council policy and improving the delivery of its 
services. I am grateful to everyone for their patience and understanding during this busy year. 

The attached report details all of the work carried out by the Board during 2007/08, but I would 
particularly like to highlight our two most significant pieces of work which relate to the 
commissioning of the passenger transport and taxi and private hire contracts and the 
development of disability employment strategies. The first originated from four private hire 
companies who expressed concern about these contracts to a local ward Councillor who 
subsequently requested scrutiny of this issue. We were pleased to undertake this inquiry and to 
meet and reassure representatives of the trade. The second was a request for scrutiny from the 
Mental Health Employment Consortium concerning the lack of work placements for people with 
mental health problems. We widened our investigation to include all disabilities and produced a 
statement and recommendations. We met with a number of representatives from disability 
groups. I am sure the Board’s work in these two areas has helped to establish closer links 
between the Scrutiny Board and the local community. 

We have undertaken our performance management remit and received a number of reports 
throughout the year. We were particularly concerned at the worsening figures regarding 
sickness levels in the Council. We looked at the initiatives being undertaken by Human 
Resources to try and improve the current figures and we will monitor these initiatives closely. 

We have looked at and contributed to the development of the Leeds Strategic Plan and
Council Business Plan. 

We have received a number of updates on the development of new HR policies and

Page 51



procedures which have been or are being introduced during the current year. These 
developments are very exciting and are already providing better support to our managers in 
carrying out their specific management responsibilities.

Finally, I am grateful to all the officers who support the Scrutiny Board and to all the internal 
and external witnesses who have attended and contributed to the Board’s deliberations 
throughout the year. 

Cllr Sue Bentley
Chair of Scrutiny Board (Resources)

Inquiry to Review the Commissioning of Passenger Transport 
and Taxi and Private Hire Contracts 

We considered a request for scrutiny from Councillor Kabeer Hussain in November 2007 
concerning the current contract arrangements for passenger transport and taxi and private hire 
contracts. He referred to a number of issues relating to how those contracts were awarded and 
operated.

We were advised that a new Framework Contract would commence in September 2008 
and a review was opportune and appropriate. We spent some considerable time looking
at the processes involved with these contracts and meeting with the licensed private hire 
operators who had initiated the original complaints and other licensed private hire and taxi 
operators and other trade representatives. 

We concluded that, whilst we identified a number of proposals aimed at improving 
communication, publicity and understanding of the processes involved, the overall 
commissioning of these contracts seemed to us to be fair and understood by most licensed 
private hire and hackney carriage operators. We asked for an equality impact assessment to 
ensure that our findings were supported. 

 Our main recommendation was

That the Assistant Chief Executive
(Corporate Governance) arrange for an 
Equality Impact Assessment Audit prior to 
the letting of the Framework Contract in 
September 2008 and report to this Scrutiny 
Board on the outcome.

“We wanted to ensure that the 
processes involved with these 
contracts were fit for purpose.

We did not want to lower our standards 
in any way but ensure that everyone 
that applied was dealt with fairly and 
efficiently.”

Cllr Alison Lowe, Member of the Board

48
  Scrutiny Board (Resources)

Our other recommendations were:

(i) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate
Governance) arrange for the document
“Guidance on Tendering” to be checked for 
plain English and 

(ii) provided to contractors at the point of them 
applying to be included and registered on the 
Supplier and Contract Management System
(SCMS) and

(iii) issued by the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 
Section to applicants at the time of applying
for an operator’s  licence. 

Page 52



     Our other recommendations (continued) 

That the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance)

examine and report back to this Scrutiny Board as to
whether any further measures could be undertaken to 
improve the clarity of process to ensure licensed 
private hire and hackney carriage operators understand
what is required of them in order to be included on the 
Framework Contract.

ensure that licensed private hire and hackney carriage
operators are advised how to request feedback on their 
submission for entry onto the Framework Contract and 
subsequent tender submissions, and that feedback is 
clear and easily understood. This should include a 
name and contact in each department.

write to the appropriate licensed private hire and
hackney carriage operators to explain the reasons why
the Elmete Wood School transport contract had been 
awarded to a single contractor and that a general
section on single contracts be incorporated into the 
“Guidance on Tendering” booklet.

consider whether contracts could have a lead in period
and include in the “Guidance on Tendering” booklet a 
clear description as to the reasons for the contract
period, how and when contracts can be extended and 
the process by which routes and contracts are
determined.

explore with the contractors concerned the possibility
of publishing winning firms and prices for these 
contracts on the Council’s internet site each year to 
contribute to the transparency of process. 

(i) arrange to send flyers to the 132 licensed private hire 
and hackney carriage operators in the city publicising 
the briefing sessions in March 2008 concerning the 
Framework Contract 2008 and (ii) consider training and 
support methods that could be used to assist licensed
private hire and hackney carriage operators to complete
the necessary documentation perhaps through the
Council’s internet site and in time for the Framework
Contract in 2008. This should include a suitable training
session for Members on Licensing/Procurement being 
held immediately after the local elections in May each 
year, to ensure that Members understand the processes
involved and are kept up to date with developments so 
that they are able to give sound advice and guidance to 
their constituents on these matters. 

extend the closing date for tender returns of the 2008
Framework Contract to ensure that there are at least 10
working days between the documents being available
and the closing date for expressions of interest.

That prior to letting of the Framework Contract in 
September 2008 the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate 
Governance) extend the advertising of the Framework
Contract to include other appropriate publications and 
Council offices within the community that are open to the 
public.

That the Director of Resources convey the thanks of the 
Scrutiny Board to the officers in the Procurement Unit and
Passenger Transport for their significant contribution to 
improving the commissioning of these contracts since 
taking over responsibility for this service.

   Taxi and Private Hire HQ 

Private Hire Taxi

  Meeting of the Taxi Working Group

Councillors and some of the representatives
from the trade, private hire and taxi operators

49

Page 53



Request for Scrutiny on Disability Employment Strategies 

We considered a request for scrutiny from the Chief Executive of Leeds Mind on behalf 
of the Mental Health Employment Consortium regarding the lack of work placements in 
the Council for people with mental health problems. 

We were concerned to hear about the issues they raised and agreed to establish a 
Working Group to investigate the position within the Council with regard to all disabilities
including those related to mental health. We opted to produce a statement and 
recommendations on this important issue. 

We were delighted that the Director of Resources fully supported our proposals. 

50

   Internet Access

“There are virtually no 
opportunities made available by 
the Council, one of the largest 
employers in Leeds, for people 
with mental health problems. 

As a local Mind association we
know that many people with 
mental health problems want to 
return to work but are deterred by 
the fear of prejudice and 
discrimination.

The Council should be an 
exemplary employer in this area 
but does not at all facilitate the 
placement of people into work 
experience contexts.” 

    Julian Turner, Chief Executive
Leeds Mind 

Our other recommendations were: 

That Scrutiny Board (Resources), having
considered the report of the Chief Officer (HR), 
endorses the comments and suggestions of the 
Disability Working Group as follows:-

(a) That it is important to ensure that proper
advice and guidance is given to disabled people 
concerning work and the effect this may have on
their benefit entitlement

(b) That any proposals should contribute to 
helping those disabled people who have a long 
history of worklessness

(c) That in developing a strategy and action plan 
for the employment of disabled people as set out
in the report, consideration be given to 
incorporating or strengthening in the plan the: 

(i) advocacy and support mechanisms

(ii) importance and use of role models, 
mentors and champions 

(iii) provision of tool kits for managers

       (iv) development of recruitment packs 

(v) need for quality training and support for 
managers

      (vi) need to set milestones in the action plan 

Our main recommendation was

That a Project Manager be appointed to 
oversee this initiative and for the Director 
of Resources to ensure that sufficient 
funds were available to implement the 
action plan within the timescales specified. 

Page 54



Our other recommendations (continued)

“ The Board was extremely 
grateful to the Mental Health 
Employment Consortium for 
bringing this matter to our 
attention.

We were pleased to be able to 
make a number of 
recommendations concerning
the development of a disability
employment strategy which 
received the full support of the 
Director of Resources and the 
Executive Board Member with 
portfolio responsibility for 
Central and Corporate 
Functions.”

  Cllr Sue Bentley, Chair 

  (vii) need to undertake further work to establish 
         the actual numbers of disabled people

      employed by the Council who may not be
      currently registered as such for a range of
      reasons.

(d) That many Voluntary Sector organisations 
such as Touchstone, Leeds Incapacity 
Employment Projects (LIEP), Steps for Excellence 
in Personal Success (Steps) and Mental Health 
Employment Consortium actively want to receive 
many more referrals in this area. 

(e) Recognition that there needs to be a culture 
change by the Council in positively encouraging
the employment of disabled people and much less 
emphasis placed upon meeting performance 
targets.

(f) Acknowledgement that a range of new policies 
and procedures are being developed that reflect 
the changing demands and requirements of a 
modernised authority and the need to widen 
employment opportunities for disabled people. 

(g) That an application be made for the Council to
join the National Employers Forum on Disability 
with the aim of achieving best practice and long 
term benefits for the Council. 

(h) That specific milestones be added to the action 
plan to ensure implementation and transparency
in its delivery.

(i) That progress in implementing the action plan
and recommendations of the Scrutiny Board be
undertaken through the new scrutiny tracking 
arrangements previously reported to the Board. 

51

Detailed Attendance Analysis of Sickness Absence

We first looked at sickness absence in November 2007 and asked for a  further
detailed report and recommended that the Director of Resources review the relevant
management systems and introduce sub-codes and categories that will enable HR to:- 

i. identify the costs of employing all agency staff across the Council and the 
reasons for their employment 

ii. analyse specific departments and sections of departments where agency staff 
were being used on a regular basis

iii. submit progress reports to this Scrutiny Board 

We considered a detailed analysis of the current trend relating to sickness absence in
Leeds City Council and recommend further interventions to aid the management of
attendance.

We looked at sickness absence in other comparable local authorities and Core Cities
to assist us in our discussions.

Page 55



  In April the Board agreed to support  the 
following recommendations:- 

 for further work to be undertaken to 
ensure effective analysis and reporting 
of sickness absence and associated
costs in order to drive improvement
activities.

for an increased emphasis on 
reinforcing the critical role of line 
managers in the employment 
relationship.

that more formal performance 
management be introduced and 
cascaded down through the managerial 
structure in order to prioritise 
improvements in this area. 

to critically review the number of cases 
where employees are on either half or 
nil pay and seek to resolve these cases 
in the most effective and timely manner. 

for more work to be undertaken to 
address the issue of applying rigour to 
the application of the relevant policies 
and procedures in support of improving 
performance in this area. 

for work to be undertaken between HR 
and Legal Services to critically review 
the Council’s approach to risk in order to 
more successfully progress cases 
through ill health capability procedures 
where this was appropriate and justified. 

for HR to undertake further work to 
identify if there were any fundamental 
differences or lessons to be learned in 
the way in which Education Leeds and 
ALMOs as arms length operators 
manage their sickness levels that could 
be applied to other areas of the Council.

that the effectiveness of HR 
disseminating information to staff 
concerning national outbreaks of 
sickness be included in a future staff 
survey.

that a further progress report on detailed 
sickness attendance analysis be 
submitted to the Scrutiny Board 
responsible for this area early in the new 
municipal year, subject to any changes 
that might be made to the Scrutiny 
Board structure at the Annual meeting of 
the Council in May 2008. 

52

Valuing Colleagues

People are the key

  We want people to achieve their potential

Good relationships with the trade unions
are important

Page 56



Presentation and Reports 

We received during the course of the year a number of wide ranging reports and presentations 
as part of our monitoring and review role. These included: 

53

Sensible Risk Management

 We looked at how officers make decisions on 
health and safety grounds after risk assessments 
have been undertaken. 

We reviewed the process and fully endorsed the 
Health and Safety Executive’s approach to sensible 
risk management which should not be used as a 
barrier to unreasonably prevent activities. 

We recommended that the Audit and Risk Section 
ensures that Members are advised at an early 
stage of any significant health and safety incidents 
in their respective wards. 

Location of the Audit & Risk 
Section Civic Hall 

Single Managed Fraud Team 

We were provided with an update
on progress with regard to 
implementation of the Single 
Managed Fraud Team initiative as 
approved by the Executive Board on 
17th October 2007. 

We were pleased to note that 
arrangements have now been 
established, a business plan is being 
developed, good progress has been 
made in harmonising procedures and 
training for both Jobcentre Plus and 
the Council’s Benefits staff is 
underway. Phase 2 will see staff co-
located with Jobcentre Plus staff. 

  Leeds Benefits Service Main Office
2 George Street, Leeds

This form can be used to claim
housing, Council tax and education

benefits

Presentation and Reports ( 

Business Support Centre (BSC) 

We reviewed the HR strategy to 
develop shared services that was 
being implemented and delivered 
through the Business Support Centre 
(BSC).

We noted that the broad objectives in 
terms of efficiency and objectives was 
to reduce staffing levels by 20%, 
improve the quality of the service and 
develop smarter working and utilise 
technology. BSC and CRS, Belgrave House

Page 57



Centralised Recruitment Service 
     (CRS) 

We received a presentation and monitored 
the progress concerning the Centralised 
Recruitment Service located in Belgrave
House.

We noted improvements in the
management of the service, business 
process and consistent outputs, levels of e-
recruitment, reductions in external costs of 
advertising and introduction of improved 
recruitment policies.

We asked to review other savings which 
could be made by making further efficiencies 
in recruitment practices, advertising costs 
and better use of technology.

Reduce Fraud and Error in 
Benefits and Council Tax 

We received a presentation on the pro- 
active work being undertaken to help 
prevent fraud and error entering the 
benefits system.

We considered the work being 
undertaken to help identify 
inconsistencies in the system on an 
ongoing basis. 

We also looked at the approach to 
investigating and prosecuting benefit 
fraud.

Jobs with the Council

  Slivers of Time Project 

We recognised the importance of 
this national initiative and have 
received regular updates on its 
progress in Leeds. 

This initiative to accelerate the 
"Narrowing the Gap" agenda by 
bringing people from the city's 
deprived areas into the workforce 
is extremely exciting. 

54

Page 58



Resolving Customer Enquiries Taken 
by the Council’s Contact Centre 

We wanted to look at the effectiveness of 
resolving customer enquiries which had 
been taken by the Council’s Contact Centre 
and passed to the relevant service 
department for action.

We considered an initial paper in September 
2007 on the end-to-end delivery of services 
to our customers and acknowledged the 
significant improvements in accessibility of 
services that had taken place. However, we 
expressed concern that some service 
departments were not responding to 
customer enquiries and complaints made 
through the Contact Centre in a timely and 
cost effective way. 

In April 2008 we considered a further 
detailed report providing further data and 
explanation as to the reasons for repeat 
contact at the Contact Centre, and the steps 
in place to reduce the need for chase-up 
calls.

The report focused specifically on East 
North East Homes ALMO (representative of 
the ALMOs) and the refuse collection 
service (bin deliveries and missed bin calls). 

This joint report of the Chief Customer 
Services Officer and Director of Environment
and Neighbourhoods was detailed. It looked 
at the main issues, initiatives and positive 
steps currently being taken to improve the 
customer experience. It also acknowledged 
that there was still more to do particularly on
the end-to-end delivery of services to our 
customers.

We would have liked to revisit this issue had 
time allowed.

New ALMOs

   Refuse Collection Services

55

Page 59



The Board’s full work programme 2007/08 

Request for Scrutiny regarding the need for the Council to 
establish more work placements for people with mental health 
problems

Statement of the Board and publication of recommendations on 
the development of disability employment strategies 

Consultation on the Strategic Outcomes and Improvement 
Priorities for the Leeds Strategic Plan 

Request for Scrutiny to review the commissioning of the 
passenger transport and taxi and private hire contracts 

Consultation on the development of the Council’s Business Plan

Performance Management Indicators for Quarter 4 2006/07 and 
Quarters 1, 2 and 3  for 2007/08 

Budgetary Issues and Considerations 

Treasury Management Review

Review of the Centralised Recruitment Service 

Slivers of Time Project 

Alternatives to Landlines Internet Access – Narrowing the Gap 

Ethical Investment 

Leeds Benefits Service Take-Up Activity

Resolving Customer Enquiries taken by the Council’s Contact 
Centre

Review of the level of Sickness Absence within the Council 

Single Managed Fraud Team 

Sensible Risk Management 

The Government’s Proposals for Supplementary Business Rates 

Proactive Work being undertaken in Revenue and Benefits to 
reduce fraud 

Review if the development of the Business Support Centre 

56

Page 60



As has been our practice in previous Annual Reports we have published an Action
Plan for the coming year.  We have also reviewed last year’s Plan and made an 
assessment of how well we have met our previous ambitions.

The Action Plan this year reflects what we consider to be the main areas for 
development.  A key focus remains ensuring that Scrutiny is a worthwhile process 
and adds value to the running of the Council.  By doing this we will ensure that 
Scrutiny has a meaningful role to play in the running of the City.  This in turn will 
encourage elected Members, partners and communities to become actively involved 
in the Scrutiny process.

Other goals include building on the key relationship between the Executive and 
Scrutiny and bringing into focus the importance of Scrutiny in driving improvements 
within the Local Area Agreement. 

How we meaningfully scrutinise the Budget must also be an area where we can
improve our performance. 

57

Page 61



OSC have agreed a new method for 
tracking and monitoring recommendations.
This method will make it easier for the 
Boards to identify progress and obstacles in 
implementing recommendations.
Recommendations made following scrutiny 
work will be SMART in order to assist in 
their implementation and to ensure 
measurable outcomes are achieved. 

Improve the way in which 
Recommendations are 

monitored

OSC will implement the revised 
arrangements for scrutiny of the budget 
which includes quarterly financial health 
checks and links to performance 
management.

Improve Budget monitoring 

Discuss with the Chief 
Democratic Services Officer 
improvement to the Forward

Plan of Key Decisions including 
the classification of key
decisions by Strategic

Outcome.

Improve Performance 
Management

Scrutiny has in place a robust system for 
monitoring performance. This includes the 
Executive referring to OSC overall 
performance and any areas of issue. 

Discussions are currently underway as to 
how the Forward Plan might be improved. 

Work has begun on how best to manage 
Councillor Calls for Action and the scrutiny 
of statutory partners within the Local Area 
Agreement.

Responding to the Local 
Government Act 

58

Page 62



Develop the role of 
scrutiny in monitoring
the Local Area
Agreement

 Develop positive 
relationships with our 
statutory partners 
through the use of the 
agreed protocol

Continue the rigour of 
formulating work 
programmes that 
demonstrate linkage to
the Leeds Strategic Plan

Offer development 
and training 
opportunities for all 
Scrutiny Board 
Members

Development
of Scrutiny 

Improve how we 
scrutinise the Budget

Positively implement 
the Memorandum of 
Agreement between 
Scrutiny and Executive
Members

Respond to any 
recommendations
made following the 
Corporate
Assessment
Inspection and Audit 
by KPMG 

59

Page 63



Guide to Scrutiny – comprehensive publication

Revised and updated Information Leaflets: 
Guide to Scrutiny – officers
Guide to Scrutiny – Members
Guide to Scrutiny – external witnesses 

Final Reports issued by Scrutiny Boards in 2007/08 

Fountain Primary School 

Services for 8–13 year olds 

The localisation of health and social care services in Leeds 

Reviewing the commissioning of passenger transport & taxi & private hire 
contracts

 Consultation Processes

Wharfemeadows Fence Inquiry 

 Housing Lettings

Statements issued by Scrutiny Boards in 2007/08 

 Inclusion 

The NHS Dental Contract: One year on 

Teenage Pregnancy in Leeds

Obesity in Leeds 

Comments on the Leeds Strategic Plan 

 Disability employment strategies 

Sickness absence

Shared Spaces

Council’s role in reducing CO2 emissions 

Operational Documents 

Memorandum of Understanding between Executive Board and Overview and 
Scrutiny

Protocol between Scrutiny and Statutory Public Sector Partners in Leeds 

A list of all final reports since 1999 can be found on our internet site 
www.leeds.gov.uk/scrutiny

Contact details - Peter Marrington, Head of  Scrutiny and Member Development

Tel. 0113  39 51151 
e-mail: peter.marrington@leeds.gov.uk
General e-mail address: scrutiny@leeds.gov.uk

60

Page 64



 
Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
Council 
 
Date:  2nd July 2008 
 
Subject: Appointments 
 

        
 
 
1.0 Appointments 

1.1 At the Annual Meeting Party Whips were authorised to allocate vacant seats to 
members in accordance with the proportions set out on the schedules, subject to 
their subsequent report to Council. 

 
1.2 Relevant Party Whips have allocated seats as follows: 
 
 Councillors Bentley, Chastney, Ewens, Hamilton, Latty and Wadsworth to the 

Scrutiny Board (Central and Corporate) 
 
 Councillors Cleasby, Lancaster and R D Feldman to the Scrutiny Board (Children’s 

Services) 
 
 Councillors Barker, Matthews, Lobley, Procter and Wilkinson to the Scrutiny Board 

(City Development) 
 
 Councillors Cleasby, Hollingsworth, A Taylor, Marjoram and Castle to the Scrutiny 

Board (Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
 Councillors Ewens, Kirkland, Andrew, Mrs R Feldman and Fox to the Scrutiny Board 

(Adult Social Care) 
 
 Councillors Chapman, Kirkland, Monaghan, Rhodes-Clayton, Lamb and Bale to the 

Scrutiny Board (Health) 
    
              Councillors Campbell, Pryke, Shelbrooke, Kendall, and Fox to the Scrutiny Board 

(City and Regional Partnerships)   
 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Ian Walton 
 

Tel: 2474350 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Page 65



 Councillors Taylor, Wilson, Wadsworth and Castle to the Plans Panel (East) 
 
 Councillors Chastney, Matthews, Andrew and Marjoram to the Plans Panel (West) 
 Councillors Monaghan, Latty and Mrs R Feldman to the Plans Panel (City Centre) 
 
 Councillors Townsley, Wilson and Wilkinson to the Licensing and Regulatory Panel 
 
 Councillors Hollingsworth, Rhodes-Clayton, Townsley, R D Feldman, Wilkinson and 

Castle to the Licensing Committee 
 
 Councillors Cleasby, Harker, Anderson and Ogilvie to the Development Plan Panel 
 
 Councillors Bentley and Latty to the Member Management Committee 
 
 Councillors Campbell, Kirkland and Latty to the Corporate Governance and Audit 

Committee 
 
 Councillors Brett, Bentley and J Procter to the Constitutional Proposals Committee 
 
 Councillors Brett and A Carter to the West Yorkshire Joint Services Committee and 

Councillors Hamilton and R D Feldman as nominated substitutes to the same 
 
 Councillor Fox to the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment Panel 
 
 Councillors Cleasby and Fox to the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Advisory Group 
 
 Councillors Campbell, J L Carter and D Blackburn to the Standards Committee 
 
 Councillors Castle and Harrand to the West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority 
 
 Councillors A Carter and Wadsworth to the West Yorkshire Passenger Transport 

Authority 
 
 Councillor J L Carter as a nomination to serve on the West Yorkshire Police 

Authority 
 
1.3 The Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) amended appointments 

made at the Annual Meeting in accordance with authority granted to her at that 
meeting and in consultation with appropriate Whips as follows: 

 
 Councillor Ogilvie to replace Councillor Dowson on the Scrutiny Board (City 

Development) 
 
 Councillor Dowson to replace Councillor Ogilvie on the Scrutiny Board (Central and 

Corporate) 
 
              Councillor Coupar to replace Councillor Langdale on the Scrutiny Board 

(Environment and Neighbourhoods) 
 
               

Page 66



 Councillor J McKenna to replace Councillor Mulherin on the Scrutiny Board 
(Children’s Services) 

 
 Councillor Mulherin to replace Councillor J McKenna on the Scrutiny Board 

(Environment & Neighbourhoods)  
 
 
1.4        Councillor Bentley is now the Liberal Democrat Group Whip and it is therefore 

appropriate that Council appoint her as Chair of the Member Management 
Committee for the period 1st December 2008 to the date of the Annual Meeting in 
2009 in place of Councillor Hamilton. 

 
2.0 Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the appointments detailed in paragraph 1.2  and 1.3 be noted and that the 

appointment  in paragraph 1.4 be approved. 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
Council 
 
Date:   2nd July 2008 
 
Subject:  The Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 
 

        
 
 

1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 To present to Council the Safer Leeds Partnership Plan for approval. The Plan is 
part of the Budget and Policy Framework and is therefore subject to approval of the 
full Council. 

2.0   Background Information 

2.1 The attached report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods and the 
attached Safer Leeds Partnership Plan were submitted to the Executive Board on 
16th April 2008. The Board recommended in minute 216 of that meeting that Council 
approve the Plan. 

3.0 Recommendation 

3.1 That the Safer Leeds Partnership Plan be approved as part of the Budget and Policy 
Framework. 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Ian Walton 
 

Tel: 2474350 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Director of Environment and Neighbourhoods 
 
Executive Board 
 
Date: 16th April 2008 
 
Subject: Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 
 

        
 
Eligible for Call in                                                 Not Eligible for Call In 
                                                                              (Details contained in the report) 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The report seeks Member approval on the (draft) Safer Leeds Partnership Plan.  The Plan 
sets out the priorities for 2008 – 11 and reports on the progress made towards the current 
three-year Safer Leeds Strategy running from 2005 until 2008.   
 
Safer Leeds (the Crime and Disorder Partnership for Leeds) has a statutory duty to produce 
this Plan.  The Plan outlines the strategic outcomes and activities the Partnership aims to 
deliver. 
 
The Plan will be reviewed and renewed annually to reflect any new emerging priorities. 
 
 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap  
 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 

Originator: Harvinder 
Saimbhi 
 
Tel:  3950810 

 

 

 

  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (Referred to in report) 
 

Page 71



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Member approval for the Safer Leeds Partnership 

Plan.  The Partnership has a statutory duty to produce a partnership plan covering the 
period 1st April to 31st March 2011.  The plan sets out for the next three years strategic 
outcomes and annual improvement priorities and activities. (Appendix 1) 

2.0 Background Information 

2.1 The Police and Justice Act 2006 received Royal Assent on 8 November 2006. The Act 
amended the partnership provisions of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to make 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) a more effective vehicle for 
tackling crime, anti-social behaviour and substance misuse in their communities  
 
The amendments to the Crime & Disorder Act abolished the duty on CDRPs to 
produce an audit and strategy every three years.  The new statutory requirement for 
CDRPs is to produce a partnership plan for tackling crime and disorder issues.    
 

3.0 Main Issues 
 
3.1 Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 
 
3.2 The five strategic outcomes that the partnership plan aims to deliver are: 

• Creating safer environments by tackling crime 

• Improving lives by reducing the harm caused by substance misuse 

• Supporting victims and reducing the risk of victimization 

• Reducing offending and managing offending behaviour 

• Improving community confidence and public satisfaction 
 

3.3 The strategic outcomes are based on the analysis of the strategic assessment, 
consultation with the public, the legal requirements and targets placed on the 
Partnership.  Each outcome will have improvement priorities and delivery activities. 

3.4 A number of the targets in the SLPP are subject to further negotiations with central 
government as they are designated targets in the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 (that 
incorporates the Leeds local area agreement) and required to be signed off by the 
Secretary of State in June 2008.  

 

4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

4.1 Safer Leeds is obliged to work within the national framework to deliver improvements 
within the public service agreements in relation to crime reduction.   

 
5.0       Legal And Resource Implications 

5.1 Safer Leeds Partnership receives grant funding from a variety of sources, all of which 
are managed through the Community Safety Commissioning process to deliver 
against the strategic outcomes.  These include: 

 

• Adult Pooled Treatment Budget (Department of Health) 

• Drugs Intervention Programme Main Grant (Home Office) 

Page 72



• Area Based Grant funding including Neighbourhood Renewal Fund, Safer Stronger 
Communities Fund, Trailblazer (Respect) and Local Public Service Agreement 
monies 

• Additional short-term grants from regional GOYH 

• Leeds City Council 

• West Yorkshire Police 
 
 
6.0       Conclusion 

6.1 Safer Leeds has a statutory duty to produce a Partnership Plan covering the period 1st 
April to 31st March 2011.  The plan in appendix 1 will be reviewed and renewed 
annually to reflect new emerging priorities.  The partnership has a duty to consult and 
inform communities on community safety plans.  The activities identified in the plan 
reflect community priorities, concerns, and link directly to both local and national 
related strategies and plans.  

 
7.0      Recommendations 

7.1    Members are requested to recommend Full Council to approve the Safer Leeds 
Partnership Plan. 
 

 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



S
a

fe
r 

L
e

e
d

s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 P
la

n
2
0
0
8
-2

0
1
1

  
  
  
  
  
  

  
  
  
  
A

p
p
e
n
d
ix

 1

Page 75



Con
tent

s

1 
Fore

word
  

2 
Intro

duct
ion 

 
(Mis

sion
 and

 Pur
pose

) 
4 

Resu
lts 2

005-
2008

 
 

(Wh
at th

e 20
05-2

008 
Stra

tegy
 

 
Achi

eved
) 

5 
Key 

Succ
esse

s 20
05-2

008 
 

 
(Wh

at w
e de

liver
ed) 

9 
Fact

s an
d Fig

ures
  

 
(Find

ings
 from

 the 
2007

 
 

asse
ssm

ent) 
 

11 
Our 

Stra
tegic

 Out
com

es  
 

(Wh
at w

e wa
nt to

 ach
ieve

 by 
 

2011
) 

17 
Our 

Stru
cture

s an
d De

liver
y  

 
Proc

esse
s  

18 
Mea

surin
g Ou

r  Pe
rform

ance
  

Fore
word

We 
are p

leas
ed to

 repo
rt the

 sus
taine

d im
prov

eme
nts m

ade 
durin

g the
 life 

of ou
r pre

viou
s str

ateg
y an

d the
 con

side
rable

 prog
ress

mad
e in 

tack
ling 

crim
e ac

ross
 the 

city. 
In 20

07, t
here

 wer
e 87

,400
 reco

rded
 crim

es, a
lmos

t 11,
000 

fewe
r offe

nces
 than

 in 2
005,

 this
 

is a 
11%

 redu
ction

 in c
rime

 (fina
l figu

res f
or th

e Ap
ril 20

05 to
 Mar

ch 2
008 

strat
egy 

will b
e av

ailab
le la

ter in
 the 

year
).  W

e kn
ow t

here
 

is st
ill m

ore 
to d

o as
, like

 ma
ny o

ther 
cities

, Le
eds 

cont
inue

s to 
face

 the
 cha

lleng
es th

at cr
ime,

 ant
i-soc

ial b
ehav

iour 
and 

drug
addi

ction
 brin

g.  C
rime

 and
 diso

rder 
rema

ins a
 prim

ary c
once

rn fo
r the

 citiz
ens 

of Le
eds.

   
Safe

r Lee
ds h

as a
 stat

utory
 duty

 to p
rodu

ce a
 part

ners
hip p

lan c
over

ing t
he p

eriod
 1st  Ap

ril 20
08 to

 31st  Ma
rch 2

011.
  Thi

s allo
ws u

s 
to pl

an fo
r sho

rt, m
ediu

m an
d lon

g ter
m pr

ioriti
es a

nd to
 alig

n wi
th ot

her p
lann

ing c
ycles

, not
ably

 the 
Leed

s Lo
cal A

rea A
gree

men
t.  

The 
partn

ersh
ip pl

an p
rese

nted
 here

 will 
be re

view
ed a

nd re
new

ed a
nnua

lly to
 refle

ct an
y ne

w em
ergin

g pri
oritie

s.   
This

 part
ners

hip p
lan o

utlin
es o

ur st
rateg

ic ou
tcom

es fo
r the

 nex
t thre

e ye
ars (

2008
-201

1) an
d sp

ecific
ally o

ur im
prov

eme
nt pr

ioriti
es 

for th
e co

ming
 yea

r (20
08-2

009)
. 

We 
inten

d to 
build

 on o
ur pr

evio
us s

ucce
ss b

y tac
kling

 thos
e pro

blem
s of 

grea
test 

conc
ern a

nd b
eliev

e tha
t this

 part
ners

hip p
lan i

s 
flexib

le en
ough

 to re
spon

d to 
the c

hang
ing d

ema
nds 

that 
migh

t be 
plac

ed o
n us

.   
It is 

impo
rtant

 to S
afer 

Leed
s tha

t, no
 mat

ter w
here

 peo
ple l

ive i
n Le

eds,
 they

 sho
uld n

ot on
ly be

 safe
, but

 also
 feel

 safe
.  Yo

ur 
assis

tanc
e is 

very
 imp

ortan
t to u

s be
caus

e yo
u ca

n he
lp us

 deli
ver t

his p
artne

rship
 plan

.  By
 wor

king
 toge

ther 
in pa

rtner
ship

 with
 you

, 
we c

an a
chie

ve s
usta

ined
 crim

e red
uctio

ns a
nd m

ake 
Leed

s a s
afer 

plac
e to 

live, 
work

 and
 visit

.   
Duri

ng th
e ye

ar ah
ead,

 we 
will s

treng
then

 our 
com

mun
ity sa

fety 
com

mitm
ent t

o pa
rtner

ship
 app

roac
hes 

and 
ende

avou
r to t

ackle
 the

mos
t sig

nifica
nt is

sues
 of c

once
rn to

 the 
citize

ns o
f Lee

ds in
 a re

spon
sible

 and
 effe

ctive
 man

ner. 

Cou
ncillo

r Les
 Car

ter, 
Cha

ir of 
Safe

r Lee
ds 

Boar
d

Neil 
Evan

s,  
Cha

ir of 
Safe

r Lee
ds 

Exec
utive

 & D
irect

or of
 

Envi
ronm

ents
 and

 
Neig

hbou
rhoo

ds  
(Lee

ds C
ity C

ounc
il)

1

Page 76



Intro
duct

ion

O
u

r 
M

is
s
io

n
 

‘T
o

 
s
e

c
u

re
 

s
u

s
ta

in
a

b
le

 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
s
 

in
 

c
ri
m

e
 

a
n
d
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

a
n

d
 a

d
d

re
s
s
 t

h
e

 

fe
a

r 
o

f 
c
ri
m

e
 i
n

 L
e

e
d

s
’

Who
 are 

Safe
r Le

eds 
Safe

r Lee
ds is

 a st
atuto

ry pa
rtner

ship
 form

ed a
s a r

esul
t of t

he C
rime

 and
 Diso

rder 
Act 1

998.
      

The 
Safe

r Lee
ds E

xecu
tive 

sets
 stra

tegic
 dire

ction
 and

 is a
ccou

ntab
le fo

r del
iveri

ng th
e pa

rtner
ship

 plan
 by m

akin
g de

cisio
ns 

abou
t act

ivity,
 reso

urce
 allo

catio
n an

d pro
blem

 solv
ing. 

 It is
 mad

e up
 of s

enio
r offi

cers
 from

 the 
‘resp

onsi
ble a

utho
rities

’ and
‘co-o

pera
ting 

bodi
es’ t

hese
 are:

 
Leed

s Cit
y Co

unci
l 

Leed
s Pri

mary
 Car

e Tru
st 

Wes
t Yor

kshir
e Fir

e an
d Re

scue
 Ser

vice 
Wes

t Yor
kshir

e Po
lice  

Wes
t Yor

kshir
e Po

lice A
utho

rity 
Leed

s Ini
tiativ

e
Child

ren a
nd Y

oung
 Peo

ple’s
 Soc

ial C
are  

Natio
nal O

ffend
er M

anag
eme

nt Se
rvice

 / Pr
obat

ion  
Elec

ted m
emb

er w
ith le

ad fo
r com

mun
ity sa

fety 
Safe

r Lee
ds B

oard
 is m

ade 
up o

f rep
rese

ntati
ves 

from
 the 

publ
ic, p

rivat
e an

d vo
lunta

ry se
ctors

.  Th
is is 

a co
nsul

tativ
e gro

up 
that 

revie
ws t

he p
artne

rship
 plan

s an
d en

sure
s tha

t co
mmu

nity 
cons

ultat
ion i

s co
-ordi

nate
d ef

fecti
vely 

and 
repo

rts t
o th

e 
citize

ns o
f Lee

ds. 
Our 

Purp
ose 

- wh
at ar

e we
 her

e to 
do  

In pa
rtner

ship
 with

 the 
citize

ns o
f Lee

ds, w
e ar

e he
re to

 deli
ver t

he S
afer 

Leed
s pa

rtner
ship

 plan
 and

 ther
eby 

cont
ribut

e to 
crea

ting 
safe

r and
 stro

nger
 com

mun
ities.

   
By u

nder
takin

g the
 200

7 as
sess

men
t and

 prod
ucin

g thi
s pla

n Sa
fer L

eeds
 has

 had
 an o

ppor
tunit

y to:
 

Revi
ew p

rogre
ss in

 term
s of 

activ
ity, im

pact
, per

form
ance

, risk
 and

 valu
e for

 mon
ey 

Rea
sses

s the
 exte

nt of
 crim

e, di
sord

er an
d su

bsta
nce 

misu
se 

Enga
ge w

ith s
take

hold
ers a

nd lo
cal c

omm
uniti

es to
 set 

impr
ovem

ent p
riorit

ies 
Deve

lop s
hort,

 med
ium 

and 
long

 term
 perf

orma
nce 

mea
sure

s 
Con

side
r how

 reso
urce

s ca
n be

 effe
ctive

ly us
ed to

 imp
rove

 serv
ice d

elive
ry  

Ensu
re th

at ou
r imp

rove
men

t prio
rities

 are 
inclu

ded 
in wi

der c
omm

unity
 plan

s 
This

 plan
 has

 not 
been

 dev
elop

ed in
 isola

tion 
and 

links
 dire

ctly t
o bo

th lo
cal a

nd n
ation

al re
lated

 stra
tegie

s an
d pla

ns. W
e ha

ve
ensu

red 
that 

this 
plan

 com
plem

ents
 and

 max
imise

s op
portu

nities
 thro

ugh 
the L

eeds
 Stra

tegic
 Pla

n an
d via

 the 
Loca

l Are
a 

Agre
eme

nt ta
rgets

.  
2

Page 77



Intro
duct

ion
O

u
r 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 O
u

tc
o

m
e
s
 

(2
0

0
8

-2
0

1
1

)

O
v
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
x
t 

th
re

e
 y

e
a

rs
 o

u
r 

d
e

liv
e

ry
 p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
 w

ill
 f

o
c
u

s
 o

n
: 

C
re

a
ti
n

g
 s

a
fe

r 
e

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n

ts
 

b
y
 t

a
c
k
lin

g
 c

ri
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 l
iv

e
s
 b

y
 r

e
d

u
c
in

g
 

th
e

 h
a

rm
 c

a
u

s
e

d
 b

y
 s

u
b

s
ta

n
c
e

 

m
is

u
s
e

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 v
ic

ti
m

s
 a

n
d

 

re
d

u
c
in

g
 t

h
e

 r
is

k
 o

f 

v
ic

ti
m

is
a

ti
o

n
 

R
e

d
u

c
in

g
 a

n
d

 m
a

n
a

g
in

g
 

o
ff

e
n

d
in

g
 b

e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

Im
p

ro
v
in

g
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it
y
 

c
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

 a
n

d
 p

u
b

lic
 

s
a

ti
s
fa

c
ti
o

n

Visio
n - w

here
 we 

wan
t to 

be 
‘The

 Visi
on fo

r Le
eds 

2004
-202

0’ is
 the 

sust
aina

ble c
omm

unity
 stra

tegy
 for 

the c
ity a

nd d
escr

ibes
 the 

long
-term

 amb
ition

 of 
‘mak

ing s
ure 

ever
yone

 has
 a b

etter
 qua

lity o
f life

 now
 and

 for 
gene

ratio
ns to

 com
e’.  

Leed
s Ini

tiativ
e (th

e loc
al st

rateg
ic 

partn
ersh

ip) g
uide

s the
 wor

k of 
all p

artne
rship

s’ to
ward

s ac
hiev

ing t
hree

 aim
s: 

Goin
g up

 a le
ague

 as a
 city

 - m
akin

g Le
eds 

an in
terna

tiona
lly co

mpe
titive

 city
, the

 bes
t pla

ce to
 live

, wo
rk an

d lea
rn, 

with 
a hig

h qu
ality 

of lif
e for

 eve
ryon

e 
Narr

owin
g the

 gap
 - be

twee
n the

 mos
t dis

adva
ntag

ed p
eopl

e an
d co

mmu
nitie

s an
d the

 rest
 of th

e cit
y 

Deve
lopin

g Le
eds’

 role
 as t

he re
gion

al ca
pital

 - su
ppor

ting 
and 

supp
orted

 by a
 reg

ion t
hat i

s be
com

ing i
ncre

asin
gly 

pros
pero

us 
The 

Visio
n inc

lude
s eig

ht th
eme

s:  
Cultu

re 
Ente

rpris
e an

d Ec
onom

y 
Lear

ning
 

Tran
spor

t 
Envi

ronm
ent 

Hea
lth a

nd W
ellbe

ing 
Thriv

ing N
eigh

bour
hood

s  
Harm

onio
us C

omm
uniti

es 
The 

Leed
s Str

ateg
ic Pl

an is
 the 

deliv
ery p

lan o
f The

 Visi
on a

nd s
ets o

ut w
here

 the 
city 

wan
ts to

 be b
y 20

11, l
ocal

 issu
es a

nd 
prior

ities 
relev

ant t
o the

 them
es a

re re
flect

ed in
 the 

Area
 Deli

very
 Plan

s.  
Leed

s Ini
tiativ

e is 
the m

ain p
artne

rship
 foru

m fo
r col

lectiv
ely r

evie
wing

 and
 stee

ring 
reso

urce
s to 

supp
ort t

he d
elive

ry of
 the

Leed
s Str

ateg
ic Pl

an. 
Safe

r Le
eds 

shar
es th

is vi
sion

 and
 reco

gnis
es w

e ha
ve a

n im
porta

nt ro
le to

 play
 in r

ealis
ing t

he p
ublic

’s as
pirat

ions
.  Th

e 
Visio

n co
mmi

ts Le
eds 

Initia
tive 

and 
its p

artne
rship

s’ to
 mak

e su
re th

at th
ey: ‘

tack
le cr

ime 
and 

com
mun

ity sa
fety 

in ev
ery o

ne o
f 

the V
ision

’s pr
ogra

mme
s of 

work
’.  3

Page 78



-2
0

%
-3

0
%

-2
5
%

-1
5
%

-3
5

%

Publ
ic Se

rvice
 Agr

eem
ent P

SA1
 Perf

orma
nce

Dece
mbe

r 200
7

Perfo
rman

ce =
 -30.

5%

-2
0

%
-3

0
%

-2
5
%

-1
5
%

-3
5

%

-2
0

%
-3

0
%

-2
5
%

-1
5
%

-3
5

%

Publ
ic Se

rvice
 Agr

eem
ent P

SA1
 Perf

orma
nce

Dece
mbe

r 200
7

Perfo
rman

ce =
 -30.

5%

Res
ults 

(200
5-20

08) –
 wha

t the
 200

5-20
08 s

trate
gy a

chie
ved 

P
S

A
1
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

P
S

A
1
 
is

 
a

 
P

u
b
lic

 
S

e
rv

ic
e
 
A

g
re

e
m

e
n
t 

c
o
n
ta

in
in

g
 t

h
e
 c

ri
m

e
 
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 t

a
rg

e
ts

 
th

a
t 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

m
u
s
t 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
 

b
y
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
8
.

T
h
e
 

P
S

A
1
 

c
ri
m

e
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 

ta
rg

e
t 

m
e
a
s
u
re

s
 

B
ri
ti
s
h
 

C
ri
m

e
 

S
u
rv

e
y
 

c
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r 

c
ri
m

e
 

a
g

a
in

s
t 

a
 

b
a

s
e

lin
e

 
s
e

t 
b

y
 t

h
e

 H
o

m
e

 O
ff

ic
e
. 

S
a
fe

r 
L
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 W

e
s
t 

Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

jo
in

tl
y
 s

e
t 

a
 a

m
b
it
io

u
s
 P

S
A

1
 t

a
rg

e
t 

o
f 

3
5

%
.

B
y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
7
, 

L
e
e
d

s
 

h
a
d

 
a

c
h

ie
v

e
d

 a
 3

0
.5

%
 r

e
d

u
c
ti

o
n

 i
n

 B
C

S
 

c
o

m
p

a
ra

to
r 

c
ri

m
e

. 

Figu
res 

for t
he A

pril 2
005 

to M
arch

 200
8 str

ateg
y 

will b
e av

ailab
le la

ter in
 the 

year
 

Betw
een 

2005
 and

 200
7 Sa

fer L
eeds

 mad
e co

nsid
erab

le pr
ogre

ss in
 tack

ling 
crim

e ac
ross

 the 
city. 

In 20
07, t

here
 wer

e 87
,400

 
reco

rded
 crim

es, a
lmos

t 11,
000 

fewe
r offe

nces
 than

 in 2
005,

 this
 is a

 11%
 redu

ction
 in c

rime
 (fina

l figu
res f

or th
e Ap

ril 20
05 to

Marc
h 20

08 s
trate

gy w
ill be

 ava
ilable

 late
r in t

he y
ear).

  

9
8

,3
0

9
9

6
,0

6
1

8
7

,4
0

0

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

Tren
ds in

 Rec
orde

d Cr
ime 

in Le
eds 

2005
 to 2

007
Betw

een 
2005

 and
 200

7:
Reco

rded
 crim

e fel
l by 1

1% 
Viole

nt cr
ime 

fell b
y 12

.5% 
Vehi

cle c
rime

 fell b
y 20

.4%
Dom

estic
 Bur

glary
 incr

ease
d by

 7.0%
Rob

bery
 incr

ease
d by

 19.1
%

9
8

,3
0

9
9

6
,0

6
1

8
7

,4
0

0

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

Tren
ds in

 Rec
orde

d Cr
ime 

in Le
eds 

2005
 to 2

007
Betw

een 
2005

 and
 200

7:
Reco

rded
 crim

e fel
l by 1

1% 
Viole

nt cr
ime 

fell b
y 12

.5% 
Vehi

cle c
rime

 fell b
y 20

.4%
Dom

estic
 Bur

glary
 incr

ease
d by

 7.0%
Rob

bery
 incr

ease
d by

 19.1
%

Red
uctio

ns in
 offe

nce 
num

bers
 do n

ot te
ll the

 who
le st

ory; 
the f

ollow
ing p

ages
 give

 exa
mple

s of 
the w

ork t
hat S

afer 
Leed

s lea
d 

and 
supp

orted
 to a

chie
ve s

ucce
ss. F

urthe
r info

rmat
ion a

bout
 our 

perfo
rman

ce d
uring

 200
5-20

08 w
ill be

 ava
ilable

 late
r in 

the 
year

.

4

Page 79



Key
 Suc

cess
es (2

005-
2008

) - ex
amp

les o
f wh

at w
e de

liver
ed

T
a

c
k

li
n

g
 B

u
rg

la
ry

 -
 A

ll
e

y
g

a
ti

n
g

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

High
er th

an a
vera

ge b
urgla

ry ra
tes w

ere r
epor

ted i
n so

me a
reas

 of th
e cit

y. 
W

h
a

t 
d

id
 w

e
 d

o
?

 
The 

Clea
n Ne

ighb
ourh

oods
 and

 Env
ironm

ent A
ct 20

05 g
ave 

loca
l aut

horit
ies m

ore 
pow

ers t
o tem

pora
rily r

estri
ct ac

cess
 to p

ublic
 

high
ways

 for 
the p

urpo
se o

f crim
e pr

even
tion.

  Sa
fer L

eeds
 follo

wed
 bes

t pra
ctice

 and
 intro

duce
d all

eyga
ting,

 rest
rictin

g ac
cess

 to 
back

 stre
ets a

nd c
arria

gew
ays 

to de
ter p

oten
tial c

rimin
als. 

Alley
gatin

g is 
a pro

ven 
meth

od o
f sup

porti
ng c

rime
 prev

entio
n me

asur
es

and 
prov

ides
 reas

sura
nce 

to lo
cal r

esid
ents

.  All
eyga

ting 
is on

e of 
seve

ral to
ols u

sed 
by S

afer 
Leed

s to 
addr

ess 
dom

estic
 burg

lary.
By D

ecem
ber 2

007,
 Lee

ds h
ad 1

15 A
lleyg

ates
 cov

ering
 69 c

arria
gew

ays 
and 

pass
agew

ays. 
Alley

gate
s we

re in
stalle

d in 
area

s wh
ere 

resid
ents

 had
 suf

fered
 from

 ant
i-soc

ial b
ehav

iour 
and 

othe
r cri

mina
l act

ivitie
s. T

hese
 are

as in
clud

e pa
rts o

f Ha
rehil

ls, B
eest

on,
Woo

dhou
se, B

urley
, Ch

apel
town

, Bur
man

tofts
 and

 Cha
pel A

llerto
n. 

W
h

a
t 

d
if

fe
re

n
c

e
 d

id
 w

e
 

m
a

k
e

?

Feed
back

 abo
ut Al

leyg
ates

 was
 very

 pos
itive 

and 
they

 help
ed p

reve
nt cr

ime,
 redu

ce a
nti-s

ocia
l beh

avio
ur an

d fly
-tipp

ing. 
 One

 loca
l 

resid
ent s

aid: 
“I us

ed to
 be 

scar
ed to

 wal
k pa

st th
e all

ey a
nd h

eard
 stor

ies o
f girl

s be
ing d

ragg
ed in

 ther
e.  It

 is a
 lot q

uiete
r on 

the 
stree

ts no
w an

d the
re is

 not 
as m

uch 
dam

age.
  The

re is
 less

 anti
-soc

ial b
ehav

iour,
 less

 van
dalis

m, a
nd c

hildr
en c

an p
lay s

afely
”.

T
a

c
k

li
n

g
 A

n
ti

-S
o

c
ia

l 
B

e
h

a
v

io
u

r

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

 
Anti-

Soci
al B

ehav
iour 

affec
ts pe

ople
s’ ev

eryd
ay li

fe an
d ca

n de
vast

ate a
 neig

hbou
rhoo

d.  I
t is r

ecog
nise

d tha
t AS

B iss
ues 

can 
be

com
plex

 and
 cha

lleng
ing a

nd c
anno

t be 
deal

t with
 in is

olati
on.

W
h

a
t 

d
id

 w
e

 d
o

?
 

Impl
eme

nted
 the 

ASB
 stra

tegy
, dea

ling 
with:

 
Prev

entio
n - u

sing
 low

 leve
l inte

rven
tions

 suc
h as

 acc
epta

ble b
ehav

iour 
cont

racts
, me

diati
on, i

nform
al w

arnin
gs a

nd re
ferra

l 
to di

vers
iona

ry sc
hem

es  
Enfo

rcem
ent -

 usin
g the

 full 
rang

e of 
tools

 and
 pow

ers a
vaila

ble t
o all

 part
ners

 to ta
ckle 

pers
isten

t AS
B inc

ludin
g An

ti-So
cial

Beha
viou

r Ord
ers  

 
Rese

ttlem
ent -

 to e
nsur

e wh
ere l

egal
 rem

edie
s we

re pu
rsue

d, pe
rpetr

ators
 of A

SB c
ontin

ued 
to be

 mon
itore

d an
d dir

ecte
d 

towa
rds s

uppo
rtive

 serv
ices 

to su
stain

 redu
ction

s in 
ASB

 
W

h
a

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

c
e

 d
id

 w
e

 
m

a
k

e
?

In 20
06, L

eeds
 was

 awa
rded

 ‘Res
pect

 Are
a’ st

atus
 by t

he H
ome

 Offi
ce, s

ince
 then

 we 
have

: 
Esta

blish
ed a

 Fam
ily In

terve
ntion

 Pro
ject 

and 
Pare

nting
 Pro

gram
me 

Dem
onst

rated
 ope

nnes
s an

d ac
coun

tabil
ity th

roug
h Fa

ce th
e Pe

ople
 ses

sion
s 

Used
 the 

full r
ange

 of to
ols a

nd p
owe

rs an
d ad

opte
d the

 Res
pect

 Hou
sing

 Stan
dard

 
5

Page 80



Key
 Suc

cess
es (2

005-
2008

) - ex
amp

les o
f wh

at w
e de

liver
ed

T
a

c
k

li
n

g
 V

io
le

n
t 

C
ri

m
e

 -
 i

n
 t

h
e

 c
it

y
 c

e
n

tr
e

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

 
In Ap

ril 20
06, t

he c
ity ce

ntre 
was 

iden
tified

 as a
rea w

here
 alco

hol f
uelle

d cri
me a

nd d
isord

er, in
 part

icula
r ass

aults
 and

 hara
ssm

ent 
incid

ents
, we

re ca
usin

g gro
wing

 con
cern

. 
W

h
a

t 
d

id
 w

e
 d

o
?

 
As p

art o
f the

 ‘Tac
kling

 Viol
ent C

rime
 Pro

gram
me’ 

a mu
lti-ag

ency
 stee

ring 
grou

p wa
s for

med
 with

 sev
eral 

serv
ices 

bein
g en

gage
d for

the 
first 

time
 coll

ectiv
ely i

nclu
ding

 Pla
nnin

g, L
icen

sing
 Enf

orce
men

t, Hi
ghw

ays 
and 

Stre
et S

ervic
es.  

All s
ervic

es p
artic

ipate
d in

 
initia

tives
 to m

ake 
the s

treet
s a s

afer 
and 

clea
ner p

lace
 for v

isitor
s an

d res
iden

ts to
 enjo

y.  
Fund

ing w
as s

ecur
ed fo

r a c
ity c

entre
 triag

e pil
ot (a

 syst
em w

here
 pati

ents
 wer

e as
sess

ed b
y am

bula
nce 

serv
ice b

efore
 atte

ndin
g to 

accid
ent a

nd e
merg

ency
)in p

artne
rship

 with
 Wes

t Yor
kshir

e Am
bula

nce 
Serv

ice. 
Taxi

 ma
rsha

ls w
ere 

intro
duce

d th
roug

hout
 Nov

emb
er a

nd D
ecem

ber 
and 

nigh
t bu

ses 
ran 

on F
riday

 and
 Sat

urda
y nig

hts 
from

 
00:3

0hrs
 unti

l 03:
45 h

rs up
 to a

nd in
clud

ing N
ew Y

ears
 Eve

.   
Safe

r Le
eds 

work
ed w

ith th
e lic

ensi
ng tr

ade 
and 

deve
lope

d the
 ‘Be

st B
ar N

one 
Sche

me’ 
to pr

omo
te so

cially
 resp

onsi
ble l

icen
sed 

prem
ises.

  By 
the e

nd o
f the

 yea
r, 60

 new
 licen

sed 
prem

ises 
had 

joine
d the

 sch
eme

. Sim
ilarly

, the
 Pub

watc
h sc

hem
e wa

s ch
ange

d to
mak

e it m
ore r

eflec
tive 

of th
e typ

e of 
licen

sed 
prem

ises 
in th

e cit
y.

W
h

a
t 

d
if

fe
re

n
c

e
 d

id
 w

e
 

m
a

k
e

?

The 
city c

entre
 targ

et ar
ea e

xper
ienc

ed a
 19%

 redu
ction

 in v
iolen

t crim
e, an

d the
 Hom

e Of
fice 

reco
gnis

ed L
eeds

 as a
 suc

cess
 stor

y.  
Leed

s city
 cen

tre is
 now

 a sa
fer p

lace
 at n

ight,
 whic

h is 
critic

al if 
we a

re to
 mai

ntain
 a th

rivin
g nig

ht-tim
e ec

onom
y for

 all.
R

e
d

u
c

in
g

 N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 C

ri
m

e
 -

 O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
 C

h
a

m
p

io
n

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

 
In Ja

nuar
y 20

07, f
ollow

ing a
 perf

orma
nce 

revie
w, it

 was
 felt 

more
 cou

ld be
 don

e in 
thos

e co
mmu

nitie
s su

fferin
g hig

h lev
els o

f crim
e 

and 
anti-

socia
l beh

avio
ur.

W
h

a
t 

d
id

 w
e

 d
o

?
 

Safe
r Lee

ds re
vitali

sed 
and 

rena
med

 exis
ting 

oper
ation

s un
der t

he n
ame

 Ope
ratio

n Ch
amp

ion. 
 This

 is a
 mul

ti-ag
ency

 resp
onse

 to 
crim

e an
d gr

ime 
prob

lems
 at a

 loca
l lev

el.  
Ope

ratio
n Ch

amp
ion a

ctivit
ies t

ake 
plac

e thr
ee ti

mes
 a m

onth
 in t

arge
ted ‘

hots
pots

’ to 
impr

ove 
neig

hbou
rhoo

ds a
nd p

rovid
e loc

al pe
ople

 reas
sura

nce 
that 

agen
cies 

are w
orkin

g tog
ethe

r to t
ry an

d res
olve

 loca
l pro

blem
s.

W
h

a
t 

d
if

fe
re

n
c

e
 d

id
 w

e
 

m
a

k
e

?

Betw
een 

Febr
uary

 200
7 an

d the
 end

 of S
epte

mbe
r 200

7, se
vent

een 
Ope

ratio
n Ch

amp
ion e

vent
s ha

d tak
en p

lace
 acro

ss th
e cit

y. 

6

Page 81



Key
 Suc

cess
es (2

005-
2008

) - ex
amp

les o
f wh

at w
e de

liver
ed

N
e

ig
h

b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 P

o
li

c
in

g
 -

 P
o

li
c

e
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 S

u
p

p
o

rt
 O

ff
ic

e
rs

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

Safe
r Lee

ds k
now

s fro
m its

 con
sulta

tion 
with 

resid
ents

 that
 hav

ing a
 high

ly vis
ible 

polic
e pre

senc
e in 

our n
eigh

bour
hood

s pro
vide

s 
reas

sura
nce 

to th
e cit

izen
s of 

Leed
s.

W
h

a
t 

d
id

 w
e

 d
o

?
 

Fund
ing f

or P
olice

 Com
mun

ity S
uppo

rt Of
ficer

s wa
s inc

reas
ed w

hich
 resu

lted 
in th

e co
unci

l pro
vidin

g a f
urthe

r 170
 PCS

Os t
o en

sure
a mi

nimu
m of

 five
 in e

ach 
of th

e 33
 war

ds a
cros

s Le
eds;

 ther
e are

 now
 392

 PCS
Os in

 Lee
ds.  

 
W

h
a

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

c
e

 d
id

 w
e

 
m

a
k

e
?

PCS
Os h

ave 
spen

t on 
aver

age 
85%

 of th
eir ti

me w
orkin

g wi
thin 

the c
omm

unity
, alo

ngsi
de N

eigh
bour

hood
 Poli

cing
 Tea

ms a
nd h

ave 
beco

me a
n im

porta
nt pa

rt of 
tack

ling 
crim

e in 
our n

eigh
bour

hood
s.

T
a

c
k

li
n

g
 D

ru
g

 M
is

u
s

e
 -

 I
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 L

iv
e

s

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

 
Rese

arch
 und

ertak
en in

 Dec
emb

er 20
05, o

n be
half 

of th
e Ho

me O
ffice

, est
imat

ed th
at Le

eds 
had 

betw
een 

6050
 and

 715
4 pro

blem
 

drug
 use

rs, o
f the

se, a
n es

tima
ted 3

,352
 inje

cted
 Clas

s A d
rugs

.
W

h
a

t 
d

id
 w

e
 d

o
?

 
The 

city’s
 Dru

g Int
erve

ntion
 Pro

gram
me (

DIP)
 aim

s to 
get a

dult 
offen

ders
 who

 mis
use 

drug
s ou

t of 
crim

e an
d int

o tre
atme

nt, w
ith

supp
ort fr

om o
ther 

key 
serv

ices 
such

 as h
ousi

ng, e
mplo

yme
nt an

d tra
ining

. The
re ar

e ov
er 90

 staf
f from

 diffe
rent 

agen
cies 

invo
lved

 in 
deliv

ering
 DIP

, inc
ludin

g the
 Lee

ds C
ity C

ounc
il, Le

eds 
PCT

, We
st Yo

rksh
ire P

roba
tion,

 We
st Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
, Sa

fer L
eeds

, So
cial 

Serv
ices 

and 
seve

ral v
olun

tary 
secto

r ser
vices

. 
In 20

07, a
 sing

le po
int o

f con
tact 

was 
esta

blish
ed, i

n the
 Mab

gate
 Mill

s ce
ntre,

 whe
re d

rug 
user

s co
uld a

cces
s rap

id pr
escr

ibing
, 

atten
d ap

poin
tmen

ts wi
th ca

se m
anag

ers, 
and 

parti
cipa

te in
 vari

ous 
grou

p wo
rk an

d ac
tivitie

s.  
W

h
a

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

c
e

 d
id

 w
e

 
m

a
k

e
?

Partn
ersh

ip w
orkin

g led
 to a

n ov
erall

 imp
rove

men
t in t

he c
ase 

man
agem

ent o
f clie

nts t
hrou

gh th
eir tr

eatm
ent j

ourn
ey.  

As a
 dire

ct
resu

lt, re
al pr

ogre
ss w

as m
ade 

in de
aling

 with
 the 

caus
es o

f offe
ndin

g be
havi

our a
s we

ll as 
treat

ing t
he s

ymp
toms

.
Ove

r the
 last

 4 ye
ars, 

almo
st 4,

000 
drug

 use
rs ha

ve e
ntere

d the
 prog

ramm
e as

 part
 of th

eir tr
eatm

ent j
ourn

ey. 
This

 join
t wo

rking
 high

light
s ho

w al
l asp

ects
 of d

rug 
user

s live
s', fr

om t
heir 

drug
 taki

ng to
 thei

r offe
ndin

g be
havi

our, 
can 

chan
ge to

 
enab

le in
divid

uals
 to m

ove 
on w

ith th
eir li

ves.
 

7

Page 82



Key
 Suc

cess
es (2

005-
2008

) - ex
amp

les o
f wh

at w
e de

liver
ed

W
e

a
p

o
n

s
 A

w
a

re
n

e
s

s
 P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

 -
 W

A
P

W
h

a
t 

w
a

s
 t

h
e

 i
s

s
u

e
?

 
In Le

eds,
 ther

e ha
ve b

een 
a nu

mbe
r of c

ases
 whe

re fa
tal in

jurie
s ha

ve b
een 

caus
ed b

y yo
ung 

peop
le us

ing k
nive

s an
d gu

ns. 
W

h
a

t 
d

id
 w

e
 d

o
?

 
To p

reve
nt an

 incr
ease

 in th
e us

e of 
wea

pons
 an i

ntera
ctive

 edu
catio

nal c
rime

 prev
entio

n pro
gram

me w
as d

evel
oped

.  Th
e We

apon
s 

Awa
rene

ss P
rogra

mme
 inclu

des 
a pre

sent
ation

 to y
oung

 peo
ple e

xpla
ining

 the 
risks

 and
 con

sequ
ence

s link
ed w

ith c
arryi

ng o
r usi

ng
wea

pons
. It w

as d
esig

ned 
to b

e inf
orma

tive,
 gra

phic
 and

 com
pellin

g, a
llowi

ng d
iscus

sion
 on 

real 
case

 stud
ies, 

inclu
ding

 exp
licit

phot
ogra

phs 
of in

jurie
s en

ablin
g yo

ung 
peop

le to
 mak

e po
sitive

 info
rmed

 cho
ices.

  
Them

es o
f the

 WA
P inc

lude
:  

the l
aw r

elati
ng to

 pos
sess

ion o
f offe

nsive
 wea

pons
 

the m
edic

al ef
fects

 of w
eapo

ns, e
spec

ially 
knife

 crim
e 

the p
rinci

ple o
f not

 arm
ing y

our a
ttack

er 
that 

it is ‘
cool

’ to r
un a

way 
from

 wea
pons

 if po
ssibl

e 
that 

infor
mati

on s
houl

d be
 pas

sed 
on if

 you
ng p

eopl
e are

 awa
re th

eir p
eers

 are 
in po

sses
sion

 of a
 wea

pon 
W

h
a

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

c
e

 d
id

 w
e

 
m

a
k

e
?

150 
volu

ntee
rs in

 Lee
ds w

ere t
raine

d to 
deliv

er th
e WA

P wi
th th

e Yo
uth O

ffend
ing S

ervic
e, lo

cal s
choo

ls an
d yo

uth o
rgan

isatio
ns.  

In 
2006

/07, 
the W

AP w
as d

elive
red t

o ov
er 5,

000 
child

ren i
n Le

eds.
  

PC B
ob B

owm
an, c

omm
ents

, “At
 the 

start
 of e

very
 ses

sion
 I as

k the
 clas

s wh
o wo

uld i
nform

 on 
anyo

ne c
arryi

ng w
eapo

ns. T
he 

resp
onse

 is u
sual

ly on
e or

 in m
ost c

ases
 non

e.  A
t the

 end
 I as

k the
 sam

e qu
estio

n an
d the

 resp
onse

 is t
he c

omp
lete 

oppo
site,

 
usua

lly m
ost o

f the
 clas

s ind
icate

 they
 wou

ld in
form

 on 
som

eone
 carr

ying
 a w

eapo
n”.  

A he
ad te

ache
r com

men
ted, 

“At f
irst I

 was
 

scep
tical 

abou
t the

 prog
ramm

e bu
t now

 that
 I ha

ve s
een 

it firs
t han

d an
d list

ened
 to th

e co
mme

nts f
rom 

my p
upils

, the
re is

 no d
oubt

 
that 

it is a
n ex

celle
nt id

ea a
nd o

ne th
at ac

tuall
y ma

kes 
an im

pact
 on t

he m
inds

 of th
ose 

that 
have

 liste
ned 

to it’
’.

8

Page 83



Fact
s an

d Fig
ures

- fin
ding

s fro
m th

e 20
07 J

oint
 Stra

tegic
 Ass

essm
ent 

W
h

a
t 

is
 t

h
e

 J
o

in
t 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
A

s
s

e
s

s
m

e
n

t?

A
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

is
 

th
e
 

d
o
c
u
m

e
n
t 

th
a
t 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

m
u
s
t 

p
ro

d
u
c
e
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 

o
n

c
e
 a

 y
e

a
r.

 T
h
e
 

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
b

ri
n

g
s
 

to
g

e
th

e
r 

th
e

 

a
n
a
ly

s
is

 
a
n
d
 

re
s
e
a
rc

h
 

th
a
t 

a
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
n
e
e
d
s
 

id
e
n
ti
fy

 
th

e
 

p
ri
o
ri
ti
e
s
 

fo
r 

th
e
 

y
e
a
r 

a
h
e
a
d
 

a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 t

h
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 p
la

n
. 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

ts
 

h
a

v
e

 

re
p
la

c
e
d
 

th
e
 

th
re

e
 

y
e
a
rl
y
 

c
ri
m

e
 

a
n
d
 

d
is

o
rd

e
r 

a
u
d
it
s
 

p
re

v
io

u
s
ly

 

u
n

d
e

rt
a
k
e
n

 b
y
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
. 

T
h
e
 

s
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

is
 

n
o
t 

th
e
 o

n
ly

 a
n
a
ly

ti
c
a
l 

p
ro

d
u
c
t 

th
a
t 

th
e
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
ill

 u
s
e
 d

u
ri
n
g
 t

h
e
 y

e
a
r 

a
n
d
 t

h
e
re

 a
re

 a
d
d
it
io

n
a

l 
re

s
e

a
rc

h
, 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o

n
 

a
n
d
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n

c
e
 

p
ro

c
e

s
s
e

s
 

th
a

t 
w

ill
 

in
fo

rm
 

th
e

 

p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

.

This
 sec

tion 
cons

iders
 the

 mai
n fin

ding
s fro

m th
e Jo

int S
trate

gic A
sses

sme
nt un

derta
ken 

by S
afer 

Leed
s in 

Dece
mbe

r 20
07 to

 
ensu

re th
at th

e pri
oritie

s in 
the 2

008-
2011

 Par
tners

hip P
lan r

eflec
t the

 mos
t up-

to-da
te cr

ime 
trend

s.  
The 

Join
t Str

ateg
ic As

sess
men

t sho
wed

 that
: 

More
 than

 half
  the

 crim
e rec

orde
d by

 the 
polic

e is 
acqu

isitiv
e cri

me  
 

More
 than

 one
 in fi

ve o
ffenc

es re
cord

ed b
y the

 poli
ce a

re en
viron

men
tal c

rime
s (cr

imin
al da

mag
e) 

Few
er  th

an 3
 in 1

00 v
iolen

t offe
nces

 in L
eeds

 are 
of se

rious
 viole

nce 
(as c

lassi
fied 

by th
e Ho

me O
ffice

)
In 20

07, t
here

 wer
e 8,6

61 fe
wer 

offen
ces 

than
 in 2

006 
(200

7 is 
the m

ost r
ecen

t yea
r for

 whi
ch th

ere i
s co

mple
te da

ta). T
he c

hart
belo

w sh
ows 

the o
ffenc

es th
at re

cord
ed th

e mo
st su

bsta
ntial

 redu
ction

s in 
2007

 wer
e cri

mina
l dam

age 
(2,89

2 few
er of

fenc
es), 

othe
r 

viole
nce 

(1,91
3 few

er of
fenc

es) a
nd th

eft fr
om m

otor 
vehi

cle (
1,06

9 few
er of

fenc
es). 

The 
offen

ces 
that 

reco
rded

 the 
mos

t sub
stan

tial 
incre

ases
 in 2

007 
were

 Dom
estic

 Bur
glary

 (165
 mor

e off
ence

s) an
d Ro

bber
y (76

 mor
e off

ence
s). 

1
0
%

5
%

2
%

-4
%

-6
%

-6
%

-1
0
%

-1
2
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
8
%

-2
4
%

Hand
ling

Robb
ery

Dom
estic

 Bur
glary

Othe
r The

ft
Drug

s Of
fenc

es
Othe

r Bu
rglar

y
Sexu

al O
ffenc

es
Thef

t from
 Veh

icle
Othe

r Vio
lenc

e
Crim

inal 
Dam

age
Thef

t of V
ehic

le
Frau

d & F
orge

ry
Othe

r Cri
me

Cha
nge 

in re
cord

ed c
rime

 mea
sure

d fro
m ye

ar en
ded 

31/1
2/06

 to 3
1/12

/07

Thes
e ch

ange
s ha

ve h
elpe

d inf
orm 

the s
elec

tion 
of pr

ioritie
s for

the 2
008-

2011
 Par

tners
hip P

lan
1
0
%

5
%

2
%

-4
%

-6
%

-6
%

-1
0
%

-1
2
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
8
%

-2
4
%

Hand
ling

Robb
ery

Dom
estic

 Bur
glary

Othe
r The

ft
Drug

s Of
fenc

es
Othe

r Bu
rglar

y
Sexu

al O
ffenc

es
Thef

t from
 Veh

icle
Othe

r Vio
lenc

e
Crim

inal 
Dam

age
Thef

t of V
ehic

le
Frau

d & F
orge

ry
Othe

r Cri
me

1
0
%

5
%

2
%

-4
%

-6
%

-6
%

-1
0
%

-1
2
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
3
%

-1
8
%

-2
4
%

Hand
ling

Robb
ery

Dom
estic

 Bur
glary

Othe
r The

ft
Drug

s Of
fenc

es
Othe

r Bu
rglar

y
Sexu

al O
ffenc

es
Thef

t from
 Veh

icle
Othe

r Vio
lenc

e
Crim

inal 
Dam

age
Thef

t of V
ehic

le
Frau

d & F
orge

ry
Othe

r Cri
me

Cha
nge 

in re
cord

ed c
rime

 mea
sure

d fro
m ye

ar en
ded 

31/1
2/06

 to 3
1/12

/07

Thes
e ch

ange
s ha

ve h
elpe

d inf
orm 

the s
elec

tion 
of pr

ioritie
s for

the 2
008-

2011
 Par

tners
hip P

lan

9

Page 84



Fact
s an

d Fig
ures

- fin
ding

s fro
m th

e 20
07 J

oint
 Stra

tegic
 Ass

essm
ent

A
c

q
u

is
it

iv
e

 C
ri

m
e

 
In 20

06/0
7, m

ore t
han 

half 
the o

ffenc
es re

cord
ed b

y the
 poli

ce w
ere a

cqui
sitive

 crim
e (of

fenc
es in

clud
e bu

rglar
y, th

eft o
f and

 from
 

vehi
cles 

and 
stea

ling 
othe

r pro
perty

). 
Dom

estic
 bur

glary
 has

 falle
n by

 a h
alf in

 the 
last 

five 
year

s bu
t the

 sca
le of

 the 
dom

estic
 bur

glary
 pro

blem
 con

tinue
s to 

caus
e

conc
ern. 

Com
paris

on w
ith o

ther 
core

 citie
s sh

ows 
that 

Leed
s pe

rform
s be

tter 
than

 Not
tingh

am, 
Man

ches
ter a

nd L
iverp

ool, 
but 

offen
ce ra

tes a
re lo

wer 
in Br

istol,
 She

ffield
, Birm

ingh
am a

nd N
ewca

stle.
 

D
ru

g
s

 a
n

d
 A

lc
o

h
o

l
In 20

06/0
7, 52

02 c
lient

s rec
eive

d tre
atme

nt in
 Tier

 3 an
d Tie

r 4 a
genc

ies in
 Lee

ds. T
ier 3

 trea
tmen

t is d
efine

d as
 ‘com

mun
ity b

ased
 

spec
ialise

d dru
g as

sess
men

t and
 co-o

rdina
ted c

are-p
lann

ed tr
eatm

ent’;
 Tier

 4 tr
eatm

ent i
s de

fined
 as ‘

resid
entia

l spe
cialis

ed d
rug

treat
men

t tha
t is c

are-p
lann

ed a
nd c

o-ord
inate

d to 
ensu

re co
ntinu

ity o
f afte

rcare
’. 

Acci
dent

 and
 Em

erge
ncy 

data
 from

 Lee
ds s

how
s tha

t aro
und 

1 in 
4 pa

tient
s wh

o pr
esen

ted a
t A&

E co
mpla

ining
 of a

ssau
lt ha

d 
eithe

r con
sum

ed a
lcoh

ol or
 beli

eved
 that

 thei
r ass

ailan
t wa

s dru
nk.  

Wes
t Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
 reco

rds c
ite a

lcoh
ol as

 a c
ontri

buto
ry 

facto
r in m

ore t
han 

70%
 of d

ome
stic v

iolen
ce in

cide
nts. 

D
o

m
e

s
ti

c
 V

io
le

n
c

e
In 20

06/0
7 W

est Y
orks

hire 
Polic

e re
cord

ed m
ore 

than
 11,0

00 in
cide

nts o
f dom

estic
 viol

ence
, in 

over
 half

 of t
hese

 inci
dent

s the
 

victim
 had

 rep
orted

 at l
east

 one
 oth

er in
cide

nt to
 We

st Y
orks

hire 
Polic

e in 
the 

prec
edin

g ye
ar. M

ore 
than

 4,0
00 c

hildr
en w

ere 
pres

ent d
uring

 thes
e inc

iden
ts. 

H
a

te
 C

ri
m

e
In 2

006/
07, 

Wes
t Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
 rec

orde
d 1,

340 
race

-hate
 crim

e inc
iden

ts, in
 alm

ost 1
 in 5

 of t
hese

 inci
dent

s the
 vict

im h
ad 

repo
rted 

at le
ast o

ne o
ther 

incid
ent t

o We
st Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
 in th

e pre
cedi

ng y
ear. 

 Rep
orts 

to Le
eds 

City 
Cou

ncil a
lso s

how
ed th

at 
in 40

% of
 incid

ents
, the

 victi
m st

ated
 they

 had
 bee

n the
 victi

m of
 at le

ast o
ne o

ther 
incid

ent. 
C

h
il
d

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g

 P
e

o
p

le
  

The 
Yout

h Su
rvey

 sho
ws t

hat y
oung

 peo
ple a

re si
x tim

es m
ore l

ikely
 than

 adu
lts to

 hav
e pro

perty
 stol

en, t
hree

 time
s mo

re lik
ely t

o 
have

 thei
r pro

perty
 van

dalis
ed a

nd o
ne a

nd a
 half

 time
s as

 likel
y to 

be th
e vic

tims 
of vi

olen
ce. 

A
n

ti
-S

o
c

ia
l 

B
e

h
a

v
io

u
r

40%
 of t

he A
nti-S

ocia
l Be

havi
our 

Unit’
s op

en c
ases

 are
 rela

ted t
o ‘Y

outh
 Nui

sanc
e’ an

d 22
% ar

e rel
ated

 to ‘
Crim

inal 
Beha

viou
r’,

while
 58%

 of W
est Y

orks
hire 

Polic
e an

ti-so
cial 

beha
viou

r inc
iden

ts ar
e co

ded 
as ‘L

outis
h Be

havi
our’ 

and 
20%

 are 
code

d as
 ‘You

th
Invo

lved
’.

C
o

n
s

u
lt

a
ti

o
n

In th
e 20

07 L
eeds

 City
 Cou

ncil 
Resi

dent
s’ Su

rvey
, 45

% o
f res

pond
ents

 iden
tified

 low
 leve

ls of
 crim

e as
 an 

impo
rtant

 asp
ect i

n 
mak

ing s
ome

whe
re a 

good
 plac

e to 
live. 

Simi
larly

, 34%
 of re

spon
dent

s ide
ntifie

d low
 leve

ls of
 anti

-soc
ial b

ehav
iour 

as a
n im

porta
nt 

aspe
ct in

 mak
ing s

ome
whe

re a 
good

 plac
e to 

live. 
67%

 of re
spon

dent
s sa

id th
ey a

gree
d tha

t peo
ple f

rom 
diffe

rent 
back

grou
nds 

get
on w

ell in
 thei

r loc
al ar

ea a
nd 6

0% s
aid t

hey 
feel 

that 
their

 loca
l are

a is 
a pla

ce w
here

 peo
ple r

espe
ct et

hnic
 diffe

renc
es. 

1
0

Page 85



Our 
Stra

tegic
 Out

com
es (2

008-
2011

) 
In de

term
ining

 our 
strat

egic
 outc

ome
s, Sa

fer L
eeds

 has
 iden

tified
 the 

majo
r crim

e, di
sord

er an
d su

bsta
nce 

misu
se is

sues
 that

 requ
ire 

partn
ersh

ip at
tenti

on a
cros

s the
 city.

  The
se p

riorit
y iss

ues 
have

 bee
n inf

orme
d by

 the 
findi

ngs 
of th

e joi
nt st

rateg
ic as

sess
men

t and
 

publ
ic-pa

rtner
ship

 con
sulta

tion 
cond

ucte
d in 

2007
.  Th

e pri
oritie

s ha
ve b

een 
inco

rpora
ted i

nto o
ur st

rateg
ic ou

tcom
es, w

hat w
e wa

nt 
to ac

hiev
e by

 201
1.

Ove
r the

 nex
t thre

e ye
ars, 

Safe
r Lee

ds w
ill de

liver
 on f

ive s
trate

gic o
utco

mes
: 

 
   

I 
Crea

ting
 safe

r en
viro

nme
nts b

y tac
kling

 crim
e 

II 
Impr

ovin
g liv

es b
y red

ucin
g th

e ha
rm c

ause
d by

 sub
stan

ce m
isus

e
III 

Sup
port

ing v
ictim

s an
d re

duci
ng t

he r
isk o

f vic
timis

ation
 

IV 
Red

ucin
g an

d ma
nagi

ng o
ffen

ding
 beh

avio
ur 

V 
Impr

ovin
g co

mmu
nity 

conf
iden

ce a
nd p

ublic
 sati

sfac
tion

 
An o

verv
iew 

of o
ur im

prov
eme

nt p
riorit

ies 
and 

deliv
ery 

activ
ities 

for 2
008/

09 a
re o

utlin
ed f

or e
ach 

strat
egic

 out
com

e in
 this

 
partn

ersh
ip pl

an.  
Behi

nd e
ach 

of th
e str

ateg
ic ou

tcom
es th

ere 
will b

e de
liver

y gro
ups 

to im
plem

ent d
etail

ed a
ction

 plan
s.  T

hese
plan

s wil
l be 

mon
itore

d as
 part

 of o
ur pe

rform
ance

 man
agem

ent a
rrang

eme
nts. 

 

1
1

Page 86



I 
Crea

ting
 safe

r en
viro

nme
nts b

y tac
kling

 crim
e

Wha
t do

es th
is m

ean?
 

The 
publ

ic ha
ve th

e rig
ht to

 be s
afe a

nd fe
el sa

fe in
 thei

r ow
n ho

me, 
on th

e str
eets

 and
 the 

plac
es th

ey g
o.  T

ackli
ng s

eriou
s cri

me a
nd d

iffus
ing t

ensi
ons 

in ou
r com

mun
ities 

is vit
al to

 
peop

les’ q
ualit

y of 
life.

Our 
Impr

ovem
ent P

riori
ties 

(08/0
9)   

Our 
Deli

very
 Act

ivitie
s  (0

8/09
) 

Red
ucin

g se
riou

s ac
quis

itive
 crim

e
(Bur

glary
, rob

bery
, the

ft of 
and 

theft
 from

 
moto

r veh
icle)

Deliv
er a

 ran
ge o

f tar
gete

d ca
mpa

igns
 to i

ncre
ase 

pote
ntial

 vict
ims’ 

awa
rene

ss, p
romp

t act
ion a

nd p
reve

nt op
portu

nitie
s for

 
acqu

isitiv
e cri

me t
o tak

e pla
ce. 

Iden
tify a

nd d
eplo

y su
itabl

e sit
uatio

nal c
rime

 prev
entio

n me
asur

es in
 key

 loca
tions

 usin
g a t

arge
ted a

ppro
ach.

 
Iden

tify a
nd ta

rget 
offen

ders
 com

mitti
ng a

cqui
sitive

 crim
e. 

Red
ucin

g vio
lent 

crim
e 

(Ass
aults

 & w
ound

ing a
nd a

lcoh
ol fu

elled
 

viole
nce)

Inter
pret 

the N
ation

al Ta
cklin

g Vio
lenc

e Ac
tion 

Plan
 (Sp

ring 
2008

) and
 con

side
r loc

ally w
hat d

elive
ry ch

ange
s are

 requ
ired.

 
Roll 

out t
he g

ood 
prac

tice 
from

 the 
‘Tac

kling
 Vio

lent 
Crim

e Pr
ogra

mme
’ acr

oss 
the c

ity to
 co-o

rdina
te ac

tivity
 to d

iffus
e an

d 
prev

ent a
lcoh

ol re
lated

 viole
nce 

and 
nuis

ance
. 

Deliv
er ac

tivitie
s tha

t foc
us o

n alc
ohol

 rela
ted c

rime
 in lin

e wit
h the

 Lee
ds A

lcoh
ol St

rateg
y. 

Deliv
er ac

tivitie
s tha

t foc
us o

n red
ucin

g the
 incid

ence
 of w

eapo
n en

able
d cri

me, 
inclu

ding
 the 

poss
essio

n of 
knive

s an
d fire

arms
.

Prev
ent, 

iden
tify a

nd r
espo

nd t
o 

com
mun

ity te
nsio

ns
Con

tinue
 to d

evel
op a

nd im
plem

ent t
he in

tellig
ence

 ass
essm

ent a
nd re

spon
se to

 com
mun

ity te
nsio

ns, e
nsur

ing p
artne

rs w
ork 

close
r wit

h an
d wit

hin t
he c

omm
uniti

es w
here

 the 
grea

test 
risks

 hav
e be

en id
entif

ied. 
Supp

ort L
eeds

 City
 Cou

ncil 
in de

velo
ping

 a lo
cal ‘

tack
ling 

extre
mism

’ del
ivery

 acti
on p

lan, 
inclu

ding
 loca

l arr
ange

men
ts fo

r 
iden

tifyin
g an

d su
ppor

ting 
vuln

erab
le in

divid
uals

 and
 com

mun
ities.

  
Prev

ent, 
dete

r an
d re

spon
d to

 Stre
et 

Use
rs

Con
tinue

d im
plem

enta
tion 

of th
e Le

eds 
Pros

tituti
on S

trate
gy. 

Disru
pting

 beh
avio

ur as
socia

ted w
ith ro

ugh 
slee

ping
 and

 beg
ging

. 
Con

tinue
d en

force
men

t act
ivity 

arou
nd k

erb c
rawl

ing. 
  

Supp
ortin

g str
eet u

sers
 to c

hang
e the

ir ch
aotic

 lifes
tyles

. 

1
2

Page 87



II 
Impr

ovin
g liv

es b
y red

ucin
g th

e ha
rm c

ause
d by

 sub
stan

ce m
isus

e
Wha

t do
es th

is m
ean?

 
Subs

tanc
e mi

suse
 affe

cts t
he w

ell b
eing

 of in
divid

uals
, fam

ilies 
and 

neig
hbou

rhoo
ds; i

t dam
ages

 the 
heal

th of
 indi

vidu
als a

nd u
nder

mine
s fam

ily lif
e as

 well
 as h

avin
g hu

ge s
ocia

l and
 

econ
omic

 cos
ts to

 the 
city. 

 Red
ucin

g dru
g an

d alc
ohol

 rela
ted c

rime
 is vi

tal to
 mak

ing p
eopl

e sa
fer a

nd im
prov

ing l
ives.

  
Our 

Impr
ovem

ent P
riori

ties 
(08/0

9) 
Our 

Deli
very

 Act
ivitie

s (08
/09) 

Chil
dren

 and
 You

ng P
eopl

e
Addr

essin
g su

bsta
nce 

misu
se th

roug
h a 

com
bina

tion 
of pr

even
tion,

 con
trol a

nd 
treat

men
t 

Deve
lop a

nd im
plem

ent a
 You

ng P
eopl

es’ d
rugs

 and
 alco

hol p
reve

ntion
 and

 trea
tmen

t pla
n.  

Deve
lopin

g a n
ew t

reatm
ent s

ervic
e lev

el ag
reem

ent i
n an

d inc
reas

e the
 leve

l of r
eferr

als f
or yo

ung 
peop

le in
 nee

d of 
treat

men
t.

Esta
blish

ing r
eferr

al pr
otoc

ols a
nd p

athw
ays 

with 
serv

ices 
with 

low 
rates

 of r
eferr

al fo
r exa

mple
 edu

catio
n, yo

uth s
ervic

e an
d 

hous
ing 

Impl
eme

nt th
e pla

nned
 reco

nfigu
ratio

n of 
serv

ices.
 

Audi
t cas

es w
here

 a pe
rson

 leav
es tr

eatm
ent e

xits t
o en

sure
 serv

ices 
are m

eetin
g yo

ung 
peop

le’s n
eeds

. 
Esta

blish
ing w

orke
rs w

ith a
 geo

grap
hica

lly b
ased

 rem
it wit

h a s
trong

 link
 with

 gen
eric 

serv
ices 

in or
der t

o mi
nimi

se th
e los

s of
prev

entio
n se

rvice
s.

Adu
lts

Addr
essin

g su
bsta

nce 
misu

se th
roug

h a 
com

bina
tion 

of pr
even

tion,
 con

trol a
nd 

treat
men

t
Deve

lop a
n ad

ult p
reve

ntion
 and

 earl
y int

erve
ntion

 plan
 

Impl
eme

nt th
e Ad

ult D
rugs

 Trea
tmen

t Pla
n - k

ey d
elive

ry ac
tivitie

s to 
inclu

de: 
Deve

lopm
ent o

f cor
e Co

mmu
nity D

rug T
reatm

ent S
ervic

es fo
llowi

ng a
 re-c

omm
issio

ning
 proc

ess.
 

Impl
eme

ntati
on a

nd d
elive

ry of
 com

mun
ity tr

eatm
ent s

ervic
e for

 thos
e wh

o ha
ve c

once
rns r

egar
ding

 Bloo
d Bo

rne V
iruse

s. 
Impl

eme
ntati

on o
f a C

are C
oord

inati
on s

yste
m ac

ross
 all t

reatm
ent s

ervic
es. 

Deve
lopm

ent o
f out

com
e foc

used
 trea

tmen
t tha

t cen
tres 

on th
e ho

listic
 nee

ds o
f clie

nts. 
Deve

lopm
ent a

nd c
omm

issio
ning

 of a
 city-

wide
 Afte

r-Ca
re S

ervic
e for

 all u
sers

 in tr
eatm

ent. 
Impl

eme
ntati

on o
f join

t wo
rking

 proc
ess 

with 
hous

ing s
ervic

es, b
enef

its a
genc

ies a
nd e

mplo
yme

nt/tra
ining

 prov
iders

. 
Add

ress
ing a

lcoh
ol m

isus
e thr

oug
h a 

com
bina

tion
 of p

reve
ntio

n, co
ntro

l and
 

trea
tmen

t
Impl

eme
nt th

e Le
eds 

Alco
hol S

trate
gy - 

key 
deliv

ery a
ctivit

ies t
o inc

lude
: 

Deve
lop w

ith p
artne

rs, e
ffect

ive c
omm

unic
ation

 and
 pub

lic in
form

ation
 mec

hani
sms

 to c
arry 

key 
prev

entio
n me

ssag
es to

 
prom

ote a
 cult

ure o
f Re

spon
sible

 Drin
king

. 
Work

 with
 licen

sed 
prem

ises 
to en

sure
 that

 the 
sale

 of a
lcoh

ol an
d its

 con
sum

ption
 are 

man
aged

 in a
 resp

onsi
ble m

anne
r. 

Deve
lop a

 co-o
rdina

ted t
reatm

ent s
ervic

e for
 peo

ple w
ith a

lcoh
ol pr

oble
ms t

hat i
s eff

ectiv
e, ap

prop
riate

 and
 acc

essib
le, w

ith 
adeq

uate
 cap

acity
 to m

eet d
ema

nd. 
Prom

ote a
 mod

el th
at fu

lly ad
dres

ses 
alco

hol i
ssue

s thr
ough

out t
he e

duca
tion 

syste
m. 

Deve
lop e

fficie
nt ea

rly in
terve

ntion
 and

 prev
entio

n pro
gram

mes
 for t

hose
 at g

reate
st ris

k.    
  

1
3

Page 88



III 
Sup

port
ing v

ictim
s an

d re
duci

ng t
he r

isk o
f vic

timis
ation

Wha
t do

es th
is m

ean?
 

Victi
ms h

ave 
the r

ight 
to ex

pect
 that

 crim
es th

ey h
ave 

repo
rted 

are i
nves

tigat
ed a

nd to
 rece

ive i
nform

ation
 abo

ut w
hat h

appe
ns, t

he c
hanc

e to 
expl

ain h
ow t

he c
rime

 or in
cide

nt ha
s 

affec
ted t

hem
 and

 for t
heir 

inter
est t

o be
 take

n int
o ac

coun
t.  Al

l vict
ims 

shou
ld be

 trea
ted w

ith re
spec

t and
 sen

sitivi
ty an

d be
 offe

red e
moti

onal
 and

 prac
tical 

supp
ort. 

Our 
Impr

ovem
ent P

riori
ties 

(08/0
9) 

Our 
Deli

very
 Act

ivitie
s (08

/09) 
Sup

port
ing v

ictim
s an

d red
ucin

g th
e 

risk 
of vi

ctim
isati

on
Con

tinue
 to w

ork w
ith L

eeds
 Vict

im S
uppo

rt en
surin

g se
rvice

s pro
vide

 app
ropri

ate s
uppo

rt pa
ckag

es fo
r ind

ividu
als a

nd th
eir 

fami
lies.

Work
 in p

artne
rship

 with
 the 

univ
ersit

ies a
nd s

tude
nt un

ions
 to re

duce
 the 

vuln
erab

ility a
nd v

ictim
isatio

n of 
stud

ents
 and

 stud
ent 

acco
mmo

datio
n.  

Dom
estic

 viol
ence

Deve
lop a

nd d
elive

r act
ivitie

s to 
supp

ort th
e ref

resh
ed c

ity w
ide D

ome
stic V

iolen
ce S

trate
gy in

clud
ing: 

Rais
ing p

ublic
 awa

rene
ss 

Impr
ovin

g se
rvice

s to 
victim

s 
Impr

ovin
g se

rvice
s to 

child
ren 

Con
tinue

d de
velo

pme
nt of

 com
mun

ity su
ppor

t 
Supp

ortin
g eff

ectiv
e civ

il an
d cri

mina
l just

ice r
espo

nses
 

Deve
lopin

g pre
vent

ative
 and

 edu
catio

nal w
ork w

ith c
hildr

en a
nd y

oung
 peo

ple 
Supp

ortin
g the

 sus
taina

bility
 of d

ome
stic v

iolen
ce s

ervic
es 

Deve
lopin

g eff
ectiv

e off
ende

r ma
nage

men
t inte

rven
tions

 
Iden

tifica
tion 

of an
d ea

rly in
terve

ntion
 with

 victi
ms a

nd p
erpe

trato
rs of

 dom
estic

 viole
nce 

to pr
even

t esc
alati

on a
nd th

e co
ntinu

ed 
impl

eme
ntati

on a
nd ro

ll ou
t of t

he M
ARA

Cs (
mult

i-age
ncy 

risk 
asse

ssm
ent c

onfe
renc

e) ac
ross

 the 
city. 

Hate
 crim

e 
Deve

lop a
nd d

elive
r act

ivitie
s to 

supp
ort th

e ref
resh

ed c
ity w

ide H
ate C

rime
 Stra

tegy
 inclu

ding
, inc

reas
ing v

ictim
s’ co

nfide
nce 

in 
the r

epor
ting 

of ha
te cr

ime 
incid

ents
, imp

rovin
g se

rvice
 resp

onse
s to 

victim
s of 

hate
 inci

dent
s, im

prov
ing s

ervic
e res

pons
es to

deal
 with

 per
petra

tors 
of ha

te cr
ime,

 con
tinue

 to d
evel

op p
reve

ntati
ve a

nd e
duca

tiona
l act

ivity 
to ad

dres
s ha

te in
cide

nts a
nd 

impl
eme

ntati
on o

f act
ions

 to ta
ckle 

hate
 crim

e in 
resp

onse
 to lo

cal a
sses

sme
nt of

 nee
d. 

Chil
dren

 and
 you

ng p
eopl

e 
Supp

ortin
g the

 Chi
ldren

 Lee
ds P

artne
rship

 in d
elive

ring 
the s

tay s
afe t

hem
e for

 ‘Eve
ry C

hild 
Matt

ers’,
 taki

ng in
to ac

coun
t the

 
view

s an
d co

ncer
ns o

f you
ng p

eopl
e wh

en d
evel

opin
g co

mmu
nity 

safe
ty re

spon
ses.

  Util
ising

 safe
r sch

ools
 part

ners
hips

 to b
uild 

relat
ions

hips
 betw

een 
youn

g pe
ople

 and
 serv

ices 
as w

ell a
s an

 ave
nue 

to su
ppor

t lea
rning

 abo
ut sa

fety 
in th

e ho
me, 

stree
ts an

d 
neig

hbou
rhoo

ds, a
nd d

elive
ring 

targe
ted e

arly 
year

’s pr
even

tative
 sch

eme
s an

d tar
gete

d div
ersio

nary
 prog

ramm
es.  

1
4

Page 89



IV 
Red

ucin
g an

d ma
nagi

ng o
ffen

ding
 beh

avio
ur 

Wha
t do

es th
is m

ean?
 

The 
com

mun
ity h

as a
 spe

cific 
right

 to e
xpec

t pub
lic a

genc
ies t

o wo
rk w

ith k
now

n off
ende

rs.  
By m

anag
ing o

r mo
difyin

g the
 beh

avio
urs o

f offe
nder

s wh
o cre

ate m
ost h

arm 
in ou

r 
com

mun
ities 

then
 this

 will 
redu

ce th
e ris

k of 
them

 offe
ndin

g ag
ain a

nd in
 turn

 redu
ce c

rime
. 

Our 
Impr

ovem
ent P

riori
ties 

(08/0
9) 

Our 
Deli

very
 Act

ivitie
s (08

/09) 
Red

ucin
g of

fend
ing b

ehav
iour

 by 
addr

essi
ng r

isks
 and

 har
ms 

Inter
pret 

the 
Natio

nal R
educ

ing 
Re-o

ffend
ing S

trate
gic P

lan (
Sprin

g 20
08) 

and 
cons

ider 
loca

lly w
hat 

deliv
ery 

chan
ges 

are 
requ

ired.
 

Deve
lop a

 Lee
ds h

ealth
 stra

tegy
 for o

ffend
ers a

nd a
ction

 plan
 in lin

e wit
h na

tiona
l req

uirem
ents

. 
Con

tinue
 with

 prog
ramm

es fo
r tac

kling
 prol

ific a
nd d

rug m
isusi

ng o
ffend

ers, 
in pa

rticu
lar th

e Dr
ug In

terve
ntion

 Pro
gram

mes
 and

 
the P

rolifi
c an

d oth
er P

riorit
y Of

fend
ers (

PPO
) Pro

gram
me. 

Deve
lop a

n int
egra

ted o
ffend

er m
anag

eme
nt sy

stem
 for 

Leed
s en

surin
g tha

t pro
lific 

and 
othe

r pri
ority

 offe
nder

s are
 acti

vely 
targe

ted, 
in a 

mult
i-age

ncy 
appr

oach
 in t

he c
omm

unity
, in 

cust
ody 

and 
on r

elea
se o

n lic
ence

 thro
ugh 

appr
opria

te su
ppor

t 
serv

ices.
  Th

is w
ill in

volve
 esta

blish
ing a

 Lee
ds In

tegra
ted 

Offe
nder

 Ma
nage

men
t Bo

ard 
to ov

erse
e the

 dev
elop

men
t of 

the 
syste

m an
d wo

rking
 clos

ely w
ith: 

Loca
l Crim

inal 
Justi

ce B
oard

 to e
nsur

e se
rvice

 resp
onse

s to 
tackl

ing p
rolifi

c off
ende

rs is
 effe

ctive
 

Prob
ation

 Ser
vice 

to en
sure

 ther
e is 

a loc
al jo

int a
ppro

ach 
to re

duci
ng c

rime
 and

 offe
ndin

g be
havi

our 
Leed

s Yo
uth O

ffend
ing S

ervic
e to 

supp
ort d

elive
ry pr

ogra
mme

s an
d su

ppor
t ser

vices
 

Jobc
entre

 Plu
s to 

ensu
re o

ffend
ers 

or th
ose 

at ri
sk o

f off
endi

ng a
re id

entif
ied a

nd h
elpe

d int
o se

ttled
 acc

omm
odat

ion, 
emp

loym
ent, 

educ
ation

 or tr
ainin

g 
PCT

 and
 hea

lth s
ervic

e pr
ovid

ers 
parti

cula
rly d

rug 
and 

alco
hol 

misu
se a

genc
ies t

o ad
dres

s he
alth 

asso
ciate

d fa
ctors

 
relat

ed to
 offe

ndin
g 

Child
ren 

Leed
s Pa

rtner
ship

 to m
axim

ise o
ppor

tunit
ies t

o re
ach 

the m
ost s

ocia
lly e

xclud
ed y

oung
 peo

ple a
nd p

artic
ularl

y 
thos

e at 
risk 

of en
terin

g the
 crim

inal 
justic

e sy
stem

 

1
5

Page 90



V 
Impr

ovin
g co

mmu
nity 

conf
iden

ce a
nd p

ublic
 sati

sfac
tion

 
Wha

t do
es th

is m
ean?

 
Com

mun
ities 

expe
ct pu

blic 
agen

cies 
to ta

ckle 
anti-

socia
l beh

avio
ur in

 thei
r loc

alitie
s in 

a res
pons

ive a
nd e

ffect
ive m

anne
r.  C

omm
unic

ating
, eng

agin
g an

d inv
olvin

g loc
al pe

ople
 in 

thos
e iss

ues 
of m

ost i
mpo

rtanc
e to 

them
 is a

 vita
l com

pone
nt to

 prov
iding

 pub
lic re

assu
ranc

e an
d red

ucin
g the

 fear
 of c

rime
. 

Our 
Impr

ovem
ent P

riori
ties 

(08/0
9)   

Our 
Deli

very
 Act

ivitie
s (08

/09) 
Tack

ling 
anti-

soci
al be

havi
our 

and 
dam

age 
thro

ugh
 a co

mbin
ation

 of 
prev

entio
n, di

vers
ion a

nd e
nfor

cem
ent 

activ
ities

Con
tinue

 to u
tilise

 effe
ctive

ly a 
rang

e of 
tools

 for 
tack

ling 
ASB

 and
 dam

age 
(e.g.

 ASB
Os, 

ABC
, dis

pers
al po

wers
, par

entin
g 

class
es o

r ord
ers, 

crac
k ho

use 
closu

res a
s we

ll as 
pow

ers i
n the

 Clea
n Ne

ighb
ourh

oods
 and

 Env
ironm

ent A
ct 20

05) a
s pa

rt of 
a 

pack
age 

of re
spon

ses 
to lo

cal is
sues

. 
Con

tinue
 to s

uppo
rt th

e im
plem

enta
tion 

of th
e Fa

mily 
Supp

ort a
nd P

aren
ting 

Stra
tegy

 and
 pro

gram
mes

 to s
uppo

rt pa
rents

 
who

se c
hildr

en a
re in

volve
d in 

or at
 risk

 of b
eing

 invo
lved

 in A
SB a

ctivit
y, in

 part
icula

r targ
eted

 dive
rsion

ary p
rogra

mme
s.

Work
 clos

ely w
ith E

duca
tion 

Leed
s an

d ind
ividu

al sc
hool

s to 
crea

te an
d de

velo
p loc

al Sa
fer S

choo
ls Pa

rtner
ship

s. 
Work

 clos
ely w

ith th
e Cit

y Co
unci

l on 
their

 acti
on to

 imp
rove

 the 
secu

rity o
f hom

es, p
ublic

 buil
ding

s an
d pu

blic s
pace

s.  
Con

tinue
 with

 the 
targe

ted r
olling

 prog
ramm

e of 
neig

hbou
rhoo

d cri
me a

nd g
rime

 initia
tives

 suc
h as

 Ope
ratio

n Ch
amp

ion. 
Impr

ove 
pub

lic re
assu

ranc
e an

d th
e 

fear
 of c

rime
 by a

ctive
ly 

com
mun

icati
ng, e

ngag
ing a

nd 
invo

lving
 loca

l peo
ple 

Deve
lop p

artne
rship

 mec
hani

sms
 for 

mea
surin

g ho
w sa

tisfie
d vic

tims
 of A

SB a
re w

ith th
e se

rvice
 the 

polic
e an

d cit
y co

unci
l 

prov
ide. 

 
Ensu

re th
at lo

cal c
omm

unity
 safe

ty ch
allen

ges 
are 

clea
rly id

entif
ied a

nd h
ave 

repre
sent

ation
 at a

 loca
l lev

el al
ongs

ide o
ther 

broa
der c

omm
unity

 prio
rities

. 
Wor

k wit
h Le

eds 
Initia

tive 
and 

its p
artne

rship
s to 

ensu
re th

at lo
cal c

omm
unity

 eng
agem

ent f
rame

work
s en

com
pass

 com
mun

ity 
safe

ty iss
ues.

  
Con

tinue
 to a

ctive
ly pr

omo
te co

mmu
nity 

safe
ty m

essa
ges 

and 
incre

ase 
awa

rene
ss o

f crim
e pre

vent
ion a

nd c
omm

unity
 safe

ty 
serv

ices.
Ensu

re ag
enci

es re
spon

d eff
ectiv

ely t
o loc

al ne
ed b

y int
egra

ting 
neig

hbou
rhoo

d po
licing

 prac
tice 

with 
area

 man
agem

ent d
elive

ry 
prog

ramm
es.  

All o
f the

 resp
onsi

ble a
utho

rities
 will 

atten
d an

d co
mmu

nica
te w

ith lo
cal p

eopl
e thr

ough
 ‘Fac

e the
 Peo

ple’ 
even

ts. 
Wes

t Yo
rksh

ire P
olice

 Aut
horit

y’s p
ublic

 perc
eptio

n su
rvey

 will 
prov

ide r
obus

t dat
a to 

Neig
hbou

rhoo
d Po

licing
 Tea

m le
vel, 

and 
track

 perc
eptio

n of 
crim

e, an
ti-so

cial b
ehav

iour 
and 

conf
iden

ce in
 poli

cing
. 

Wes
t Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
 Aut

horit
y wi

ll ho
ld an

 ann
ual d

istric
t-wid

e pu
blic 

even
t to 

enab
le pe

ople
 to h

ave 
their

 say
 on 

impo
rtant

 
polic

ing i
ssue

s su
ch a

s Ne
ighb

ourh
ood 

Polic
ing, 

the F
orce

 bud
get a

nd lo
cal p

olicin
g pri

oritie
s. 

1
6

Page 91



Our 
Stru

ctur
es a

nd D
elive

ry  P
roce

sses
Deli

very
 stru

ctur
e su

ppo
rting

 Saf
er L

eeds
:

Leed
s Ini

tiativ
e i

s the
 loca

l stra
tegic

 part
ners

hip f
or th

e cit
y, it 

guid
es th

e wo
rk of

 all p
artne

rship
s’ an

d pro
vide

s the
 foru

m fo
r col

lectiv
ely r

evie
wing

 
and 

stee
ring 

reso
urce

s to 
supp

ort th
e de

liver
y of 

the p
riorit

ies in
 the 

Leed
s Str

ateg
ic Pl

an. 
Safe

r Le
eds 

Exec
utive

 is
 mad

e up
 of s

enio
r offi

cers
 from

 the 
‘resp

onsi
ble a

utho
rities

’ (Le
eds 

City 
Cou

ncil, 
Leed

s Pr
imar

y Ca
re T

rust,
 We

st Yo
rksh

ire F
ire

and 
Resc

ue S
ervic

e, W
est Y

orks
hire 

Polic
e an

d We
st Yo

rksh
ire P

olice
 Auth

ority
) and

 ‘co-
oper

ating
 bod

ies’ (
Leed

s Ini
tiativ

e, C
hildr

en 
and 

Youn
g Pe

ople
’s P

artne
rship

, NO
MS/P

roba
tion 

and 
Elec

ted 
mem

ber 
with 

lead
 for 

com
mun

ity s
afety

).  T
he E

xecu
tive 

sets
 

strat
egic

 dire
ction

 and
 is a

ccou
ntab

le fo
r del

iveri
ng th

e pa
rtner

ship
 plan

 by m
akin

g de
cisio

ns a
bout

 acti
vity, 

reso
urce

 allo
catio

n an
d 

prob
lem 

solvi
ng.  

Safe
r Le

eds 
Boa

rd 
is m

ade 
up o

f rep
rese

ntati
ves 

from
 the 

publ
ic, p

rivat
e an

d vo
lunta

ry se
ctors

.  Th
is is 

a co
nsul

tativ
e gro

up th
at re

view
s the

 part
ners

hip 
plan

s an
d en

sure
s tha

t com
mun

ity co
nsul

tatio
n is 

co-o
rdina

ted e
ffect

ively
 and

 repo
rts to

 the 
citize

ns o
f Lee

ds.
Part

ners
hip R

esou
rces

 Gro
up 

is a 
mult

i-age
ncy 

grou
p ac

coun
table

 to S
afer 

Leed
s Ex

ecut
ive f

or m
anag

ing r
esou

rce a
lloca

tion 
and 

com
miss

ionin
g of 

serv
ices.

Lead
ersh

ip Te
am 

inclu
des 

seni
or o

fficer
s fro

m a
cros

s the
 par

tners
hip t

hat 
prov

ides
 time

ly pe
rform

ance
, inte

lligen
ce, a

naly
sis a

nd c
omm

unic
ation

func
tions

.
Stra

tegic
 Lea

ds 
are s

enio
r peo

ple f
rom 

acro
ss th

e pa
rtner

ship
 age

ncie
s ac

coun
table

 to S
afer 

Leed
s Ex

ecut
ive f

or le
adin

g an
d gu

iding
 the 

deliv
ery

grou
ps.

Outc
ome

 Gro
ups 

are m
ulti-a

genc
y ac

tion 
grou

ps s
uppo

rting
 the 

deliv
ery o

f the
 stra

tegic
 outc

ome
s thr

ough
 the 

co-o
rdina

tion 
of ac

tion 
plan

s.
Divi

sion
al C

omm
unit

y Sa
fety 

Part
ners

hips
 t

hese
 are 

the g
eogr

aphi
cal b

ased
 part

ners
hips

’ sup
porti

ng th
e de

liver
y an

d co
-ordi

natio
n of 

activ
ity a

t a lo
cal le

vel.
Cros

s cu
tting

 issu
es 

thes
e are

 issu
es th

at re
quire

 atte
ntion

 at a
ll lev

els o
f the

 stru
cture

 for e
xam

ple c
hildr

en a
nd y

oung
 peo

ple. 
1
7

Page 92



Mea
suri

ng O
ur P

erfo
rma

nce 
As p

art o
f this

 plan
 we 

have
 outl

ined
: 

The 
thing

s tha
t are

 criti
cal t

o us
 

Wha
t we

 will 
be w

orkin
g on

  
Whe

re o
ther 

partn
ersh

ips c
an a

ssist
 and

 
help

 us 
Safe

r Le
eds 

is c
omm

itted
 to 

perfo
rman

ce 
man

agin
g thi

s pa
rtner

ship
 plan

 and
 deli

verin
g 

the r
ight 

outc
ome

s. 
Our 

impr
ovem

ent 
prior

ities 
will 

be r
evie

wed
 

and 
refre

shed
 on 

an a
nnua

l bas
is an

d du
ring 

2008
/09 w

e wil
l: 

Prod
uce 

deta
iled 

actio
n pl

ans 
for e

ach 
strat

egic
 outc

ome
 

Alloc
ate a

nd ta
rget 

fund
ing r

esou
rces

 and
 

com
miss

ion s
ervic

es 
Whe

re ne
cess

ary t
ake 

corre
ctive

 acti
on in

 
area

s tha
t are

 und
erpe

rform
ing a

nd s
eek 

to 
sust

ain 
activ

ity 
in 

area
s w

here
 

perfo
rman

ce h
as im

prov
ed 

Com
mun

icate
 wit

h th
e p

ublic
 thr

ough
 

‘Fac
e th

e Pe
ople

’ se
ssion

s an
d vi

a th
e 

med
ia

Work
 to

ward
s 

achi
evin

g 
the 

new
 

Hallm
arks

 of E
ffect

ive P
artne

rship
s 

Reg
ularl

y mo
nitor

 and
 revi

ew o
ur a

ctivit
y 

in 
term

s o
f p

rogre
ss 

agai
nst 

set 
perfo

rman
ce 

indic
ators

 an
d s

trate
gic 

outc
ome

s 

Safe
r Le

eds 
firml

y be
lieve

s tha
t, if 

we a
re to

 effe
ctive

ly im
prov

e co
mmu

nity 
safe

ty an
d ad

dres
s the

se 
com

plica
ted i

ssue
s, th

en s
trong

 part
ners

hip w
orkin

g wit
h a c

lear 
socia

l pur
pose

 is re
quire

d.  
Only

 by f
ocus

sing
 on s

peci
fic o

ffend
ers, 

victim
s an

d loc
ation

sin 
a co

llabo
rativ

e ma
nner

 can
 we 

have
 a 

sign
ifican

t imp
act o

n red
ucin

g ov
erall

 crim
e. 

1
8

Page 93



Mea
suri

ng O
ur P

erfo
rma

nce 
Safe

r Le
eds 

is o
blige

d to
 wo

rk w
ithin

 the
 

natio
nal 

fram
ewo

rk to
 del

iver 
impr

ovem
ents

 
and 

chan
ge a

t a lo
cal l

evel
.  Ou

r act
ivitie

s wil
l 

influ
ence

 and
 sup

port 
the 

deliv
ery 

of P
ublic

 
Serv

ice A
gree

men
ts (P

SAs
) rel

ating
 to c

rime
 

redu
ction

, co
mmu

nity 
safe

ty a
nd s

ubst
ance

 
misu

se.
We 

will r
epor

t to t
he H

ome
 Offi

ce o
n pro

gres
s 

agai
nst 

the 
natio

nal 
indic

ators
 via

 the
 new

 
Asse

ssm
ent 

of 
Polic

ing 
and 

Com
mun

ity 
Safe

ty p
erfor

man
ce m

anag
eme

nt fr
ame

work
 

and 
loca

lly w
e wi

ll be
 acc

ount
able

 to 
Leed

s 
Initia

tive 
via t

he L
eeds

 Loc
al Ar

ea A
gree

men
t. 

Belo
w th

e de
sign

ated
 per

form
ance

 indi
cato

rs 
are 

a su
ite o

f me
asur

es fo
r ea

ch o
f ou

r five
 

strat
egic

 out
com

es. 
  Sa

fer L
eeds

 will
 trac

k 
thes

e pe
rform

ance
 mea

sure
s ag

ains
t tar

gets
, 

activ
ity a

nd o
utco

mes
, tak

ing 
actio

n w
here

 
perfo

rman
ce re

quire
s im

prov
ing. 

  

Wha
t we

 will
 be j

udg
ed o

n? 
Hea

dline
 Des

igna
ted P

erfo
rma

nce 
Indic

ator
s 

2007
/08 

out-
turn

Year
 1 

2008
/09 

Year
 2 

2009
/10 

Year
 3 

2010
/11 

Red
uce 

serio
us a

cqui
sitive

 crim
e rat

e  
 

 
 

Red
uce 

assa
ults 

with 
injur

y cri
me r

ate 
 

 
 

Impr
ove 

satis
facti

on w
ith th

e wa
y the

 poli
ce a

nd 
loca

l cou
ncil d

ealt 
with 

anti-
socia

l beh
avio

ur 
 

 
 

 
Red

uced
 re-o

ffend
ing r

ate o
f pro

lific a
nd p

riorit
y 

offen
ders

 
 

 
 

Incre
ase 

drug
 use

rs in
 effe

ctive
 trea

tmen
t  

 
 

 

T
a

rg
e

ts
 t

o
 b

e
 a

g
re

e
d

 a
s

 
p

a
rt

 o
f 

th
e

 L
A

A
 

1
9

Page 94



H
o

w
 t

o
 C

o
n

ta
c

t 
U

s
 

L
e

e
d

s
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
 S

a
fe

ty
 

P
O

 B
o

x
 6

1
2
 

L
e
e
d

s
L

S
2
 7

W
H

 

E
m

a
il

: 
c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y
.s

a
fe

ty
@

le
e

d
s

.g
o

v
.u

k
 

w
w

w
.s

a
fe

rl
e

e
d

s
.o

rg
.u

k
 

w
w

w
.l

e
e

d
s

.i
n

it
ia

ti
v

e
.o

rg
.u

k

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 
 
Full Council 
 
Date: 2nd July 2008 
 
Subject: Council Business Plan 2008-11 
 

        
 
Eligible for Call In                                                 Not Eligible for Call In 
                                                                              (Details contained in the report) 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The Council Business Plan 2008-11 is a high level internal plan which supports the 

organisation to deliver the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11.  It sets out our internal 

business transformation, improvement and resource allocation priorities for the next 

three years.  This report seeks approval from Full Council for this plan. 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 

Originator: H Pinches 
 

Tel: 22 43347 

 

 

 

  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Page 97



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 This report seeks the formal approval of the Council Business Plan 2008-11 from 
Full Council.  

2.0   Background Information 

2.1 Executive Board approved a corporate planning framework for the council in July 
2007.  The strategic element of this framework includes two high level plans which 
set the policy objectives for the organisation and our partnership working.  These 
are: 

ØØØØ Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 - which sets out the customer/citizen (external) 
focused strategic outcomes being sought by the council and it partners for the 
city.  This plan includes the requirement to produce a Local Area Agreement 
and is the key delivery mechanism for the Vision for Leeds 2004-2020. 

ØØØØ Council Business Plan 2008-11 - which sets out what the council needs to do 
internally to enable the organisation to achieve the Leeds Strategic Plan.  That 
is outlining the business development, organisational change, process 
transformation and financial planning activities that we will be undertaking over 
the next three years.   

2.2 These plans both form part of the budget and policy framework within the 
Constitution and their formal approval is by Members of Full Council.   

3.0 Main Issues 

3.1 The purpose of the Council Business Plan 2008-11 is to set out the business 
outcomes and improvement priorities for the next three years.  Effectively, it is a 
roadmap to lead our internal transformation and improvement agenda for the next 
three years in order to ensure that the council is fit for purpose going forward.  It 
includes the principles and processes which underpin our financial planning and 
budget setting processes to ensure that the resources are in place to deliver both 
our strategic and business priorities.   

3.2 The development of the Council Business Plan has involved seeking views from a 
range of senior officers across the council.  From this initial consultation, a set of 
outcomes and improvement priorities were developed which were then challenged 
against the strategic outcomes to ensure a good fit with the Leeds Strategic Plan.  
The draft business plan outcomes and improvement priorities were further amended 
as a result of these discussions and these were then subject to a wider 
consultation/challenge process including input from: 

Ø Elected Members via all Scrutiny Boards and Executive Board; 
Ø Trade Unions – via the Joint Consultative Committee; and 
Ø Staff – through two focus groups and a written consultation with corporate staff 

groups representing particular minority groups. 
 

3.3 In December 2007 the Council was subject to a Corporate Assessment by the Audit 
Commission.  The feedback from this external inspection identified a small number 
of reccommmendations and the business plan outcomes and improvement priorities 
were further amended to pick up the relevant areas. 

3.4 Robust performance management is key to the delivery of the plan and a robust set 
of performance indicators and ambitious targets have also been developed and 

Page 98



incorporated into the plan in order for us to be able to measure our progress.  These 
indicators are a mixture of existing indicators but also include relevant indicators 
from the new national indicator set, as well as some newly developed indicators of 
our own.    

3.5 Section 3 of the Council Business Plan sets out the principles we use in our financial 
planning and budget setting processes.  These show how we will resource our 
priorities as set out in the Leeds Strategic Plan as well as within the Business Plan 
itself.  The basis of this section has already been approved by Executive Board 
(December 2007) and it will be subject to amendment and formal approval each 
year through the annual budget process. 

3.6 Where possible the format, style and structure of the Council Business Plan mirror 
that of the Leeds Strategic Plan in order that the linkages between these important 
documents can be clearly understood.  In particular, Members will note that the 
Council Business Plan is built around a coherent set of outcomes and improvement 
priorities supported by indicators and targets which clearly mirrors the Leeds 
Strategic Plan.        

4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

4.1 The Council Business Plan 2008-11 forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework as set out in the Constitution.  The Business Plan outcomes, 
improvement priorities, performance indicators and targets have also been subject 
to Scrutiny during their development.  

5.0  Legal And Resource Implications 

5.1 The Council Business Plan 2008-2011 requires the formal approval of Members of 
Full Council at their meeting on July 2nd 2008.   

6.0  Conclusions 

6.1 The Council Business Plan 2008-11 is an important high level strategic plan.  Its 
delivery directly supports the achievement of the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 by 
ensuring that the organisation is in good shape and has the resources in place to 
support our priorities. 

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1 Members of Council are asked to approve the Council Business Plan 2008-11  

 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



1

COUNCIL
BUSINESS PLAN 

2008-11

Page 101



2

Page 102



3

Foreword 

We are delighted to present the Council Business Plan which covers the period from 
1 April 2008 until 31 March 2011.  This is the sister plan to the Leeds Strategic Plan 
2008-11 and its successful delivery is vital to the delivery of the shared outcomes 
and priorities detailed in that plan.  It may be helpful to think of the Council Business 
Plan as the smarter working that helps us to achieve the better results in the 
Leeds Strategic Plan. 

There are a number of challenges ahead. Not only do our citizens expect us to 
deliver excellent services that meet their needs and are good value for money; but 
this is in the context of a tight financial settlement from Government.  We will need to 
be more efficient and to deliver more for less.

This plan is structured around a set of business outcomes and improvement 
priorities which set the roadmap for our business transformation and organisational 
change over the next three years.  We feel our vision for the organisation is very well 
expressed in our outcomes which are: 

We are a values led organisation and our people are motivated and 
empowered.
We are an intelligent organisation, using good quality information to deliver 
better outcomes.
Our resources are clearly prioritised to provide excellent services and value 
for money.

The delivery of this plan will set us well on the way to realising our vision.   

The plan also includes the principles underpinning our financial planning and the 
methodology we will use to allocate our resources to support the delivery of the 
Leeds Strategic and Council Business Plans. 

This plan has been prepared through a process of consultation and we are pleased 
that many of you have already had the opportunity to input your ideas for 
improvement.  However, we know that the real challenge is in the translation of this 
plan from paper into reality.  This will require each and every one of our people, staff 
and elected members alike, to take on these challenges and make the changes 
happen on a day-to-day basis.  We need everyone to play their part in putting our 
values at the heart of what they do and in all their interactions with each other, our 
customers and partners.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank everyone in advance for the hard 
work and dedication that will go into making this plan a reality. 

Cllr Andrew Carter, Leader of the Conservative Group 
Cllr Richard Brett, Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group 
Paul Rogerson, Chief Executive 

Page 103



4

Contents 

Contents..................................................................................................................... 4
SECTION 1 – Introduction and Context ..................................................................... 5

Introduction............................................................................................................. 5
Our Planning Framework........................................................................................ 5
The Challenges for Local Government ................................................................... 6

Section 2 – What we want to achieve......................................................................... 8
Our Vision for the Future ........................................................................................ 8
Our Outcomes, Improvement Priorities and Big Ideas............................................ 9

Section 3 – Resourcing our priorities........................................................................ 24
Context ................................................................................................................. 24
Development of our Financial Plan....................................................................... 25
Overall Shape of the Financial Plan...................................................................... 26
Allocation of Resources ........................................................................................ 27
Service Implications.............................................................................................. 27
Financial Risk Assessment................................................................................... 28
Summary .............................................................................................................. 28

Section 4 – Making it happen ................................................................................... 30
Underlying principles and linkages ....................................................................... 30
Measuring and managing performance ................................................................ 31

Section 5 – Managing Our Risks.............................................................................. 35
Section 6 – Review and Revision............................................................................. 36

Appendix 1 – Council Business Plan Indicators and Targets................................ 37
Appendix 2 - About this Plan ................................................................................ 41

Page 104



5

SECTION 1 – Introduction and Context 

“Our Mission is to bring the benefits of a prosperous, 

vibrant and attractive city to all the people of Leeds” 

Introduction 

Leeds City Council is already a high performing authority and has been consistently 
judged in recent years as a high performer when compared against other local 
authorities.  However, we recognise that in order to continue to be a top performing 
organisation we need to carry on changing and adapting.  We must be flexible, 
responsive and confident in order to rise effectively to the challenges provided by the 
changing needs of our citizens and the public service landscape we work within.  We 
must make sure that our staff perform well, are constantly learning and that there is 
effective leadership at all levels.  This needs to happen whilst we also transform our 
services so our customers receive excellent services which are efficient, effective 
and meet their needs. 

Our Planning Framework 

This plan, the Council Business Plan 2008-11, forms a key part of our planning 
framework which is illustrated in the diagram below: 

Page 105



6

The Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 sets out the outcomes and improvement 
priorities that Leeds City Council, either on its own or in partnership with others, has 
agreed to achieve over the next three years to help deliver the longer term objectives 
contained in the Vision for Leeds 2004 to 2020.  Or put another way the Leeds 
Strategic Plan is the delivery plan for the long term Vision for Leeds but also includes 
within it our obligations to prepare and agree a Local Area Agreement1 (LAA).

This plan, the Council Business Plan 2008-11, plays a key role as it sets out our 
business development, organisational change, business transformation and financial 
planning activities for the next three years.  The successful delivery of the Council 
Business Plan will make sure that we, as an organisation, are in good shape to be 
able to deliver on the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11.

Area delivery plans (ADPs) provide the local interpretation of the Leeds Strategic 
Plan reflecting and shaping the partnership activities for each area.  The ADPs are 
developed by each of the ten area committees.  These committees are led by 
councillors representing local citizens embedding democratic accountability into 
partnership activities at an area level. 

In addition, individual service plans provide information on the specific tasks, actions 
and resources required to achieve the high level priorities and targets set out in the 
Leeds Strategic Plan and the Council Business Plan.  They are developed annually 
at service level and are monitored throughout the year.  These plans provide the link 
through to team and individual plans. 

The Challenges for Local Government 

There are many challenges facing local government, arising from the changing 
needs of our citizens and communities, as well as from central government’s reform 
agenda.  We will have to be flexible and responsive in order to rise to these 
challenges and deliver the improvements needed.  Some of these key challenges 
include:

Place shaping role – under new legislation the council’s role to provide strategic 
leadership for the city is further enhanced.  At the heart of this is the Local Area 
Agreement (LAA) which includes a single set of improvement priorities to ensure that 
we, and our partners, are all working closely together on the things that matter to 
local people.  In Leeds we have incorporated the requirement to prepare a Local 
Area Agreement into the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 and through this 
improvements will be monitored and co-ordinated across the city.

                                           
1
 The LAA is an agreement we sign with Government which sets out a limited number of improvement 

areas that reflect national and local priorities. 

Page 106



7

Choice and personalisation – “one size fits all” is no longer an acceptable 
approach to delivering services.  Citizens expect more choice, they expect services 
to be tailored to their needs, joined up, delivered in convenient ways and at a time 
that suits them.  Clearly this is a two way process where we consult and engage with 
local people and they are empowered to get involved.  Also key to this is the 
strengthening of the role of local councillors and local democratic arrangements. 

Value for Money/Efficiency – the 2007 Comprehensive Spending Review presents 
an important challenge as we are being asked to deliver high quality services within 
a tight budget settlement.  This will require us to be more efficient and innovative and 
up the pace of improvement and transformation - making the most of a variety of 
tools and techniques including: 

 Business process improvement to re-design services around customer needs; 
 Collaborative approaches to service delivery; 
 Smart procurement and use of competition; 
 Better use of technology; and 
 Improved asset management. 

Comprehensive Area Assessment 2(CAA) – the CAA will focus on the outcomes 
being delivered in the city, not only by us, but also jointly with our partners.  It will be 
based much more on the priorities which are important locally as set out in the Leeds 
Strategic Plan 2008-11.  This new regime has fewer indicators and targets through a 
single National Indicator set of 198 indicators, supported by locally defined indicators 
where appropriate, focusing much more on the outcomes delivered for local people.

                                           
2
 The CAA is the new performance management regime being introduced by the Audit Commission to 

assess the councils’ performance against the outcomes and improvement priorities it, along with its 
partners, have agreed for Leeds.  

Page 107



8

Section 2 – What we want to achieve 

Our Vision for the Future 

Ultimately we want to be an organisation that ensures the delivery of improved 
outcomes for the city of Leeds and its people; has a strong culture of ‘One Council’ 
represented through the behaviours of our colleagues and forges effective 
partnerships for the good of the city and its citizens.  In order to achieve this we will 
need to embrace new ways of working, make best use of technology, innovate and 
collaborate, continuously improve and deliver real customer focus. 

We have already started this journey of transformation - in 2006 the Council’s 
Executive Board received a report outlining proposals in respect of the next phase of 
the Council’s change programme.  Branded Smarter Working: Better Results its 
objectives are to:

 Create an organisation that is flexible and responsive, clearly focused on 
delivering improved outcomes for local people; 

 Increase organisational capacity to provide more effective strategic leadership 
and direction for both the organisation and the city; 

 Maximise the contribution of senior and middle managers to increase capacity 
and creativity within the organisation to better enable service improvement 
and modernisation; 

 Organise Council services in the most appropriate and effective way having 
regard to the outcomes being sought for the city and its people, and 

 Create an ethos of a one council approach. 

This change programme has already delivered some significant pieces of work 
including: the creation of four new thematic directorates and the alignment of the 
new Leeds Strategic Plan with the Local Area Agreement.  We recognise that it will 
take some time to fully achieve some of these objectives, particularly those that 
relate to changes in culture and behaviours which need time to become fully 
embedded.  Two of the most important strands of work already underway include: 

 Our leadership challenge ‘From Good to Great’ which was launched in 
September 2007.  This sets out the behaviours and culture we are aspiring to 
create and covers both Council and partner representatives recognising the need 
to respond to the challenge of leadership across the city.

 We are developing a one council approach which ensures that our Chief Officers 
and senior managers have greater accountability for service delivery and service 
performance.  This includes developing arrangements that ensures we work 
effectively in partnership with others and establish mechanisms to ensure the 
Council operates as a single, coherent whole. 

We are aiming to create an organisation that is fit for purpose on an ongoing basis, 
and is able to make continuing and sustainable improvements in service 
performance and become recognised as an exemplar of modern Local Government.
Therefore, the transformation programmes initiated within Smarter Working: Better 
Results form a key part, and are central to the delivery of, the Council Business 

Page 108



9

Plan.  Where there are key linkages these are highlighted in relation to each of the 
business plan outcomes and improvement priorities set out below. 

Our Outcomes, Improvement Priorities and Big Ideas 

In an organisation as large and complex as ours there are a significant number of 
changes and improvements which we will need to make over the next three years.
This detailed change agenda will touch the whole organisation and support us in the 
achievement of the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 and our long term vision for the 
organisation.

These changes are structured around a set of business outcomes and improvement 
priorities - where the outcomes state where we want to be and the priorities are the 
high level business improvement activities which need to be delivered in order to 
achieve the outcomes.  In addition, for each of the three outcomes we have also 
identified an overarching big idea which represents a major transformational activity.  
These big ideas cut across several improvement priorities and encapsulate the 
essence of what we are trying to achieve in each area.  In effect they are some of 
the really big changes that you will see delivered by March 2011. 

Context
Our most important asset is our people who are at the heart of what we do.  We 
recognise that a well led, capable, effective and empowered workforce are needed to 
ensure we achieve our mission.  In total, the council employs approximately 35,000 
people, either directly or through arms length arrangements such as our Housing 
Arms Length Management Organisations (ALMOs), Education Leeds and schools
These staff are organised under four thematic directorates, supported by a group of 
central and corporate functions (as illustrated below):  

Business Outcome 1 

We are a values led organisation and our people are motivated and empowered

Page 109



10

Our staff are employed in the following areas: 

Area No. Employed * 
Leeds City Council 17081 

Schools 15287 

Education Leeds 1079 

ALMO's 1106 

TOTAL 34553 

*Permanent and temporary staff employed as at 31 March 2008 

In addition to these directly employed staff, we are also supported in delivering the 
city’s priorities by significant capacity from the private sector, including for example, 
design services, street lighting, grass cutting and property maintenance. 

Without the right people, it is unlikely that even the most comprehensive of plans will 
deliver the step change in performance being demanded of local government.  We 
have the potential to make huge improvements by ensuring we have the right people 
with the right knowledge, skills and behaviours employed in the right place in the 
organisation.  Workforce planning can help us to achieve this and we acknowledge 
that this is an important issue for us going forward.  We need to improve our longer 
term thinking about future service pressures and needs, and what we need to do 
now to ensure we are fit for purpose in the future.  Through this plan we are ensuring 
that the links are made between the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 and our plans for 
recruitment and retention, staff development and training.

Effective employee engagement will continue to be a priority ensuring that the 
council’s employees continue to be ambassadors for the city and the authority, 
bringing tangible benefits to workforce recruitment and retention, morale and 
productivity and, ultimately, organisational performance.

We are committed to increasing equality for, and valuing the diversity of, all 
communities in the city. Irrespective of background everyone should experience 
similar life chances, access to services and work opportunities in order to develop a 
strong sense of an individual’s local rights and responsibilities. Equality, diversity 
and cohesion and integration remains a key improvement issue for the council and 
whilst we have made massive strides in the last few years, much more needs to be 
done.  Not only is there a complex legal framework for equality but understanding 
our changing communities is a key challenge for our city.  It is essential that equality 
and diversity is embedded within the culture of the organisation.  We also recognise 
that balanced diversity within our own organisation serves the council and local 
people well by providing a wider talent pool for recruitment; improving our knowledge 
of different communities and supporting our social inclusion aspirations.  Although 
we have made good progress in this regard our workforce still does not fully reflect 
the changing diversity of the city at all levels of our organisation.   

Our Elected Members represent and provide a voice for the community across the 
33 wards of the Leeds district.  They contribute to policy and strategy and make key 
decisions on behalf of the people of Leeds. They do this through a ‘Leader Cabinet’ 
model (known locally as the Executive Board) and this is the council’s principal 
decision making body.  The Board meets in public session approximately 12 times a 

Page 110



11

year.  These arrangements are supported by our Scrutiny Boards which examine the 
decisions and policies of the council and act in a ‘watchdog’ role.  Scrutiny makes 
sure that the people of Leeds are getting the best out of their public services.   

Good governance is key to the corporate health and success of the council and is 
therefore high on the agenda.  Our governance arrangements comprise the systems 
and processes for the direction and control of the organisation.  This brings together 
our political and officer arrangements to ensure robust and transparent policy 
development and decision-making.  We set ourselves high standards and seek to 
embed the principles of good corporate governance in both the culture and systems 
of the council.  The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 
requires us to review our ‘Leader Cabinet’ operating model by December 2009.  This 
coupled with a white paper motion in June 2007 from Full Council has initiated a 
review of our democratic arrangements, including officer delegations, going forward.
At the centre of this review is the issue of how councillors can be better involved in 
decision making.

The climate change agenda will have a big impact on us all in the future and we 
recognise that we need to act now to ensure effective mitigation and adaptation.  Our 
biggest contribution to this agenda is our ability to influence the city through our 
policies and activities eg transport policies, planning policies and regeneration 
investment to create sustainable communities.  Our Climate Change Strategy and 
the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 set out our ambition to lead a city-wide solution.
However, our partners are clear that in order to lead we have to demonstrate that we 
are reducing our own significant CO2 footprint.  Whilst we already monitor our 
environmental impact through the international EMAS standard we need to more 
closely integrate this with our performance management system in order to deliver 
the reductions in our CO2 emissions over the next three years and beyond. 

Our Priorities for Improvement 

The Big Idea 

The vast majority of our CO2 emissions come from our buildings and we want to take 
action now to shrink our carbon footprint far into the future.  By doing this we will be 
making our contribution to reducing the carbon footprint of the city and the region 
and setting an example to encourage others to do the same.  We recognise that 
there is no one solution to achieve this but we are undertaking to: 

 ensure all new buildings and refurbished buildings (where possible) 
commissioned by the council meet Building Research Establishment 

We will take significant steps to reduce 

our carbon emissions 

Page 111



12

Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) “excellent” standards with 
maximum ‘energy credits’; 

 invest strategically in energy efficiency and renewable energy technologies to 
reduce CO2 emissions from the existing estate; 

 reduce our overall office floorspace eg by the delivery of a corporate 
document records facility; and 

 explore new ways of working that are more flexible and efficient to reduce CO2

emissions, particularly from travel. 

Our Improvement Priorities 

By 2011 we want to: 

Organisational Design and Workforce Planning 
 Ensure we have the right staff, in the right place with the right skills at the 

right time 
 Empower, support and develop our staff and members by embedding 

core skills and behaviours with performance based appraisals 
 Improve understanding and transparency of our decision-making and 

accountability processes 

Leadership 
 Improve leadership at all levels including officers and elected members 
 Enhance our leadership of the city 
 Strengthen communication (skills and mechanisms) at all levels 

Democratic engagement 
 Strengthen our democratic processes to improve governance and policy 

making
 Maximise member involvement in policy development, decision making 

and accountability 

Equality Diversity and Cohesion and Integration 
 Ensure colleagues reflect the diversity of our communities at all levels 
 Ensure fair access to all our services 
 Embed equality and diversity throughout the organisation 

Sustainability 
 Reduce the carbon emissions arising from our buildings, vehicles and 

operations 
 Increase the proportion of socially responsible goods and services that 

we procure 
 Support the achievement of our strategic outcomes through our 

corporate social responsibility programme 

Page 112



13

Delivering the priorities 

A variety of work is required in order to deliver these improvement priorities some of 
which has already commenced and some of which are still to be scoped and agreed.  
In particular there are a wide range of projects within the Smarter Working: Better 
Results programme which support the delivery of this outcomes including: 

 Implementation of One Council accountability, support and intervention 
framework to include core competency framework, performance based appraisals 
and personalised training and development 

 Development of a one council approach to organisational design 
 Delivery of “From Good to Great” leadership challenge 
 Delivery of one council approach to equality and diversity 
 Development and implementation of one council approach to cohesion and 

integration
 Development and implementation of a one council approach to communication 
 Development and Implementation of a clear and coherent officer governance 

framework
 Development of a one council approach to commissioning 

Other programmes of work are set out within other supporting strategies, action 
plans and within service plans across the organisation.  At the high level this 
includes:

Supporting Delivery Strategies/Programmes: 

 People Strategy 
 Equality and Diversity Scheme 
 Climate Change Strategy 
 Member Development Strategy  
 Ethical Audit Action Plan 
 ‘Leeds By Example’ programme 
 Asset Management Plan 

Page 113



14

Context

Local Government is being asked to define its role as a place shaper.  In order to do 
this effectively we need know about our population, their needs and wants and 
understand how these are likely to change over time.  This involves looking at the 
data we gather from our customers and stakeholders and the way we manage this to 
ensure we get the maximum value from this strategic asset.  Evidence has identified 
that whilst our services are being successfully integrated and brought together to 
facilitate the delivery of positive outcomes to local people, the lack of joined-up and 
integrated information and knowledge to support this change is becoming a barrier to 
progress.  It also does not support the One Council approach we are seeking 
through the change programme.  Given this, we have already established a strategic 
Information and Knowledge Management (IKM) vision and the next three years will 
see the delivery of some of its early milestones including many underlying systems 
and processes. 

Our customers and service users provide an important source of information and 
intelligence for us.  Whilst “Putting Customers First” is already one of our core 
values, we recognise that we have more work to do to embed the wider customer 
agenda - our challenge is to meet the rising expectations of our customers whilst 
improving overall efficiency in the way services are designed and delivered.  The 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 pays particular 
attention to public accountability, community engagement and customer satisfaction 
in meeting local needs.   

Research has demonstrated the strong connection between how informed people 
feel about council services and how satisfied they are with those services.  There is 
a clear link between council communication and reputation, highlighting the value of 
good communications in building a strong reputation for local authorities.  In addition, 
the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 has emphasised 
the importance of community engagement and two-way communications.  This 
‘localism’ agenda requires greater levels of resident involvement and inevitably that 
requires both more and different forms of communication with local stakeholders.  All 
this means we need to look carefully at out future communication and engagement 
activity to ensure these are focused on local areas and communities, and to provide 
co-ordinated information with opportunities for residents to get involved in ways 
which meet their needs.  Local people will need to have more of a say in the way in 
which their services are delivered.

The media and the ways in which people get information are changing dramatically.  
There is an increasing fragmentation of the mass media, with traditional channels 
being less effective at reaching broad audiences.  Traditional communications 
channels, such as the news media and websites, are evolving and changing to meet 
the demand for 24 hour information, local issues and quicker responses.  New forms 
of communication, many based on innovative technology, present us with 

Business Outcome 2 

We are an intelligent organisation, using good quality information to deliver 

better outcomes

Page 114



15

opportunities to target different audiences with tailored information for relatively low 
costs.  Over the next few years we need to exploit new social media tools whilst 
maintaining a focus on traditional written and face to face methods of 
communication.  We also need to ensure our communication channels and 
messages take account of the diversity of our communities and ensure access for all 
residents.

Leeds City Council branded communications will continue to be a fundamental part 
of building relationships with residents and communities, as the council will only gain 
credit if stakeholders recognise that the council is providing these services.  Work to 
ensure that the council brand is consistently linked to council services will continue to 
be vital in building support, trust and reputation.

Our Priorities for Improvement 

The Big Idea 

We currently do not have a single consistent view of our customers and this prevents 
us from fully understanding our customers’ needs and wants.  The problem is not a 
lack of information, as we already have many council computer systems that have 
customer information included on them.  The issue is, we are not currently able to 
bring this information together to analyse and share it, and to help us improve our 
understanding of what our customers want and need.  Over the next three years we 
will start to manage our customer information in a way that allows us to deliver a one 
council understanding of our customers. 

This will mean staff who deal directly with customers will have access to this core 
information and will be confident that it is up to date and correct.  This will enable us 
to provide better services and be a more customer focused organisation.  We will be 
able to plan, deliver and monitor our service provision more efficiently and 
effectively.  Our customers will benefit from all services having access to their 
information leading to a simpler and more consistent experience when they contact 
the council. 

We will have a one council understanding 
of our customers

Page 115



16

Our Improvement Priorities 

Delivering the priorities 

A variety of work is required in order to deliver these improvement priorities, some of 
which has already commenced and others which are still to be scoped and agreed.  
In particular there are a wide range of projects within the Smarter Working: Better 
Results programme which support the delivery of this outcome including: 

 Development and implementation of a one council approach to communication 
 Develop a one council approach to community engagement and involvement 
 Development of a one council approach to customer relations 

Other programmes of work are set out within other supporting strategies, action 
plans and within service plans across the organisation.  At the high level this 
includes:

By 2011 we want to: 

Information and knowledge management 
 Improve our systems and processes to enable us to use our 

information effectively and efficiently 
 Use our information to shape service provision, provide constructive 

challenge and improve our decision making at all levels 
 Ensure we have the right intelligence to inform our strategic 

planning
 Develop arrangements to protect and share information in line with 

legislative and regulatory requirements 

Customer involvement, choice and satisfaction 
 Improve our understanding of our customers
 Increase choice so customers can access services in more 

convenient ways 
 Improve our services based on customer feedback 
 Manage customer expectation and deliver on our promises 
 Develop joined up and person centred services designed around 

the needs of our customers 
 Enhance the links between front and back office services to deliver 

excellent end-to-end services 

Stakeholder Engagement 
 Increase involvement, engagement and participation of all 

communities especially under-represented groups 
 Build trust with local communities to encourage greater 

engagement

Page 116



17

Supporting Delivery Strategies/Programmes: 

 Information and Knowledge Management 
Strategy

 ICT Strategy 
 Equality and Diversity Scheme 
 Community Asset Engagement Strategy 

Page 117



18

Context

The Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 sets out the expenditure across the 
public sector for the three years of this business plan.  The rate of growth for local 
government equates to 1% in real terms which represents a tight settlement in a 
climate of increasing demands.  Some specific grants are still available for areas like 
housing, waste and planning and will be more generous.  Fewer of our grants will be 
ringfenced and there are new freedoms and flexibilities which can be used to raise 
funding.  However government has been clear that it expects Council Tax increases 
to be below 5% and for local government to deliver 3% annual cashable efficiency 
gains.  In response to this the council has developed a new approach to the 
allocation of resources - based on need, efficiencies and priorities which ensures our 
budget setting is policy-led.  Section 3 sets out the detailed financial plan which 
underpins the delivery of the Leeds Strategic and Council Business Plans 2008-11 
but in order to stay within this resource allocation we will need to deliver 
improvements, efficiencies and value for money.  Our aim is to do this at the same 
time as delivering improvements in our services. 

Of particular concern in terms of our internal efficiency is our high level of staff 
sickness.  This issue affects everyone, it puts more pressure on the staff who are at 
work, means we have to call in agency staff to cover absence and can delay the 
delivery of key services to the public.  However, we recognise that people do get ill 
and in particular we need to support those with long term illnesses and ensure that 
they only return to work when they are fit to do so.  We are aiming to address this 
through our People Strategy and have set ourselves key targets to drive this 
improvement.

All this must also be seen in the context of demographic changes which will increase 
the demand on Council services, therefore, leading to greater financial pressures, 
including an aging population and changes in migration patterns.  Also, our service 
user expectations are rising, they expect to receive excellent services in an efficient 
and effective manner.

The delivery of value for money services in a tight budget situation requires us to 
look again at the way we commission services.  A robust and transparent 
commissioning process requires us to understand the needs of our citizens.  We also 
need to ensure that we are both user and outcome focused, that we understand the 
market and have the most effective provider arrangements in place.  We have 
recognised the need to develop a one council approach to commissioning but more 
than that we also recognise the efficiency that working jointly with our partners may 
bring.  We also need to consider further opportunities for improvement and efficiency 
through collaboration or provision of shared services.  Delivery of this agenda will 
enable us to not only deliver better services but also to maximise efficiencies. 

Business Outcome 3 

Our resources are clearly prioritised to provide excellent services and value for 

money

Page 118



19

In order to ensure as much of our resource as possible goes into the provision of 
frontline services we need to make sure our back office functions are as efficient and 
effective as possible.  We have an excellent record here with both our procurement 
and asset management services having been awarded beacon status.  Again we are 
not resting on our laurels and want to do more - for example during 2007-8 we 
procured about £550m worth of goods, works and services from the private, 
voluntary and other public sector organisations and we are confident that this huge 
buying power can be further harnessed.

Similarly our large asset base can also be used to support our priorities eg the sale 
of our stake in Leeds Bradford International Airport in 2007 generated income which 
we have re-invested in the delivery of our priorities.  In support of this we recently 
brought together our corporate property management resources into one service and 
through a corporate landlord approach to asset management, we can use our asset 
base to deliver services in the most effective way.  This will support business 
transformation and deliver value for money through rationalisation of the portfolio.  A 
Community Asset Engagement Strategy is also being developed to reach third 
sector organisations which have the potential as community anchors to deliver 
priorities identified in the Leeds Strategic Plan.

Building on the outcomes identified in the Leeds Strategic Plan, a capital investment 
strategy is being developed which identifies the capital investment needed to deliver 
those outcomes.  Joining up our revenue, capital and ICT investment plans together 
with the Asset Management Plan, will help us to ensure that our resources are used 
to greatest effect in the delivery of our priorities. 

Technology has the potential to help us to deliver service improvement and value for 
money by enabling the provision of services in new and innovative ways.  We 
recognise that ICT is a key enabler for improving current business processes, 
reducing organisational costs and raising workforce performance.  We have already 
identified in outcome two a huge area where ICT can enable such improvements – in 
our information knowledge management agenda - but it can also enable closer 
working and collaboration across agencies and other partners at a local level.  We 
recognise that we need to focus on developing and using our ICT more proactively 
over the next few years in order to support the delivery of our priorities. 

Efficiency, improvement and service transformation go hand-in-hand and are allied 
to our ambitions on value for money and service improvement.  Service improvement 
already occurs on an on-going basis at all levels across the organisation.
Improvements vary from small, incremental improvements carried out as part of the 
day to day management processes through to major transformation programmes like 
Smarter Working: Better Results.  We recognise that as a large organisation we 
have many major change processes occurring at the same time.  These are not 
always co-ordinated and prioritised in such a way that enables and supports services 
like ICT to align their resources to corporate priorities.  We need to take steps to 
manage and co-ordinate this better.  It is also important to understand that much 
change happens within services and again, as an organisation, we need to support 
and facilitate this better through the provision of specialist skills and support to 
managers.

Page 119



20

Good service planning is essential to delivering excellent services and to ensuring 
the delivery of the Leeds Strategic and Council Business Plans.  They provide the 
link between the corporate vision and values and the team and individual plans to 
ensure there is a golden thread running through the organisation.  Since 2002 we 
have had a corporate service planning approach.  This has resulted in huge 
improvements in the quality and consistency of these key documents.  However, 
there is still room for further improvement and in particular we need to ensure that 
better links are made within these documents to key corporate agendas like 
workforce and asset management planning, risk, financial and performance 
management.

Page 120



21

Our Priorities for Improvement 

The Big Idea 

The delivery of an ambitious efficiency and service improvement agenda is essential 
for our long term financial security.  More specifically we have set ourselves targets 
for the delivery of 10% efficiency savings across our support services.  However, 
since we are starting from a relatively efficient baseline, having already delivered  
£1 m of savings, we know that we will not be able to deliver this target through 
incremental change alone.  We need to look at more radical solutions and, in 
particular, to explore the opportunities for collaboration and shared service provision 
with both the private sector and other public bodies.  Whilst efficiency is a key driver 
any collaboration would also need to deliver improvements in service delivery and fit 
with our overall vision and values.   

At this stage we are committing to explore these opportunities with an open mind in 
order to identify and quantify where collaboration could add value, generate the 
required efficiencies and drive business improvement, including the possibilities for 
business growth through shared service provision.   

We will explore opportunities for 

collaboration to support our business 

transformation aspirations 

Page 121



22

Our Improvement Priorities 

By 2011 we want to: 

Resource Prioritisation 
 Deliver our 5 year financial strategy to align resources to our 

strategic priorities 
 Embed sustainability in our resource management processes 
 Consider all additional sources of funding available to support our 

priorities

Efficiency/Value for Money  
 Improve the efficiency of our services including maximising savings 

delivered through procurement, ICT and asset management. 
 Embed value for money at all levels 

Commissioning
 Implement a commissioning approach which is based on need, 

delivers value for money and ensures the best provider.   

Service Improvement and Transformation 
 Ensure strategic business transformation/improvement activity is 

prioritised and co-ordinated 
 Enhance service improvement capacity to support business change 

at directorate/service level 
 Embed a consistent approach to service planning which clearly links 

workforce and asset management planning, risk, financial and 
performance management. 

 Explore opportunities for collaboration with private and public sector 
bodies

Partnerships
 Develop sustainable and effective partnership governance 

framework

Support services 
 Improve quality and efficiency of support services 

Page 122



23

Delivering the priorities 

A variety of work is required in order to deliver these improvement priorities some of 
which has already commenced and others which are still to be scoped and agreed.  
In particular there are a wide range of projects within the Smarter Working: Better 
Results programme which support the delivery of this outcomes including: 

 Development and implementation of an officer governance framework 
 Development of one council approach to commissioning  

Other programmes of work are set out within other supporting strategies, action 
plans and within service plans across the organisation.  At the high level this 
includes:

Supporting Delivery Strategies/Programmes: 

 ICT Strategy 
 Support Service Review Implementation 

Programme
 People Strategy 
 Capital Investment Strategy  
 Asset Management Plan  
 Community Asset Engagement Strategy 

Page 123



24

Section 3 – Resourcing our priorities 

Context

This section of the Council Business Plan sets out the principles underpinning our 
methodology for allocating resources to the priorities we have agreed in the Leeds 
Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan.  The basis of the allocation of resources 
to services was approved by Executive Board in December 2007.  This plan outlines 
the key issues and priorities over the planning period and provides an update to 
resource allocations in light of the Comprehensive Spending Review 2007 (CSR 07) 
and the three year Local Government Financial Settlement.  These overarching 
principles are supported by a more detailed Financial Plan which is published 
separately and subject to annual review through the budget process.

The final Local Government Finance Settlement 2008/09 to 2010/11 was announced 
on Thursday 24th January 2008. This is the first three year settlement (following a 
two-year settlement for 2006/07 and 2007/08) and marks the Government’s move to 
align Local Government’ funding announcements with the Comprehensive Spending 
Review cycle. The increases in Revenue Support Grant (RSG) at the national and 
local level are summarised below:-

Increase in Revenue Support Grant

National Leeds 
Year

% % £m 

2008/09 3.5 2.7 7.6 

2009/10 2.8 2.1 6.2 

2010/11 2.6 1.8 5.4 

Although there are significant variations between authorities, Leeds’ percentage 
increases are substantially below the average of the Core Cities, the West Yorkshire 
districts, the metropolitan districts and England as a whole:

Increase
2008/09

Increase
2009/10

Increase
2010/11

Leeds 2.7% 2.1% 1.8% 
    
Average Core City 3.5% 2.5% 2.2% 
Average West Yorkshire 
District

4.3% 3.1% 2.7% 

Average Metropolitan District 3.9% 2.9% 2.5% 
Average England  3.5% 2.8% 2.6% 

Taking account of the three year RSG settlement, the estimated level of additional 
resources that will be available is likely to be less than £20m per annum over the life 
of the plan.

Page 124



25

Development of our Financial Plan 

A new approach to the allocation of revenue resources to services has been 
developed and represents a substantial shift towards policy-led budget setting.  This 
new approach integrates corporate planning, accountability, financial and 
performance management arrangements and applies to all that the Council delivers, 
either on its own or in partnership with others. This policy led approach was an 
explicit recommendation of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee review of the 
2007/08 budget. 

In developing a new approach to resource allocation, greater emphasis has been 
placed on directing resources to Council priorities and divesting from areas that are 
considered to be lower priority. The level of resources to be allocated to services has 
been determined by considering three components;

Analysis of these three areas has shaped the overall resource planning framework 
which not only takes into account the relative importance of services but ensures that 
they are deliverable within the overall level of resources available to the Council.

Needs

The first aspect of the new methodology has been to consider how the allocation of 
resources could best reflect the needs of services. To help achieve this, the Relative 
Needs Formulae (RNF) used by government in distributing funding to local 
government through the Formula Grant has been used as a basis.  To put this into 
context approximately 54% of the Council’s net expenditure is funded by Formula 
Grant with the remaining 46% coming from our own Council Tax revenues. 

Around 70% of Formula Grant is driven by relative needs. Whilst there can be no 
absolute determination of need, this is considered to be a comprehensive and robust 
analysis which determines the relative needs between services and between 
authorities.  The indicators of need are complex and varied but typically are made up 
of a basic amount driven by population data which is then adjusted for a number of 
factors which reflect deprivation or other measures of specific pressures on services.

Detailed analysis of the RNF shows that for some services the Council spends more 
than its needs would imply, whereas for other services it would appear to be 
spending too little. It is difficult to be too precise with the value of these variations 
given the nature of the analysis, however it would suggest that, in some instances, 
significant realignment between services is required.

Needs Priorities Efficiencies

Page 125



26

Local Priorities 

The national comparative needs analysis should, however, be balanced against local 
priorities as it would be inappropriate for the Council’s plans to be solely driven by 
the national needs agenda. The local prioritisation element is, therefore, a further 
significant contribution to setting our Financial Plan.

Whilst individual Directors, Chief Officers and, where appropriate, partners, will need 
to prioritise their existing resources in support of delivering agreed improvement 
priorities, it is important that future strategic decisions regarding resource allocation 
also take account of the Council’s overall stated priorities.

The Council is currently in a period of transition in developing a robust 
commissioning based approach to support the delivery of strategic outcomes and 
improvement priorities. The new Financial Plan provides stability over this 
transitional phase by setting out a framework for resource allocation over the next 
five years which is sufficiently flexible to support a policy led approach to outcomes.
It will be supported by the new Area Based Grant and will allow the development of 
more comprehensive and consistent methodologies across the Council and, where 
appropriate, its partners, with regard to commissioning and strategic investment 
planning.

Efficiency Agenda 

The third component of the new approach is to establish appropriate bases for 
assessing the relative efficiencies of services. The Government has placed 
significant emphasis on efficiency in its financial settlements for Local Government in 
the last few years. For the period 2004/05 to 2007/08 Local Government was 
required to deliver efficiencies equivalent to 2½% per annum; the CSR 07 assumes 
that local authorities should be able to achieve a further 3% per annum saving over 
the next three years whilst at the same time delivering service growth. 

In the past, Leeds City Council savings targets have taken little account of the 
relative efficiency of each service. A different approach has been adopted which 
uses an analysis of the unit cost of services and how they compare to other 
authorities (mainly Core Cities). In this way it is possible to target efficiencies at 
specific services where comparisons imply lower value for money. 

Overall Shape of the Financial Plan 

This new methodology has been used to determine the overall shape of our financial 
plan and indicative resource allocations to services over a five year period were 
approved by Executive Board in December 2007.  

Initially the 2007/08 Relative Needs Formulae data was used to achieve a full 
realignment of resources by 2012/13, reflecting needs, local priorities and 
efficiencies. The Government has subsequently provided details of formula grant for 
the three years 2008/09 to 2010/11 through the local government finance settlement. 
Using this information, the initial five year resource allocation will be updated in order 
to achieve a full realignment over the next five years, but this time based on the most 
up to date information.

Page 126



27

It is acknowledged that the delivery of the Financial Plan will require a significant 
review of some of the Council’s services and activities and achievement of the 
planned shape will not be an easy task. The plan therefore assumes a phased 
implementation of the realignment in order to minimise the impact on services during 
the transitional period.

Allocation of Resources

Based on the new methodology the adapted allocation of resources reflects the 
following:

 2% per annum targeted savings in Support Services, rising to a 
cumulative10% by 2012/13. This applies to all central and local provision of 
administrative and support activities. Efficiencies will be generated through a 
variety of means including investment in Information Technology and through 
the rationalisation of office accommodation. 

 Cash standstill over the life of the plan for Central and Corporate Functions in 
order to maximise resources available to front line services.

 Additional capital investment of £100m, above the approved programme, over 
the period of the plan enabling investment in priority projects and providing 
funding for invest to save projects, income generating projects, investment in 
technology and physical infrastructure to deliver efficiencies and 
improvements in services over the period of the plan. 

 Funding for significant areas of need which include addressing base budget 
pressures, and directing resources to key local service priorities such as the 
Integrated Waste Strategy, and increasing the number of Direct Payments in 
Adult Social Care.

 Efficiency savings targeted at areas of the Council’s services which appear 
relatively high compared to other authorities, primarily Children’s Services 
including the Local Education Authority and Youth and Community. Pricing 
policies and service provision will be reviewed where appropriate.

 A sustainable funding solution to meet the ongoing cost of the Council’s pay 
and grading review will be identified over the life of the plan.

 General reserves will be maintained at or above the minimum level in 
accordance with the risk based reserves strategy.      

These assumptions combined with an estimate of available resources over the life of 
the plan will underpin the annual review of our Financial Plan.

Service Implications

Over the remaining life of the plan, it is estimated that pay and price inflation alone 
could be in excess of £85m with significant service pressures over and above this. It 
is therefore clear from the above that substantial efficiencies will need to be achieved 
over the life of the plan which will require a detailed review of the Council’s services 
and activities. These reviews are key to achieving value for money in service delivery 
thereby helping the achievement of better outcomes for all services.  

In carrying out this work a number of principles have been agreed as follows: 

 The Council will aim to achieve best in class in respect of cost, quality and 
performance;

Page 127



28

 The Council will commission services according to need and taking account of 
fairness and equity; 

 The Council will aim to maximize its potential to gain from its purchasing 
power;

 The Council will make best use of technology to deliver efficiency and 
customer focus in the delivery of services; 

 Income opportunities will be maximized and where income levels are set 
below the optimal rate, this should be identified as a transparent subsidy; 

 Opportunities will be explored to rationalise physical assets in order to achieve 
value for money and better outcomes for service users; 

 The Council’s role as a provider will be challenged and alternative means of 
provision should be considered where this will generate better value for money 
and/or better outcomes; 

Financial Risk Assessment 

In developing this methodology we have had to make a number of assumptions and 
therefore it is important that we highlight the principal risks that are relevant to the 
delivery of our Financial Plan.  These have been identified as follows: 

 Additional resources will not be as great as assumed; 
 Pay awards and inflation vary from the levels assumed in the plan; 
 Legislative changes are not anticipated; 
 Forecasts of demographic trends vary from those assumed; 
 Income targets are not achieved; and 
 Savings from service reviews will not be sufficient 

The Financial Plan is reviewed annually as part of the preparation of the annual 
budget. There are a number of controls embedded in this process to ensure that the 
principal risks are mitigated and the approved budget in any given year is robust. 
These controls include: 

 A risk based reserves strategy which ensures that reserves are maintained at an 
appropriate level to secure long term financial stability 

 Budget action plans in place for each directorate which set out key actions to 
deliver the budget and how variations will be addressed during any given year up 
to 2% of budget 

 Rigorous budget monitoring mechanisms to ensure early identification of 
emerging issues 

 A central contingency for items not foreseen and for items where there is a risk of 
variation during the year

 A risk assessment of key budgets documented in the form of formal budget risk 
registers

Summary 

It is recognised that the funding available to the Council over the planning period will 
be severely restricted, and clearly not sufficient to meet all the spending pressure 
that the Council will face.  Given this, a strategy which places resource allocation in a 
strong policy framework based on an analysis of needs, both nationally and locally 
determined, and focuses on delivering efficiencies and an understanding of local 
priorities has been developed.

Page 128



29

It is however clear that delivering a realignment of resources to focus on Council 
priorities, within the current financial context, will be challenging and require difficult 
decisions.

The analysis which underpins this approach is based on the latest information 
available, but we will continuously review needs, efficiency and local priorities 
throughout the life of our Financial Plan to reflect more up to date information as it 
becomes available. 

Page 129



30

Section 4 – Making it happen 

Underlying principles and linkages 

So far we have covered what we want to achieve but equally important to the 
delivery of the Business Plan is how we will approach this over next three years.
There are a number of core themes or key principles which run all the way through 
this implementation process. 

Interconnectivity and a ‘One Council’ Approach 

We recognise that getting to the ‘root’ of many of our challenges as an organisation 
requires an awareness of the ‘interconnection’ between our different business 
outcomes and improvement priorities.  For example, in order to improve leadership 
we need to ensure our leaders have good leadership skills, are fully trained, 
understand and value diversity, are supported by the right performance framework, 
have good customer insight, are supported by effective HR policies and procedures 
etc.  Through our Smarter Working: Better Results programme we are developing 
and implementing a number of one council approaches where we feel it is important 
to have a common approach.  Our officer governance framework also ensures that 
all the right people are involved in developing the policy and making the key 
decisions about how to implement this plan, linking into our well established political 
governance arrangements. 

Our Values 

Our values illustrate how we operate and what we represent - fairness, equality and 
commitment to our customers.  Our values are drawn from the ideas and beliefs of 
people throughout our organisation.  They define us by saying clearly who we are, 
what we do and how we do it.  These values influence every aspect of our business 
and show staff and customers what we believe in and how we choose to operate.

Our values are reflected in both the Leeds Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan 
but are really brought to life through the behaviours of our staff and the way we 
design and deliver services.  We will work hard over the next three years to make 
sure that the implementation of our strategic and business ‘improvement priorities’ 
supports and embeds our values even further.   

Page 130



31

Measuring and managing performance  

Effective performance management requires co-ordinated planning and review 
systems that enable key decision makers, at both political and officer level, to take 
appropriate action based on reliable and timely performance information.  A key part 
of the development of this plan has been the identification of a set of suitable 
Performance Indicators (PIs) for which robust and challenging targets have been set.
This allows us to measure progress towards achieving the business outcomes and 
improvement priorities and thus to drive improvement across the organisation.

An individual accountable officer has been assigned for each of the business 
improvement priorities, however, many other officers will be responsible for 
contributing to the delivery of each of these priorities. Arrangements are in place for 
the performance indicators to be regularly reviewed in order to assess whether 
progress against our targets is adequate.  These arrangements also include 
independent and robust challenge by our elected members to ensure the public are 
getting the best out of their public services.  Where progress is not sufficient we have 
developed a support and intervention framework which will be used to bring progress 
back on track.  The business plan performance indicators and targets are shown in 
appendix 1 

Some of the indicators in the business plan will also be measured on a directorate 
and/or service basis to ensure that all parts of the organisation are making sufficient 
contribution to the overall delivery of the Council Business Plan.  Where appropriate, 
and if possible, we will also analyse our performance results by gender, ethnic origin, 
age, disability, religion or belief and sexual orientation.  We will be publishing regular 
performance reports and our balanced scorecard on the intranet and internet and 
annually we will publish a performance update for the public in the city’s newspaper 
‘About Leeds’. 

In addition to our own internal performance management arrangements we are also 
independently assessed by the Audit Commission through the Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment which is due to be replaced by the Comprehensive Area 
Assessment in 2009.  Within this framework is a Use of Resources assessment 
which is particularly relevant to the improvement and transformation agenda within 
this plan.  The Use of Resources is an annual assessment which looks at how well 
we manage our money, our business and our other resources.  We are required to 
provide evidence that we are managing our finances effectively to deliver value for 
money; that we have good corporate governance, internal control and risk 
management; commission our services to deliver better outcomes and manage our 
natural resources, physical assets and people to meet current and future need.  It 
provides an independent judgement across all these areas with an overall scoring 
from 1 – 4 (where 1 is poor and 4 is excellent).  The outcomes from these 
assessments are available to the public. 

Page 131



32

Integration with Leeds Strategic Plan – Our Balanced Scorecard 

Together the Leeds Strategic Plan and Council Business Plan represent our high 
level strategy for the period 2008 -11.  These plans are closely linked and indeed the 
successful delivery of the Leeds Strategic Plan is dependent upon the delivery of the 
Council Business Plan.  It is important that we are able to track the progress against 
both these plans and we intend to do this using our corporate balanced scorecard.
This provides a high level traffic lighted summary of progress and signposts any 
problem areas for further investigation. Our corporate balanced scorecard is shown 
overleaf and again we will publish regular updates through the intranet and internet.

Page 132



3
3

C
it

iz
e

n
/S

tr
a

te
g

ic
 O

u
tc

o
m

e
s

 (
L

e
e

d
s

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
/L

A
A

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
)

C
u

lt
u

re
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

 
E

c
o

n
o

m
y
 &

 E
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

L
e

a
rn

in
g

 I
n

d
ic

a
to

rs
 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 I
n
d

ic
a

to
rs

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t 

In
d

ic
a

to
rs

 
H

e
a

lt
h

 a
n

d
 W

e
llb

e
in

g
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

 
T

h
ri

v
in

g
 P

la
c
e

s
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

 
H

a
rm

o
n

io
u

s
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

V
a

lu
in

g
 o

u
r 

C
o

ll
e

a
g

u
e

s
V

a
lu

e
 f

o
r 

M
o

n
e

y
/R

e
s

o
u

rc
e

s
  

 
S

ta
ff

 s
ic

k
n

e
s
s
 (

a
v
e

ra
g

e
 N

o
. 

d
a

y
s
 p

e
r 

F
T

E
) 

 
S

ta
ff

 t
u

rn
o

v
e

r 
 

%
 s

ta
ff

 w
h

o
 f

e
e

l 
v
a

lu
e

d
 a

s
 a

n
 e

m
p

lo
y
e

e
 

 
%

 s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

 h
a

v
e

 h
a

d
 a

n
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l 
 

 
%

 s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

 f
e

e
l 
th

e
y
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

 t
o

 t
h
e

 d
ir

e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 

 
%

 o
f 

s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

 f
e

e
l 
th

a
t 

th
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

te
s
 w

e
ll 

w
it
h

 t
h

e
m

 
 

%
 o

f 
to

p
 e

a
rn

e
rs

 w
h

o
 a

re
: 

a
) 

w
o

m
e

n
 

b
) 

fr
o

m
 B

M
E

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 

c
) 

D
is

a
b

le
d

 
 

%
 s

ta
ff

 w
it
h

 d
is

a
b

ili
ty

 
 

%
 s

ta
ff

 f
ro

m
 B

M
E

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
 

 
L

e
v
e

l 
o

f 
In

v
e

s
to

rs
 i
n

 P
e
o

p
le

 a
c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 

 
C

O
2

 e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 

 
M

a
in

ta
in

 o
u

r 
e

x
te

rn
a

l 
E

M
A

S
 a

c
c
re

d
it
a

ti
o

n
 

 
%

 r
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 r

e
-p

ri
o

ri
ti
s
a

ti
o

n
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
d

 c
o

m
p

a
re

d
 t

o
 t

h
a

t 
p

la
n

n
e

d
 

in
 t

h
e

 m
e

d
iu

m
 t

e
rm

 f
in

a
n

c
ia

l 
p

la
n

 
 

%
 v

a
ri

a
ti
o

n
 f

ro
m

 o
v
e

ra
ll 

a
g

re
e

d
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

b
u

d
g

e
t 

 
U

s
e

 o
f 

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s
 S

c
o

re
 

 
%

 i
n

c
o

m
e

 f
ro

m
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 b

y
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 i
n

 y
e

a
r 

fr
o

m
: 

a
) 

c
o

u
n

c
il 

ta
x
, 

 
b

) 
N

D
R

,
c
) 

h
o

u
s
in

g
 r

e
n

ts
 a

n
d

  
d

) 
s
u

n
d

ry
 d

e
b

to
rs

 
%

 c
a

s
h

 r
e

le
a

s
in

g
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 

B
u

s
in

e
s

s
 I

m
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t/
E

x
c

e
ll

e
n

c
e

 
C

u
s

to
m

e
r 

F
ir

s
t 

 
E

q
u

a
lit

y
 s

ta
n

d
a

rd
 l
e

v
e

l 
 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
E

q
u

a
lit

y
 a

n
d

 D
iv

e
rs

it
y
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 

 
V

o
te

r 
tu

rn
 o

u
t 

in
 l
o

c
a
l 
e

le
c
ti
o

n
s
 

 
N

u
m

b
e

r 
m

a
jo

r 
p

ro
je

c
ts

 n
o

t 
b

e
in

g
 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

tl
y
 a

s
s
u

re
d

 
 

N
u

m
b

e
r 

m
a

jo
r 

p
ro

je
c
ts

 a
s
s
u

re
d

 b
y
 P

A
U

 w
it
h

 o
v
e

ra
ll 

re
d

 r
a

ti
n
g

 
 

D
ir

e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
T

ra
v
e

l 
s
c
o

re
  

 
%

 I
O

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

m
ile

s
to

n
e

s
 a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
 v

s
 t

h
o

s
e

 p
la

n
n
e

d
 

 
%

 o
f 

s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

 u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

 t
h

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

 t
o

 t
h

e
 

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t,

 u
s
e

 a
n

d
 s

h
a

ri
n

g
 o

f 
it
s
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 a

n
d

 k
n

o
w

le
d

g
e

 
 

D
a

ta
 Q

u
a

lit
y
 m

e
a

s
u

re
d

 b
y
: 

a
) 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

k
e

y
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 u

s
in

g
 a

 c
o
rp

o
ra

te
ly

 a
g

re
e

d
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 

fr
a

m
e

w
o

rk
 a

n
d

 d
e

fi
n

e
d

 m
e

tr
ic

s
 t

o
 m

e
a

s
u

re
 d

a
ta

 q
u

a
lit

y
 

b
) 

%
 s

tr
a

te
g
ic

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
s
e

t 
(L

S
P

, 
C

B
P

 &
 N

I)
 w

h
e

re
 w

e
 h

a
v
e

 "
n

o
 

c
o

n
c
e

rn
s
" 

o
n

 d
a

ta
 q

u
a

lit
y
 

%
 k

e
y
 d

e
c
is

io
n

s
 w

h
ic

h
 d

id
 n

o
t 

a
p

p
e

a
r 

in
 t

h
e

 f
o

rw
a

rd
 p

la
n

 
%

 o
f 

a
re

a
s
 a

u
d

it
e

d
 &

 c
o
m

p
lia

n
t 

w
it
h

 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 G

o
v
e

rn
a

n
c
e

 
A

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
. 

 
%

 c
u

s
to

m
e

r 
c
o

n
ta

c
t 

o
f 

lo
w

 o
r 

n
o

 v
a

lu
e

 t
o

 c
u

s
to

m
e

r 
 

 
%

 p
e

o
p

le
 s

a
y
 t

re
a

te
d

 w
it
h

 r
e

s
p

e
c
t 

&
 c

o
n

s
id

e
ra

ti
o
n

 b
y
 l
o

c
a

l 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 

 
%

 r
e

s
id

e
n

ts
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e

d
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
 c

o
u

n
c
il 

 
V

o
lu

m
e

 o
f 

to
ta

l 
tr

a
n

s
a

c
ti
o

n
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 s

e
lf
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 
 

%
 c

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 r
e

s
p

o
n

d
e

d
 t

o
 w

it
h

in
 1

5
 d

a
y
s
 

 
%

 l
e

tt
e

rs
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e
 p

u
b

lic
 r

e
s
p

o
n

d
e

d
 t
o

 w
it
h

in
 1

0
 w

o
rk

in
g

 d
a

y
s
 

 
%

 e
m

a
ils

 f
ro

m
 t

h
e

 p
u

b
lic

 r
e

s
p

o
n

d
e

d
 t
o

 w
it
h

in
 1

0
 w

o
rk

in
g

 d
a

y
s
 

 
%

 t
e

le
p

h
o

n
e
 c

a
lls

 a
n
s
w

e
re

d
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
c
a
lls

 o
ff

e
re

d
 

 
%

 t
h

o
s
e

 m
a

k
in

g
 a

 c
o

m
p
la

in
t 

s
a

ti
s
fi
e
d

 w
it
h

 t
h

e
 h

a
n

d
lin

g
 o

f 
it
 

 
%

 s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 a

c
c
e

s
s
ib

le
 a

s
 a

s
s
e

s
s
e

d
 b

y
: 

a
) 

b
y
 s

e
lf
 a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t 
b

) 
b

y
 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
a

u
d

it
 

%
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 t

h
in

k
 L

C
C

 a
llo

w
 r

e
s
id

e
n

ts
 a

 s
a

y
 i
n

 w
h

a
t 

it
 d

o
e

s

%
 p

e
o

p
le

 w
h

o
 t

h
in

k
 t

h
e

 c
o

u
n

c
il 

k
e

e
p
s
 t

h
e

m
 w

e
ll 

in
fo

rm
e

d
 a

b
o

u
t 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 i
t 
s
u

p
p

lie
s

Page 133



3
4

Page 134



35

Section 5 – Managing Our Risks 

Good risk management will support us in fulfilling our strategic objectives.  Risk 
management already forms a key part of our policy-making, governance, internal 
control, decision-making and budget-setting arrangements.  These detailed 
arrangements are set out in our Risk Management Policy, Strategy and Toolkit which 
have been developed to reflect current industry standards and good practice.  In line 
with this, risk management is applied across directorates/services and for significant 
business change with risk registers in place at the corporate and directorate level, as 
well as for many significant projects, which are monitored and reviewed on a regular 
basis.  Through this formal process our key strategic and operational risks are 
identified and managed. 

This risk-based approach will be implemented to support the Leeds Strategic Plan 
2008 - 11 and the Council Business Plan 2008 -11.  Through this process the key 
cross-cutting threats and opportunities relevant to the achievement of these plans 
will be identified and evaluated.  These risks will form part of the Corporate Risk 
Register.  Similarly all projects, as defined under the Council’s Delivering Successful
Change (DSC) Framework also identify risks both prior to the start of the project, as 
part of the options appraisal, and throughout the lifecycle of the project.  The level 
and rigour that is applied will depend on how critical the risk is and its potential 
impact.

We recognise that increasingly our services and projects are being delivered through 
partnerships and good risk management across our partnerships is integral.  We will 
apply, where appropriate, our robust risk management approach to our partnerships.  
It is our intention to ensure our corporate risk register includes any key partnership 
risks which have a council wide impact.

We recognise that one of our key risk relates to our financial plan and therefore an 
overarching financial risk assessment is included in this document in section 3. 

Page 135



36

Section 6 – Review and Revision 

Our priorities will inevitably change over time and the outcomes, improvement 
priorities and targets in the Council Business Plan 2008-11 will be regularly reviewed 
and updated to ensure this plan is still relevant and continues to address our needs.  
In doing this we will use performance data, both relating to the targets in this plan 
and supporting indicators, to monitor priorities and where necessary to set new 
targets.  The views of elected members and Scrutiny Boards and feedback from our 
external auditors and the Audit Commission will also be taken into account before we 
make any changes to the contents of the Plan.  Any updates or changes will be 
published alongside our performance information on our intranet and internet sites

Page 136



3
7

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 1

 –
 C

o
u

n
c

il
 B

u
s

in
e

s
s

 P
la

n
 I

n
d

ic
a

to
rs

 a
n

d
 T

a
rg

e
ts

 

B
a

s
e

li
n

e
 

T
a

rg
e
ts

 

 
In

d
ic

a
to

r 
2
0
0
7
/0

8
 Y

e
a
r 

E
n

d
 R

e
s
u

lt
 

(u
n

le
s
s

 s
ta

te
d

 o
th

e
rw

is
e

) 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
 

N
I 
1

8
5

 
C

O
2
 e

m
is

s
io

n
s
 f
ro

m
 L

o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 o
p
e
ra

ti
o
n
s
 

N
B

 G
o

v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
g

u
id

a
n

c
e

 s
ta

te
s
 t
o

 u
s
e

 2
0

0
8

 (
J
a
n

 -
 D

e
c
) 

a
s
 

a
 b

a
s
e

lin
e

 a
n
d

 s
e

t 
ta

rg
e

ts
 a

ft
e

r 
th

is
. 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
. 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
to

 b
e

 s
e
t 

tb
c

 
tb

c
 

B
P

-0
1

M
a
in

ta
in

 o
u
r 

e
x
te

rn
a
l 
E

M
A

S
 a

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n

 
Y

e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

Y
e
s
 

B
P

-0
2

%
 o

f 
re

s
o

u
rc

e
 r

e
-p

ri
o
ri

ti
s
a

ti
o
n
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
d
 c

o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 t
h
a
t 

p
la

n
n
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 m

e
d
iu

m
 t
e
rm

 F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
P

la
n
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

1
0

0
%

 
1

0
0

%
 

1
0

0
%

 

B
P

-0
3

%
 v

a
ri
a
ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 o

v
e
ra

ll 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

b
u
d
g
e
t 
in

 y
e
a
r 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r
0

%
 

0
%

 
0

%
 

B
P

-0
4

U
s
e

 o
f 
R

e
s
o

u
rc

e
s
 S

c
o

re
 

3
(2

0
0
7

) 

3
(2

0
0
8

 -
 o

ld
 

fr
a

m
e
w

o
rk

))
 

3
(2

0
0
9

 n
e
w

 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

) 

4
(2

0
1
0

 n
e
w

 
fr

a
m

e
w

o
rk

) 

%
 i
n

c
o

m
e

 c
o

lle
c
te

d
 b

y
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 t
h

ro
u
g

h
: 

a
) 

%
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

T
a
x
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 i
n
 y

e
a
r 

(B
V

 9
) 

9
6

.4
1

%
 

9
6

.6
5

%
 

9
6

.7
0

%
 

9
6

.7
5

%
 

b
) 

%
 N

o
n
-d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 r

a
te

s
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 i
n

 y
e

a
r 

(B
V

 1
0
) 

9
8

.7
2

%
 

9
6

.6
0

%
 

9
8

.6
5

%
 

9
8

.7
0

%
 

c
) 

%
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
n

ts
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 i
n

 y
e

a
r 

(B
V

 6
6

a
) 

9
6

.5
3

%
 

9
7

.0
0

%
 

9
7

.5
0

%
 

9
8

.0
0

%
 

B
P

-0
5

d
) 

%
 S

u
n

d
ry

 D
e

b
to

rs
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 c

o
lle

c
te

d
 w

it
h

in
 3

0
 d

a
y
s
 o

f 
in

v
o
ic

e
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 

9
7

.0
0

%
 

9
7

.0
0

%
 

9
7

.5
0

%
 

9
7

.7
5

%
 

Value for Money/Resources 

N
I 
1

7
9

 
%

 o
f 
c
a

s
h

 r
e

le
a

s
in

g
 e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y
 s

a
v
in

g
s
 m

a
d

e
  

(c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
 t
o
ta

l 
o
v
e
r 

n
e
x
t 
th

re
e
 y

e
a
rs

) 
N

e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

3
%

 
6

.1
%

 
9

.3
%

 

Page 137



3
8

B
a

s
e

li
n

e
 

T
a

rg
e
ts

 

 
In

d
ic

a
to

r 
2
0
0
7
/0

8
 Y

e
a
r 

E
n

d
 R

e
s
u

lt
 

(u
n

le
s
s

 s
ta

te
d

 o
th

e
rw

is
e

) 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
 

N
I 
1
4
 

%
 o

f 
c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

c
o
n
ta

c
t 
w

h
ic

h
 i
s
 o

f 
lo

w
 o

r 
n
o
 v

a
lu

e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

a
n

d
 c

a
n

 b
e

 a
v
o

id
e

d
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

N
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
ta

rg
e
t 

is
 

fo
r 

5
0

%
 

re
d

u
c
ti

o
n

 
b

y
 M

a
r 

2
0

1
1
 

B
P

-0
7
 

O
v
e
ra

ll 
R

e
s
id

e
n
t 
S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 l
e
v
e
ls

 
6

1
%

 
(2

0
0
7

 R
e
s

id
e
n

ts
 s

u
rv

e
y
)

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

6
5

%
 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

N
I 
1

4
0

 
%

 p
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 s

a
y
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 h

a
v
e
 b

e
e
n
 t
re

a
te

d
 w

it
h
 r

e
s
p
e
c
t 

a
n

d
 c

o
n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
 b

y
 l
o

c
a

l 
p

u
b

lic
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 –

 g
a

th
e
re

d
 t
h

ro
u
g

h
 

n
e
w

 P
la

c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

n
/a

tb
c

 o
n

c
e

 
b

a
s
e
li
n

e
e

s
ta

b
li

s
h

e
d

 

B
P

-0
8

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h
e
 v

o
lu

m
e
 o

f 
to

ta
l 
tr

a
n
s
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 d

e
liv

e
re

d
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
e

lf
 s

e
rv

ic
e

 
4

6
7

,0
5
4

 
5

1
3

,5
0
0

 
5

6
5

,0
0
0

 
6

2
1

,5
0
0

 

B
P

-0
9

 
In

c
re

a
s
e

 %
 c

o
m

p
la

in
ts

 r
e
s
p

o
n

d
e

d
 t
o

 w
it
h

in
 1

5
 d

a
y
s
 

6
9

%
 

7
6

%
 

8
6

%
 

9
5

%
 

B
P

-1
0

%
 l
e
tt
e
rs

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 t
h
a
t 
a
re

 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 w

it
h
in

 1
0
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 d

a
y
s
  

In
c
o

m
p

le
te

 b
a

s
e

lin
e

 d
a

ta
 

7
5

%
 

8
5

%
 

9
5

%
 

B
P

-1
1

%
 e

m
a
ils

 f
ro

m
 t
h
e
 p

u
b
lic

 t
h
a
t 
a
re

 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
d
 t
o
 w

it
h
in

 1
0
 

w
o

rk
in

g
 d

a
y
s
  

In
c
o

m
p

le
te

 b
a

s
e

lin
e

 d
a

ta
 

7
5

%
 

8
5

%
 

9
5

%
 

B
P

-1
2

 
%

 c
a

lls
 a

n
s
w

e
re

d
 a

s
 a

 p
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
c
a

lls
 o

ff
e

re
d

 
7

8
%

 
8

0
%

 
8

5
%

 
9

0
%

 

B
P

-1
3

%
 t
h

o
s
e

 m
a
k
in

g
 a

 c
o

m
p

la
in

t 
w

h
o

 a
re

 s
a
ti
s
fi
e

d
 w

it
h

 t
h
e

 
h

a
n

d
lin

g
 o

f 
th

e
ir
 c

o
m

p
la

in
t 

6
2

%
 

(2
0

0
7

) 
N

o
 s

u
rv

e
y
 

6
5

%
 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

B
P

-1
4

%
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 a

re
 a

c
c
e
s
s
ib

le
 a

s
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 b

y
: 
 

a
) 

s
e
lf
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

b
) 

in
d
e
p
e
n
d
e
n
t 
a
u
d
it
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
s

 t
o

 b
e
 s

e
t 

 t
b

c
 

 t
b

c
 

B
P

-1
5

%
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 a

re
 s

a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 t
h
a
t 
th

e
y
 t
h
in

k
 L

C
C

 a
llo

w
s
 

re
s
id

e
n

ts
 a

 s
a

y
 i
n

 w
h

a
t 
it
 d

o
e

s
 

4
3

%
 

(2
0

0
7

) 
N

o
 s

u
rv

e
y
 

5
0

%
 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

Customers First 

B
P

-1
6

%
 p

e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
 t
h
in

k
 t
h
e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

k
e
e
p

s
 t
h
e
m

 w
e
ll 

in
fo

rm
e
d
 

a
b

o
u

t 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 a

n
d

 b
e

n
e

fi
ts

 i
t 
s
u

p
p

lie
s
 

5
1

%
 

(2
0

0
7

) 
N

o
 s

u
rv

e
y
 

5
5

%
 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

Page 138



3
9

 
 

 
B

a
s
e
li
n

e
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

 
In

d
ic

a
to

r 
2
0
0
7
/0

8
 Y

e
a
r 

E
n

d
 R

e
s
u

lt
 

(u
n

le
s
s

 s
ta

te
d

 o
th

e
rw

is
e

) 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
 

B
P

-1
7

N
u

m
b
e

r 
o

f 
w

o
rk

in
g

 d
a

y
s
 l
o

s
t 
to

 t
h

e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 d
u

e
 t
o

 s
ic

k
n
e

s
s
 

a
b

s
e

n
c
e

 (
a

v
e
ra

g
e

 p
e

r 
F

T
E

) 
1

2
.1

8
 d

a
y
s

 
1

1
.5

 d
a

y
s

 
1

1
 d

a
y
s

 
1

0
 d

a
y
s

 

B
P

-1
8
 

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 a
s
 a

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 i
n
 p

o
s
t 

8
.9

0
%

 
9

%
 

9
%

 
9

%
 

B
P

-1
9
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 %

 s
ta

ff
 w

h
o
 f
e
e
l 
v
a
lu

e
d
 a

s
 a

n
 e

m
p
lo

y
e
e
 

6
1

%
 

(2
0

0
7

 s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
) 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

6
3

%
 

6
5

%
 

B
P

-2
0

 
%

 s
ta

ff
 w

h
o

 h
a

v
e

 h
a

d
 a

n
 a

p
p

ra
is

a
l 

7
0

%
 

(2
0

0
7

 s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
) 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

7
2

%
 

7
4

%
 

B
P

-2
1

In
c
re

a
s
e
 %

 s
ta

ff
 w

h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th

e
y
 a

re
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
d
 i
n
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u

ti
o
n
 t
o
 

th
e

 d
ir
e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
th

e
 o

rg
a

n
is

a
ti
o

n
 

7
0

%
 

(2
0

0
7

 s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
) 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

7
4

%
 

7
6

%
 

B
P

-2
2

%
 o

f 
s
ta

ff
 w

h
o
 f
e
e
l 
th

a
t 
th

e
 c

o
u
n
c
il 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
te

s
 w

e
ll 

w
it
h
 

th
e
m

5
9

%
 

(2
0

0
7

 s
ta

ff
 s

u
rv

e
y
) 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

6
4

%
 

6
9

%
 

B
P

-2
3

%
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
ta

ff
 f
ro

m
 B

M
E

 c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 –

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

7
.7

%
 

8
.0

%
 

8
.5

%
 

9
.0

%
 

B
P

-2
4

%
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th

o
ri
ty

 s
ta

ff
 w

it
h
 d

is
a
b
ili

ty
 –

 c
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t
o
 l
o
c
a
l 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

3
.2

%
 

3
.6

%
 

3
.7

%
 

3
.8

%
 

%
 o

f 
to

p
 e

a
rn

e
rs

 w
h

o
 a

re
: 

a
) 

  
 w

o
m

e
n
 

3
6

.8
3

%
 

3
9

%
 

4
0

%
 

4
1

%
 

b
) 

  
 F

ro
m

 B
M

E
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

5
.9

6
%

 
6
.2

5
%

 
6
.5

%
 

6
.7

5
%

 
B

P
-2

5

c
) 

  
 D

is
a
b
le

d
 (

e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 m

a
in

ta
in

e
d

 s
c
h
o
o
ls

) 
4
.0

5
%

 
4
.2

%
 

4
.4

%
 

4
.6

%
 

Valuing our Colleagues 

B
P

-2
6
 

L
e
v
e
l 
o
f 
II
P

 a
c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n

 a
c
ro

s
s
 w

h
o
le

 o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n

 
N

/A
 

L
e
v
e

l 
1
 

L
e
v
e

l 
1
 

L
e
v
e

l 
1
 

Page 139



4
0

 
 

 
B

a
s
e
li
n

e
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

 
In

d
ic

a
to

r 
2
0
0
7
/0

8
 Y

e
a
r 

E
n

d
 R

e
s
u

lt
(u

n
le

s
s

 s
ta

te
d

 o
th

e
rw

is
e

) 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
 

B
P

-2
7
 

E
q
u
a
lit

y
 s

ta
n
d
a
rd

 l
e
v
e
l 

L
e
v
e

l 
3
 

L
e
v
e

l 
4
 

L
e
v
e

l 
4
 

L
e
v
e

l 
5
 

B
P

-2
8
 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
ta

ti
o
n
 o

f 
E

q
u
a
lit

y
 a

n
d
 D

iv
e
rs

it
y
 S

c
h
e
m

e
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 

b
e

 s
e

t 
tb

c
 

tb
c

 

B
P

-2
9

 
V

o
te

r 
tu

rn
 o

u
t 
in

 l
o

c
a

l 
e

le
c
ti
o

n
s
 

3
5

.7
6

%
 

T
a

rg
e
ts

 t
o

 b
e

 c
o

n
fi

rm
e

d
 s

h
o

rt
ly

 

B
P

-3
0

N
u

m
b
e

r 
o

f 
m

a
jo

r 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 n
o

t 
re

c
e

iv
in

g
 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
p

ro
je

c
t 

a
s
s
u

ra
n
c
e

 
N

e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

B
P

-3
1

N
u

m
b
e

r 
o

f 
m

a
jo

r 
p
ro

je
c
ts

, 
in

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

tl
y
 a

s
s
u
re

d
 b

y
 t
h

e
 P

ro
je

c
t 

A
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 U

n
it
, 
w

it
h
 a

 r
e
d
 r

a
ti
n
g
 f
o
r 

th
e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o

f 
o
v
e
ra

ll 
p

ro
je

c
t 
m

a
n
a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
a
rr

a
n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

0
 

0
 

0

B
P

-3
2

 
D

ir
e
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
T

ra
v
e

l 
S

c
o
re

 
Im

p
ro

v
in

g
 W

e
ll 

 
(2

0
0
7

) 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
W

e
ll 

(o
r 

b
e

tt
e

r)
(2

0
0
8

) 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
W

e
ll 

(o
r 

b
e

tt
e

r)
(2

0
0
9

) 

Im
p
ro

v
in

g
W

e
ll 

(o
r 

b
e

tt
e

r)
(2

0
1
0

) 

B
P

-3
3

D
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
IO

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 %

 p
ro

je
c
t 
m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
 v

s
 t
h

o
s
e

 p
la

n
n

e
d
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

 
tb

c
 

B
P

-3
4

%
 o

f 
c
o

lle
a

g
u
e

s
 w

h
o

 h
a

v
e

 a
n

 u
n

d
e

rs
ta

n
d

in
g

 o
f 
th

e
 C

o
u

n
c
il’

s
 

a
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 t
o

 t
h

e
 m

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t,
 u

s
e

 a
n
d

 s
h

a
ri

n
g

 o
f 
it
s
 i
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n

 
a

n
d

 k
n

o
w

le
d
g

e
  
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

N
o

 s
u

rv
e

y
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

B
P

-3
5

%
 o

f 
s
e

rv
ic

e
 a

re
a
s
 a

u
d

it
e

d
 w

h
e

re
 I
n

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
 G

o
v
e

rn
a

n
c
e

 
A

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
 a

re
 a

s
s
e
s
s
e

d
 a

s
 b

e
in

g
 'c

o
m

p
lia

n
t'
 w

it
h
 c

o
rp

o
ra

te
 

p
o
lic

y
.

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

 
tb

c
 

D
a
ta

 Q
u
a
lit

y
 m

e
a
s
u
re

d
 b

y
: 

a
) 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 
k
e

y
 s

y
s
te

m
s
 u

s
in

g
 a

 c
o
rp

o
ra

te
ly

 a
g

re
e

d
 m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
 

fr
a

m
e
w

o
rk

 a
n
d

 d
e

fi
n

e
d

 m
e

tr
ic

s
 t
o

 m
e

a
s
u
re

 d
a

ta
 q

u
a

lit
y
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

 
tb

c
 

B
P

-3
6

b
) 

%
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 i
n
d
ic

a
to

r 
s
e
t 
(L

S
P

, 
C

B
P

 &
 N

I)
 w

h
e
re

 w
e
 h

a
v
e
 "

n
o
 

c
o
n
c
e
rn

s
" 

o
n
 d

a
ta

 q
u
a
lit

y
 

N
e
w

 i
n

d
ic

a
to

r 
- 

n
o

 
h
is

to
ri
c
a
l 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

B
a
s
e
li
n

e
 t

o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

tb
c

 
tb

c
 

Business Improvement/Excellence 

B
P

-3
7

 
%

 k
e

y
 d

e
c
is

io
n

s
 w

h
ic

h
 d

id
 n

o
t 
a

p
p

e
a

r 
in

 t
h

e
 f
o

rw
a
rd

 p
la

n
 

3
3

%
 

1
5

%
 

1
0

%
 

5
%

 

Page 140



41

Appendix 2 - About this Plan 

For enquiries about the Council Business Plan or to obtain further copies please: 

Email: councilplan@leeds.gov.uk

Or Telephone: 0113 224 3462 

Or visit our website www.leeds.gov.uk

Or write to: 

Leeds Strategic Plan 
Planning, Policy and Improvement 
2nd Floor East 
Civic Hall 
Leeds LS1 1UR 

Visit the Leeds City Council website www.leeds.gov.uk to find out more about other plans, 
policies and strategies referred to in this plan. 

This information can be made available in large print, Braille, audio or a community 
language, please call 0113 224 3462 

This publication can also be 
made available in Braille, 
large print, on computer disc 
and audio cassette. 
Please call: 0113 224 3462

Page 141



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) 
 
Full Council 
 
Date: 2nd July 2008 
 
Subject: Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 
 

        
 
Eligible for Call In                                                 Not Eligible for Call In 
                                                                              (Details contained in the report) 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1. The Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 is a high level plan which sets out the strategic 

outcomes, improvement priorities and targets the Council has agreed with its partners 

for Leeds for the next three years.  The Leeds Strategic Plan fulfils the requirements 

for the Council to agree a Local Area Agreement with the Government.  The Council 

has prepared a Council Business Plan to support the delivery of its contribution to the 

Leeds Strategic Plan.  This report seeks approval from Full Council for this plan. 

Specific Implications For:  
 

Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

ALL 

Originator: J Stageman 
 

Tel: 74352 

X 

X 

X 

  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report) 
  

 

Page 143



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 This report seeks the formal approval of the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 from Full 
Council.  

2.0   Background Information 

2.1 Executive Board approved a corporate planning framework for the Council in July 
2007.  The strategic element of this framework includes two high level plans which 
set the policy objectives for the organisation and our partnership working.  These 
are: 

ØØØØ Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 - which sets out the customer/citizen (external) 
focused strategic outcomes being sought by the council and it partners for the 
city.  This plan includes the requirement to produce a Local Area Agreement 
and is the key delivery mechanism for the Vision for Leeds 2004-2020. 

ØØØØ Council Business Plan 2008-11 - which sets out what the council needs to do 
internally to enable the organisation to achieve the Leeds Strategic Plan.  That 
is outlining the business development, organisational change, process 
transformation and financial planning activities that we will be undertaking over 
the next three years.   

2.2 These plans both form part of the budget and policy framework within the 
Constitution and their formal approval is by Members of Full Council.   

3.0 Main Issues 

3.1 The Leeds Strategic Plan is a partnership plan and every strategic outcome, 
improvement priority, indicator and target in this plan is shared with the Council’s 
partners.  Partners have formally ‘signed up’ to contributing to the delivery of 
relevant targets.  The Council will consult with its partners when the targets are 
reviewed and revised and partners in turn have a duty to cooperate with the Council 
in setting and revising targets and to have regard to those targets when setting their 
own action plans and budgets.  ‘Government agreed’ targets in the Plan cannot be 
revised without the agreement of Government.   

3.2 Strategic outcomes, improvement priorities and targets in the Leeds Strategic Plan 
reflect the most important issues for Leeds over the next three years and the level of 
progress needed to help deliver the improvement priorities identified in the Plan.   

3.3 The development of the Leeds Strategic Plan has involved seeking views from a 
wide range of partners 

ØØØØ Elected Members (Executive Members, Area Committees, Scrutiny Committees) 
ØØØØ Statutory Partners (designated by the Local Government and Public Involvement 

in Health Act) 
ØØØØ Leeds Initiative (Going Up a League and Narrowing the Gap Boards, all Strategy 

and Development Groups) 
ØØØØ District Partnerships 
ØØØØ Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector (Strategy Group, Theme Forums) 
ØØØØ Representatives of the business community 
ØØØØ Representatives of Trade Unions 
ØØØØ Council Staff (Chief Officers, Employee Focus Groups) 
ØØØØ Equality groups 
ØØØØ Citizen Focus Groups  

Page 144



 
3.4 Robust performance management is key to the delivery of the plan and a robust set 

of performance indicators and ambitious targets have also been developed and 
incorporated into the plan in order for us to be able to measure our progress.  These 
indicators are a mixture of relevant indicators drawn from the new national indicator 
set as well as some existing and newly developed indicators of our own.  The target 
level of performance set for every indicator is based on extensive analysis of past 
performance data and a realistic assessment of likely future performance in Leeds. 

4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

4.1 The Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy 
Framework as set out in the Constitution.  The Leeds Strategic Plan outcomes, 
improvement priorities, performance indicators and targets have also been subject 
to Scrutiny during their development.  

5.0  Legal And Resource Implications 

5.1 The Leeds Strategic Plan fulfils the statutory requirement for a local area agreement 
for Leeds .  The local area agreement was submitted to Government Office in May 
2008.  In drawing up the contents of this plan the Council has consulted and 
negotiated with a number of partners including public sector partners designated as 
statutory partners in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007.  These partners have a duty to have regard to the targets in the Leeds 
Strategic Plan when setting out their own plans and budgets.   

5.2 The Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-2011 requires the formal approval of Members of 
Full Council at their meeting on July 2nd 2008.   

6.0  Conclusions 

6.1 The Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11 is an important high level strategic plan for the 
Council and its partners and supports the delivery of the Vision for Leeds 2004 - 
2020.  . 

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1 Members of Council are asked to approve the Leeds Strategic Plan 2008-11  

 

Page 145



Page 146

This page is intentionally left blank



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

C
u

lt
u

re
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
8
 A

d
u

lt
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

 i
n
 

s
p
o
rt

 a
n
d

 a
c
ti
v
e
 

re
c
re

a
ti
o

n
 

 2
0
.5

0
%

 
(2

0
0
5
/0

6
 

A
c
ti
v
e
 

P
e
o

p
le

 
S

u
rv

e
y
) 

 

 
In

c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
1
%

 o
n
 t
h

e
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
 b

y
 2

0
1
0

/1
1
 

  

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 S

p
o
rt

 E
n

g
la

n
d
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

  

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
  

L
K

I 
S

C
1

9
: 

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

s
p
o
rt

s
 f
a
c
ili

ty
 

ty
p

e
s
 w

it
h
 a

 s
p

e
c
if
ie

d
 

q
u
a

lit
y
 a

s
s
u
re

d
 s

ta
n

d
a
rd

 
 P

ro
x
y
 M

e
a
s
u
re

 -
 F

u
rt

h
e
r 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

th
is

 l
o
c
a
l 

P
I 
is

 c
u
rr

e
n

tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
n
 

 

 
1
3
 

(2
0
0
7
/0

8
) 

1
9
 

1
2
 

 
(d

u
e
 t

o
 t

h
e
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 F
in

a
n
c
e
 

In
it
ia

ti
v
e
 p

ro
je

c
t 

o
n
e
 s

it
e
 (

M
o
rl
e
y
) 

w
ill

 b
e
 c

lo
s
e
d
 f

o
r 

re
b
u
ild

s
 a

n
d
 t
h
u
s
 

lo
s
e
 t
h
e
ir
 

a
c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

s
ta

tu
s
 0

8
/0

9
) 

 

1
5
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

 i
n

 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

e
n
g
a

g
in

g
 w

it
h
 

a
ll 

o
u
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
. 

  E
n
h

a
n
c
e
d

 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
o
p
p
o
rt

u
n

it
ie

s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra

g
in

g
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

h
ig

h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
 o

f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a

l 
a

n
d
 

in
te

rn
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
c
e

. 

E
n
a

b
le

 m
o
re

 
p
e
o
p

le
 t

o
 

b
e
c
o
m

e
 

in
v
o
lv

e
d
 i
n
 s

p
o
rt

 
a
n
d
 c

u
lt
u
re

 b
y
 

p
ro

v
id

in
g
 b

e
tt

e
r 

q
u
a

lit
y
 a

n
d
 

w
id

e
r 

ra
n
g

in
g
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 a

n
d
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 

  

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
9
 U

s
e
 o

f 
p
u
b

lic
 

lib
ra

ri
e
s
 

  

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

P
ro

x
y
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

 
to

 
b

e
 

u
s
e

d
 

in
 

Y
e

a
r 

1
 

-s
e
e

 
b
e
lo

w
. 

T
a
rg

e
ts

 f
o
r 

Y
e

a
r 

2
 a

n
d

 Y
e
a

r 
3
 t
o

 b
e

 a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 M

u
s
e
u
m

s
, 
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s
 a

n
d

 
A

rc
h
iv

e
s
 –

 Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 O

ld
e
r 

P
e
o

p
le

’s
 C

Y
P

 f
o
ru

m
s
 

Page 147



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

v
is

it
s
 t
o
 

lib
ra

ri
e
s
 (

te
m

p
o
ra

ry
 

p
ro

x
y
 m

e
a
s
u
re

) 
 

 4
,1

8
1
,9

2
3
 

(2
0
0
6
-

2
0
0
7
) 

 

 
N

/A
 

 

4
,1

1
1
,2

9
7
 

 
L
ib

ra
ry

 
re

n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

w
ill

 m
e
a
n
 

re
d
u
c
e
d
 

c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 f

o
r 

2
0
0
8

/9
 

 

 
N

/A
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 M

u
s
e
u
m

s
, 
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s
 a

n
d

 
A

rc
h
iv

e
s
 -

 Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
  

N
I 
1
0
 V

is
it
s
 t
o
 m

u
s
e
u
m

s
 

a
n
d
 g

a
lle

ri
e
s
 

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 

 

P
ro

x
y
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

 
to

 
b

e
 

u
s
e

d
 

in
 

Y
e

a
r 

1
 

-s
e
e

 
b
e
lo

w
. 

T
a
rg

e
ts

 f
o
r 

Y
e

a
r 

2
 a

n
d

 Y
e
a

r 
3
 t
o

 b
e

 a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 M

u
s
e
u
m

s
, 
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s
 a

n
d

 
A

rc
h
iv

e
s
 -

 Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
  

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

T
h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

v
is

it
s
 t
o
 

m
u
s
e
u
m

s
 a

n
d
 g

a
lle

ri
e
s
 

(t
e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 p

ro
x
y
 

m
e
a
s
u
re

) 
 

  3
8
4
,3

4
6
 

  
N

/A
 

  
7
4
0
,0

0
0
 

  
N

/A
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 M

u
s
e
u
m

s
, 
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s
 a

n
d

 
A

rc
h
iv

e
s
 -

 Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
  

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
1
 E

n
g
a
g

e
m

e
n
t 
in

 t
h
e
 

A
rt

s
 

 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
n

e
w

 d
a

ta
 

re
tu

rn
 –

 
B

a
s
e

lin
e

 
w

ill
 b

e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e

 b
y
 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9
 

   

 N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
o
 b

e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 A

c
ti
v
e
 

P
e
o

p
le

 S
u
rv

e
y
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

 L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 A

rt
s
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
 

Page 148



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
3

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

R
e
s
to

re
, 
re

fu
rb

is
h

 &
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 c

u
lt
u
ra

l 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 o

f 
th

e
 c

it
y
: 

a
) 

a
m

o
u
n
t 
s
p
e
n
t 

o
n
 

b
u
ild

in
g
s
/ 

re
fu

rb
is

h
in

g
 n

e
w

 &
 

e
x
is

ti
n

g
 b

u
ild

in
g
s
 o

f 
In

te
rn

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
c
e
 

T
h
is

 i
s
 a

 
n
e

w
 

in
d

ic
a
to

r 
w

h
ic

h
 

re
la

te
s
 t

o
 

s
p
e
c
if
ic

 
p
ro

je
c
ts

 -
 

a
s
 s

u
c
h
 

th
e
re

 i
s
 n

o
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 

d
a
ta

. 
 

 

T
o
ta

l 
3
 Y

e
a
r 

c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e

 

s
p
e
n
d
 

 
£
3
8
,4

6
0
k

 

 

Y
e
a
r 

1
 S

p
e
n

d
 

   
£
1
0
,5

1
9
k
 

 

T
o
ta

l 
2
 Y

e
a
r 

c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e

 

S
p
e

n
d
 

 
£
3
7
,5

3
0
k
 

 L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 A

rt
s
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

 E
n
g

lis
h
 H

e
ri
ta

g
e

 
 

F
a
c
ili

ta
te

 t
h
e

 
d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
m

a
jo

r 
c
u
lt
u
ra

l 
s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 o

f 
in

te
rn

a
ti
o
n

a
l 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
c
e

. 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

b
) 

n
u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 c

a
p

it
a
l 
b

u
ild

 
p

ro
je

c
ts

 o
f 

In
te

rn
a

ti
o
n

a
l 

s
ig

n
if
ic

a
n
c
e

 t
h

a
t 

w
ill

 
in

c
re

a
s
e
 a

n
d

/o
r 

im
p

ro
v
e

 
c
u

lt
u

ra
l 
p

ro
v
is

io
n

  

 

N
o
t 

a
p
p

lic
a
b

le
  

5
  

(c
u
m

u
la

ti
v
e
) 

2
 

3
 

(C
u

m
u

la
ti
v
e

) 
L

E
E

D
S

 C
IT

Y
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 A
rt

s
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

 E
n

g
lis

h
 H

e
ri
ta

g
e

 
 H

ig
h

w
a

y
s
 A

g
e

n
c
y
  

  
E

n
te

rp
ri

s
e
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 E

c
o

n
o

m
y
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 

in
n

o
v
a
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

e
n
tr

e
p
re

n
e
u
ri

a
l 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a

c
ro

s
s
 

th
e
 c

it
y
. 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

T
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e

 
e
s
ta

b
lis

h
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

5
5
0
 

n
e

w
 b

u
s
in

e
s
s
e
s
 i
n
 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 b

y
 2

0
1

1
  

  
1
2
,7

5
1
 

(2
0
0
6
) 

 
1
3
,3

0
1
 

 
1
2
,9

3
4
 

 
1
3
,1

1
7
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

h
a
m

b
e
r 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 V

C
F

 
S

tr
a
te

g
y
 G

ro
u
p
 (

L
e
a
d

 
fo

ru
m

) 
   

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

e
n
tr

e
p
re

n
e
u
rs

h
i

p
 a

n
d
 

in
n

o
v
a
ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
 t

h
e
 f

u
ll 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
o
f 

p
e
o
p

le
, 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

th
e
 e

c
o

n
o
m

y.
 

F
a
c
ili

ta
te

 t
h
e

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
P

ro
c
e
s
s
in

g
 o

f 
m

a
jo

r 
 

 
 

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 

Page 149



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
4

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

A
g
re

e
d
 

p
la

n
n
in

g
 a

p
p

lic
a

ti
o

n
s
 

  

6
3
%

 
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
) 

7
5
%

 
6
5
%

 
7
0
%

 
 H

ig
h

w
a

ys
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
  

 

d
e
liv

e
ry

 o
f 
m

a
jo

r 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
ts

 i
n
 

th
e
 c

it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
 t
o

 
e
n
h
a

n
c
e
 t
h

e
 

e
c
o
n
o
m

y 
a
n
d

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 l
o
c
a

l 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

R
e
s
u
lt
 o

f 
a
n
n
u

a
l 

s
a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 s

u
rv

e
y
 

re
la

ti
n
g
 t

o
 p

la
n
n

in
g
 

p
e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
g
re

e
m

e
n
ts

. 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 

 
N

e
w

 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 H

ig
h

w
a

ys
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 M

e
tr

o
 

 

a
) 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
U

K
 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 s
u
rv

e
y
e
d

 w
h

o
 

re
g
a
rd

 L
e
e
d
s
 a

s
 a

 ‘
g
re

a
t 

p
la

c
e
 t

o
 l
iv

e
’.
 

   In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

in
te

rn
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
o
m

p
e
ti
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

m
a
rk

e
ti
n
g
 a

n
d
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in

 
h
ig

h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 

a
n
d
 p

h
ys

ic
a
l 

a
s
s
e
ts

, 
p
a
rt

ic
u

la
rl

y
 i
n
 

th
e
 c

it
y
 c

e
n
tr

e
. 

 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 

in
te

rn
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
o
m

m
u
n
ic

a
ti
o
n
s

, 
m

a
rk

e
ti
n
g
 a

n
d

 
b
u
s
in

e
s
s
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t
o
 

p
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 

a
n
d
 a

tt
ra

c
t 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t.
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

b
) 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 L

e
e
d
s
’ 
im

a
g
e
 

a
s
 a

 m
a
jo

r 
c
e
n
tr

e
 f

o
r 

b
u
s
in

e
s
s
. 

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 t

o
 

b
e
 u

s
e

d
 a

s
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 

y
e

a
r.

  
(F

ro
m

 
B

ra
h
m

 
R

e
s
e
a
rc

h
 

S
tu

d
y
) 

         

 
N

e
w

 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 c

a
lc

u
la

ti
o

n
 o

f 
b
a
s
e

lin
e
 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 

L
e
a
rn

in
g

 

Page 150



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
5

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
6

3
 P

ro
p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 a

g
e
d
 1

9
-6

4
 

fo
r 

m
a
le

s
 a

n
d
 1

9
-5

9
 f

o
r 

fe
m

a
le

s
 q

u
a

lif
ie

d
 t
o
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 

L
e

v
e
l 
2
 o

r 
h
ig

h
e
r.

 
  

 
3
0
5
,0

0
0
 

(7
1
.0

%
) 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 9
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 2
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 5
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

E
n
h

a
n
c
e
 t

h
e
 

s
k
ill

 l
e

v
e
ls

 o
f 

th
e
 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 t
o
 

fu
lf
il 

in
d
iv

id
u
a

l 
a
n
d
 e

c
o
n
o
m

ic
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
6

4
 P

ro
p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 a

g
e
d
 1

9
-6

4
 

fo
r 

m
a
le

s
 a

n
d
 1

9
-5

9
 f

o
r 

fe
m

a
le

s
 q

u
a

lif
ie

d
 t
o
 a

t 
le

a
s
t 

L
e

v
e
l 
3
 o

r 
h
ig

h
e
r 

 

 
2
1
8
,0

0
0
 

(5
1
.0

%
) 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 6
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 2
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

 
B

a
s
e
lin

e
 +

 4
 

p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 

p
o
in

ts
 

L
E

A
R

N
IN

G
 A

N
D

 S
K

IL
L

S
 

C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

h
a
m

b
e
r 

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

c
o

n
o
m

y 
a
n
d

 
S

k
ill

s
 F

o
ru

m
 

 

0
 S

c
h
o

o
ls

 
2
 S

c
h
o

o
ls

 
1
 S

c
h
o

o
l 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
7
8
 R

e
d

u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

s
c
h
o
o
ls

 w
h
e
re

 
fe

w
e
r 

th
a
n
 3

0
%

 o
f 

p
u
p
ils

 
a
c
h
ie

v
e
 5

 o
r 

m
o
re

 A
*-

C
 

g
ra

d
e
s
 a

t 
G

C
S

E
 a

n
d
 

e
q
u

iv
a
le

n
t 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

G
C

S
E

s
 i
n
 E

n
g

lis
h

 a
n

d
 

M
a
th

s
 

1
3
 

S
c
h
o
o

ls
 

 
(2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r)

 

T
e
c
h
n
ic

a
l 
is

s
u
e

 r
a
is

e
d
 w

it
h
 a

u
d

it
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
, 

ta
rg

e
ts

 c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 e

x
c
lu

d
e
 A

c
a
d
e
m

ie
s
 a

s
 p

e
r 

D
C

S
F

 G
u

id
a

n
c
e
 b

u
t 
c
la

ri
fi
c
a
ti
o

n
 h

a
s
 b

e
e

n
 

s
o
u
g
h
t 

o
n
 C

L
G

 g
u

id
a
n
c
e
 w

h
ic

h
 s

ta
te

s
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ie
s
 s

h
o
u
ld

 b
e
 i
n
c
lu

d
e
d
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 C

h
ild

re
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

A
rc

h
w

a
y
 C

o
n
n
e
x
io

n
s
 

F
o
ru

m
 

 

A
n
 e

n
h
a

n
c
e
d
 

w
o
rk

fo
rc

e
 t
h
a
t 

w
ill

 m
e
e
t 
fu

tu
re

 
c
h
a
lle

n
g

e
s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 f

u
lf
ill

in
g
 

in
d

iv
id

u
a
l 
a
n

d
 

e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
a
n
d
 

in
v
e
s
ti
n
g
 i
n
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 

fa
c
ili

ti
e
s
. 
 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

1
6
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
, 

w
it
h
 a

 f
o
c
u
s
 o

n
 

n
a
rr

o
w

in
g
 t

h
e
 

a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 

g
a
p
. 

D
C

S
F

 
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 2

 –
 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e

v
e

l 
4

+
 i
n
 b

o
th

 
E

n
g

lis
h
 a

n
d
 m

a
th

s
  

N
/A

 
P

le
a
s
e
 n

o
te

 D
C

S
F

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
re

 a
g
re

e
d
 o

n
 a

n
 

a
n
n
u

a
l 
b
a
s
is

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te
 f

o
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

, 
S

c
h

o
o
ls

 a
n
d

 F
a
m

ili
e
s
. 

 

E
D

U
C

A
T

IO
N

 L
E

E
D

S
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

Page 151



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
6

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

7
7
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 1

-2
 –

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
  

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 2

 n
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 l
e
v
e

ls
 i
n
 

E
n
g

lis
h
. 

 

N
/A

 
8
5
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 1

-2
  
- 

to
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 2

 n
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 l
e
v
e

ls
 i
n
 

M
a
th

s
 

 

N
/A

 
8
7
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 3

  
- 

to
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e

v
e

l 
5

+
 i
n
 b

o
th

 
E

n
g

lis
h
 a

n
d
 m

a
th

s
  

 

N
/A

 
7
4
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 3

 –
 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e

v
e

l 
5
 i
n
 

s
c
ie

n
c
e
  

 

6
9
%

 
(2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

 

7
7
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 2

-3
 -

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 2

 n
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 l
e
v
e

ls
 i
n
 

E
n
g

lis
h
 

N
/A

 
3
4
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 2

-3
 -

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 2

 n
a
ti
o
n

a
l 

c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 l
e
v
e

ls
 i
n
 

N
/A

 
6
5
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

Page 152



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
7

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

M
a
th

s
 

 K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 4

 –
 t
o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 5

 A
*-

C
 g

ra
d
e
s
 

a
t 
G

C
S

E
 a

n
d
 e

q
u

iv
 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 G

C
S

E
 E

n
g
lis

h
 

a
n
d
 M

a
th

s
 

 

4
2
.1

%
 

(2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

 

5
1
.6

%
 (

fo
r 

2
0

0
8
/0

9
 a

c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 3

-4
 -

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 e

q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
o
f 

2
 n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 

le
v
e
ls

 i
n
 E

n
g
lis

h
 

 

N
/A

 
6
2
.7

%
 (

fo
r 

2
0

0
8
/0

9
 a

c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e
a
r)

 

K
e

y
 S

ta
g

e
 3

-4
 -

 t
o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 

p
ro

g
re

s
s
in

g
 e

q
u
iv

a
le

n
t 
o
f 

2
 n

a
ti
o

n
a
l 
c
u
rr

ic
u
lu

m
 

le
v
e
ls

 i
n
 M

a
th

s
 

 

N
/A

 
3
2
.6

%
 (

fo
r 

2
0

0
8
/0

9
 a

c
a

d
e

m
ic

 y
e
a
r)

 

A
tt
e

n
d
a

n
c
e
 –

 t
o
 r

e
d

u
c
e
 

p
e
rs

is
te

n
t 

a
b
s
e

n
te

e
 

p
u
p

ils
 i
n
 s

e
c
o
n

d
a
ry

 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 
 

N
/A

 
7
.7

%
 (

fo
r 

2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 

le
a
rn

in
g
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 a

n
d
 

s
k
ill

 l
e

v
e
ls

 f
o
r 

1
9

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
7
9
: 

A
c
h

ie
v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

L
e
v
e
l 
2
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 

th
e
 a

g
e
 o

f 
1
9
 

 

6
5
%

 
2
0
0
6

/0
7
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r 

7
5
.2

%
 

(2
0
0
9
/1

0
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)
 

6
8
.6

%
 

(2
0
0
7
/0

8
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

* 

7
1
.8

%
 

(2
0
0
8
/0

9
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

* 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 

Page 153



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
8

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

y
e

a
r 

o
ld

s
. 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I8

0
: 

A
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

L
e
v
e
l 
3
 q

u
a
lif

ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b

y
 

th
e
 a

g
e
 o

f 
1
9
 

 

4
1
%

 
(2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

Y
e
a
r)

 

 
4
9
%

  
(2

0
0
9
/1

0
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)
 

 

 
4
3
%

  
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)
 

 

 
4
7
%

  
(2

0
0
8
/0

9
 

A
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)
 

L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

k
ill

s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
n
n
e
x
io

n
s
 

F
o
ru

m
 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
1

7
: 
1

6
-1

8
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 

w
h
o
 a

re
 n

o
t 

in
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
, 

tr
a
in

in
g
 o

r 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

(N
E

E
T

)*
 

  

1
0

.0
%

 
(A

v
e

ra
g

e
 o

f 
N

o
v
, 

D
e

c
 

a
n

d
 J

a
n

 a
s
 

p
e

r 
n

a
ti
o

n
a

l 
re

p
o

rt
in

g
 

g
u

id
a
n

c
e

) 

 

 
6
.8

%
 

 
8
.9

%
 

 

 
7
.8

%
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 C

h
ild

re
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

k
ill

s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

c
o

n
o
m

y 
a
n
d

 
S

k
ill

s
 f

o
ru

m
 

 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
g
ro

u
p
s
 e

n
g
a

g
e
d

 
in

 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

, 
tr

a
in

in
g
 o

r 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e
n
t.
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
4

8
 C

a
re

 l
e

a
v
e
rs

 i
n
 

e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n

, 
e
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

o
r 

tr
a
in

in
g
 

 7
1
.3

%
 

(2
0
0
6
/0

7
) 

 
8
6
.8

%
 

 
7
6
.6

%
 

 
8
1
.7

%
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

  
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 

Page 154



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
9

 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

k
ill

s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
n
n
e
x
io

n
s
 

F
o
ru

m
 

 

P
le

a
s
e
 n

o
te

 D
C

S
F

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
re

 a
g
re

e
d
 o

n
 a

n
 

a
n
n
u

a
l 
b
a
s
is

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te
 f

o
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

, 
S

c
h

o
o
ls

 a
n
d

 F
a
m

ili
e
s
. 

C
h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 c
a
re

 –
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e

v
e

l 
4

+
 i
n
 

E
n
g

lis
h
 a

t 
K

e
y
 S

ta
g

e
 2

 
 

N
/A

 

5
6
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

C
h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 c
a
re

 –
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 l
e

v
e

l 
4

+
 i
n
 

m
a
th

s
 a

t 
K

e
y
 S

ta
g
e
 2

 
 

N
/A

 
5
6
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

D
C

S
F

 
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

C
h
ild

re
n

 i
n

 c
a
re

 –
 t

o
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 p

ro
p
o
rt

io
n

 
a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 5

 A
*-

C
 g

ra
d
e
s
 

a
t 
G

C
S

E
 a

n
d
 e

q
u

iv
 i
n
c
l 

G
C

S
E

 E
n

g
lis

h
 a

n
d
 

m
a
th

s
  

 

N
/A

 
1
7
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

Page 155



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

0
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

P
le

a
s
e
 n

o
te

 D
C

S
F

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
re

 a
g
re

e
d
 o

n
 a

n
 

a
n
n
u

a
l 
b
a
s
is

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 S

e
c
re

ta
ry

 o
f 

S
ta

te
 f

o
r 

C
h
ild

re
n

, 
S

c
h

o
o
ls

 a
n
d

 F
a
m

ili
e
s
. 

 

E
a
rl

y
 Y

e
a
rs

 (
E

Y
F

S
P

) 
–
 

to
 n

a
rr

o
w

 t
h
e

 
a
c
h
ie

v
e
m

e
n
t 
g
a

p
 a

t 
a
g

e
 

5
 

 

3
8
%

 
(2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

 

3
0
%

 (
fo

r 
2
0
0

8
/0

9
 a

c
a
d

e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r)

 

E
a
rl

y
 Y

e
a
rs

 (
E

Y
F

S
P

) 
–
 

to
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 a

c
h

ie
v
e
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

a
ll 

c
h
ild

re
n
 a

t 
a
g

e
 5

 
 

4
7
.1

%
 

(2
0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

 

5
3
%

 (
fo

r 
a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 y

e
a
r 

2
0

0
8
/0

9
) 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 

p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

 a
n

d
 

e
a
rl

y
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

o
u
tc

o
m

e
s
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

c
h
ild

re
n
, 

w
it
h

 a
 

fo
c
u
s
 o

n
 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 i
n
 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 a

re
a
s
. 

       

D
C

S
F

 
S

ta
tu

to
ry

 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

A
tt
e

n
d
a

n
c
e
 –

 t
o
 r

e
d

u
c
e
 

p
e
rs

is
te

n
t 

a
b
s
e

n
te

e
 

p
u
p

ils
 i
n
 p

ri
m

a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o

ls
 

 

N
/A

 
N

o
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 t
a
rg

e
t 
s
e
t 
fo

r 
2

0
0
8
/0

9
 (

o
n
ly

 s
e
t 

fo
r 

s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry

 s
c
h
o
o

ls
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

 

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

 

3
 m

in
s
 5

7
 

s
e
c
s
  

(2
3
7
s
e
c
o
n

d
s
) 

 

3
 m

in
s
 5

4
 

s
e
c
s
  

(2
3
4
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
s
) 

3
 m

in
s
 5

6
 

s
e
c
s
  

(2
3
6
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
s
) 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
6

7
 C

o
n
g
e
s
ti
o
n
  

- 
a
v
e
ra

g
e
 j
o

u
rn

e
y
 t
im

e
 p

e
r 

m
ile

 d
u
ri
n

g
 t
h

e
 m

o
rn

in
g
 

p
e
a
k
 

 

2
2
2
 

s
e
c
o
n
d
s
 (

3
 

m
in

s
 4

2
 

s
e
c
s
) 

- 
2
0
0
5
 

O
n

 t
a

rg
e

t 
ro

u
te

s
 t
o

 a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a

te
 a

n
 e

x
p

e
c
te

d
 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n

 t
ra

v
e

l 
o
f 

5
%

 w
it
h

 a
n

 i
n
c
re

a
s
e

 i
n

 
a

v
e

ra
g

e
 p

e
rs

o
n

 j
o

u
rn

e
y
 t
im

e
 p

e
r 

p
e

rs
o

n
 m

ile
 o

f 
n

o
 

m
o

re
 t
h

a
n

 7
%

. 
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 M

e
tr

o
 

 H
ig

h
w

a
ys

 A
g

e
n
c
y
 

  

In
c
re

a
s
e
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 a
n

d
 

c
o
n
n
e
c
ti
v
it
y
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

in
v
e
s
tm

e
n
t 
in

 a
 

h
ig

h
 q

u
a
lit

y
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

 
s
ys

te
m

 a
n
d
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

in
fl
u
e

n
c
in

g
 

o
th

e
rs

 a
n

d
 

c
h
a
n
g

in
g
 

b
e
h
a

v
io

u
rs

 
 

D
e
liv

e
r 

a
n

d
 

fa
c
ili

ta
te

 a
 r

a
n
g

e
 

o
f 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

 
p
ro

p
o
s
a

ls
 f

o
r 

a
n
 

e
n
h
a

n
c
e
d
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

 
s
ys

te
m

, 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 c

y
c
lin

g
 

a
n
d
 w

a
lk

in
g
. 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

C
y
c
le

 T
ri
p
s
 t
o
 t
h
e

 C
it
y
 

c
e
n
tr

e
 i
n
 t
h

e
 m

o
rn

in
g
 

p
e
a
k
 p

e
ri
o

d
 (

0
7
3

0
-0

9
3
0
).

 
  

 7
2
8
 (

2
0
0
7
) 

 
8
8
0
 (

2
0
1
0
) 

 
7
8
0
 (

2
0
0
8
) 

 
8
4
0
 (

2
0
0
9
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

y
c
lin

g
 A

c
ti
o
n
 

G
ro

u
p
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

Page 156



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

1
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

L
o
c
a
l 
b
u
s
 p

a
s
s
e
n
g
e
r 

jo
u
rn

e
y
s
 o

ri
g

in
a
ti
n

g
 i
n
 

th
e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ty

 a
re

a
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

to
 b

e
 s

e
t 

b
y
 

S
u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

 

T
a
rg

e
ts

 c
u
rr

e
n
tl
y
 b

e
in

g
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
e
d
 a

n
d

 w
ill

 b
e
 

in
 p

la
c
e
 b

y
 S

u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

W
E

S
T

 Y
O

R
K

S
H

IR
E

 
M

E
T

R
O

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

q
u
a

lit
y
, 

u
s
e
 a

n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
ib

ili
ty

 o
f 

p
u
b

lic
 t
ra

n
s
p
o
rt

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 i
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
. 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
n
o
n
-c

a
r 

jo
u
rn

e
y
s
 i
n
to

 c
e
n
tr

a
l 

L
e
e
d
s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 m

o
rn

in
g
 

p
e
a
k
 p

e
ri
o

d
. 

 

 4
2
.3

0
%

 
(2

0
0
4
) 

      

 
4
5
%

 
 

4
4
.3

0
%

 
 

4
4
.7

0
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 M

e
tr

o
 

 H
ig

h
w

a
ys

 A
g

e
n
c
y
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

        

Page 157



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

2
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

c
o
n
d
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 

s
tr

e
e
ts

 a
n
d
 

tr
a
n
s
p
o
rt

 
in

fr
a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
 b

y
 

c
a
rr

y
in

g
 o

u
t 

a
 

m
a
jo

r 
p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 o

f 
m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 

a
n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
m

e
n
ts

. 
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
6

9
 N

o
n
-p

ri
n
c
ip

a
l 

c
la

s
s
if
ie

d
 r

o
a

d
s
 w

h
e
re

 
m

a
in

te
n
a
n
c
e
 s

h
o
u

ld
 b

e
 

c
o
n
s
id

e
re

d
 

 

1
2

%
 

(2
0

0
7

/0
8

) 
9
%

 
 

1
1
%

 
1
0
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
  

Im
p
ro

v
e
 r

o
a
d
 

s
a
fe

ty
 f

o
r 

a
ll 

o
u
r 

u
s
e
rs

, 
e
s
p
e
c
ia

lly
 m

o
to

r 
c
yc

lis
ts

 p
e

d
a

l 
c
yc

lis
ts

 a
n

d
 

p
e
d
e
s
tr

ia
n
s
. 

  

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
4
7
 P

e
o
p
le

 k
ill

e
d
 o

r 
s
e
ri
o
u
s
ly

 i
n
ju

re
d
 i
n
 r

o
a
d
 

tr
a
ff

ic
 a

c
c
id

e
n
ts

 

3
6
4
 

(2
0
0
5
-0

7
  

3
 y

e
a
r 

a
v
e
ra

g
e
) 

 

-3
.9

%
 

3
4
1
 (

2
0
0
8
-

2
0
1
0
) 

0
%

 
3
6
4
 (

2
0
0
6
-

2
0
0
8
) 

-2
.5

%
 

3
5
5
 (

2
0
0
7
-

2
0
0
9
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 H

ig
h

w
a

ys
 A

g
e
n
c
y
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

       

Page 158



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

3
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e
n

t 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

a
m

o
u
n
t 
o
f 

w
a
s
te

 
re

u
s
e
d
 a

n
d
 

re
c
yc

le
d
 a

n
d
 

re
d
u
c
e
 t
h

e
 

a
m

o
u
n
t 
o
f 

w
a
s
te

 
g
o
in

g
 t

o
 l
a
n
d
fi
ll.

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
9

2
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
h
o
u
s
e
h

o
ld

 w
a
s
te

 s
e
n
t 
fo

r 
re

u
s
e
, 
re

c
y
c
lin

g
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

p
o
s
ti
n
g
 

 

 2
7
.0

5
%

 
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
) 

 
4
1
.3

2
%

 
 

3
0
.2

6
%

 
 

3
3
.9

4
%

 
 L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 

e
m

is
s
io

n
s
 f

ro
m

 
p
u
b

lic
 s

e
c
to

r 
b
u
ild

in
g
s
, 

o
p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 a

n
d

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

, 
a
n
d
 e

n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 

o
th

e
rs

 t
o
 d

o
 s

o
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
8

5
 C

O
2
 R

e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
fr

o
m

 L
o
c
a
l 
A

u
th

o
ri
ty

 
o
p
e
ra

ti
o

n
s
 

 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

to
 b

e
 s

e
t 

fr
o
m

 2
0
0
8
 

C
a
le

n
d
a
r 

y
e

a
r 

(1
 

J
a
n
u
a
ry

 
2
0
0
8

 t
o
 3

1
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
0
8
) 

  

T
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

w
h
e

n
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 h

a
s
 b

e
e
n
 c

a
lc

u
la

te
d
 

–
 J

a
n
u

a
ry

 2
0
0

9
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

R
e
d
u
c
e

d
 

e
c
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 

fo
o
tp

ri
n
t 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

re
s
p
o
n
d

in
g

 t
o
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
a
n
d
 c

lim
a
te

 
c
h
a
n
g
e

 a
n

d
 

in
fl
u
e

n
c
in

g
 

o
th

e
rs

. 
  C

le
a

n
e
r,

 
g
re

e
n

e
r 

a
n
d

 
m

o
re

 a
tt
ra

c
ti
v
e
 

c
it
y
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ta

l 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

h
a
n
g

e
d
 

b
e
h
a

v
io

u
rs

. 

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 t

o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 o

u
r 

re
s
ili

e
n
c
e
 t

o
 

c
u
rr

e
n
t 
a
n

d
 

fu
tu

re
 c

lim
a
te

 
c
h
a
n
g
e

. 
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
8

8
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 t

o
 A

d
a

p
t 

to
 C

lim
a
te

 C
h
a

n
g
e
 

 L
e
v
e
l 
0
 

(2
0
0
7
/0

8
) 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
1
 

 
L
e
v
e
l 
2
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 E

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
t 
A

g
e

n
c
y
 

 H
ig

h
w

a
ys

 A
g

e
n
c
y
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 N
a
tu

ra
l 
E

n
g

la
n

d
 

Page 159



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

4
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 M

e
tr

o
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

 

A
d
d
re

s
s
 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u
rh

o
o
d
 

p
ro

b
le

m
 s

it
e
s
; 

im
p
ro

v
e
 

c
le

a
n

lin
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
, 
to

 a
n
d

 
q
u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
g
re

e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I1

9
5

 I
m

p
ro

v
e
d
 s

tr
e
e

t 
a
n
d
 e

n
v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
ta

l 
c
le

a
n

lin
e
s
s

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 t

o
 

b
e
 u

s
e

d
 a

s
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 

y
e

a
r.

  
 

 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 f
o
r 

2
0
0
9
/1

0
 a

n
d
 2

0
1
0
/1

1
 t
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 c

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
a
s
e
lin

e
 b

y
 A

p
ri

l 
2
0
0

9
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 M

e
tr

o
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

q
u
a

lit
y
 a

n
d
 

s
u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty
 o

f 
th

e
 b

u
ilt

 a
n
d
 

n
a
tu

ra
l 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t.
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

P
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
a
rk

s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
u
n
tr

y
s
id

e
 s

it
e
s
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 i
n
te

rn
a

lly
 t
h

a
t 

m
e
e
t 
th

e
 G

re
e
n
 F

la
g
 

c
ri
te

ri
a
 

     

 1
0
.8

%
 

(2
0
0
4
/0

5
) 

 
2
3
%

 
 

1
9
%

 
 

2
1
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 N

a
tu

ra
l 
E

n
g

la
n

d
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
 

      

Page 160



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

5
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

   
H

e
a
lt

h
 a

n
d

 W
e
ll
b

e
in

g
 

4
9
9
.2

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

(f
e
m

a
le

s
) 

(2
0
0
6
) 

  6
0
5
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

(f
e
m

a
le

s
) 

 (1
9
9
5
-9

7
 

a
v
e
ra

g
e
) 

 

6
1
6
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

* 
 (f

e
m

a
le

s
 l
iv

in
g
 

in
 1

0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

  N
B

. 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t:
 4

7
2
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
)*

 

6
3
9
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

* 
 (f

e
m

a
le

s
 

liv
in

g
 i
n
 1

0
%

 
m

o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

 N
B

. 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t:
 4

9
1
 p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
)*

 

6
2
8
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

* 
 (f

e
m

a
le

s
 

liv
in

g
 i
n
 

1
0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

 N
B

. 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t:
 4

8
1
 

p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0
0

 
(f

e
m

a
le

s
)*

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
2

0
 A

ll-
a

g
e
 a

ll 
c
a
u
s
e
 

m
o
rt

a
lit

y
 r

a
te

 (
ta

rg
e
t 

d
is

a
g

g
re

g
a

te
d
 t

o
 f

o
c
u
s
 

o
n
 n

a
rr

o
w

in
g
 t
h

e
 g

a
p
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 m

o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

1
0
%

 a
n
d
 t

h
e
 L

e
e

d
s
 

a
v
e
ra

g
e
) 

 

7
4
2
.4

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

(M
a
le

s
) 

(2
0
0
6
) 

 9
4
2
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

(M
a
le

s
) 

 (1
9
9
5
-9

7
 

a
v
e
ra

g
e
) 

 

9
4
6
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

* 
(M

a
le

s
 l
iv

in
g
 

in
 1

0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

 N
B

: 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t 
6

7
9
p

e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0

 
*(

m
a

le
s
) 

1
0

0
2

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
* 

(M
a

le
s
 l
iv

in
g

 
in

 1
0

%
 m

o
s
t 

d
e

p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

 N
B

: 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t 
7

1
5

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
 

*(
m

a
le

s
) 

9
7
4
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0

* 
(M

a
le

s
 l
iv

in
g
 

in
 1

0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
) 

 N
B

: 
C

it
y
w

id
e

 
ta

rg
e

t 
6

9
7

 
p

e
r 

1
0
0

,0
0
0

 
*(

m
a

le
s
) 

 

R
e
d
u
c
e

d
 h

e
a
lt
h
 

in
e

q
u
a

lit
ie

s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

p
ro

m
o
ti
o
n
 o

f 
h
e
a

lt
h

y
 l
if
e
 

c
h
o
ic

e
s
 a

n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

  Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

q
u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
lif

e
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

m
a
x
im

is
in

g
 t
h

e
 

p
o
te

n
ti
a
l 
o
f 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
p
e
o
p

le
 b

y
 

p
ro

m
o
ti
n
g
 

in
d

e
p
e

n
d
e

n
c
e
, 

d
ig

n
it
y
 a

n
d
 

re
s
p
e
c
t.
 

  E
n
h

a
n
c
e
d

 
s
a
fe

ty
 a

n
d
 

s
u
p
p
o
rt

 f
o
r 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
p
e
o
p

le
 t

h
ro

u
g
h
 

p
re

v
e

n
ta

ti
v
e
 

a
n
d
 p

ro
te

c
ti
v
e
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 

p
re

m
a
tu

re
 

m
o
rt

a
lit

y
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri

v
e
d

 
a
re

a
s
. 

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
2

1
 M

o
rt

a
lit

y
 r

a
te

 
fr

o
m

 c
ir
c
u
la

to
ry

 d
is

e
a
s
e
s
 

a
t 
a
g

e
s
 u

n
d
e
r 

7
5
 (

p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o
n
) 

1
4
5
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 

(3
 y

e
a
r 

6
9
.3

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 

7
6
.2

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 

7
2
.7

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
 

L
E

E
D

S
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 H

o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
  

 N
a
tu

ra
l 
E

n
g

la
n

d
  
(A

c
ti
v
e
 

L
if
e
s
ty

le
s
) 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
  

Page 161



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

6
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

 
a
v
e
ra

g
e
 

fo
r 

1
9
9
5
-

1
9
9
7
) 

2
1
.0

%
 

C
it
y
 

 

2
5
.7

%
 C

it
y
 

 
2
3
.3

%
 

C
it
y
 

R
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
e
o
p

le
 w

h
o
 

s
m

o
k
e
. 

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
2

3
 S

to
p
p

in
g
 s

m
o
k
in

g
 

- 
d
is

a
g
g
re

g
a
te

d
 t

o
 

n
a
rr

o
w

 t
h

e
 g

a
p
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 

1
0
%

 m
o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri

v
e
d

  
S

O
A

s
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
t 
o
f 

L
e

e
d
s
 

3
0
.6

6
%

 
(2

0
0
4
) 

2
7
.1

%
 i
n
 1

0
%

 
m

o
s
t 
d
e
p
ri

v
e
d

 
S

O
A

s
 

 

3
3
.3

%
 i
n
 

1
0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
 

3
0
.2

%
 i
n
 

1
0
%

 m
o
s
t 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 

S
O

A
s
 

L
E

E
D

S
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 L
e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 H

o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
T

ru
s
t 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

 

a
c
ti
o
n

 t
o
 

m
in

im
is

e
 r

is
k
s
 

a
n
d
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 

w
e
llb

e
in

g
. 

 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 r

a
te

 o
f 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

o
b
e
s
it
y
 a

n
d
 

ra
is

e
 p

h
y
s
ic

a
l 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 f

o
r 

a
ll.

 
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
5
7
 C

h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 

Y
o
u

n
g
 P

e
o

p
le

’s
  

P
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 i
n
 h

ig
h
-

q
u
a

lit
y
 P

E
 a

n
d

 S
p
o
rt

 
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
to

 b
e

 i
n

tr
o
d
u

c
e
d
 f

ro
m

 A
p
ri
l 

2
0
0
9

. 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 S

p
o
rt

 E
n

g
la

n
d
 

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 Y
o
u
th

 S
p
o
rt

 T
ru

s
t 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 

Page 162



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

7
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

e
e

n
a
g

e
 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 s

e
x
u
a
l 

h
e
a

lt
h
. 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
1

2
 U

n
d
e
r 

1
8
 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 r

a
te

 -
 

d
is

a
g

g
re

g
a

te
d
 t

o
 f

o
c
u
s
 

o
n
 t
h

e
 6

 w
a
rd

s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 c

it
y
 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 h

ig
h
e
s
t 
ra

te
s
 o

f 
c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e
 c

it
y
 

5
0
.4

 
(1

9
9
8
) 

 (P
e
r 

1
0

0
0
 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n

s
) 

  B
a

s
e

lin
e

 t
o

 
b

e
 r

e
fi
n

e
d
  

fr
o

m
 

n
a

ti
o
n

a
l 

d
a

ta
 

re
le

a
s
e

 i
n

 
N

o
v
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
8

 f
o

r 
th

e
 

6
 w

a
rd

s
 i
n

 
th

e
 c

it
y
 w

it
h

 
th

e
 h

ig
h

e
s
t 

c
o

n
c
e

p
ti
o

n
 

ra
te

. 

S
u
b
je

c
t 
to

 
o
u
tc

o
m

e
 o

f 
n
a
ti
o
n
a

l 
a
n
n
u

a
l 
re

v
ie

w
. 

 

4
5
 r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
* 

 
 

 
B

a
s
e
d
 o

n
: 

 
2
%

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
in

 t
h
e
 6

 
w

a
rd

s
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 h

ig
h
e
s
t 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 

ra
te

. 

4
2
.7

 r
a

te
 

p
e
r 

1
0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
* 

   B
a
s
e
d
 o

n
: 

 
1
5
%

 
re

d
u
c
ti
o

n
 i
n
 

th
e
 6

 w
a
rd

s
 

w
it
h
 t

h
e
 

h
ig

h
e
s
t 

c
o
n
c
e
p
ti
o
n
 

ra
te

. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 H

o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
T

ru
s
t 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

    

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

c
a
re

 
m

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 
o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
, 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 a

n
d
 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
a
d
u

lt
s
. 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
3

2
 T

im
e
lin

e
s
s
 o

f 
s
o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

(a
ll 

a
d
u

lt
s
) 

 

8
0
.9

%
 

(A
p
r-

D
e
c
 

2
0
0
7
) 

 
  

9
0
%

 
8
5
%

 
8
8
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
  

 L
e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 H

o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
T

ru
s
t 
 

Page 163



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

8
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
6
3
 S

ta
b
ili

ty
 o

f 
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
ts

 o
f 

lo
o
k
e
d
 

a
ft

e
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
: 

le
n

g
th

 o
f 

p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

  

7
0
%

 
(D

e
c
e

m
b

e
r 

2
0

0
7

) 

8
0
%

 
7
2
%

 
7
5
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
6
6
 L

o
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 c

a
s
e
s
 w

h
ic

h
 

w
e
re

 r
e

v
ie

w
e
d
 w

it
h
in

 
re

q
u
ir
e

d
 t

im
e
s
c
a
le

s
 

 

6
0
.2

%
 

(A
p
ri
l 
–
 

D
e
c
 2

0
0

7
) 

9
0
%

 r
e

v
ie

w
e
d

 
w

it
h

in
 r

e
q
u

ir
e
d
 

ti
m

e
s
c
a
le

s
 

7
0
%

 
re

v
ie

w
e

d
 

w
it
h

in
 

re
q
u
ir
e

d
 

ti
m

e
s
c
a
le

s
 

8
0
%

 
re

v
ie

w
e

d
 

w
it
h

in
 

re
q
u
ir
e

d
 

ti
m

e
s
c
a
le

s
 

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
3

3
 T

im
e
lin

e
s
s
 o

f 
s
o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 p
a
c
k
a
g
e
s
 

fo
llo

w
in

g
 a

s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 
(a

ll 
a
d
u

lt
s
) 

 

8
5
 %

 
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
) 

9
5
%

 
9
0
%

 
9
2
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
  

 L
e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
c
h
in

g
 H

o
s
p
it
a
ls

 
T

ru
s
t 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

p
s
yc

h
o

lo
g

ic
a
l,
 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a

lt
h

, 
a
n
d
 l
e
a
rn

in
g
 

d
is

a
b

ili
ty

 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 f

o
r 

th
o
s
e
 w

h
o
 n

e
e
d

 
it
. 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
5
8
 E

m
o
ti
o
n
a

l 
a

n
d
 

b
e
h
a

v
io

u
ra

l 
h

e
a

lt
h
 o

f 
lo

o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

c
h
ild

re
n
 

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 

Page 164



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
1

9
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

V
S

C
0
2
 P

ro
p

o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
p
e
o
p

le
 w

it
h
 d

e
p
re

s
s
io

n
 

a
n
d
/o

r 
a
n
x
ie

ty
 d

is
o
rd

e
rs

 
w

h
o
 a

re
 o

ff
e
re

d
 

p
s
yc

h
o

lo
g

ic
a
l 
th

e
ra

p
ie

s
. 

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

 
L
E

E
D

S
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
4

1
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 p
e

o
p

le
 

a
c
h
ie

v
in

g
 i
n
d

e
p

e
n
d

e
n
t 

liv
in

g
 

 

5
9
%

 (
Q

2
 

2
0
0
7

/0
8
) 

7
6
%

 
6
6
%

 
7
1
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

  
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

F
o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

  

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 
p
e
o
p

le
 h

e
lp

e
d
 

to
 l
iv

e
 a

t 
h
o
m

e
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
3

9
 T

h
e
 e

x
te

n
t 

to
 

w
h
ic

h
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e

o
p

le
 

re
c
e
iv

e
 t
h

e
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 t
h

e
y
 

n
e
e
d

 t
o
 l
iv

e
 

in
d

e
p
e

n
d
e

n
tl
y
 a

t 
h

o
m

e
 

 

P
la

c
e

 
S

u
rv

e
y
 -

 
A

w
a

it
in

g
 

fu
rt

h
e
r 

g
u
id

a
n
c
e
. 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

to
 b

e
 

a
g
re

e
d
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9

. 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

. 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

s
 

F
o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 O

ld
e
r 

P
e
o

p
le

’s
  
F

o
ru

m
  

Page 165



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

0
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
3

6
 P

e
o
p

le
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 

to
 l
iv

e
 i
n
d
e

p
e
n

d
e

n
tl
y
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 s

o
c
ia

l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

(a
ll 

a
d
u

lt
s
) 

 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
n

e
w

 d
a

ta
 

re
tu

rn
 –

 
B

a
s
e

lin
e

 
w

ill
 b

e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e

 b
y
 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

 

 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
p
e
o
p

le
 i
n
 r

e
c
e
ip

t 
o
f 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

e
n
jo

y
in

g
 c

h
o
ic

e
 

a
n
d
 c

o
n
tr

o
l 
o

v
e
r 

th
e
ir
 d

a
ily

 l
iv

e
s
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
3

0
 S

o
c
ia

l 
c
a
re

 
c
lie

n
ts

 r
e
c
e
iv

in
g
 S

e
lf
 

D
ir
e
c
te

d
 S

u
p
p
o
rt

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 p

o
p

u
la

ti
o
n
 

9
5

.6
5

  
(r

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

,0
0

0
 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

1
9
8
.5

 (
ra

te
 p

e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
) 

1
2
7
.0

 (
ra

te
 

p
e
r 

1
0

0
,0

0
0
) 

1
6
4
.2

 (
ra

te
 

p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 L

e
a
rn

in
g
 D

is
a

b
ili

ty
 

F
o
ru

m
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

 

N
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 

lo
o
k
e
d
 a

ft
e
r 

(e
x
p
re

s
s
e
d
 

a
s
 a

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
 

e
x
c
lu

d
in

g
 

u
n
a
c
c
o
m

p
a
n
ie

d
 a

s
y
lu

m
 

s
e
e
k
e
rs

 
 

1
2
8
1

 
(8

3
.6

) 
9
0
6
  

(5
9
.1

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
) 

1
1
5
6

  
(7

5
.4

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
) 

1
0
3
1

  
(6

7
.3

 r
a
te

 
p
e
r 

1
0
,0

0
0
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 C

h
ild

re
n
 

L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

Y
P

 F
o
ru

m
 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 

s
a
fe

g
u
a
rd

in
g
 

a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 
fo

r 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 
c
h
ild

re
n
 a

n
d
 

a
d
u

lt
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

b
e
tt
e
r 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
, 

re
c
o
g
n
it
io

n
 a

n
d
 

re
s
p
o
n
s
e
 t
o

 r
is

k
. 
 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

E
s
ti
m

a
te

d
 n

u
m

b
e

r 
o

f 
s
ta

ff
 

e
m

p
lo

y
e

d
 b

y
 i
n

d
e

p
e

n
d
e

n
t 

s
e

c
to

r 
re

g
is

te
re

d
 c

a
re

 
s
e

rv
ic

e
s
 i
n

 t
h
e

 c
o

u
n
c
il 

a
re

a
 

th
a

t 
h
a

v
e

 h
a

d
 s

o
m

e
 t
ra

in
in

g
 

o
n

 p
ro

te
c
ti
o

n
 o

f 
a
d

u
lt
s
 

w
h

o
s
e

 c
ir
c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e

s
 m

a
k
e

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

T
o
 b

e
t 
s
e
t 
fo

r 
 2

0
0

9
/1

0
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 c

a
lc

u
la

ti
o
n
 o

f 
b
a
s
e
lin

e
 –

 M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
. 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

Page 166



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

1
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

th
e

m
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 t
h

a
t 
is

 
e

it
h

e
r 

fu
n
d

e
d

 o
r 

c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
e
d

 b
y
 t

h
e
 C

S
S

R
 

  

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

  

T
h

ri
v

in
g

 P
la

c
e
s
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

“d
e
c
e
n
t 
h

o
m

e
s
”.

 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
5

8
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 n

o
n
-

d
e
c
e
n
t 
c
o

u
n
c
il 

h
o
m

e
s
 

3
3
.1

%
 

(N
o
v
 

2
0
0
7
) 

 P
ro

v
is

io
n
a

l 
b
a
s
e
lin

e
 –

 
ta

rg
e
ts

 
m

a
y
 b

e
 

re
v
is

e
d
 

b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 

fi
n
a
l 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
. 

 

9
%

 
2
7
%

 
 

1
8
%

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

B
o
d

ie
s
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
  
L

e
e
d
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 R

e
’n

e
w

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

V
C

F
S

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 G

ro
u

p
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
5

4
 N

e
t 

a
d

d
it
io

n
a
l 

h
o
m

e
s
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 

 

3
3
2
7

  
(2

0
0
6
-0

7
) 

 

1
0
2
0

0
 

O
v
e
r 

3
 y

e
a
r 

p
e
ri
o

d
 

A
t 
le

a
s
t 
 

3
4
0
0
 

a
ft

e
r 

y
e
a
r 

1
 

A
t 
le

a
s
t 

6
8
0
0
 

A
ft

e
r 

y
e

a
r 

2
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o

n
 

b
o
d

ie
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h

 t
h
e

 L
e

e
d
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 R

e
’n

e
w

 
 

Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

q
u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
lif

e
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 m

ix
e
d
 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

o
ff

e
ri
n
g
 g

o
o

d
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 

a
n
d
 b

e
tt

e
r 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
. 

 R
e
d
u
c
e

d
 c

ri
m

e
 

a
n
d
 f

e
a
r 

o
f 

c
ri
m

e
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 

p
re

v
e

n
ti
o
n
, 

d
e
te

c
ti
o
n
, 

o
ff

e
n
d
e
r 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 c

h
a
n
g

e
d
 

b
e
h
a

v
io

u
rs

. 
 In

c
re

a
s
e
d
 

e
c
o
n
o
m

ic
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 

ta
rg

e
te

d
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

 
to

 r
e
d
u
c
e

 
w

o
rk

le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 p

o
v
e
rt

y
. 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 
h
o
m

e
s
. 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
5

5
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

a
ff

o
rd

a
b
le

 h
o
m

e
s
 

d
e
liv

e
re

d
 (

g
ro

s
s
) 

2
5
8
 

(2
0
0
6
/0

7
) 

1
8
0
0
 

(C
u

m
u

la
ti
v
e

) 
3
0
0
 

8
0
0
 

(C
u

m
u

la
ti
v
e

) 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o

n
 

Page 167



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

2
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

b
o
d

ie
s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h

 t
h
e

 L
e

e
d
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 R

e
’n

e
w

 
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 

p
e
o
p

le
. 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

L
K

I 
H

A
S

4
 T

h
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 a

c
c
e
p
ta

n
c
e
s
 

m
a
d
e
 i
n
 t
h
e

 y
e

a
r.

  

1
1
4
2
 

(2
0
0
7
/0

8
) 

1
0
2
2
 

1
1
0
0
 

1
0
6
0
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

B
o
d

ie
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 L

e
e
d
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 H

e
a
lt
h
 F

o
ru

m
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

     

4
%

 
2
0
0
7

/0
8
 

(S
A

P
<

3
5
) 

 

2
.3

6
%

 
3
.4

6
%

 
2
.9

1
%

 

 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

p
e
o
p

le
 w

h
o
 a

re
 

n
o
t 
a

b
le

 t
o
 

a
d
e
q

u
a
te

ly
 h

e
a
t 

th
e
ir
 h

o
m

e
s
. 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
8

7
 T

a
c
k
lin

g
 f

u
e

l 
p
o
v
e
rt

y
 –

 %
 o

f 
p
e
o
p

le
 

re
c
e
iv

in
g
 i
n
c
o
m

e
 b

a
s
e
d
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 l
iv

in
g
 i
n
 h

o
m

e
s
 

w
it
h
 a

 l
o

w
 e

n
e
rg

y
 

e
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y
 r

a
ti
n
g
 

 

4
4
%

 
2
0
0
7

/0
8
 

(S
A

P
>

=
6

5
) 

4
5
.4

4
%

 
4
4
.3

4
%

 
4
4
.8

9
%

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 R

e
g
e

n
e
ra

ti
o
n
 

b
o
d

ie
s
 i
n
 t
h

e
 L

e
e
d
s
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
t 

F
o
ru

m
  

 

Page 168



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

3
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 

fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
in

c
lu

s
io

n
 i
n
 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 a

re
a
s
. 

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

n
e

w
 c

u
s
to

m
e
rs

 o
n
 l
o

w
 

in
c
o
m

e
s
 a

c
c
e
s
s
in

g
 c

re
d
it
 

u
n
io

n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 (

s
a
v
in

g
s
, 

lo
a

n
s
 a

n
d

 c
u
rr

e
n
t 

a
c
c
o
u
n
ts

).
 

 

6
7
0
0

 (
J
a
n
 

–
 D

e
c
 

2
0
0
7
) 

7
0
0
0
 

6
7
0
0
 

 
 (

e
x
c
e

p
ti
o

n
a
l 

p
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

 i
n

 
2

0
0

7
/0

8
 s

o
 

ta
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
2

0
0

8
/0

9
 i
s
 t

o
 

m
a

in
ta

in
 t

h
is

 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e

.)
 

 

6
8
5
0
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

re
d
it
 U

n
io

n
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

W
e
s
t 
L
e
e
d
s
 D

e
b
t 
F

o
ru

m
  

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I1

6
 S

e
ri

o
u
s
 a

c
q

u
is

it
iv

e
 

c
ri
m

e
 r

a
te

 
  

2
7
.0

 
(r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
) 

 

7
%

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
o
n
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 

  (2
5
.2

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

 

2
.3

%
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 o

n
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 

 (2
6
.4

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

 

4
.7

%
 

re
d
u
c
ti
o

n
 o

n
 

b
a
s
e
lin

e
 

 (2
5
.8

 r
a
te

 
p
e
r 

1
0

0
0
 

p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
2
0
 A

s
s
a
u
lt
 w

it
h
 i
n
ju

ry
 

c
ri
m

e
 r

a
te

 
 

8
.0

  
(r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p

o
p

u
la

ti
o

n
) 

 

8
%

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
o
n
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 

 (7
.4

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

4
%

 r
e
d
u
c
ti
o
n

 
o
n
 b

a
s
e
lin

e
 

 (7
.7

 r
a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
0

 
p
o
p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

6
%

 r
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
 

o
n

 b
a
s
e

lin
e

 
 (7

.5
 r

a
te

 p
e

r 
1

0
0

0
 

p
o

p
u

la
ti
o

n
) 

W
E

S
T

 Y
O

R
K

S
H

IR
E

 
P

O
L
IC

E
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

ro
b

a
ti
o
n
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty
 C

o
n
s
o
rt

iu
m

 
 

C
re

a
te

 s
a
fe

r 
e
n
v
ir
o
n
m

e
n
ts

 b
y
 

ta
c
k
lin

g
 c

ri
m

e
  

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
2
4
 S

a
ti
s
fa

c
ti
o
n
 w

it
h
 

th
e
 w

a
y
 t

h
e
 p

o
lic

e
 a

n
d
 

lo
c
a
l 
c
o
u
n
c
il 

d
e
a

lt
 w

it
h
 

a
n
ti
-s

o
c
ia

l 
b
e
h

a
v
io

u
r 

 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
n

e
w

 d
a

ta
 

re
tu

rn
 –

 
B

a
s
e

lin
e

 
w

ill
 b

e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e

 b
y
 

M
a

rc
h

 2
0

0
9

 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–
 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n
d

 
m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 

b
e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 

b
y
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 

Page 169



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

4
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

T
a
rg

e
t 
to

 b
e

 
a
g
re

e
d
 w

it
h
 

G
O

Y
H

 d
u
ri

n
g
 

R
e
fr

e
s
h
 b

y
 

A
p
ri

l 
2

0
0
9
. 

1
5
%

 
re

d
u
c
ti
o

n
 

M
ile

s
to

n
e
 t
o
 

b
e
 a

g
re

e
d

 
d
u
ri
n

g
 

R
e
fr

e
s
h
. 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
3
0
 R

e
-o

ff
e
n
d
in

g
 r

a
te

 
o
f 

p
ro

lif
ic

 a
n

d
 p

ri
o
ri
ty

 
o
ff

e
n
d
e
rs

 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 

c
a
lc

u
la

te
d
 

b
y
 

S
u
m

m
e
r 

2
0
0
8
 

N
B

 t
h
is

 i
s
 a

 o
n
e
 y

e
a
r 

ta
rg

e
t 
fo

r 
2
0
0
8
/0

9
, 

th
a
t 
w

ill
 b

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
e
d
 a

n
d

 r
e
v
is

e
d
 f

o
r 

th
e
 

s
u
b
s
e
q

u
e
n
t 

y
e
a
rs

 o
f 

th
e
 L

A
A

. 

S
A

F
E

R
 L

E
E

D
S

 
P

A
R

T
N

E
R

S
H

IP
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

ro
b

a
ti
o
n
 

S
e
rv

ic
e
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 Y
o
u
th

 O
ff

e
n
d
in

g
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 R
e
’n

e
w

 
 J
o
b
c
e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

k
ill

s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty
 C

o
n
s
o
rt

iu
m

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 

o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
 b

y
 

m
a
n
a
g
in

g
 

o
ff

e
n
d
in

g
 

b
e
h
a

v
io

u
r 

b
e
tt

e
r 

 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

A
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 c

o
u

n
t 
o
f 

th
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

fi
rs

t 
ti
m

e
 

e
n
tr

a
n
ts

 i
n
to

 t
h

e
 y

o
u
th

 
ju

s
ti
c
e
 s

ys
te

m
 r

e
c
e
iv

in
g
 

a
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
ti
v
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 

b
e
tw

e
e
n
 1

 A
p
ri
l 
a
n

d
 3

1
 

M
a
rc

h
 i
n
 t
h

e
 r

e
p

o
rt

in
g
 

2
0
7
6

 
(2

0
0
4
/0

5
) 

N
/A

 
L
P

S
A

 2
 

T
a
rg

e
t–

 
fi
n
is

h
e
s
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

1
8
7
7

  
N

/A
 

L
P

S
A

 2
 

T
a
rg

e
t–

 
fi
n
is

h
e
s
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
 

Y
O

U
T

H
 O

F
F

E
N

D
IN

G
 

S
E

R
V

IC
E

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 

Page 170



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

5
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

y
e

a
r 

s
p

e
c
if
ie

d
. 

  
 A

 c
o
m

p
le

te
 c

o
u

n
t 
o
f 

o
ff

e
n
c
e
s
 c

o
m

m
it
te

d
 b

y
 

y
o

u
n
g
 p

e
o

p
le

 r
e
s
u
lt
in

g
 i
n
 

a
 s

u
b
s
ta

n
ti
v
e
 o

u
tc

o
m

e
 

d
u
ri
n

g
 a

 b
a

il 
o
r 

re
m

a
n
d
 

e
p
is

o
d
e
 d

u
ri
n

g
 t
h

e
 

s
p
e
c
if
ie

d
 y

e
a
r.

  
 

 

6
2
2
 (

2
0
0
5
) 

N
/A

 
L
P

S
A

 2
 

T
a
rg

e
t 
–
 

fi
n
is

h
e
s
 M

a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

5
7
3
  

N
/A

 
L
P

S
A

 2
 

T
a
rg

e
t 
–
 

fi
n
is

h
e
s
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9
 

R
e
’n

e
w

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

Y
o
u
th

 W
o
rk

 P
a
n
e
l 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 l
iv

e
s
 b

y
 

re
d
u
c
in

g
 t
h

e
 

h
a
rm

 c
a
u
s
e
d
 b

y
 

s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 

m
is

u
s
e
  

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
4
0
 N

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

d
ru

g
 

u
s
e
rs

 r
e
c
o
rd

e
d
 a

s
 b

e
in

g
 

in
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e

 t
re

a
tm

e
n
t 

2
9
7
6

 
(2

0
0
7
/0

8
) 

7
%

 I
n
c
re

a
s
e

* 
 

(3
2
0
1
) 

1
%

 I
n
c
re

a
s
e
 

 (3
0
0
6
) 

3
%

 I
n
c
re

a
s
e
 

 (3
0
6
7
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe

ty
 C

o
n
s
o
rt

iu
m

 
  

R
e
d
u
c
e
 b

u
lly

in
g
 

a
n
d
 

h
a
ra

s
s
m

e
n
t.
 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
6
9
 C

h
ild

re
n
 w

h
o
 h

a
v
e
 

e
x
p
e
ri
e

n
c
e
d
 b

u
lly

in
g
 

 (d
is

a
g
g
re

g
a
te

d
 t

o
 r

e
fe

r 
o
n
ly

 t
o
 c

h
ild

re
n
 w

h
o
 

h
a
v
e
 e

x
p

e
ri
e

n
c
e
d
 

b
u
lly

in
g
 a

t 
s
c
h
o

o
l)
 

 

 

3
3

%
 

(2
0

0
7

) 

 
2

2
.5

%
 

 
3

0
%

 

 
2

6
.5

%
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

Y
P

 F
o
ru

m
 

Page 171



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

6
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
5

2
 w

o
rk

in
g
 a

g
e
 

p
e
o
p

le
 o

n
 o

u
t 

o
f 

w
o
rk

 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 
 

1
1
.3

%
 

(2
0
0
7
) 

-1
%

 b
y
 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

-0
.3

%
 

-0
.6

%
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 

w
o
rk

le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 c

it
y
 

w
it
h
 a

 f
o
c
u
s
 o

n
 

d
e
p
ri

v
e

d
 a

re
a
s
. 

 
P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
5

3
 -

 W
o
rk

in
g
 a

g
e

 
p
e
o
p

le
 c

la
im

in
g
 o

u
t 

o
f 

w
o
rk

 b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

w
o
rs

t 
p
e
rf

o
rm

in
g
 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

3
0
.2

%
 

(2
0
0
7
) 

2
8
.2

%
 b

y
 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

2
9
.6

%
 

2
9
%

 

J
O

B
 C

E
N

T
R

E
 P

L
U

S
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

it
y
 C

o
u
n
c
il 

 L
e
a
rn

in
g

 a
n

d
 S

k
ill

s
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

o
rw

a
rd

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 E

c
o

n
o
m

y 
a
n
d

 
S

k
ill

s
 F

o
ru

m
 

R
e
d
u
c
e
 t

h
e
 

n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

c
h
ild

re
n
 i
n
 

p
o
v
e
rt

y
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

In
d
ic

a
to

rs
, 
ta

rg
e
ts

 a
n
d
 m

e
a
s
u
re

s
 t
o
 b

e
 d

e
te

rm
in

e
d
 f
ro

m
 A

p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 f
o
llo

w
in

g
 m

o
re

 f
o
c
u
s
s
e
d
 w

o
rk

 
lo

c
a
lly

 a
n
d
 f

u
rt

h
e
r 

g
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 
g

u
id

a
n
c
e
  

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 

e
x
te

n
d

e
d
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
, 
u
s
in

g
 

s
it
e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t
h
e
 

c
it
y
, 
to

 i
m

p
ro

v
e

 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
o
 

c
h
ild

re
n
, 

fa
m

ili
e
s
 a

n
d
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
.
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
8
8
 P

e
rc

e
n

ta
g

e
 o

f 
s
c
h
o
o
ls

 p
ro

v
id

in
g
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 

to
 e

x
te

n
d
e

d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

4
2
%

 
(2

0
0
6
/0

7
 

a
c
a
d
e
m

ic
 

y
e

a
r)

 
      

1
0
0
%

 (
b

y
 S

e
p
t 

2
0
1
0
) 

7
4
%

  
(b

y
 S

e
p
t 

2
0
0
8
) 

9
0
%

  
(b

y
 S

e
p
t 

2
0
0
9
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 W

e
s
t 

Y
o

rk
s
h

ir
e

 P
o

lic
e

 
 E

d
u

c
a

ti
o

n
 L

e
e

d
s
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o

d
ie

s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 L

e
e

d
s
 

V
o

ic
e

 C
Y

P
 F

o
ru

m
 

 L
e

e
d

s
 C

o
lle

g
e

s
 

Page 172



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

7
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

     
H

a
rm

o
n

io
u

s
 C

o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s
 

N
I 
1
1

0
 Y

o
u
n

g
 p

e
o
p

le
’s

 
p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n

 i
n

 p
o
s
it
iv

e
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 

 

T
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

w
h
e
n
 

T
e
llU

s
 

S
u
rv

e
y
 i
s
 

c
o
m

p
le

te
d
 

b
y
 J

u
n
e
 

2
0
0
8
 

 

T
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

w
h
e

n
 T

e
llU

s
 S

u
rv

e
y
 i
s
 c

o
m

p
le

te
d
 

b
y
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
0
8
 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
h
ro

u
g

h
 t
h

e
 

C
h
ild

re
n

 L
e

e
d
s
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
 A

rt
s
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

Y
P

 F
o
ru

m
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

M
o
re

 i
n
c
lu

s
iv

e
, 

v
a
ri

e
d
 a

n
d
 

v
ib

ra
n
t 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

e
m

p
o
w

e
ri

n
g
 

p
e
o
p

le
 t

o
 

c
o
n
tr

ib
u

te
 t

o
 

d
e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
 

a
n
d
 d

e
liv

e
ri

n
g
 

lo
c
a
l 
s
e
rv

ic
e
s
. 

 Im
p
ro

v
e
d
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

c
o
h
e
s
io

n
 a

n
d
 

in
te

g
ra

ti
o
n
 

th
ro

u
g

h
 

m
e
a
n
in

g
fu

l 
in

v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t 
a

n
d
 

v
a

lu
in

g
 e

q
u

a
lit

y
 

a
n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
.  

 

A
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d

 
n
u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
c
a
l 

p
e
o
p

le
 e

n
g

a
g

e
d
 

in
 a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
 t
o
 

m
e
e
t 
c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y 

n
e
e
d
s
 a

n
d
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 t
h
e

 
q
u
a

lit
y
 o

f 
lif

e
 f

o
r 

lo
c
a
l 
re

s
id

e
n
ts

. 
 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
6
 P

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o

n
 i
n
 

re
g
u
la

r 
v
o
lu

n
te

e
ri
n

g
 

 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

n
e

w
 d

a
ta

 
re

tu
rn

 –
 

B
a
s
e
lin

e
 

w
ill

 b
e
 i
n
 

p
la

c
e
 b

y
 

M
a
rc

h
 

2
0
0
9
 

 

N
e

w
 i
n
d

ic
a
to

r 
–

 t
a
rg

e
ts

 a
n

d
 m

ile
s
to

n
e
s
 t
o
 b

e
 

d
e
te

rm
in

e
d
 b

y
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
0
9

 
L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 V

C
F

S
 B

o
d
ie

s
 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 

V
o
lu

n
ta

ry
 A

c
ti
o
n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 A
rt

s
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

 
 M

u
s
e
u
m

s
, 
L
ib

ra
ri
e
s
, 

A
rc

h
iv

e
s
, 

Y
o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 

 S
p
o
rt

 E
n

g
la

n
d
 

Page 173



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

8
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 E

d
u
c
a
ti
o

n
 L

e
e
d
s
 

 

A
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 

th
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

lo
c
a
l 
p
e

o
p
le

 t
h

a
t 

a
re

 e
m

p
o
w

e
re

d
 

to
 h

a
v
e

 a
 

g
re

a
te

r 
v
o

ic
e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
fl
u
e

n
c
e
 

o
v
e
r 

lo
c
a

l 
d
e
c
is

io
n
 m

a
k
in

g
 

a
n
d
 a

 g
re

a
te

r 
ro

le
 i
n
 p

u
b

lic
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 d

e
liv

e
ry

. 
 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
4
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
e
o
p

le
 w

h
o
 f

e
e

l 
th

e
y
 c

a
n
 

in
fl
u
e

n
c
e
 d

e
c
is

io
n
s
 i
n
 

th
e
ir
 l
o
c
a

lit
y
 

B
a

s
e

lin
e
 

to
 b

e
 s

e
t 

b
y
 2

0
0

8
 

P
la

c
e

 
S

u
rv

e
y

 

 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
4
.1

%
 o

n
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
 f

ig
u
re

. 
 

(M
e
a
s
u
re

d
 b

y
 P

la
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 i
n
 A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1

0
) 

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

A
u
th

o
ri
ty

  
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 W
e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 F

ir
e
 a

n
d
 

R
e
s
c
u
e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 L
e
e
d
s
 P

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
F

o
u
n
d

a
ti
o
n
 T

ru
s
t 

 V
C

F
S

 b
o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

L
e
e
d
s
 V

o
ic

e
 C

o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

E
m

p
o
w

e
rm

e
n
t 
N

e
tw

o
rk

 
 

E
n

a
b

le
 a

 r
o
b

u
s
t 

a
n

d
 v

ib
ra

n
t 

v
o

lu
n

ta
ry

, 
c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 a

n
d
 

fa
it
h

 s
e
c
to

r 
to

 
fa

c
ili

ta
te

 
c
o

m
m

u
n
it
y
 

a
c
ti
v
it
y
 a

n
d

 
d

ir
e

c
tl
y
 d

e
liv

e
r 

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
. 

P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 
A

g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
7
  

E
n

v
ir
o

n
m

e
n
t 
fo

r 
a
 

th
ri
v
in

g
 t
h

ir
d
 s

e
c
to

r 
 

T
o
 b

e
 s

e
t 

b
y
 O

ff
ic

e
 

o
f 

th
e
 

T
h
ir
d
 

S
e
c
to

r 
S

u
rv

e
y
 -

A
u
tu

m
n
 

2
0
0
8
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
4
.1

 p
e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e

 p
o
in

ts
 o

n
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
 

b
y
 2

0
1

0
/1

1
  

 
(m

e
a
s
u
re

d
 b

y
 s

e
c
o
n
d

 O
T

S
 s

u
rv

e
y
 i
n

 A
u
tu

m
n
 

2
0
1
0
) 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

V
C

F
S

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 G

ro
u

p
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

Page 174



L
e
e
d

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
la

n
 T

a
b

le
 o

f 
T

a
rg

e
ts

 

  
2

9
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 
O

u
tc

o
m

e
 

Im
p

ro
v

e
m

e
n

t 
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 
G

o
v
e

rn
m

e
n

t 
 

A
g

re
e
d

 
o

r 
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 

A
g

re
e
d

 

In
d

ic
a
to

r 
B

a
s
e
li

n
e
 

L
A

A
 

 3
 Y

e
a
r 

T
a
rg

e
t 

2
0
1
0

/1
1
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
8

/0
9
 

M
il
e
s
to

n
e
 

2
0
0
9

/1
0
 

L
E

A
D

/c
o

n
tr

ib
u

to
ry

 
p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

A
n
 i
n
c
re

a
s
e
d

 
s
e
n
s
e
 o

f 
b
e
lo

n
g

in
g

 a
n

d
 

p
ri
d
e
 i
n
 l
o
c
a

l 
n
e
ig

h
b

o
u
rh

o
o
d
s
 

th
a
t 

h
e
lp

 t
o

 b
u

ild
 

c
o
h
e
s
iv

e
 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
ie

s
. 

 

G
o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

A
g
re

e
d
 

N
I 
1
 P

e
rc

e
n
ta

g
e
 o

f 
p
e
o
p

le
 w

h
o
 b

e
lie

v
e
 

p
e
o
p

le
 f

ro
m

 d
if
fe

re
n
t 

b
a
c
k
g
ro

u
n
d
s
 g

e
t 

o
n
 w

e
ll 

to
g
e
th

e
r 

in
 t
h

e
ir
 l
o
c
a

l 
a
re

a
 

B
a

s
e

lin
e
 

to
 b

e
 s

e
t 

b
y
 2

0
0

8
 

P
la

c
e

 
S

u
rv

e
y

 

   

In
c
re

a
s
e
 o

f 
4
.1

%
 o

n
 b

a
s
e

lin
e
 f

ig
u
re

. 
 

(M
e
a
s
u
re

d
 b

y
 P

la
c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 i
n
 A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1

0
) 

 

L
E

E
D

S
 C

IT
Y

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

 
 V

C
F

S
 b

o
d

ie
s
 t

h
ro

u
g

h
 

V
C

F
S

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 G

ro
u

p
 

 L
e
e
d
s
 P

C
T

 
 W

e
s
t 
Y

o
rk

s
h
ir
e
 P

o
lic

e
 

 N
a
tu

ra
l 
E

n
g

la
n

d
  

 L
e
e
d
s
 C

o
lle

g
e
s
 

 

 

Page 175



Page 176

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Leeds Strategic Plan  
 

2008 -2011 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 177



 

 2 

 
 
We are grateful to the following organisations for their help in drawing up the Leeds 
Strategic Plan:  
 
Arts Council 
 
Education Leeds 
 
English Heritage 
 
Environment Agency 
 
Highways Agency 
 
Jobcentre Plus 
 
Learning and Skills Council 
 
Leeds Chamber of Commerce and Industry 
 
Leeds Colleges 
 
Leeds Partnership Foundation Trust 
 
Leeds Primary Care Trust 
 
Leeds Teaching Hospitals Trust 
 
Leeds Voice 
 
Museums Libraries Archives Yorkshire 
 
Natural England 
 
re’new 
 
Sport England 
 
Housing and Regeneration bodies in the Leeds Housing Partnership 
 
West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 
 
West Yorkshire Metro 
 
West Yorkshire Police 
 
West Yorkshire Police Authority 
 
West Yorkshire Probation Service 
 
 

Partners have also contributed to this plan through the following partnerships: 
 
 

Page 178



 

 3 

Children Leeds 
 
Leeds Culture 
 
Leeds Economy 
 
Environment Leeds 
 
Harmonious Leeds 
 
Healthy Leeds 
 
Regenerating Leeds 
 
Safer Leeds 
 
Transport Leeds 
 
Voluntary Community Faith Sector Strategy Group 
 
 
 
 
 

Working in partnership through the Leeds Initiative 

Page 179



 

 4 

 
Table of Contents 
 
Foreword  
 
Section 1 –  Making a Difference 
 
Section 2 –  Priorities by Theme 
 

Culture 
 

Enterprise and the Economy 
 

Learning 
 

Transport 
 

Environment 
 

Health and Well being 
 

Thriving Places 
 

Harmonious Communities 
 
Section 3 –  Making it Happen 
 
Appendix – Table of Targets 2008 -2011 
 
Glossary of Terms 
 
About this publication – other languages, formats, where to find out more 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 180



 

 5 

 
Foreword 
 

Welcome to the Leeds Strategic Plan. The Plan covers the period from 1 April 2008 to 31 
March 2011.  Inside, you will find the outcomes and priorities agreed with our partners to 
help deliver the aspirations for the city set out in the Vision for Leeds 2004 – 2020.   

 
The Plan is a significant milestone in partnership working in Leeds as it is the first time 
that the council has agreed, with its partners, a single shared set of outcomes and 
priorities for the city. Together, too, we have identified the actions needed to deliver 
them.  It builds on a strong and successful history of partnership working through the 
Leeds Initiative which, since 1990, has brought the council, business, public bodies, and 
voluntary, community and faith groups together for the benefit of the city.   

 
The Leeds Strategic Plan also embraces the local area agreement for the city and shows 
how many of the priorities, identified by local people and agreed locally by the council 
and its partners, are shared with national government.  However, whilst a number of the 
indicators and targets have been negotiated and agreed with government, it is the 
wishes of local people which have shaped the Plan’s contents and will shape the future 
of the city.   

 
We are rightly ambitious for Leeds and we are confident that we are well placed to 
deliver.  The council has recently been awarded the highest four star rating for councils 
which puts Leeds among the highest performing authorities in the country.  The council 
and Leeds Initiative have also recently been awarded a Beacon award for the strength 
and quality of partnership working in the city, recognising how Leeds has, over many 
years, built effective partnerships to address the many and varied challenges faced by 
the city.   
 
This is a partnership plan and we know that it can only be delivered through the efforts of 
all of us working together and collectively bringing our resources to bear on the problems 
and the opportunities facing Leeds over the next three years.  The council has also 
produced a Business Plan which sets out in greater detail the council’s contribution to 
achieving the targets set out in this plan.   
 
We look forward to working together to deliver the targets in this Plan.  By focusing our 
energies and working together we will make Leeds a better place for everyone. 
 
 
Councillor Richard Brett, Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group 
 
Councillor Andrew Carter, Leader of the Conservative Group 
 
Paul Rogerson, Chief Executive 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181



 

 6 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

SECTION 1  
 

MAKING A DIFFERENCE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRESS and CHALLENGES 
 

Page 182



 

 7 

Leeds is recognised as one of Britain’s most successful cities. It has transformed itself over 
the last 20 years from a mainly industrial city into a broad based commercial centre, the 
most important financial and legal and business service centre outside London. Leeds is the 
largest city in the Yorkshire and Humber region and is the biggest retail and employment 
centre. 
 
Leeds is a quality place to live, work and raise families and has attracted the largest absolute 
increase in population in the country, 4.8% since 2001. The current population of over 
750,000 embraces a rich diversity of over 130 different nationalities. 
 
Economic, cultural and environmental factors have made major contributions to Leeds being 
a successful place. Over the past decade Leeds has benefited from continued and 
significant economic growth.  Between 1996 and 2006 the City has seen Gross Value 
Added, a measure of wealth creation, increase by 36% and 59,000 new jobs created. 
Recent investment in the city has been impressive with £3.2bn invested in commercial 
property development and a further £7.2bn under construction or planned. Investment in the 
planning service has assisted investors, developers and citizens in Leeds. The public sector 
has also invested significantly in new schools, health facilities and in new town and district 
centres.  
 
Culturally, Leeds continues to invest in its magnificent and growing collection of concert 
halls, theatres, galleries, museums, parks and sporting venues. There is lively participation 
in community festivals across the city and Leeds offers the widest range of free events in the 
country.  
 
Environmentally, Leeds is a green city with two-thirds of its area green belt land. Improving 
local neighbourhoods is also a strong priority and real improvements have been made. 
Cleanliness has been improved in 28 of the 31 most deprived neighbourhoods as a result of 
partner agencies working together with local residents. There has also been considerable 
investment to bring all our homes in Leeds up to the national ‘Decent Homes’ standard and 
by 2010 this will be met. 
 
People in Leeds are generally living longer and more safely. Life expectancy for both men 
and women has grown by over a year over the last 10 years. Crime has fallen by 
approximately 30% since 2003/4, the second highest fall in crime in the country. 
 
More children are doing well at school than ever before with results at GCSE showing strong 
and sustained improvement. These changes are being achieved by an approach that 
engages children and young people and puts schools and childrens centres at the heart of 
the community. It is being supported by large scale investment in new and refurbished 
schools and childrens centres. Leeds is also a major centre of learning for further and higher 
education, with two leading universities and a student population of over 124,000.  
 
However, despite these positive trends, many challenges still remain and recent 
developments such as a rising population and traffic present fresh challenges.    
 
Too many children and young people still leave school with few or no qualifications, 
particularly from low income families, those with special educational needs, some black and 
minority ethnic groups and looked after children. 
 
Health inequalities continue to exist. Children born into the most deprived neighbourhoods 
can expect to live almost 12 years less than those in areas that enjoy the best health. The 
percentage of people over 60, currently 20% of the population, is forecast to grow raising 
issues of how older people’s health, independence and contribution to the life of the 
community will be supported. 

Page 183



 

 8 

 
Some neighbourhoods and communities have not shared in the economic success enjoyed 
by much of the city.  The numbers of people unable to work due to illness or injury remains a 
key issue. Many local people are excluded from job opportunities or developing their careers 
due to a mismatch between their skills and aspirations and the skills now required. Only 65% 
of the Leeds workforce has level 2 skills (equivalent to five A* to C GCSEs) against a 
national skills target of 90% by 2020. 
 
A growing population and greater prosperity puts pressure on the housing market in Leeds 
The impact of climate change can be clearly seen in Leeds and will be an increasingly 
important issue for the city. Parts of the city have been subject to flooding and are at high 
risk of further flooding in the future.  There is an urgent need to reduce CO2 and other green 
house gas emissions to contribute to national and global targets. More people living and 
travelling to work in Leeds places greater strain on the transport system. Road traffic grew 
by 4.9% between 1996 and 2006 and further growth is predicted. Migration enriches our 
diversity but raises challenges for creating and sustaining a sense of belonging amongst all 
communities. 
 
These are some of the key challenges facing the city and city region over the next three 
years and beyond. They are explained in fuller detail in section 2 of this plan accompanied 
by an explanation of where we need to focus our efforts to overcome these challenges. 
 

OUR AMBITION 
 
Leeds has an ambitious vision for the city and for the people who live, work and visit Leeds.  
This vision is captured in the Leeds’ sustainable community strategy, the Vision for Leeds 
2004 to 2020. This sets out our key ambitions of ‘going up a league’ both economically and 
in terms of quality of life and ‘narrowing the gap’ between the richer and poorer parts of the 
city. 
 
The council and its partners all share the desire ‘to bring the benefits of a prosperous, 
vibrant and attractive city to all the people of Leeds’. Our ambitions for the next three years 
are to see: 
 

• people happy, healthy, safe, successful and free from the effects of poverty; 

• our young people equipped to contribute to their own and the city’s future well being 
and prosperity; 

• local people engaged in decisions about their neighbourhood and community and 
help shape local services; 

• neighbourhoods that are inclusive, varied and vibrant offering housing options and 
quality facilities and free from harassment and crime; 

• an environment that is clean, green, attractive and above all, sustainable; and 

• a city-region that is prosperous, innovative and distinctive enabling individuals and 
businesses to achieve their economic potential. 

 
REAL CHANGE 
 
The Vision for Leeds 2004 to 2020 sets out eight themes that provide a broad framework for 
our actions. These are Culture, Enterprise and Economy, Learning, Transport, Environment, 
Health and Wellbeing, Thriving Places and Harmonious Communities. 
 
This plan sets out the outcomes - the real changes we want to see in the lives of people in 
Leeds and the city by 2011 in each of the Vision themes.  It is based on a robust analysis of 
the strengths and weaknesses of the city and identifies the key areas where we want to 

Page 184



 

 9 

focus our efforts to ensure we achieve results. These areas we describe as improvement 
priorities. Finally, it sets targets for what will be achieved and how we will measure progress 
over the three year journey.  
 

VIEWS AND COMMITMENT 
 
The experiences and views of a wide range of people in the city have been taken into 
account in identifying the outcomes and improvement priorities in this plan. 71% of the 
population of Leeds were involved in establishing the themes and priorities of the Vision for 
Leeds during 2003 and 2004.  As well as the consultation findings from that exercise we 
have updated our understanding of what the people of Leeds want by gathering fresh 
evidence.  We consulted councillors representing people of all communities in the city; we 
drew on the latest results of the Annual Citizen’s Survey and we organised a series of focus 
groups representative of the gender, age, ethnic origin, disability and sexuality profile of the 
Leeds population. 
 
We also consulted a wide range of city-wide networks and key partners who represent 
different interests in the city. These included black and ethnic minority communities, local 
businesses and voluntary sector networks and representatives and partners from education, 
health, community safety, culture, transport, economic and environmental sectors. 
 
We have also looked at the latest information available on the changing social, economic, 
demographic and environmental conditions in Leeds and performance information against 
existing targets in areas such as education, crime, health, employment and the overall 
prosperity of the city.  We have also considered the implications of national policies for 
Leeds where relevant, such as the ‘Every Child Matters’ agenda, promoting the health and 
wellbeing of adults and economic, transport and housing policy developments.  
 
We have a shared and inclusive vision of the changes we want to see over the next three 
years and with our partners we are committed to turning our long term vision into reality. We 
know too that there is a great commitment from those living, working, investing, volunteering 
and participating in organisations and communities that will also make a huge contribution to 
achieving positive change in the city. 
 

APPROACH 
 
Many people have raised the importance of how we approach what we need to do over the 
next three years. Below, are key areas that have been highlighted and will inform the spirit of 
implementation. 
 

• Interconnectivity and partnership working 
 

Getting to the root of many challenges in the city will require an awareness of the 
interconnection between our different outcomes and improvement priorities. For example, 
consistently raising achievement levels of young people in some of the most deprived areas 
of Leeds involves raising the quality of life for families living in those communities; finding 
solutions to, and engaging people in, employment opportunities; housing security and 
environmental and health issues. Similarly, improving the quality of the urban environment to 
reduce air and noise pollution and create places where people can walk safely may require 
investment in public transport to reduce car use.   
 
Listening, sharing and learning from each other will help us identify where our efforts are 
best concentrated to achieve the best results. We are proud of the degree of partnership 
working already established in Leeds. In many areas it is mature and embedded as an 

Page 185



 

 10 

approach to delivering services and has helped deliver impressive results. For example, 
fewer neighbourhoods in the city are now among the most deprived nationally according to a 
recent national measure of deprivation.  However, it is important that we build on this strong 
foundation and explore new ways to work together to improve services and meet needs. A 
series of principles underpinning our approach to partnership working is outlined on page 30. 
 

• Equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

We are committed to increasing equality for, and valuing the diversity of all communities in 
Leeds. We recognise that priorities and actions can affect some communities or groups who 
live and work in the city differently. The plan has been reviewed to ensure that the needs of 
all communities have been considered and we will continue to assess the impact of the 
targets and actions delivered through this plan over the next three years.    
 
We also need to work intensively to make sure that the implementation of our improvement 
priorities supports and encourages a shared sense of belonging in all communities in the city 
and also recognises the valuable contribution of different individuals and groups to shaping 
the city’s future. We believe that everyone, of whatever background, should have the same 
opportunities and access to services as anyone else and share a strong sense of every 
individual’s rights and responsibilities as a citizen of Leeds. 
 

• Sustainability 
 
Finally, we need to ensure that what we do today does not compromise the ability of future 
generations to meet their own needs, in other words, that this plan promotes sustainable 
development. The plan has been reviewed in terms of its impact on sustainable 
development, namely whether it promotes living within environmental limits; ensures a 
strong, healthy and just society; helps to achieve a sustainable economy; uses sound 
technology responsibly; and promotes good governance. The sustainability criteria used in 
the review are the same as those being used to review the city’s other plans.  
 

MAKING IT WORK 
 
The council’s lead role in helping to shape the future of Leeds has been strengthened by 
recent legislation - the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The 
government has asked councils to work with partners to agree jointly the ambitions for their 
area over the next three years. Partners have also been asked to co-operate with councils 
and other partners to agree and deliver targets that ensure the ambitions result in real 
change. This plan fulfils the statutory requirement for the Council and partners to work 
together to deliver a local area agreement. 
 
Leeds Initiative, the city’s overarching partnership body, is the forum for effective partnership 
working, collectively monitoring and reviewing progress on the delivery of the priorities in this 
Plan. All target-setting and consequent financial, commissioning or contractual commitments 
are put in place through Leeds City Council as the accountable body and principal partner 
and by partners through their own strategic plans and decision making arrangements  These 
arrangements will be subject to scrutiny by councillors and open to the public. 
 
Leeds Initiative’s thematic partnerships contribute to the development of the supporting 
strategies and plans for the Vision for Leeds and this Plan. Some of these strategies, like the 
Climate Change Strategy for example, provide an in-depth and longer term expression of 
some of the outcomes and priorities in this Plan. Others are more specific, thematic plans 
like the Children and Young People’s Plan, Safer Leeds Partnership Plan and the Health 

Page 186



 

 11 

and Wellbeing Plan, that contain more detail of what will be delivered and by whom during 
the lifespan of this Plan. Key strategies and plans are signposted in each theme in Section 2. 
 
Section 3 outlines how the plan will be delivered in greater detail. It shows how the Leeds 
Strategic Plan fits into the overall framework of city-wide planning. It also sets out the 
partnership principles that will guide how partners will work together over the duration of the 
plan. Accountability is further clarified with an explanation of how performance will be 
reviewed and managed. Finally, it explains the arrangements for reviewing and revising the 
Plan as a whole. 
 

Page 187



 

 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 2  
 

Priorities by Theme 

Page 188



 

 13 

Culture 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
Through culture in all its different forms, people can find enjoyment, enrich their lives, fulfil 
their potential and keep active. The benefits of culture are linked to improved health, 
wellbeing and educational attainment. A broad-based and diverse approach to culture can 
both help to regenerate communities and contribute to the standing and profile of a city.  We 
seek to provide the widest range of opportunities for local people and visitors to experience 
and participate in.  
 
Consultation on the priorities for this plan showed that Leeds people value participation by all 
groups and communities in cultural events.  In the 2007 Annual Residents Survey, over a 
quarter of residents said that activities for teenagers should be a priority for the council.  
Excellence, diversity and wider participation are also emphasised nationally and the run up 
to the 2012 London Olympics will focus attention particularly on participation in sport as well 
as broader cultural activities. 
 
Leeds has a large and growing range of cultural events and facilities including, theatres, 
galleries, libraries and museums, sporting venues, parks and open spaces, an International 
Concert Season of more than 200 concerts per year, International Film Festivals and 
renowned opera and ballet companies.  Leeds City Council also has a longstanding 
commitment to free events for local people such as Party and Opera in the Park and to 
community festivals such as Chapeltown Carnival. 
 
Over the last three years, substantial investment in cultural facilities has resulted in the first 
phase of restoration of the Art Gallery and Central Library where we have seen an 85% 
increase in visitor figures, the opening of the Kirkstall Abbey visitor centre; refurbishment of 
the Grand Theatre, and the opening of an Aquatics Centre at the John Charles Centre for 
Sport.  Further developments include the opening of Leeds’ new museum in 2008, 
restoration of the City Varieties Music Hall; a major redevelopment of Garforth Library and 
two new leisure centres in Armley and Morley.  Extensive consultation about parks and open 
spaces has resulted in an additional £4.5m of investment to improve community parks 
across the city.   
 
However, there is still a great deal to be done to ensure that Leeds has the highest quality 
cultural facilities and activities that are accessible and inclusive of all its citizens. Some of 
Leeds’ cultural facilities still do not match the quality of its events or fulfil their potential to put 
Leeds on the international stage. A sustainable future also needs to be found for some of 
Leeds’ most exciting cultural events for them to thrive and grow.   
 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Increased participation in cultural opportunities through engaging with all our 
communities. 

• Enhanced cultural opportunities through encouraging investment and 
development of high quality facilities of national and international significance. 

 

Page 189



 

 14 

We need to do more to increase people’s access to cultural opportunities. We are working to 
double visitor figures for Leeds’ museums and galleries and finding ways to better include all 
sections of the community and consult people about what they want.   
 
Leeds is working particularly hard to ensure that young people can enjoy the cultural 
opportunities on offer.  The Breeze Card is an increasingly useful channel for children and 
young people to access cultural activities and facilities.  Over 167,000 Breeze card holders 
participate in 100 holiday sports programmes while a further 15,500 attend Breeze on Tour 
activities across Leeds.  We need to further develop ways of better coordinating 
opportunities for young people to engage in creative activity outside school, to ensure that 
no young people are left behind. 
 
Our priorities listed below will enhance Leeds’ cultural life to reflect its status as a vibrant 
cosmopolitan city and enable everyone to participate in and enjoy what the city has to offer. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvement Priorities 
 
By 2011 we want to: 
 

§ Enable more people to become involved in sport and culture by providing 
better quality and wider ranging activities and facilities. 

§ Facilitate the delivery of major cultural schemes of international significance. 

 

Supporting Strategies: 

• Library Plan  

• Renaissance in the Regions (Museums 
Strategy) 

• Parks and Greenspace Strategy*  

• Taking the Lead: A strategy for sport and 
active recreation in Leeds 2006 to 2012 

• Physical Activity Strategy*  

• Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-09 

*In development 

Page 190



 

 15 

 
Enterprise and the Economy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
Underpinning the resurgence of Leeds as a city is the renaissance of its economy.  Between 
1996 and 2006 the city has seen Gross Value Added increase by 36% and 59,000 new jobs, 
more than any city outside London. Recent investment in the city has been phenomenal with 
£3.2bn invested in commercial property development and a further £7.2bn under 
construction or in the pipeline. Major new developments such as the £800m Eastgate and 
Harewood Quarter, £300m Trinity Quarter, the regeneration of the Aire Valley and the 
completion of the East Leeds Link road (which will unlock 400 hectares of prime 
development land and a potential 30,000 jobs over the next 10-15 years) will build on the 
recent history of success. 
 
However, we are not complacent about Leeds’ future economic performance and significant 
challenges remain.  Leeds has produced fewer new start up businesses than other cities and 
far fewer new businesses are set up in the poorest parts of the city. Similarly, consultation 
for this plan showed that spreading enterprise to the more deprived parts of the city and 
equipping the workforce with the skills to participate in the economy were key priorities. The 
business community also emphasised the need to make the most of private sector 
investment and enhance the city’s reputation as a centre for knowledge and innovation. 
 
The City Council has a pivotal role in guiding the city’s renaissance and providing a 
supportive framework for investment and development including investing in the public realm 
– such as creating new public spaces like Millennium Square and redeveloping City Square.  
The council and its partners are supporting economic development and regeneration in 
neighbourhoods and local communities across the city through programmes such as the 
Town and District Centre Programme and Local Enterprise Growth Initiative (LEGI) which is 
specifically aimed at developing enterprise, creating new jobs and boosting prosperity in the 
city’s most disadvantaged areas. 
 
Leeds is also an engine of growth for the City Region and the region as a whole.  In 2006, a 
Leeds City Region Development Plan was launched to accelerate the creation of new jobs in 
the area, particularly by enhancing transport links and the skills of the local workforce.  A 
multi area agreement between Leeds, its neighbouring local authorities and government will 
help deliver the ambitious goals set out in the City Region Development Plan.   
 
However, if Leeds is to achieve all it can for its residents and the wider region it must 
establish itself on the international stage and attract businesses and investment from further 
afield. We are now developing a new Economic Development Strategy which will build on 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Increased entrepreneurship and innovation through effective support to achieve 
the full potential of people, business and the economy. 

 
• Increased international competitiveness through marketing and investment in 

high quality infrastructure and physical assets, particularly in the city centre. 

Page 191



 

 16 

the current core aims and reflect emerging trends like globalisation and the potential impact 
of climate change. 
 
Our priorities listed below support the city’s continued prosperity and help establish it as a 
leading European city which offers a high standard of living to everyone by narrowing the 
gap between the most disadvantaged people and communities and the rest of the city. 
 
 
 Improvement Priorities 
 
What we want to deliver by 2011: 

 

§ Increase innovation and entrepreneurial activity across the city. 

§ Facilitate the delivery of major developments in the city centre to enhance the 
economy and support local employment. 

§ Increase international communications, marketing and business support 
activities to promote the city and attract investment. 

Supporting Strategies: 
 
Leeds Economic Development Strategy*  
 
Informed by: 

§ City Region Development Plan 

§ Regional Economic Strategy 2006-2015 

§ Leeds Renaissance Framework 

§ Regional Spatial Strategy to 2016 
(Published December 2004) 

§ Local Development Framework, core 
strategy and other policies 

*in development 

Page 192



 

 17 

 

Learning 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
Learning is central to achieving our aspirations for the city. A skilled and well-trained 
workforce is vital for the future prosperity of Leeds and for everyone to share in that success.  
Learning and educational success also improves the health and wellbeing of individuals and 
communities and supports a culturally vibrant city. The foundations for this are laid in our 
schools but, increasingly, training to update and acquire new skills will be a lifelong activity 
for us all.   

 
Leeds’ schools and early year’s providers have made great progress in recent years, 
strengthened by massive investment in award-winning new buildings and IT systems for 
schools and children’s centres.  Early year’s provision is a strength of the city and the most 
recent results show strong improvements. Primary schools are good and results are in line 
with performance nationally and in similar areas. Secondary schools have also improved 
strongly recently, particularly those schools in the most challenging circumstances. Results 
for 14 year olds are now in line with national averages and similar authorities. Outcomes at 
GCSE have seen strong and sustained improvement and results are now in line with similar 
areas, and are close to the national average.  
 
However, significant challenges remain. Too many children and young people are 
persistently absent from school, progress in secondary schools is still below the national 
average and the gap in achievement for vulnerable children and young people, especially 
looked after children and young people, those from low income families, those with special 
educational needs and some black and minority ethnic groups is still too high. 
 
Fewer young people continue in learning or employment after the age of 16 in Leeds than in 
similar areas or nationally. Vulnerable young people are more likely to not be engaged in any 
form of learning, training or work.  Schools, colleges and other partners must continue to 
work together to provide more choice and better routes and pathways to learning so that all 
young people are engaged, successful and ready for adult life. 
 
Around a fifth of the Leeds workforce were recorded as having no skills in 2005 and more 
will have to be done if the workforce in Leeds is to meet ambitious national targets for a 
more skilled workforce.  By 2020 the aim is for 90% of the workforce nationally to have level 
2 skills or higher (equivalent to five A*-C GCSEs).  The current figure for Leeds is around 
65%. 
 
Consultation on the priorities for this plan showed strong support for raising the level of 
participation among our children and young people in education and training and improving 
the results achieved by children and young people.  The business community also 
emphasised the importance of the city’s universities and colleges.  The improvement 
priorities below reflect these views. 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• An enhanced workforce that will meet future challenges through fulfilling 
individual and economic potential and investing in learning facilities.  

 

Page 193



 

 18 

 

Improvement Priorities 
 
By 2011 we want to: 
 

§ Enhance the skill level of the workforce to fulfil individual and economic 
potential. 

§ Improve learning outcomes for all 16 year olds, with a focus on narrowing the 
achievement gap. 

§ Improve learning outcomes and skill levels for 19 year olds. 
§ Increase the proportion of vulnerable groups engaged in education, training 

or employment. 
§ Improve participation and early learning outcomes for all children, with a focus 

on families in deprived areas. 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 
 

Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-2009  

People Centred Places*  
 
Informed by: 
 

§ Leeds 14-19 Strategy 2006-2010 

§ Education Leeds Strategic Plan 2004 – 2007 

§ Higher Education and Further Education 
corporate plans 

*in development 

Page 194



 

 19 

 

Transport 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
Whether a journey is in a car, on a bus or train, on two wheels, or on foot and whether it is to 
get to work, school or to the shops, quality of life is undoubtedly enhanced by being able to 
move around more easily.  Similarly, moving people and goods within Leeds and beyond is 
key to the city being a good place to do business.  Accessible, affordable, and convenient 
transport will make a big contribution to the city being a place where people want to live and 
work. Our aspirations are to deliver this goal and ensure that future growth is not constrained 
by transport difficulties so it is critical that land use planning and transport are linked.   
 
Leeds has good transport links - the M1, M621 and A1 (M) provide good road links to other 
parts of the country; Leeds’ railway station has the highest number of passengers of any 
station outside London with 90,000 passengers using the station every day and it has 
recently undergone refurbishment to meet growing demand.  Leeds also has an extensive 
bus network with about 90 million passenger journeys every year.  Innovations like guided 
bus routes along converted central reservations have improved journey reliability and 
punctuality.   
 
Transport is however, a major concern for local people. Consultation to identify priorities for 
this plan found that improving the quality, accessibility and use of public transport was a 
priority for all groups as was improving access to job opportunities. The business community 
emphasised the need to improve international links and connectivity for the benefit of both 
local businesses and people. In 2007 residents said that road and pavement repairs were 
the most important issue in their local area and should also be a top priority for the council. 
 
As more people live in and travel to work in Leeds greater strain will be imposed on the 
transport system.  Road traffic grew by 4.9% between 1996 and 2006 and further growth is 
predicted.  In 2001 around 108,000 people commuted into Leeds daily for work and that 
number is estimated to have grown significantly in recent years; in 2006 the total number of 
trips into the city averaged about 122,500 a day.  More investment to boost the capacity of 
the transport system, particularly for buses and trains will be needed to meet rising demand 
within the city and the surrounding area.   
 
A proposal to upgrade the city’s buses and develop a high grade transit system is under 
development which could deliver a fast and convenient alternative to the car for many 
journeys, as well as reducing congestion and pollution. With our neighbouring local 
authorities and Metro, we are working to improve rail and bus links within and around Leeds. 
We have established an ambitious 25 year Transport Vision to ensure that these 
improvements benefit the wider City Region rather than just Leeds. We are also investing 
heavily in highways maintenance to significantly improve the road network; we have made 
an extra £82m available to complete hundreds of schemes across the city by 2012 which will 
significantly improve the condition of our streets. 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Increased accessibility and connectivity through investment in a high quality 
transport system and through influencing others and changing behaviours. 

 

Page 195



 

 20 

 

The priorities below address these issues and also show how investing in our roads, buses 
and trains will make Leeds a safer city for all travellers.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvement Priorities 
 
What we want to deliver by 2011: 
 

§ Deliver and facilitate a range of transport proposals for an enhanced transport 
system, including cycling and walking. 

§ Improve the quality, capacity, use and accessibility of public transport 
services in Leeds. 

§ Improve the condition of the streets and transport infrastructure by carrying 
out a major programme of maintenance and improvements. 

§ Improve road safety for all our users, especially motor cyclists, pedal cyclists 
and pedestrians. 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 

 

West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 2006-2011  
 
Informed by: 

§ 25 year Leeds city-region Transport Vision 

§ Highways Asset Management Plan 

§ Traffic Management Action Plans* 

§ Regional Transport Strategy as part of 
Regional Spatial Strategy 

* in development 

Page 196



 

 21 

 

Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

•   
 
 
Context 
 
We are fully committed to being at the leading edge of responding to climate change. 
Fortunately, Leeds is well placed to meet this challenge.  Together with local partners, the 
council has developed a Climate Change Strategy to mitigate the impact of climate change 
on the city.  Leeds City Council also monitors its own direct impact on the environment 
through the rigorous Eco Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS). 
 
Local residents feel the environment is important. In 2007, 14% of local residents surveyed 
said that a clean neighbourhood (without litter or graffiti) was one of the five things most in 
need of improvement in their area.  A third of residents said that rubbish and litter lying 
around was a local problem and over a quarter said that vandalism and graffiti were also 
local problems.  Linked issues like the state of pavements and roads and access to parks 
and green space were also cited as issues of concern.  Maintaining the quality of the built 
environment and ensuring that new developments create spaces to inspire and bring people 
together is key to creating sustainable communities and neighbourhoods.  A well maintained 
environment contributes to other important aspects of wellbeing like accessibility and 
opportunities for leisure and relaxation.  We are proud that two-thirds of Leeds’ area is green 
space and a number of our parks have already achieved Green Flag status. Extensive 
consultation about parks and open spaces has resulted in an additional £4.5m of investment 
to improve community parks.   
 
Waste and recycling is also important locally.  Doorstep recycling collection and local 
recycling facilities have been used by virtually all local residents and there are generally high 
levels of satisfaction with the facilities provided in Leeds.  However, Leeds’ performance in 
terms of recycling and particularly waste going to landfill is average in comparison with other 
authorities and further progress will be needed to meet the ambitious targets we have set for 
recycling. 
 
The environment is a key priority locally, nationally and globally.  The UK is on track to 
reduce its CO2 and other greenhouse gas emissions by 12.5 per cent (using 1990 levels as 
a baseline) as part of its commitment under the Kyoto Protocol.  This has been achieved 
through greater energy efficiency; promoting renewable sources of energy; and reducing the 
amount of pollution emitted from all energy sources.  The current Climate Change Bill 
proposes a statutory framework for reducing greenhouse gas emissions and will set ‘carbon 
budgets’ to drive reductions in CO2 emissions by households, businesses, local authorities 
and other public bodies.   
 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Reduced ecological footprint through responding to environmental and climate 
change and influencing others. 

• Cleaner, greener and more attractive city through effective environmental 
management and changed behaviours.  

 

Page 197



 

 22 

We all have an obligation to change our behaviour to mitigate the effects of climate change. 
The council, for example, is already reducing its impact on the environment by switching the 
majority of its electricity to ‘green electricity’, establishing schemes within its buildings to 
involve staff in managing environmental impacts, and delivering and advising on energy 
efficiency in both privately owned and Housing Association homes. Through planning 
regulations, developers and partners are being encouraged to improve design quality and 
reduce the environmental impact of their activities. For example, developers in Holbeck 
Urban Village have produced a sustainability report to support planning applications which 
covers energy efficiency, waste management and CO2 emissions. 
 
The impact of climate change can be clearly seen in Leeds and will be an increasingly 
critical issue for the city.  Parts of the city were flooded, both in June 2007 and January 
2008, and, consequently, we are working with our partners to secure an effective flood 
defence system. 
 
The priorities below set out where we will concentrate our efforts over the next three years to 
improve the city’s environment.  
 
 
 
 

Improvement Priorities 

 
By 2011 we want to: 

 

§ Increase the amount of waste reused and recycled and reduce the amount of waste 
going to landfill. 

§ Reduce emissions from public sector buildings, operations and service delivery, and 
encourage others to do so. 

§ Undertake actions to improve our resilience to current and future climate change. 

§ Address neighbourhood problem sites; improve cleanliness and access to and 
quality of green spaces. 

§ Improve the quality and sustainability of the built and natural environment. 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 
 

§ Local Development Framework 
§ Regional Spatial Strategy 2004 to 2016 
§ Climate Change Strategy* 
§ Integrated Waste Strategy 2006 - 2025 
§ Leeds Strategic Flood risk assessment 
§ West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 
§ Energy and Water Management Plan 
§ Parks and Greenspace Strategy 
*in development 

Page 198



 

 23 

 
Health and Wellbeing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
People in Leeds are growing healthier and living longer.  At birth men can expect to live for 
76.2 years compared to 74.6 years in 1997.  Life expectancy at birth for women has 
increased from 80.1 years to 81.2 in the same period.  
 
However, this increase is not evenly spread across the city. The gap between richer and 
poorer areas of Leeds can be counted in extra years of life and is not narrowing.  Children 
born today in the city’s most disadvantaged neighbourhoods can expect to die almost twelve 
years earlier than those in areas of Leeds which enjoy the best health.   
 
Health is influenced by many different factors and other priorities in this plan like 
encouraging more people to participate in sport and be physically active or reducing 
accidents on our roads will contribute to a healthier city. Our lifestyles and choices around 
issues like smoking, drinking, diet, exercise or sexual behaviour have an impact not just on 
our health as individuals but also on the health needs of Leeds as a whole.   
 
Rising life expectancy and the growing number of older people will increase the need for 
additional services or support to maximise the capacity of elderly or vulnerable people to 
continue living independently.  Schemes such as Keeping House have assisted over 2,000 
older and disabled people in Leeds to find practical support and help in the home.  Adult 
care services in Leeds have recently been commended for improving the quality of life of 
vulnerable adults and helping them to get better access to services.  By giving direct 
payments to more people we are working to give more choice to people so that they can 
choose for themselves the services they want.  The numbers of people projected to be in receipt 
of direct payment should double over the next three years, so that by 2011 over 1100 will benefit.'  

Direct payments, individual budgets and improved access to mainstream services, such as 
training for a job or enjoying local community and recreational facilities will help achieve our 
priority to give greater independence to older and vulnerable people. 
 
To meet the challenge of reducing health inequalities in Leeds, the council, working with our 
key partners in the health service, will work to increase the number who quit smoking, 
increase the rate of physical activity across all age groups, tackle drug and alcohol misuse 
and co-ordinate action to reduce the number of teenage conceptions.   
 
Leeds is rising to the challenge to promote active lifestyles for people of all ages.  In 2007, 
there were over four million visits to Leeds City Council leisure centres and 36,470 visits to 
‘Active Life’ classes, for people aged over 50, across the city.  

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Reduced health inequalities through the promotion of healthy life choices and 
improved access to services. 

• Improved quality of life through maximising the potential of vulnerable people 
by promoting independence, dignity and respect. 

• Enhanced safety and support for vulnerable people through preventative and 
protective action to minimise risks and maximise wellbeing. 

Page 199



 

 24 

 
Our priorities below detail how we will work to reduce health inequalities and improve the 
physical, mental and social wellbeing of everyone in Leeds challenges over the next three 
years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thriving Places 
 
 
 
 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 

 

Health and Wellbeing Plan* 

Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-9 

 
Informed by: 

§ Leeds Tobacco Control Strategy 2006-2010 

§ Food Matters: a food strategy for Leeds 2006-2010 

§ Leeds Childhood Obesity Strategy 2006-2016 

§ Leeds Alcohol Strategy 2007-2010 

§ Older Better Strategy 2006-2011 

§ Leeds Emotional Health Strategy 2008/11 

§ Leeds Mental Health Strategy 2006-2011 

§ Supporting People Strategy 2005-2010 

§ Physical Activity Strategy*  

§ West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 

*in development 

Improvement Priorities 
 
By 2011 we want to: 

§ Reduce premature mortality in the most deprived areas. 

§ Reduce the number of people who smoke. 

§ Reduce rate of increase in obesity and raise physical activity for all. 
§ Reduce teenage conception and improve sexual health. 
§ Improve assessment and care management for children, families and vulnerable 

adults. 
§ Improve psychological mental health and learning disabilities services for all who 

need it. 
§ Increase the number of vulnerable people helped to live at home. 
§ Increase the proportion of people in receipt of community services enjoying choice 

and control over their daily lives. 
§ Improve safeguarding arrangements for vulnerable children and adults through 

better information, recognition and response to risk. 

 

Page 200



 

 25 

Thriving Places 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
The priorities in this theme are key concerns for local people.  Low crime, low levels of anti-
social behaviour and affordable, decent housing are the three most important things for 
making somewhere a good place to live according to Leeds residents in 2007.  Tackling 
crime and anti-social behaviour were also cited as two of the top five priorities for the council 
to tackle.   
 
Stakeholders consulted on priorities for this plan echoed the views of residents: crime, 
housing and reducing worklessness were chosen as the top priorities.  Councillors in 
particular saw this theme as vital for ‘narrowing the gap’ in the city between areas with low 
crime, good housing and high employment and more deprived parts of Leeds. 
 
Working in partnership with West Yorkshire Police through the Safer Leeds Partnership to 
reduce crime, anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime in those neighbourhoods with the 
highest crime levels has proved successful with crime falling by thirty per cent over the last 
three years, the second highest fall in crime in the country. However, there is more to do to 
reduce crime further by targeting persistent offenders and addressing anti-social behaviour 
and the problems that arise from alcohol and drug misuse.    
 
The council has made significant progress in improving council housing to ensure that by 
2010 it will meet the national ‘Decent Homes’ standard. Work with private sector landlords 
has resulted in over 2,300 empty homes being brought back into use in the last year and we 
have provided grants and advice to enable lower income households to heat their homes as 
cheaply and efficiently as possible. However, many households are finding it increasingly 
difficult to buy or rent a home in the city and higher fuel bills mean that an increasing number 
of residents find it difficult to heat their homes.  
 
The Council will work with its partners to deliver more new housing at a level that is 
affordable to buy and rent to ensure that we can meet the housing needs for all residents 
and not just those on high incomes. Work is underway to improve existing homes and build 
new homes through our existing PFI scheme in Swarcliffe with further work planned for Little 
London and Beeston Hill. The East and South East Leeds Project (EASEL) will deliver over 
5,000 new homes, along with community facilities and businesses over the next 15-20 years, 
helping to create strong and sustainable communities in those areas.   
 
There are neighbourhoods where too many people do not have a job, households are 
dependent on benefits and children grow up in poverty. Many residents do not have a bank 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• Improved quality of life through mixed neighbourhoods offering good housing 
options and better access to services and activities. 

• Reduced crime through prevention, detection, offender management, victim 
support and changed behaviours. 

• Increased economic activity through targeted support to reduce worklessness 
and poverty. 

 

Page 201



 

 26 

account or cannot borrow or save money at reasonable rates. The Council will work with its 
partners to support residents to obtain the right skills to secure work and progress in existing 
and new jobs. We will extend our award winning programmes to give households greater 
control over their money and access to trustworthy and reliable savings and credit so that 
families can be financially secure.   
   
The priorities below build on these successful programmes to create the conditions for 
thriving neighbourhoods over the next three years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvement Priorities 
 

By 2011 we want to: 
 

§ Increase the number of “decent homes”. 
§ Increase the number of affordable homes. 
§ Reduce the number of homeless people. 
§ Reduce the number of people who are not able to adequately heat their homes. 
§ Increase financial inclusion in deprived areas. 
§ Create safer environments by tackling crime 
§ Improve lives by reducing the harm caused by substance misuse 
§ Reduce offending by managing offending behaviour better 
§ Reduced bullying and harassment. 
§ Reduce worklessness across the city with a focus on deprived areas. 

§ Reduce the number of children in poverty. 

§ Develop extended services, using sites across the city, to improve support to 
children, families and communities. 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 
 

Leeds Housing Strategy 2005/06 – 2009/10 

Regional Spatial Strategy 2004 - 2016 

Local Development Framework 

Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-9 

Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 2008 -11  
 
Informed by: 
 

§ Leeds Affordable Warmth Strategy 2007-2016 

§ Leeds Domestic Violence Strategy 2004-2007 

§ Leeds Alcohol Strategy 2007-2010 

Page 202



 

 27 

 

Harmonious Communities  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Context 
 
Local pride, a sense of belonging and neighbourliness are key ingredients for the sorts of 
places people want to live in.  Leeds residents report high levels of belonging and 
satisfaction with where they live.  In the 2007 Annual Residents Survey three quarters of 
respondents said they feel they belong to their neighbourhood and nearly half (46%) said 
they feel that local people work together to improve their neighbourhood.  Two thirds of 
residents said that people of different backgrounds got on well together and three fifths of 
residents said that people respected ethnic difference where they lived.  Overall 81% were 
satisfied with their neighbourhood as a place to live.   
 
However, not all parts of the city share this sense of belonging and neighbourliness in equal 
measures.  Residents in the south of the city were less likely to say they belonged to their 
neighbourhood or that people worked together to improve their neighbourhood.  Young 
people were less likely than older people to say that people of different backgrounds got on 
well together where they lived or that people respected ethnic differences where they lived.  
Although a third of residents said they were satisfied with the way they could influence public 
services in their area, over a third said they would like more say in making decisions that 
affected their local area.   
 
In parts of the city the council has put in place Neighbourhood Managers to encourage local 
people to speak out and work with those delivering services to make the changes needed in 
their neighbourhood. Results show that people in these areas feel that they can make 
themselves heard and that they are listened to.  Satisfaction with the way that problems like 
litter, graffiti or anti-social behaviour are dealt with has risen.  Other services like the Police 
have also put in place neighbourhood teams so that they are closer to the local community 
they serve.   
 
There are numerous groups and organisations in the city, known collectively as the 
voluntary, community and faith sector, that support a wide range of activity and services 
needed in local communities. These organisations provide opportunities for local people to 
volunteer their time and skills to help others in their community and foster good relationships. 
Groups such as these are often community led and supported by grant funding and are 
vulnerable to changes in the way public services are delivered and grant funding is provided. 
The council is committed to working in partnership with this sector to ensure that it can 
continue to offer locally based services and opportunities for local citizens to take an active 
part in community life.     
 
A growing and increasingly diverse population creates new challenges as well as 
opportunities for creating strong cohesive communities.  Integrating new migrants from 
Eastern Europe as well as long established communities will enrich the city over time but 

Strategic Outcomes 
 
What we want to see by 2011: 
 

• More inclusive, varied and vibrant communities through empowering people to 
contribute to decision making and delivering local services. 

• Improved community cohesion and integration through meaningful involvement 
and valuing equality and diversity 

 

Page 203



 

 28 

perceptions of disadvantage or unfairness need to be addressed immediately.  Fostering 
more ways for people to engage in and shape the life of their communities will be a vital part 
of the process of creating strong, sustainable and harmonious communities.   
 
The priorities and targets below will measure progress towards these goals over the next 
three years.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Improvement Priorities 
 
By 2011 we want to: 
 

§ Increase the number of local people engaged in activities to meet community needs 
and improve the quality of life for local residents. 

§ Increase the number of local people that are empowered to have a greater voice and 
influence over local decision making and a greater role in public service delivery. 

§ Enable a robust and vibrant voluntary, community and faith sector to facilitate 
community activity and directly deliver services. 

§ Increase the sense of belonging and pride in local neighbourhoods that help to build 
cohesive communities. 

Supporting Strategies/Plans: 
 

Cohesion and Integration priorities and delivery plan 
2008 – 2011  

Children and Young People’s Plan 2006-9 

Page 204



 

 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SECTION 3 
 

MAKING IT HAPPEN 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 205



 

 30 

 

STREAMLINING THE CITY’S PLANNING FRAMEWORK 
 
The Leeds Strategic Plan sets out the outcomes that Leeds City Council and its partners 
have agreed to achieve over the next three years to help achieve the longer term objectives 
contained in the Vision for Leeds 2004 to 2020.  The Leeds Strategic Plan is effectively the 
delivery plan for the long term Vision for Leeds.   
 
We have used the legal requirement to develop a new Local Area Agreement (LAA) for 
Leeds as an opportunity to make the planning process in the city simpler.  The Leeds 
Strategic Plan replaces two plans, the Council’s Corporate Plan, which contained the 
Council’s priorities for the City (and itself as an organisation) and the Leeds Regeneration 
Plan which focused on ‘narrowing the gap’ between the poorest and wealthiest parts of 
Leeds.   
 
Leeds City Council and its partners have also revised the structural arrangements of the 
Leeds Initiative to ensure that the partnership is fit for purpose to deliver the ambitions laid 
out in our Vision for Leeds and our outcomes and priorities in the Leeds Strategic Plan.   
 
The council has produced its own Business Plan which will describe how the council will 
organise itself to deliver what it has agreed to do in the Leeds Strategic Plan.  Other partners 
will also have their own business and action plans to deliver what is agreed in this plan and 
integrate their other goals.   
 
In addition, individual service plans provide information on the specific tasks, actions and 
resources required to achieve the high level priorities and targets set out in the Leeds 
Strategic Plan and the Council Business Plan. They are developed annually at service level 
and are monitored throughout the year. These plans provide the link through to team and 
individual plans. 
 
City wide plans will be translated into action at an area level and for particular services. Area 
delivery plans (ADPs) will provide the local interpretation of the Leeds Strategic Plan 
reflecting and shaping the partnership activities for each area. The Area Delivery Plans are 
developed by each of the ten area committees. These committees are led by councillors 
representing local citizens, embedding democratic accountability into partnership activities at 
an area level. Local councillors have extensive knowledge of local conditions and can 
articulate priorities from different perspectives. 
 
On a different scale, it is increasingly an accepted fact that the Leeds economy works on a 
wider scale than the administrative boundaries of the city, and the success of Leeds also 
brings greater prosperity to neighbouring towns and cities.  Therefore, to complement the 
targets in the Leeds Strategic Plan we have also agreed a Multi Area Agreement (MAA) for 
Leeds and its neighbouring authorities.  
 
We have also taken into account other local, subregional and regional plans in drawing up 
this Plan, including the Local Development Framework, Regional Spatial Strategy,  Regional 
Economic Strategy, City Region Development Plan and the West Yorkshire Local Transport 
Plan 
 
 

EFFECTIVE DELIVERY THROUGH PARTNERSHIP WORKING 
 
Leeds has a good record of partnership working.  Since 1990 Leeds Initiative has brought 
together public agencies, private businesses and voluntary, community and faith groups to 

Page 206



 

 31 

develop a shared vision of a successful, prosperous and inclusive Leeds.  Leeds Initiative 
has also developed a ‘Compact for Leeds’ to support the work of the city’s voluntary, 
community and faith groups.  This recognises the role and value of community activity, 
encourages the effective use of resources and promotes equal partnerships through good 
communication, consultation and sharing of information.  Many different bodies will come 
together through partnerships like Children Leeds or the Integrated Strategic Commissioning 
Board (ICSB) for Children’s Services to help deliver targets across several of the themes in 
this plan. 
 
Building on these foundations Leeds City Council and its partners have adopted a set of 
partnership principles to make sure that our joint efforts really do achieve our common 
ambition: 
 
to bring the benefits of a prosperous, vibrant and attractive city to all the people of 
Leeds 
 
through: 
 

• focusing on the partners’ common purpose and community needs; 

• having clear responsibilities and arrangements for accountability; 

• good conduct and behaviour, treating all partners and stakeholders equally, fairly and 
respectfully;  

• informed, transparent decision-making and managing risk; 

• developing skills and capacity individually and as a partnership to deliver the 
outcomes and priorities in this plan; and 

• engaging stakeholders in drawing up our outcomes, priorities and targets and 
keeping people informed on how well we are delivering. 

 
The challenge for the Leeds Strategic Plan is to apply these principles to deliver real 
improvements for local people.  This requires new ways of partnership working in Leeds, 
sharing information and pooling resources among partners where this brings benefits 
through greater effectiveness and efficiency.  The new statutory duty for partners to 
cooperate in the delivery of targets in this Plan sets the context for us to deepen our 
partnership working.  Closer partnerships may be the right solution in many cases and the 
Council and its partners will explore the potential of extending joint service delivery and joint 
commissioning to deliver services more efficiently and effectively.   
 

MEASURING AND MANAGING PERFORMANCE  
 
Delivering on our targets is essential if we are to achieve our ambitions for Leeds and its 
residents.  This will be a collective endeavour for all the partners to this agreement.  Senior 
council officers will have lead accountability for each of themes, improvement priorities and 
targets in the Leeds Strategic Plan and will work with similar senior officers in partner 
organisations. Every partner will have regard to the targets in the Plan when drawing up their 
own budgets and business plans.  Partners will commit to leading or contributing to the 
achievement of specific targets in the Plan and will then be held to account for doing the 
things needed to meet those targets.   
 
We have developed reliable measures for each target and have put in place robust 
processes for regularly reporting performance.  These processes will measure progress 
against each target as well as the Plan’s impact on wider objectives like equality, community 
cohesion and sustainability.  For some targets, measures will be broken down by their 
impact on particular areas of the city and on the basis of gender, ethnic origin, age, disability, 
religion or belief and sexual orientation. 

Page 207



 

 32 

 
The council is ultimately accountable for working with its partners to draw up and deliver the 
Plan.  The Executive Board (of senior councillors) will receive regular reports on 
performance and recommend actions and changes to plans where performance is not on 
target.  The council’s Scrutiny Boards will also receive regular performance reports and have 
an opportunity to discuss issues of concern, call-in council officers and partners to account 
for their work to deliver targets in the plan and make recommendations to the council and its 
partners to improve performance.   
 
The Leeds Strategic Plan is a partnership plan and the council will, through the Leeds 
Initiative, agree its contents and engage with partners to monitor and manage the 
performance of the plan.  The Leeds Strategy Group will bring together the council and its 
partners to monitor performance against the targets in the plan, allocate resources, develop 
new ways of delivering more effectively for Leeds and regularly review the contents of the 
plan.   
 
Other thematic groups in the Leeds Initiative will also be kept informed of progress in 
relevant areas and contribute to the delivery of the Leeds Strategic Plan through developing 
more in-depth strategies and action plans. Local business representatives and 
representatives from voluntary, community and faith groups are involved alongside public 
sector partners in the work of these groups.  
 
The ten area committees across the city will also be reviewing progress towards achieving 
targets identified at an area level. They will be particularly vigilant in assessing 
improvements at a neighbourhood, as well as an area, level. The achievement of these 
targets will make a fundamental contribution to achieving the overall city wide targets and 
outcomes. 
 
Local people will receive regular updates on performance through stories in About Leeds, 
the Council newspaper, on the Council and Leeds Initiative websites and elsewhere. For 
example, progress will be reported to the Leeds Youth Council. Everyone will have 
opportunities to give their views on how well the Leeds Strategic Plan is being delivered.   
 
Thirty two targets in this plan have been negotiated and agreed with Government Office and 
reflect shared priorities with national government.  Progress against these targets must be 
reported annually to the government who must agree to any changes to these targets.   
 
 

REVIEWING AND REVISING THE LEEDS STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
Leeds’ priorities will inevitably change over time and the priorities and targets in the Leeds 
Strategic Plan will be regularly reviewed and updated to ensure this plan is still relevant and 
addresses the city’s real needs.   
 
The council and its partners will collect and use information on social, economic and 
environmental conditions and trends, including performance data against the targets in this 
plan, to change priorities and set new targets as necessary. Already, the council and the 
PCT are working jointly to assess current and future health needs in Leeds through a Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment. The findings from this assessment will inform future health 
priorities in this plan.   
 
Public opinion, gained through regular resident surveys will also feed into the setting of 
priorities and targets in future versions of this plan.  The views of council Scrutiny Boards, 
Area Committees and other partners and stakeholders will also be taken into account before 
the council and its partners agree any changes to the contents of the Plan.   

Page 208



 

 33 

 
The Audit Commission will assess on an annual basis conditions and prospects for the city 
through a new Comprehensive Area Assessment process.  Achievement of the targets in the 
Leeds Strategic Plan will form part of the Audit Commission’s annual assessment of how 
well Leeds is improving.  Further, more specific reviews on particular issues can be required 
where the Comprehensive Area Assessment suggests there is a risk of underperformance.  
Where the Audit Commission feels that performance in Leeds is unsatisfactory it will 
recommend new priorities for the Leeds Strategic Plan and the council and its partners will 
negotiate with the Government whether a target should be set to address that issue.  
Government Office will monitor performance and initiate discussions where performance is 
not on track and can intervene where performance is significantly below what is expected.   
 

KEEPING THIS PLAN AT THE CUTTING EDGE 
 
At every stage the council and its partners will inform, consult and involve local people, 
representatives of geographical communities and communities of interest, partners and 
stakeholders in the city and beyond where appropriate, and draw on expert analysis to 
ensure that the priorities and targets in the plan have been rigorously challenged, are truly 
robust and help to achieve our ambitions for Leeds.   

Page 209



 

 34 

Glossary 
 
25 Year City Region Transport Vision – is the long term targeted investment programme 
in our transport infrastructure, complemented by measures to manage the level of demand 
at peak travel times. 
 
Affordable homes –are homes provided at below market prices and include social rented 
housing, low cost housing for purchase and shared equity schemes where the cost of buying 
a house is shared by the homeowner and the government. 
 
Annual Citizens Survey –is a survey of Leeds residents to measure how local people view 
the quality of council services and the major priorities for their neighbourhood. 
 
Beacon – is a national award scheme to recognise and disseminate best practice across 
local government. In 2008 Leeds City Council and Leeds Initiative were awarded a beacon 
for the quality of its Local Area Agreement and partnership working through the Leeds 
Initiative. 
 
Breeze Card – offers children and young people in Leeds discounted entry to leisure 
centres, museums and galleries and a range of other activities and offers. 
 
City Region – comprises the 11 local authorities of Barnsley, Bradford, Calderdale, Craven, 
Harrogate, Kirklees, Leeds, North Yorkshire Selby, Wakefield, and York, which work 
together to promote common economic interests. 
 
Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA) – will be introduced from 2009 and will provide 
the first holistic independent assessment of the prospects for local areas and the quality of 
life for people living there. It will put the experience of citizens, people who use services and 
local taxpayers at the centre of the new local assessment framework. It will recognise the 
importance of effective local partnership working, the enhanced role of Sustainable 
Community Strategies and Local Area Agreements and the importance of councils in leading 
and shaping the communities they serve. 
 
Childrens Centres – 49 Childrens Centres across the city provide almost 3000 childcare 
and early years places. Key elements of these centres include providing support for parents 
who wish to enter training or who require help gaining employment, and providing access to 
community health services, including antenatal and child health services. 

 
Compact for Leeds – launched by the Leeds Initiative in September 2003, is a voluntary 
agreement between Leeds Initiative partners and the voluntary, community and faith sector 
to promote the contribution that voluntary, community and faith groups make to the life of the 
city. 
 
Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) – is the government department 
which deals with the education and well being of children, young people and families. 
 
Decent Homes – are homes that meet the government’s national decent homes standard  
Leeds aims to ensure that all its social housing meets this standard by 2010. 
 
Direct Payments – are cash payments made to individuals who have been assessed as 
needing services, thus giving them more choice and control over their lives. 
 
Early Years Foundation Stage Profile (EYFSP) – is a comprehensive framework which 
sets the standards for learning, development and care of children from birth to 5. 
 

Page 210



 

 35 

Eco Management Audit Standard (EMAS) – is an internationally recognised scheme to 
measure the environmental impact of an organisation’s activities. 
 
Every Child Matters (ECM) – is a national programme to ensure that every child is given 
the best possible start in life. 
 
Executive Board – is the principal decision making body of the council and is made up of 
around 10 councillors. 
 
Extended Services – refers to schools and children’s centres which provide high quality 
childcare from 8 am to 6 pm with a menu of activities available for children and young 
people, support and advice for parents and easy access to a number of support services 
such as healthcare.   
 
Fuel poverty – a household is in fuel poverty if it needs to spend more than 10% of its 
income on keeping warm. 
 
General Certificate of Secondary Education (GCSE) – the main educational qualification 
taken by children in schools in England at the end of compulsory secondary education, 
normally around the age of 16.  
 
Green Flag Award – is the national standard for parks and green spaces in England and 
Wales. 
 
Gross Value Added (GVA) – measures the contribution to the economy of each individual 
producer, industry or sector in the United Kingdom. 
 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) – is a process to assess the current and future 
needs of local people which will inform the priorities and targets in future versions of the 
Leeds Strategic Plan.  The JSNA will begin by mapping health and social care priorities for 
the city.    
 
Key Stage 2 – covers teaching for children between the ages of 7 to 11.  At the end of this 
stage children are assessed to see if they have made the progress expected at that stage.   
 
Key Stage 3 – covers teaching for children between the ages of 11-14.  At the end of this 
stage children are assessed to see if they have made the progress expected at that stage. 
 
Leeds Strategy Group – brings together the city council, other public sector bodies in 
Leeds together with representatives from the business and voluntary, community and faith 
sectors to monitor the performance and review the contents of the Leeds Strategic Plan. 
 
Local Area Agreement (LAA) – sets out the priorities for a three year period for a local area 
agreed between central government and a local area (the local authority and Local Strategic 
Partnership) and other key partners at the local level. 
 
Local Enterprise and Growth Initiative (LEGI) – over £20 million will be invested in poorer 
parts of the city to boost the number of businesses between 2006 – 2010. 
 
Level 2 Skills – are equivalent to a A*-C grade GCSE and are the minimum necessary for 
many types of employment. 
 
Level 3 Skills – are equivalent to an Advanced Level qualification. The proportion of jobs 
requiring Level 3 qualifications is anticipated to rise. 
 

Page 211



 

 36 

Multi Area Agreement (MAA) – is an agreement between the local authorities in the City 
Region and central government to deliver improvements in areas such as transport, skills 
and the economy across a number of neighbouring local authorities. 
 
Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) – a young person between the ages of 
16-18 who is not in education, employment or training. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) – is a form of public private partnership (PPP), where the 
public sector purchases capital items from the private sector, who finance as well as 
construct the asset and then receives a stream of payments for a fixed period from the public 
sector purchaser. 
 
Scrutiny Board – Scrutiny boards examine the decisions, policies and overall performance 
of the council, making recommendations for improvement where necessary. 
 
Super Output Areas (SOAs) – are a way of measuring and comparing social and economic 
conditions in small geographic areas consistently and reliably. 
 
Self Directed Support – like direct payments, means giving people who need extra care 
and support control over the budget from which this is purchased thus giving them greater 
choice over what care they receive. 
 
Third sector – refers to not for profit organisations and includes voluntary, community and 
faith groups, and social enterprises. 

Page 212



 

 37 

 
About this Plan 
 
For enquiries about the Leeds Strategic Plan or to obtain further copies please: 
  
Email:  leedsstrategicplan@leeds.gov.uk 
 
Or Telephone: 0113 224 3462 
 
Or visit our website www.leeds.gov.uk/leedsstrategicplan  or 
www.leedsinitiaitive.org/leedsstrategicplan 
 
Or write to: 
 
Leeds Strategic Plan 
Planning, Policy and Improvement 
2nd Floor East 
Civic Hall 
Leeds LS1 1UR 
 
 
Visit the Leeds City Council website www.leeds.gov.uk or the Leeds Initiative website  
www.leedsinitiaitve.org to find out more about other plans, policies and partnerships referred 
to in this plan. 
 
 
If you do not speak English and need help in understanding this document, please phone: 
 
0113 224 3462 and state the name of your language.  We will then put you on hold while we 
contact an interpreter.  We can assist with any language and there is no charge for 
interpretation. 
 
 

Urdu: 

 
 
Cantonese: 

 
 
Bengali: 
 

 

Page 213



 

 38 

 
Punjabi: 

 
 
Polish: 
 
Jeżeli nie mówią Państwo po angielsku i potrzebują pomocy w zrozumieniu tego 
dokumentu, prosimy zadzwonić pod poniższy numer telefonu. Po podaniu nazwy 
swojego ojczystego języka prosimy poczekać – w tym czasie będziemy kontaktować 
się z tłumaczem. 
 
 

Czech 
 
Jestliže nemluvíte anglicky a potřebujete, aby vám někdo pomohl vysvětlit tento 
dokument, prosím zavolejte na níže uvedené číslo a uveďte svůj jazyk. Potom vás 
požádáme, abyste nepokládal(-a) telefon a mezitím zkontaktujeme tlumočníka. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This publication can also be 
made available in Braille, 
large print, on computer disc 
and audio cassette. 
Please call: 0113 224 3462 

Page 214



 

 39 

 
 

 

 

Page 215



Page 216

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance) 
 
Council 
 
Date: 2nd July 2008 
 
Subject: Standards Committee Annual Report 2007/08 
 

        
 
 

Executive Summary  

1. The purpose of this report is to make the Council aware of the Standards Committee 
Annual Report 2007/08. The appearance of this report reflects the Standards 
Committee’s concern to enhance awareness of its role and activities. This report provides 
an outline of the content of the report, which is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

2. Members of the Council are asked to note the Standards Committee Annual Report  
2007/08  at Appendix 1. 

 

 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: Amy Kelly 
 

Tel: 0113 39 50261 

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 217



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 
 
1.1  To make the Council aware of the Standards Committee Annual Report 2007/08. 

The report is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
2.0 Background Information 
 
2.1  It has been proposed that an annual report be submitted to the Council to outline the 

achievements of the previous year and plans for the year 2008/09. The appearance 
of this report reflects the Standards Committee’s concern to enhance awareness of 
its role and activities. The final draft of the report was approved by the Standards 
Committee at its meeting on 14th April 2008.  

 
2.2 At this meeting, it was also agreed that the annual report would be presented to the 

Council at the earliest opportunity. 
  
3.0 Main Issues 
 
3.1 The following section of the report summarises the content of the Standards 

Committee annual report.  
 
3.2 The Work of the Committee 2007-2008 

 
The section about the work of the Committee in this municipal year is split up into 
five issue areas which reflect the Committee’s terms of reference. The content of 
these sections is summarised below. 

 
3.3 Promoting, monitoring and reviewing the codes of conduct 

• Members Code of Conduct 2007 

• Reviewing the Codes and Protocols 

• Ethical Audit 2006 

• Ethical Audit 2007 

• Monitoring compliance with the Code of Conduct 

• Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality 

• Officer Code of Conduct 

• Raising the profile of the Committee 
 
3.4 Providing guidance and training 

• Induction for City Councillors 

• Training on the Members’ Code of Conduct 2007 

• E-learning Modules 

• Parish Council Training 

• Governance Mattters 
 
3.5 Relationship with Parish and Town Councils 

• Annual Audit 

• Training on the new Code of Conduct 

• Parish and Town Council Induction Pack 
 

Page 218



3.6 Corporate Governance issues 

• Comprehensive Performance Assessment 

• Corporate Governance Statement 

• Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 
 
3.7 Working with other agencies 

• Consultation and Research 

• Standards Board for England 

• Adjudication Panel for England 

• Association of Independent Members of Standards Committees in England 
(AIMSce) 

 
3.8 Issues for 2008-2009 

 
The potential work of the Committee for the next municipal year is summarised at 
the end of the report.  These issues are outlined below: 
 

• Changes in the role of the Standards Board 

• Implementation of the Ethical Audit Action Plan 

• Raising the profile of the Standards Committee 

• Learning and Development Programme for officers 
 
4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance  
 
4.1 There are no implications for Council policy. 
 
4.2 By producing a report which details its work throughout the year, and the principal 

decisions it has taken, the Standards Committee is promoting transparency in its 
actions.  

 
4.3 The annual report is also a method by which Members and officers can be informed 

of the Standards Committee’s role and its inputs and outputs. This is an objective of 
the corporate governance communication plan which seeks to cascade regular 
information to Members and officers. The annual report will therefore have a 
fundamental contribution to the corporate governance arrangements of the Council. 

 

5.0 Legal And Resource Implications 
 
5.1 There are no legal or resource implications. 
 
6.0 Conclusions 
 
6.1 The publication of this annual report will support the Council’s governance 

arrangements by promoting transparency in the Standards Committee’s actions and 
help fulfill the corporate governance communication plan. 

 

Page 219



7.0 Recommendations 
 
7.1 Members of the Council are asked to note the Standards Committee Annual Report 

2007/08 as set out in Appendix 1. 
 

Page 220



1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1  

2.0   Background Information 

2.1  

3.0 Main Issues 

3.1  

4.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

4.1  

5.0  Legal And Resource Implications 

5.1  

6.0  Conclusions 

6.1  

7.0 Recommendations 

7.1  

Page 221



Page 222

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
 
 

 

Standards Committee 
 

Annual Report 

2007 – 2008 
 

 

Page 223



 

 2 

 

Introduction 
 

The Local Government Act 2000 requires councils to set up a standards 

committee. Standards committees have a proactive role in creating an 

ethical framework which governs the relationship between high standards 

of conduct and transparency and openness in decision making. 

 

This is  the Committee’s third Annual Report and it presents a summary of 

the Leeds City Council Standards Committee’s work during 2007/2008. 

This report supports the Corporate Governance arrangements of the 

Council by promoting good conduct and cascading information. 

 

Foreword from the Chair 

 

I am pleased to provide the foreword to this third Annual Report of the 

Leeds Standards Committee. Readers will gain a good insight to our work 

during municipal year 2007/08.  

 

We have accomplished a good deal during the year and the section on 

“Issues for 2008-09” indicates the important new responsibilities that will 

fall to the committee in the coming year. The Standards Committee 

welcomes comments or questions arising from this Annual Report.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 224



 

 3 

 

Members of the Committee 

The Standards Committee is composed of three independent members, five 

City Councillors, and two Parish Councillors. 

Independent Members 

The purpose of independent members is to help increase public confidence in 

ethical standards and provide a clear signal that the Standards Committee is 

fair. Independent members also bring a wider perspective to the Standards 

Committee from outside experiences. Independent members are not 

Members or officers of the Council, and are not actively engaged in local 

party political activity. They are appointed by the Full Council for terms of 

four years, and can serve two terms overall. This is to prevent them losing 

their independence from the authority. 

Mike Wilkinson  

has been an independent member and Chair of the Committee 

since 2002. Until 2001 he was a University Secretary and Clerk 

to the Board at Leeds Metropolitan University. He is a magistrate 

on the Leeds Bench and also acts as an Independent Assessor to 

the Student Loans Company. He is a Director of UNIPOL Student 

Homes. His final term of office runs until the Annual Meeting in 

2010. 
 

Rosemary Greaves 

joined the Standards Committee in 2004 as a reserve 

independent member. Rosemary previously worked for BT as a 

Business Manager specialising in business development and 

strategy which includes developing significant new business 

propositions or identifying potential acquisition requirements. 

Rosemary became a full independent member in 2007 and her 

current term of office runs until the Annual Meeting in 2011. 

 

Page 225



 

 4 

 

Philip Turnpenny 

joined the Standards Committee in April 2008 as a full 

independent member. Philip is currently a Director of Human 

Resources at Moores Furniture Group in Wetherby. Philip is also 

a Magistrate sitting in both the Adult and Family Proceedings 

Courts in Bradford and a governor at Tadcaster Grammar School 

as well as the Chairman of their Finance Committee. Philip’s 

current term of office runs until the Annual Meeting in 2012. 
 

Cheryl Grant 

joined the Standards Committee in 2003 as a reserve 

independent member, and became a full member in 2004. 

Cheryl resigned from the Standards Committee in October 2007.  

 

 

Leeds City Councillors 

 
The Councillors on the Standards Committee are representatives of all five 

political groups within the Council. The Standards Committee is not politically 

balanced, this is because the standards committee should be above party 

politics and its members need to have the respect of the whole authority, 

regardless of their political party. 

 

Councillor Les Carter 

is a member of the Conservative Group and has been a Leeds City 

Councillor since 1974. He represents the Adel and Wharfedale 

ward on Leeds City Council and is also an Executive Board Member 

with responsibility for Neighbourhoods and Housing. Councillor 

Carter’s areas of responsibility include housing policy and strategy, 

community safety, regeneration, homelessness and environmental 

health. 

 

Page 226



 

 5 

 

Councillor Elizabeth Nash 

is a member of the Labour Group and has been a Leeds City 

Councillor from 1973 to 1988, and 1989 to present. She was also 

a member of the Leeds County Borough Council from 1972 to 

1974. She represents the City and Hunslet ward on Leeds City 

Council, has been a member of the Committee since 2003, and is 

also a member of the City Centre Plans Panel. 
 

Councillor Graham Kirkland 

is a member of the Liberal Democrat Group and represents the 

Otley and Yeadon ward on Leeds City Council. He has been a 

Councillor for a total of 41 years, and was Lord Mayor from 1998-

1999. Councillor Kirkland is also a member of the Health and Adult 

Social Care Scrutiny Board, the Culture and Leisure Scrutiny Board 

and is the Chair of the Personnel and Training Committee of West 

Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority. 
 

Councillor David Blackburn 

is the Leader of the Green Group and represents the Farnley and 

Wortley ward on Leeds City Council. Councillor Blackburn is also a 

member of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee, 

Development Plans Panel and the City Centre Plans Panel. 

 

Councillor Judith Elliott 

is a member of the Morley Borough Independent Group and 

represents the Morley South ward on Leeds City Council. Councillor 

Elliott is also a member of the Children’s Services Scrutiny Board 

and a member of Morley Town Council. 

 
 

Page 227



 

 6 

 

Parish Councillors 

 
The role of the Parish Councillors on the Standards Committee is to make 

sure that the parish and town councils in Leeds are represented throughout 

discussions. At least one of the Parish Councillors must sit on the Standards 

Committee at all times when parish matters are being discussed. As the 

Standards Committee also has responsibility for the Parish and Town 

Councillors in the Leeds area, the Parish Councillors on the Standards 

Committee demonstrate that parish issues are going to be dealt with fairly. 

They also bring an additional independent perspective to the Committee as 

they are not able to be members of Leeds City Council. 

Councillor Mrs Pat Walker 

is a member of Pool-in-Wharfedale Parish Council which she was 

elected to for the first time 6 years ago. She is lead member on 

conservation matters. Previously a Harrogate District Councillor, 

she has been involved in politics at local, national and European 

levels. A business manager in Leeds and Harrogate for 25 years, 

she is now an active member of the Ruskin Society and is 

presently a Foundation Governor of Prince Henry’s Grammar 

School, Otley. Councillor Walker’s current term of office runs until 

the Annual Meeting in 2009. 

 

 

Councillor John C Priestley 

joined the Committee in 2005 as a reserve parish member. He is a 

retired (litigation) solicitor and was a senior partner of Booth & Co. 

Leeds. He retired in 2002 and is now the Chairman of East Keswick 

Parish Council and a member of the Wetherby and District Crime 

Prevention Committee. He is also a Trustee of the W.W. Spooner 

Charitable Trust. Councillor Priestley’s current term of office runs 

until the Annual Meeting in 2011. 

 

Page 228



 

 7 

 

Introduction to the Standards Committee 
 

The general functions of the Standards Committee are: 

 Promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct by Members and 

co-opted members; and 

 Assisting Members and co-opted members to observe the Code of 

Conduct. 

The terms of reference for the Committee are: 

 Promoting, monitoring and reviewing the rules controlling the 

behaviour of Councillors and Officers (Code of Conduct); 

 To consider any complaints made about the behaviour of Councillors 

and decide whether their behaviour has broken the rules described 

above. If the Councillor is found to have broken the rules, the 

Committee decide what punishment to impose; 

 To make suggestions to and work with other agencies about standards 

issues and the different codes of conduct. This involves taking part in 

research projects and consultation exercises, as well as making 

suggestions for improvement and best practice to the Standards Board 

for England; 

 To provide advice and guidance to Members and officers and to make 

arrangements for training them on standards issues; 

 To advise the Council about changes which need to be made to the 

code of conduct for Officers and to promote, monitor and review this 

code. 

To carry out the above functions the Committee works closely with the 

Parish and Town Councils in the Leeds area and with the authority’s 

Monitoring Officer. You can find out more about them on pages 21 and 22 

of this report. 

Page 229



 

 8 

 

The Work of the Committee 2007 – 2008 

Promoting, monitoring and reviewing the Codes of Conduct 

The Standards Committee exists to promote and maintain high standards 

of conduct within the Council, and has considered several important 

standards issues over the past year. The Committee has also sought to 

promote awareness of its existence and its functions amongst other 

Members of the Council. 

 Members Code of Conduct 2007 - The Standards Committee met on 

1st May 2007 to recommend to Full Council that they adopt the new 

Members’ Code of Conduct as published by the government. The 

Standards Committee also agreed a model version of the Code of 

Conduct for Parish and Town Councils to adopt, and considered the 

training which should be offered to all Members on the Code. The 

Standards Committee has also consulted Leeds City Council Members 

regarding any additions they wish to make to the Code of Conduct, 

although no necessary additions have been identified. 

 Reviewing the Codes and Protocols - The Standards Committee 

has responsibility for several codes and protocols in the Constitution. 

To ensure that these are operating effectively, are being complied 

with, and are fit for purpose the Standards Committee has added 

regular reports regarding these codes and protocols to its work 

programme. The Standards Committee has reviewed: 

• the Protocol on Member/officer Relations; 

• the Code of Practice for the determination of planning matters; 

• the Code of Practice for the determination of licensing matters; and  

• has received an annual report from the Monitoring Officer reviewing 

compliance with the Monitoring Officer Protocol.  

In particular further guidance has been added to the Protocol on 

Member/officer Relations on the issue of bullying and the extent of 

Page 230



 

 9 

 

Members’ involvement in commercial transactions. After consideration 

and consultation on all these documents, the Standards Committee 

believes that they are fit for purpose. The Committee will also be 

extensively reviewing its own Procedure Rules and the Media Protocol 

once the new regulations for local filtering are implemented. 

 Ethical Audit 2006 – Further to the ethical audit aimed at elected 

members and senior officers with management responsibilities carried 

out in conjunction with the Audit Commission in 2006, the Standards 

Committee approved an action plan to address the shortfalls identified 

in the results on 12th July 2007. Since then the Standards Committee 

has monitored the Council’s progress towards the actions identified 

very closely. The Committee has received individual reports on those 

pieces of work which fall within their terms of reference, and has 

received six monthly progress reports on the other actions. It is 

anticipated that the success of these actions will be measured through 

another Ethical Audit carried out in 2008. 

 Ethical Audit 2007 - The Standards Committee has been involved in 

launching and monitoring another local ethical audit this year, which 

tested the level of ethical awareness in the authority amongst those 

officers not covered by the 2006 audit. Although the audit covered all 

elements of the ethical framework, a large proportion of the questions 

related to awareness and understanding of the requirements of the 

Code of Conduct, as well as the contents of the protocol on 

Member/officer relations. The Committee will be using these results to 

inform future training and guidance on these issues. The proposed 

actions to address these results will be added to the existing Ethical 

Audit action plan to promote a more holistic approach. 

 Monitoring compliance with the Code of Conduct - In order to 

monitor compliance with the Members’ Code of Conduct the Standards 

Committee receives six monthly reports on the number and types of 

complaints that have been referred to the Standards Board regarding 

Page 231



 

 10

 

Leeds City Council Members and Parish and Town Councillors in the 

Leeds area. The report also identifies any trends in the information so 

that the Committee can seek to address these matters through 

guidance and training.  

The table below shows the number of complaints which have been 

made about Councillors in Leeds during this municipal year, and the 

number which have been referred for further investigation. The 

Committee did not identify any widespread problems or trends in the 

complaints before them. 

Authority  Number of  

Complaints 

Number referred for 

further investigation 

Leeds City Council 21 3 1 

Parish and Town Councils 9 1  

 Register of Interests and Gifts and Hospitality - The Standards 

Committee seeks to reassure itself that the Members’ register of 

interests is being reviewed and updated by Members on a regular basis 

and that the new rules surrounding the registration of gifts and 

hospitality are being observed. The Committee receives annual reports 

to this effect, the last report on this subject having been considered on 

10th October 2007. The Committee were satisfied that the review 

arrangements in place are fit for purpose. The Committee also 

reviewed the register of gifts and hospitality from 2002 to May 2007 

during this year, and noted any trends in this information. A report on 

this subject was received by the Committee on 10th October 2007, 

which noted no adverse trends. 

 Officer Code of Conduct - The Standards Committee has monitored 

compliance with the officer code of conduct, particularly the 

requirement to register interests and offers of gifts and hospitality, 

through regular reports from Human Resources. The Standards 

                                            
1 Two of these investigations have since been completed. Both investigations resulted in 

no breach of the Members’ Code of Conduct being found and no further action being 

taken. 

Page 232



 

 11

 

Committee has monitored compliance with the officer code of conduct, 

particularly the requirement to register interests and offers of gifts and 

hospitality, through reports from the Chief Officer (Human Resources). 

The Committee has received several updates on the steps that have 

been taken so far to embed the existing arrangements for officers to 

make declarations of interests and declarations of offers of gifts and 

hospitality. The Committee has also suggested that an amended 

version of the register of interests (with the third party information 

removed) for certain senior officers should be a public document, and 

have written to the Department for Communities and Local 

Government to request that they consider this as an option when 

drafting the new national code of conduct for officers. This will be an 

area the Standards Committee will continue to support the Council in 

addressing. 

 Raising the profile of the Committee – In order to raise the profile 

of the Standards Committee and the profile of the ethical framework, 

the Chair of the Standards Committee attends regular meetings with 

the Leader of the Council. The Chair is a co-opted member of the 

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee and also attends full 

Council meetings when he is able to. Other members of the Committee 

have also attended Parish and Town Council training sessions during 

this year. In addition the Standards Committee has reviewed and 

amended its communications plan, and will seek to implement some of 

the actions identified in the new municipal year. 

All members were recently asked to provide suggestions to the Head of 

Governance Services on how their roles could be developed and their 

profiles raised. The following suggestions have been received: 

• Regular attendance by independent members at meetings of Full 

Council (on a rotational basis). 

• Meetings between members of the Committee and representatives 

from the most significant Council’s partnerships to discuss the 

Page 233



 

 12

 

importance of ethical good governance and share information on 

each others’ current arrangements. 

• Periodic meetings between the Chair of the Committee and the 

Council’s Chief Executive. 

• A short session during a Corporate Leadership Team meeting for the 

independent members of the Committee. 

• An annual ‘open forum’ meeting of the Standards Committee where 

officers or public could attend and raise issues. 

• An annual meeting between the Chairs of the Corporate Governance 

and Audit Committee and the Standards Committee with relevant 

officers to consider the overall good governance practice and 

identify areas for improvement. 

• Interviews with and profiles of various members of the Standards 

Committee in Governance Matters and other (possibly external) 

media. 

• A session on the Standards Committee at a meeting of the Joint 

Consultative Committee (where the trade unions and Council 

officers are represented). 

• Visits to meetings of Parish and Town Councils in Leeds, and to 

meetings of Area Committees. 

• An annual meeting between the Chair of the Standards Committee 

and the Leaders of the opposition groups. 

These suggestions will be considered and possibly implemented during 

the 2008/09 municipal year. 

Page 234



 

 13

 

Providing Guidance and Training 

The Standards Committee has a special responsibility for ensuring that 

Members are trained in matters relating to the code of conduct and 

arranging for appropriate training to be provided. During this year, the 

Standards Committee has both reviewed and recommended training for 

City Councillors and Parish and Town Councillors. 

 Induction for City Councillors – The Standards Committee has 

supported the induction training programme for new Members; all new 

Members received the required training on the Code of Conduct and 

had completed their Acceptance of the Code of Conduct and Register of 

Interests forms.  

 Training on the Members’ Code of Conduct 2007 – Following the 

Council’s adoption of the new Members’ Code of Conduct on 24th May 

2007, the Standards Committee supported an extensive programme of 

training for all Members and certain officers of Leeds City Council. A 

total of 91 Councillors attended training sessions or briefings between 

May and October 2007, the remaining eight receiving the training 

materials by post. All those officers working in Governance Services 

and Legal Services with responsibility for advising Members on Code of 

Conduct issues have also been provided with training and guidance. 

 E-learning Modules - The Standards Committee has also sought to 

make training on the Code of Conduct and local codes and protocols 

more accessible and convenient for Members by supporting the 

creation of an updated version of the e-learning module “Cracking the 

Code”. Part 1 covers the general obligations of the Code and Part 2 

covers the requirement to declare and register interests. The updated 

module was launched prior to the Full Council meeting on 16th January 

2008. This initiative has been well received by Leeds’ Members.  

 Parish Council Training – The Standards Committee has sought to 

improve the training offered to Parish and Town Councils in the Leeds 

Page 235



 

 14

 

area. The Standards Committee keeps the training available and 

received by Parishes under review through regular reports on the work 

programme. In response to requests by Parish Clerks that training 

could be carried out in group sessions, five grouped sessions were 

offered on the new Code of Conduct in June and July 2007. Some of 

these were also attended by representatives from the Standards 

Committee. The Committee is continually seeking to improve the 

services it offers to Parish and Town Councils, and build on its 

relationship with the Parishes (see the next section for details).   

 Governance Matters - The Standards Committee also features 

heavily in the regular bulletin ‘Governance Matters’ which is distributed 

to all Members of the Council, Directors, Chief Officers and all officers 

within Legal, Licensing and Registration, Procurement and Democratic 

Services. This bulletin contains a ‘spotlight on’ section which provides 

advice on specific standards or governance issues, front page news 

and feedback from the Council’s governance committees. There have 

been sixteen issues so far, they are published on a bi-monthly basis 

and are available to download from the Council’s website2. 

                                            
2 

http://www.leeds.gov.uk/Council_and_democracy/Councillors_democracy_and_elections

/Council_documents/Governance_Matters_Newsletter.aspx  

Page 236



 

 15

 

Relationship with Parish and Town Councils 

The Standards Committee has sought to develop its relationship with the 

Parish and Town Councils in the Leeds area during this municipal year.  

 Annual Audit - The Standards Committee has asked each Parish Clerk 

to complete a questionnaire this year, which asked questions about 

their register of interests, how interests are declared and recorded and 

what training the Parish Councillors had received on the new Code of 

Conduct. The results of the audit showed that some Parishes would like 

further training on the Code of Conduct from Leeds City Council and 

that more guidance may be needed on personal and prejudicial 

interests. The Committee will address these issues with the provision 

of further training sessions and additional guidance to Clerks. 

 Training on the new Code of Conduct – The Standards Committee 

arranged for eight training sessions to take place for Parish and Town 

Councillors since the new Code was introduced. There were also two 

separate sessions organised for Parish Clerks to explain to them the 

practical implications of the new Code of Conduct, for example how to 

advertise its adoption. Overall 111 Parish and Town Councillors have 

received training from Leeds City Council, and 19 Clerks from 21 

Parishes, with the prospect of further local training sessions being 

organised as a result of the Annual Audit. Through the work carried out 

on the Annual Audit it is also clear that some Parishes have taken 

advantage of training from other sources, including the Yorkshire Local 

Councils Association. 

 Parish and Town Council Conference – Representatives from the 

Parish and Town Council Liaison Forum and officers of Leeds City 

Council organised the first Parish and Town Council Conference in 

Leeds this year. This took place on 10th April 2008 at Civic Hall. 

Members of the Standards Committee attended the conference in order 

to introduce themselves, explain the role of the Standards Committee, 

Page 237



 

 16

 

and to assist officers with briefing delegates on the Members’ Code of 

Conduct. 

 Parish and Town Council Induction Pack – In order to assist 

Parishes with preparing for the election period, all Clerks were provided 

with information packs which included model forms and guidance on 

the Code of Conduct, such as how to complete a register of interests 

form. This assisted Parishes with complying with the relevant 

deadlines, and will be revised and reissued in May 2008 to those 

Parishes having elections. 

Page 238



 

 17

 

Corporate Governance Issues 

The Standards Committee contributes to the corporate governance of the 

Council in the following areas: 

 Comprehensive Performance Assessment – The Committee has 

considered how the Council has performed against the criteria in 

relation to ethical standards and the Use of Resources Key Lines of 

Enquiry, and any improvements which could be made to the ethical 

framework.  

 Corporate Governance Statement – The Standards Committee and 

its work regarding the conduct of Members and officers feature in the 

Council’s Corporate Governance Statement. In particular the 

Committee’s monitoring of complaints about Members and compliance 

with the codes of conduct. 

 Corporate Governance and Audit Committee – The Standards 

Committee has further developed its relationship with the Corporate 

Governance and Audit Committee during this municipal year. The Chair 

of the Standards Committee remains a co-opted member of the 

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee, and the minutes of each 

Committee are received by the other. The Corporate Governance and 

Audit Committee also receives a report on the Standards Committee’s 

work every six months.  

Page 239



 

 18

 

Working with Other Agencies 

During the year, the Standards Committee has taken part in research and 

policy development on a national scale through various consultation 

exercises. The Independent Members of the Standards Committee are 

involved in the Standards Committee Independent Members’ Regional 

Forum of Yorkshire and Humberside. 

 Consultation and Research – Members of the Standards Committee 

have responded to the consultation paper published by Communities 

and Local Government on the new Orders and Regulations relating to 

the conduct of Local Authority Members. The Committee provided their 

own comments and collated comments from several senior officers, to 

form a Council response. The Orders and Regulations will be published 

in May 2008. 

The Standards Committee has also taken part in a research project on 

local filtering during this municipal year. Several Standards Committee 

Members took part in this exercise where ten real cases were provided 

to the Committee to consider. Their answers were then analysed by 

the Standards Board to assist them with preparing for the new 

arrangements, in particular what could be done to ensure some level of 

consistency in the decisions made by individual standards committees. 

The Standards Committee has also considered the results of previous 

research projects commissioned by the Standards Board for England 

which they have been involved in, such as the study on the 

effectiveness of the Standards Board for England.  

 Standards Board for England - The Chair of the Standards 

Committee has attended the Sixth Annual Assembly of Standards 

Committees held by the Standards Board for England on 15th and 16th 

October 2007, which provided opportunity for training and guidance 

and also feedback to the Standards Board on their work. In addition, 

the Chair of the Standards Committee was a member of the steering 

Page 240



 

 19

 

committee for this year’s conference, and was a speaker on the issue 

of independence. This presentation, called the ‘State of Independence’, 

was one of the most successful at the Annual Assembly, receiving 98% 

‘good’ or ‘very good’ feedback from delegates. The Chair has also been 

asked to be a member of the steering group for the seventh annual 

assembly to be held on 13th and 14th October 2008. The Standards 

Committee is kept up to date on national conduct issues by receiving 

regular Standards Board Bulletins through the agenda and issues of 

the Town and Parish Standard. The Standards Committee also received 

and considered the Standards Board’s Annual Report at their meeting 

in October 2007. 

 Adjudication Panel for England – The Standards Committee is able 

to monitor the way in which the Code of Conduct is being interpreted 

and how sanctions are applied at a national level through the regular 

reports it receives on Adjudication Panel for England cases. The 

Committee also considered the Adjudication Panel’s third annual report 

at their meeting in October 2007.  

 Association of Independent Members of Standards Committees 

in England (AIMSce) - The Chair of the Standards Committee is a  

Director of AIMSce. The Association provides support and guidance to 

independent members in carrying out their statutory responsibilities, 

and also acts as a forum for exchanging views and ideas with other 

organisations and stakeholders. 

 

 

 

Page 241



 

 20

 

Issues for 2008 – 2009 

The Standards Committee will have many important issues to address in 

the coming the year, including the following: 

 Changes in the role of the Standards Board – From 8th May 2008 

all complaints about the behaviour of Members of Leeds City Council or 

Parish and Town Councillors in Leeds will be received by Leeds City 

Council rather than the Standards Board. These will then be assessed 

by a sub-committee of the Standards Committee to decide whether 

any further action is necessary. The Committee will also be able to 

carry out reviews of these decisions through a separate sub-

committee, and will have more powers of sanction available to it when 

conducting hearings. 

The Standards Board will monitor the Standards Committee’s progress 

by receiving regular reports on the number of complaints and the 

outcomes of those complaints, as well as other information such as 

how much training has been provided by the Committee. 

 Implementation of the Ethical Audit Action Plan – The action plan 

formulated by the Standards Committee during this municipal year will 

continue to be implemented and monitored by the Standards 

Committee throughout the new municipal year. The action plan will 

also be updated to incorporate any actions arising from the results of 

the Ethical Audit 2007. 

 Raising the profile of the Standards Committee – The Committee 

will continue to explore ways of raising their profile within the Council. 

The various suggestions made by Members of the Committee will be 

discussed and possibly implemented during this municipal year. 

 Learning and Development Programme for Officers – The 

Committee will continue to monitor the progress of the Learning and 

Development Programme currently being implemented by the Chief 

Officer (Human Resources). The Committee will seek to ensure that 

Page 242



 

 21

 

the training provided raises awareness of the codes and protocols that 

apply to officers to assist in embedding the ethical framework within 

the Council, and will continue to receive regular progress reports on 

this issue. 

Page 243



 

 22

 

Useful Links 

If you would like to find out more about standards issues and the work of 

the Committee, as well as keep up to date with national issues, you may 

find the following links useful: 

 The Standards Board for England (for guidance on standards 

issues, standards committees and outcomes of recent cases) 

www.standardsboard.gov.uk 

 The Adjudication Panel for England – www.adjudicationpanel.co.uk 

 The Audit Commission – www.audit-commission.gov.uk 

 Department for Communities and Local Government – 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/corporate/  

 Leeds City Council – www.leeds.gov.uk 

 National Association of Local Councils – www.nalc.co.uk 

 Yorkshire Local Council Association - 

www.visionwebsites.co.uk/Contents/Text/Index.asp?SiteId=490&SiteE

xtra=13134021&TopNavId=459&NavSideId=5536  

 Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy – 

www.ipf.co.uk 

 Association of Independent Members of Standards Committees 

in England – www.aimsce.org.uk    

 

 

 

 

 

Page 244



 

 23

 

Parish Councils 

The Standards Committee has a special responsibility to the Parish and 

Town Councils in Leeds. The Standards Committee is responsible for 

ensuring high standards of conduct are met within the parishes and that 

every Member is aware of their responsibilities under the code of conduct. 

 

The Parish and Town Councils in the Authority’s area are: 

 

Aberford & District Drighlington Otley 

Allerton Bywater East Keswick Pool-in-Wharfedale 

Arthington Gildersome Pudsey 

Austhorpe Great and Little 

Preston 

Scarcroft  

Bardsey Cum Rigton Harewood Shadwell 

Barwick in Elmet & 

Scholes 

Horsforth Swillington 

Boston Spa Kippax Thorner 

Bramham cum 

Oglethorpe 

Ledsham Thorp Arch 

Bramhope and 

Carlton 

Ledston with Ledston 

Luck 

Walton 

Clifford Micklefield Wetherby 

Collingham with 

Linton 

Morley Wothersome (Parish 

Meeting) 

 

 

 

 

Page 245



 

 24

 

The Monitoring Officer 
 

In Leeds City Council, the role of the Monitoring Officer rests with the 

Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance). The Monitoring officer 

has a key role in promoting and maintaining standards of conduct. 

As well as acting as legal advisor to the Standards Committee, the 

Monitoring Officer carries out the following functions: 

 reporting on contraventions or likely contraventions of any enactment 

or rule of law; 

 reporting on any maladministration or injustice where the Ombudsman 

has carried out an investigation; 

 establishing and maintaining registers of Members’ interests and gifts 

and hospitality; 

 maintaining, reviewing and monitoring the Constitution; 

 supporting the Standards Committee; 

 receiving reports from Ethical Standards Officers and decisions of case 

tribunals; 

 conducting investigations into misconduct; 

 performing ethical framework functions in relation to Parish Councils; 

 acting as the proper officer for access to information; 

 advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy 

framework; and  

 advising on vires issues, maladministration, financial impropriety, 

probity, and budget and policy issues to all Members. 

 

Page 246



 
Report of the Assistant Chief Executive (Corporate Governance)   

 
Full Council 
 
Date: 2nd July 2008 
 
Subject: Corporate Governance and Audit Committee Annual Report  
 

        
 
 
1.0 Purpose Of This Report 

1.1 This report presents to Full Council the first annual report from the Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee.  The report is attached at appendix one.  

 
2.0   Main Issues 

2.1 Members are requested to receive the report and note the impact the Committee 
has had in relation to the governance arrangements of the Council. 

  
3.0 Implications For Council Policy And Governance 

3.1 Preparing an annual report and presenting this to the Full Council is consistent with 
best practice guidance in relation to Audit Committees and therefore strengthens the 
Council’s position in respect of any external assessments of the Council’s 
governance arrangements.   

3.2 By producing an annual report that focuses on the impact of the Committee’s work 
the Committee has been able to ensure that the work it undertakes during the year 
is relevant and effective.  

4.0  Legal And Resource Implications 

4.1 There are no legal or resource implications. 

5.0 Recommendations 

5.1 Full Council is recommended to receive the Annual Report of the Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee. 

Specific Implications For:  

 
Equality and Diversity 
  
Community Cohesion 
 
Narrowing the Gap 

Electoral Wards Affected:  

 
 

 

 

Originator: A Hodson   
 

Tel: 43208  

 Ward Members consulted 
 (referred to in report)  
 

Agenda Item 9

Page 247



Page 248

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

 
 
 
 

Corporate Governance and 

Audit Committee 
 

Annual Report 

2007 – 2008 
 

 

Page 249



 

 2 

 

Foreword from the Chair 

 
I am pleased to present the first annual report of the Corporate 

Governance and Audit Committee.  It records real progress in achieving 

the degree of independence, vigilance and thoroughness demanded by 

modern standards of corporate governance throughout the public sector.  

It also indicates the breadth of the Committee’s work in pursuit of the 

goal that every aspect of the Council’s work should be compliant with 

those standards and transparent to its stakeholders.  Most importantly, 

the report demonstrates the impact of the Committee’s work, and the 

extent to which it has been concerned with laying firm foundations for 

future governance.  

 

In a recent meeting with Audit Committee Chairs from the UK’s other core 

cities, I was pleased to note that Leeds City Council is performing well in 

our adoption of best practice; inevitably however, there is progress still to 

be made in a number of areas.  These include the strengthening of 

governance relationships with the Council’s partner organisations, given 

the increasing importance of inter-agency working.   

 

I record my thanks to the members of the Committee, to Council officers 

for their challenging support, to KPMG (the Council’s external auditors) for 

their rigorous professionalism, and to the Local Government Ombudsman 

for helping us discharge our obligations to all the citizens of Leeds.  I 

would like in particular to express my appreciation of the work of 

Councillor Elizabeth Minkin, who is retiring from the Council after 20 years 

of distinguished service.  

 

 
Cllr John Bale  

Page 250



 

 3 

 

Introduction 

Background  

The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee was established in March 

2005.  The Committee replaced the Council Business Committee taking on 

their functions and some additional functions relating to internal audit, 

compliance with statutory and other guidance and internal control. It held 

its inaugural meeting on 19th April 2005.   

Corporate Governance is a phrase used to describe how organisations 

direct and control what they do.  For local authorities this also includes 

how a council relates to the communities that it serves.  Good corporate 

governance requires local authorities to carry out their functions with 

integrity and in a way that is accountable, transparent, effective and 

inclusive.  The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance provides more 

information regarding corporate governance at Leeds.  

Membership  

In accordance with best practice guidance produced by the Chartered 

Institute for Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) the Committee 

reviewed its membership in April 2006 to ensure appropriate 

independence from the Executive Board.  The members of the Committee 

for 2007-2008 are set out below:  

Councillor John Bale (Chair)  

Councillor David Blackburn  

Councillor Colin Campbell 

Councillor Geoffrey Driver  

Councillor Robert Gettings  

Councillor Elizabeth Minkin  

Mike Wilkinson, the Independent Chair of the Standards Committee is a 

non-voting co-opted member of the  Committee.   

Page 251



 

 4 

 

 

Terms of Reference  

In summary the Committee is responsible for the Council’s arrangements 

relating to:  

• external audit; 

• internal audit;  

• risk management; 

• the internal control environment (corporate governance 

arrangements); 

• compliance with statutory and other guidance;  

• considering and making proposals for amendments to the Council’s 

Constitution;  

• approving the Accounts; and  

• approving the Annual Governance Statement.  

 

The full terms of reference are attached at appendix one.  

 

The Annual Report  

Effective audit committees help raise the profile of internal control, risk 

management and financial reporting issues. They enhance public trust 

and confidence in the governance of the Council.  As such, the Corporate 

Governance and Audit Committee has resolved to produce an annual 

report for presentation to full Council for two reasons:  

• to demonstrate the impact of its work over the last year; and  

• to raise awareness of corporate governance across the Council.  

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 252



 

 5 

 

The Work of the Committee 2007 – 2008 

The following section provides a summary of the work that the Committee 

has undertaken over the last year, including the impact that work has had 

on the effectiveness of the Council’s overall corporate governance 

arrangements. It is divided up according to the different elements of the 

Committee’s terms of reference.  

External Audit  

External audit is an essential part of the process of ensuring public money 

is spent accountably.  The Council’s external auditors are KPMG. Their 

work is guided by an annual audit plan which details the work they will 

complete over the coming year.  The plan is based on any areas of risk to 

the Council that are identified in the corporate risk register and on in-put 

from Members and officers.  During 2007-08 the auditors produced a 

number of reports, which were received by the Committee and published 

on the Council’s website.   

 

 East and South East Leeds (EASEL)  Regeneration Project – Risk 

Review   

In November 2007 the Committee received a report regarding a risk 

review of the Joint Venture Company being established between Leeds 

City Council and Bellway plc to deliver an ambitious, housing led 

initiative targeting some of the most deprived wards in the City.  The 

report considered the risks associated with the operation of the Joint 

Venture Company to assist the Council in avoiding the problems 

encountered by other organisations setting up similar arrangements. 

The KPMG report also considered what might be a suitable approach to 

performance management.  

 The Committee resolved that the governance arrangements for EASEL 

must ensure a clear separation between the role of Leeds City Council 

Page 253



 

 6 

 

officers appointed to the EASEL board and those officers responsible 

for monitoring performance on behalf of the council. The Committee 

also stressed the need to find a balance between robust controls and a 

flexibility that will enable the Council to pursue its priorities in later 

years.  

In April 2008, the Committee received a further report providing them 

with the opportunity to comment on the draft governance 

arrangements for EASEL.  The Committee resolved to recommend to 

the Executive Board  that, in signing the management agreement for 

the EASEL project, they seek greater clarity from officers regarding 

which decisions will no longer be subject to the Council’s constitutional 

arrangements, and what alternative arrangements will be in place to 

ensure that decisions are taken in an informed, transparent way which 

is open to the scrutiny of the public and Members. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Children and Young People’s Agenda: Partnership Working  

Also in November 2007 the Committee received a report on the 

‘Children and Young People’s Agenda: Partnership Working’. The 

purpose of the audit was to provide the Council with an assessment of 

whether the arrangements are performing effectively and to identify 

any key issues for improvement.  

The Committee commented on the complex nature of the Children’s 

Trust arrangements in Leeds and welcomed the opportunity to develop 

their understanding.  The Committee sought assurance that the 

arrangements operate effectively at a local level and, as such, 

Impact  

By receiving these reports the Committee was able to directly 

influence the arrangements established for the EASEL project 

with a particular focus on governance issues, especially 

decision-making.   

Page 254



 

 7 

 

requested that officers prepare a report back on the operation of local 

arrangements.  

The report the Committee received in March provided a description of 

the developing arrangements at a local level.  The Committee 

commented on the complexity of the arrangements and asked a 

number of questions of officers regarding how responsibility for 

individual services is established at the local level.  The Committee will 

monitor this issue during 2008-09 and have requested that officers 

report back on a number of specific issues in September 2008, as set 

out below:  

§ how and to whom responsibility for delivering children’s services 

has been delegated, with specific reference to the Council’s 

functions;  

§ details regarding the commissioning arrangements that have 

been established and what accountability arrangements are in 

place where services are commissioned; and 

§ how the various elements of the children’s services governance 

arrangements (e.g. clusters, area management boards, wedge 

partnerships) are able to influence decision-making.  

 

 The Annual External Audit Plan  

The Committee is further developing its role in this area by having 

greater involvement in the development of the external audit plan for 

the next municipal year.   

The Committee received a report in March 2008 regarding the audit 

plan for 2008-09. They particularly supported KPMG’s proposal to 

include Health Inequalities and Scrutiny as areas for review. They also 

requested that the auditors consider including a review of the current 

children’s services arrangements.  

 

Page 255



 

 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Other Reports  

Other reports received by the Committee this year were:  

Report  Committee Resolution  

Waste Management 

Review 

 

The Committee resolved to receive update 

reports as this project develops so they 

can maintain an overview of the 

effectiveness of the governance 

arrangements. The Committee also 

stressed the importance of keeping 

Members informed of the key decisions 

made in relation to the waste solution.  

 

Identification of Non-

Priorities and 

Distribution of 

Resources  

 

The Committee resolved to note the 

content of the report, they also requested 

that officers prepare a report for a future 

meeting applying the Council’s project 

management methodology to a case-

study.  

  

Building Capacity 

Review  

 

The Committee noted this report.  

E-Government Benefits  The Committee noted this report.  

Impact  

This process has helped to strengthen governance at Leeds by 

ensuring that the valuable work of the auditors is focussed, not 

only where there are perceived risks, but in areas felt to be 

significant by elected Members.   

Page 256



 

 9 

 

Internal Audit  

Internal audit is an independent function established by the Council to 

objectively examine, evaluate and report on the adequacy of the 

corporate governance arrangements. Reports issued by internal audit 

provide a key source of assurance to the Committee that the governance 

arrangements in place are functioning correctly. The Committee is also 

responsible for monitoring the performance of internal audit.   

At their meeting on the 29th June 2007 the Committee received the 

annual internal audit report looking back at work completed and issues 

identified in the previous municipal year.  The Committee raised two 

issues that were of particular interest: the governance in place when 

providing grants to voluntary organisations and the internal audit 

arrangements of the Arms Length Management Organisations (ALMOs).  

At their meeting of the 14th January 2008 the Committee received the 

half-year update report which again raised concerns regarding the 

internal audit arrangements for one of the ALMOs.  The Committee 

expressed their concern at the failure of the ALMO to implement internal 

audit, which was identified as a risk to the Council. They requested an 

urgent report back from relevant officers regarding this matter.  

 

 

 

 

Impact 

The Committee's involvement in this matter ensured the risks to the 

Council were fully understood and has, through regular reports and 

monitoring, ensured that appropriate action was taken. 

Page 257



 

 10

 

Risk Management 

Risk management is defined as the effective management of threats and 

opportunities in order to enhance the delivery of Council services.  Good 

risk management practices enable the Council to make better decisions, 

and enhance its ability to achieve its objectives.   The Committee receives 

both an annual report and regular update reports from the Chief Officer 

(Audit and Risk) regarding key risk and business continuity management 

developments across the Council and its strategic partners.  

 Annual Report  

At their meeting on the 29th June 2007 the Committee received the 

annual report on risk management arrangements for 2006-07.  The report 

focussed on the following key issues:  

• the management and oversight of the Council’s corporate risk register;  

• developing departmental risk registers;  

• risk management within projects;  

• business continuity planning, particularly in relation to influenza and 

ICT; and  

• training.  

The Committee noted the work that had been undertaken by the risk 

management unit over the previous year. They also expressed a wish to 

develop their own knowledge and understanding of risk management in 

order to ensure that they are able to make an effective contribution to the 

development of risk management at Leeds. A separate briefing session on 

risk management was delivered to the Committee on 27th September 

2007.   

 The Corporate Risk Register  

The Committee received the second of its regular update reports at its 

meeting on the 28th November. This provided an update on all the areas 

covered in the annual report, and informed the Committee of the results 

Page 258



 

 11

 

of a benchmarking exercise comparing Leeds City Council’s approach to 

risk management, and in particular to the corporate risk register, to that 

of the other Core Cities.1  Further to the results of that exercise the 

Committee requested that further consideration be given to the 

publication of the Leeds corporate risk register, taking into account the 

principle that information should be available and accessible to the public 

to ensure transparent governance. 

 

   

 

 

The final update report of the year was received by the Committee at 

their meeting on the 23rd April.  Members were particularly interested in 

the fact that two critical services had not yet completed business 

continuity plans. Members were informed that while one of the services 

had made significant progress in preparing a plan the other remained a 

concern. The Committee requested that the issue be immediately brought 

to the attention of the appropriate Executive Member and that they 

continue to be updated on the matter.   

Corporate Governance / Internal Control  

In addition to the specific role the Committee has in relation to audit and 

risk management it has a broad responsibility for reviewing the adequacy 

of the Council’s wider corporate governance arrangements.  It receives a 

number of regular and ad hoc reports which provide assurance that the 

Council’s arrangements are operating effectively, these are summarised 

below.  

                                            
1
 The Core Cities are Birmingham,  Bristol, Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham and 
Sheffield.  

Impact 

The Council is currently preparing a risk register which could be 

made accessible to the public when it is received and formally 

considered by the Council early in the new municipal year.   

Page 259



 

 12

 

 Local Government Ombudsman  

At their meeting on the 27th September 2007 the Committee received the 

Local Government Ombudsman’s letter for 2007-06. The Ombudsman for 

the region, Anne Seex, attended the meeting in order to present the letter 

and respond to any questions. The Ombudsman’s letter provided a key 

assurance to the Committee that, in general, there are robust and 

effective mechanisms in place for dealing with complaints.  Members also 

identified key areas for improvement raised in the letter, in particular, the 

need to ensure that good quality information is provided to the 

Ombudsman when the Council is first notified of a complaint. The 

Committee requested that officers in customer services keep them 

updated of actions taken to improve the quality of responses sent to the 

Ombudsman.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In both September and February the Chief Officer (Customer Services) 

also provided the Committee with a commentary and analysis of 

complaints received during the preceding 5 month period.  This enabled 

the Committee to identify any trends in complaints which might indicate a 

breakdown in governance controls.  No significant trends were identified, 

however this is a valuable way in which the Committee receives 

assurance that the Council’s governance arrangements are operating 

effectively.  

Impact 

The Committee received an update report from the Chief Officer 

(Customer Services) at their meeting of the 6th February. This report 

informed the Committee of the new procedures established, on the 

Committee’s urging, to ensure good quality responses to the 

Ombudsman.   

 

Page 260



 

 13

 

 

 Partnerships Governance Arrangements 

At their meeting on the 29th June 2007 the Committee received a detailed 

report updating them on work undertaken by officers throughout 2006-

07, at the Committee’s request, to respond to the Audit Commission  

report ‘Governing Partnerships – Bridging the Accountability Gap’. The 

report had identified the governance of partnerships as an area for 

improvement for many local authorities.  

The report presented to the Committee a proposed definition of the 

Council’s significant partnerships and a governance framework which the 

Committee resolved all partnerships must comply with.  The Committee 

requested a report back in November providing an assurance that the 

Council’s significant partnerships had been identified and governance 

arrangements established for them.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee continue to maintain a keen interest in the toolkit which is 

being developed to support officers in ensuring that robust governance 

arrangements are in place for all the Council’s significant partnerships.  

IMPACT  

In November the Committee received a report presenting a list of 

significant partnerships to the Committee and summarising the 

governance arrangements in place for them. Completing this list 

enabled the Council to ensure that it met the Audit Commission’ s 

requirement that all significant partnerships are identified and have 

governance arrangements in place.  

Page 261



 

 14

 

 

 Delivering Successful Change (Project Governance)  

Like the governance of partnerships, the governance of projects, has been 

a key focus of the Committee’s work during 2007-08.  ‘Delivering 

Successful Change’ (DSC) is the corporate project which is developing a 

consistent approach to project and programme management for 

implementation across the Council.   

The Committee received the first update report of 2007-08 at their 

meeting on the 29th June 2007. This report informed the Committee that 

the Executive Board had: 

• approved the Corporate Project Management Framework as mandatory 

for all Council projects; and   

• approved the ‘Policy on the Governance of Council Business Change 

Programmes and Projects’ setting out the principles under which the 

Council’s business change programmes and projects will be 

undertaken. 

The Committee received a further update report at their meeting on the 

14th January 2008.   The Committee was particularly interested in how far 

the DSC methodology had been implemented across the Council.  It was 

their view that for DSC to be a fully effective governance tool there needs 

to be evidence that it is being used consistently. The Committee was 

informed by officers that a proposed Corporate Portfolio and Programme 

Management function will in future be able to provide assurance regarding 

implementation.  Members were also assured that the use of the DSC 

methodology should now be compulsory for any new projects. 

 Members also sought assurance that the methodology includes a 

requirement to keep relevant Elected Members appraised of the 

development and implementation of projects.  They were informed that 

Page 262



 

 15

 

the stakeholder communication plan, which is part of the methodology, 

should ensure this. 

 

 

 

 

 Governance information on the Leeds City Council website  

In June 2007 the Committee received the Council’s annual Corporate 

Governance Statement.  During their consideration of that item the 

Committee expressed a particular concern regarding the accessibility of 

information relating to decision making on the Council’s website. The 

Committee felt that providing this information on the website is an 

important way in which the Council ensures that decision-making is 

inclusive and transparent. They requested, therefore, that the Assistant 

Chief Executive (Planning, Policy and Improvement) improve the 

accessibility of this information and report back to them regarding his 

actions.  

IMPACT 

 
The Committee’s view that the DSC methodology must make 

adequate provision for Member involvement has led to officers 

redrafting key elements of the methodology to ensure this.  

Page 263



 

 16

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee was pleased with the improvements made but took the 

opportunity to express the view that the internet could be used as a more 

effective tool for community engagement.  The Committee will receive a 

report on this matter in the new municipal year.  

 Review of Polling Districts, Places and Stations  

Under their terms of reference the Committee has the authority to 

consider and determine any Council function delegated to a Director that 

the Director decides to refer to them. Under this element of their terms of 

reference, and with reference to their overall responsibility for the 

adequacy of the Council’s governance arrangements, the Committee 

Impact  

At their meeting on the 28th November the Committee received a 

report on this matter.  The report set out a number of improvements 

that had been made to the website in order to address the Committee’s 

concerns. These included:  

• the addition, on the front page of www.leeds.gov.uk of a ‘My 

Council’ section which features the major elements of the Council 

and Democracy section of the website – including an A-Z of 

Councillors, Council meetings, scrutiny boards and elections and 

voting;  

• the introduction of additional entry points to the information 

contained on and published through the Democratic Services 

Information System (DSIS) – this includes Committee meeting 

agendas and minutes, the Forward Plan and delegated decision 

notification forms; and  

• amendments to the Council and Democracy section of the 

website to provide descriptive links to the information published 

through DSIS.  

Page 264



 

 17

 

undertook a substantial piece of work to review the Council’s current 

polling arrangements and approve proposals for a new scheme. 

In order to give this matter thorough consideration, taking into account all 

the views received as part of the consultation exercise, the Committee 

received reports at their meetings on the 28th November 2007, 6th 

February 2008 and 12th March 2008.   

 

 

 

The Committee also resolved that the polling scheme should be looked at 

again, prior to the next elections, to ensure that the issue of equality of 

access for electors is addressed.   

 Code of Corporate Governance  

At their meeting on the 19th March 2008 the Committee received a report 

presenting a revised Code of Corporate Governance for Leeds City 

Council.  The Code is a public statement of the Council’s commitment to 

Corporate Governance which sets out how the Council will meet that 

commitment.   

The Council first published a Code of Corporate Governance in June 2003. 

Since then the Council has regularly reviewed and updated the Code 

based on any new guidance. The Code was last updated in July 2005 to 

reflect the six principles identified in The Good Governance Standard for 

Public Services. In late 2007, following consultation, CIPFA/ SOLACE 

published Delivering Good Governance in Local Government – the 

Framework. The Framework is based on the six principles originally set 

out in The Good Governance Standard, which have been adapted for local 

authority purposes. The document is intended as best practice guidance 

for developing and maintaining a local code of corporate governance. The 

Impact  

At the March meeting the Committee agreed a final proposed scheme 

of polling – for implementation in time for the 2008 elections.    

 

Page 265



 

 18

 

revised Code that the Committee received in March reflected this new 

guidance.   

Overall the Committee was happy with the proposed amendments to the 

Code, although they requested that one of the principles be amended to 

better reflect the Council’s commitment to encourage local people to be 

involved in decision making. They also requested that officers  further 

investigate the possibility of developing additional codes and protocols to 

govern the relationship between the Members and officers.  

 

 

 

IMPACT 

The Council now has in place an improved Code which reflects the 

most recent best practice guidance but which also takes into account 

the local position in Leeds and the views of Elected Members.   

Page 266



 

 19

 

Constitution  

One of the Committee’s key functions is to consider proposals for 

amendments to the Council’s Constitution and either: 

• approve the amendment (where this is within their authority); or  

• make recommendations to full Council for amendments.  

During 2007-08 the Committee made the following amendments / 

recommendations: 

• to amend Article 4 of the Constitution, which sets out the Councils 

Budget and Policy Framework, so as to reflect the Council’s new 

corporate planning framework – the amendments removed the 

Corporate Plan from the Article and added the Leeds Strategic Plan and 

the Leeds Business Plan;  

• to amend the Protocol for the Coordination of External Audit and 

Inspection Reports so that reports need only be received by the 

Executive Board on referral from the Corporate Governance and Audit 

Committee, reducing the duplication of work;  

• that the Local Choice Functions (which are set out in Part 3 of the 

Constitution) to allocate functions under the Local Government and 

Public Involvement in Health Act, which relate to the local area 

agreement, be allocated to the Executive; and 

• that Council Procedure Rule 26 to be amended to provide for substitute 

arrangements for the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee.  

In January 2008 the Committee was asked, by the Leader of Council, to 

establish a working group, comprising the elected Members on the 

Committee, to develop proposals for Constitutional change addressing 

issues raised by Members in a diagnostic exercise undertaken by the 

Deputy Chief Executive.  

The working group met twice, on the 6th February and the 19th March, and 

particularly looked at: 

Page 267



 

 20

 

• the content of Article 4, the Council’s budget and policy framework, 

which sets out the Council’s decision making framework; 

• the process by which policies in the budget and policy framework are 

developed, consulted on and approved;  

• the Council’s arrangements for scrutiny; and   

• the definition of the Council’s most significant decisions.  

 

 

 

 

 

Statement of Accounts  

One of the Committee’s most important statutory roles is to approve the 

Council’s Statement of Accounts.  All Members of the Committee received 

a briefing session on the structure and content of the Accounts at the 

beginning of the municipal year to support them in carrying out this 

function.  

The Statement of Accounts show how the Council has used public money 

and demonstrate that the Council has been responsible.  The accounts for 

2006-07 were received by the Committee at their meeting on 29th June 

2007.  After being informed by the Chief Officer (Financial Management) 

of a number of minor changes that had been made since the Committee 

received the accounts they were approved.  

Once the Committee had approved the accounts they were made 

available to the public to enable electors to inspect them, ask any 

questions or challenge them. They were also then passed to the Council’s 

external auditors for examination.  

IMPACT  

The Committee made a number of recommendations for amendment 

to the Constitution when were approved by the Full Council at the 

annual meeting in May 2008.  

Page 268



 

 21

 

At their meeting on the 27th September 2007 the Committee received a 

report from the external auditors regarding the quality of the accounts. 

The auditors reported that no material errors had been identified and 

commented on the smooth running of the audit.   

The Committee were updated on new international financial reporting 

standards which will come into effect in 2009-10 at their meeting on the 

23rd April 2008 – to ensure that they remain up to date.  A refresher 

training course on the accounts will be offered at the beginning of the 

next municipal year.  

Corporate Governance Statement  

Each year the Council produces a Corporate Governance Statement which 

is a public statement regarding the adequacy of the Council’s corporate 

governance arrangements.  It sets out the arrangements that have been 

in place for the previous year and also details what actions the Council 

will take over the forthcoming year to further strengthen its governance.  

As the Statement forms part of the accounts it is always received at the 

same meeting – therefore, the 2007 Statement was approved at the 

Committee’s meeting on the 29th June 2007.   

At the same meeting the Committee received a number of annual update 

reports to support the information contained in the Statement. These 

included:  

• the Standards Committee annual report; 

• an annual report on Member development; 

• a report on the Council Plan and the Council’s performance 

management framework; 

• the annual report on risk management; and  

• the annual internal audit report.   

 

Page 269



 

 22

 

The Committee also received a report at their meeting on the 14th 

January 2008 regarding progress against the Corporate Governance 

Statement Action Plan – which is based on the areas for improvement 

identified in the Corporate Governance Statement.  Receiving this update 

provided an opportunity for the Committee to challenge officers on the 

completion of actions. The Committee was particularly interested in the 

implementation of business continuity plans within Directorates and asked 

to be updated in the next risk management update report.  For details of 

their consideration of this item see the section on risk management.  

 

 

Page 270



 

 23

 

Work Programme for 2008 – 2009 

 

At their meeting on the 23rd April 2008 the Committee agreed a draft 

work programme for 2008-09.  

The work programme is developed with reference to: 

• any regular items that the Committee receives, for example the 

Statement of Accounts, and update reports on risk management, 

internal audit, ombudsman complaints and project governance; 

• any requests for reports that the Committee has made over the 

previous year, for example on the development of the Council’s 

website to improve community engagement; and 

• any emerging areas of local or national interest, for example the 

Committee will receive reports in 2008-09 on information governance 

– in particular data security.  

The work programme for 2008-2009 is attached at appendix two – other 

items will be added to this as issues emerge over the course of the year. 

Page 271



 

 24

 

Further Information 

The following information can be accessed on the Council’s website – 

www.leeds.gov.uk: 

• past agendas and minutes for the Corporate Governance and Audit 

Committee;  

• the Council’s Code of Corporate Governance, Corporate Governance 

Statement and Statement of Accounts;  

• external audit reports;  

• Governance Matters – the bi-monthly newsletter produced by 

Governance Services;  and  

• the Council’s Constitution.  

 

If you have any specific questions you can also contact the Corporate 

Governance team by e-mail, cxd.corporategovernance@leeds.gov.uk or 

by phone on 0113 395 1632.  

Page 272



 

 25

 

APPENDIX ONE  

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee 
 

The Corporate Governance and Audit Committee is authorised to 
discharge the following functions2: 

 
1.  to consider and determine Council (non-executive) functions3 

delegated to a Director4 where the Director has decided not to 
exercise the delegated authority and has referred the matter to the 

Committee. 
 

2.  to consider the Council’s arrangements relating to accounts 
including: 

 
(a) the approval of the statement of accounts and any 

material amendment of the accounts recommended by 

the auditors; 
(b)  the approval of the Statement on Internal Control; and 

(c)  with the exception of any matter, which may result in 
the accounts being qualified, responding to the Council’s 

auditors in respect of any matter where it is not 
considered appropriate to make the amendments 

recommended by the auditors. 
 

3.  to consider the Council’s arrangements relating to external audit 
requirements including: 

(a)   agreement and review of the nature and scope of the 
annual audit plan, 

(b)  the receipt of external audit reports so as to: 
(i)  inform the operation of Council’s current or future 

audit arrangements; and 

(ii)  provide a basis for gaining the necessary 
assurance regarding governance prior to the 

approval of the Council’s accounts. 
 

4.  to review the adequacy of policies and practices to ensure 
compliance with statutory and other guidance 

 
5.  to review the adequacy of the Council’s Corporate Governance 

arrangements (including matters such as internal control and risk 
management) 

                                            
2
 Functions” for these purposes shall be construed in a broad and inclusive fashion and shall include 
the doing of anything which is calculated to facilitate or is conducive or incidental to the discharge of 
any of the specified functions. 
3
 These functions, which include those local choice functions, which have been determined as non 
executive functions, are detailed in Sections 1 and 2 of Part 3 of the Constitution. 
4
 Director” includes those Officers specified in Sections 1 and 2 of Part 3 of the Constitution. 

Page 273



 

 26

 

 

6.  to consider the Council’s arrangements relating to internal audit 
requirements including: 

(a) considering the Annual Internal Audit Report 
(b) monitoring the performance of internal audit 

 
7.  to consider proposals to amend the Constitution and make 

recommendations to full Council5 

                                            
5
 As outlined in Article 15 of the Constitution 

Page 274



 

 27

 

APPENDIX TWO 

Corporate Governance and Audit Committee Work Programme 2008-2009  

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Meeting Date: 18th June 2008   
 

Annual Internal Audit 
Report  

To receive a report detailing the work of the internal audit section 
during 2006/7 and the key findings from the audits that have been 
undertaken.  
 

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey 
 

Annual Report on Risk 
Management 
 

To receive and consider a report detailing the progress of the Council 
in achieving the targets in the Corporate Governance Statement to 
embed risk management. 
 

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey 
 

Annual Report on Project 
and Programme 
Assurance  
 

To receive the annual report on the effectiveness of the Council’s 
arrangements for project and programme assurance.  

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey  
 

Annual Report of the 
Standards Committee 
 

To receive a report regarding the annual report of the Standards 
Committee. 
 

Head of Governance Services 
Andy Hodson 
 

Annual report on Member 
Training 
 

To receive a report updating Members on Member training. 
 

Head of Scrutiny and Member 
Development 
Peter Marrington 
 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
5



 

 28

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Annual Audit and 
Inspection Letter (Audit 
Commission) 
 

To receive the Annual Audit and Inspection Letter from the Audit 
Commission 
 

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey 
Audit Commission Relationship 
Manager 
Head of Policy, Performance 
and Improvement.  
Steve Clough  
 

Update Report on 
complaints to the 
Ombudsman  

To receive the quarterly performance report in relation to complaints to 
the Local Government Ombudsman.  

Corporate Customer Relations 
Manager 
Wendy Bowes 
 

June 25th 2008  
 

Corporate Governance 
Statement 
 

To receive and approve the Council’s Corporate Governance 
Statement for 2007/ 
 

Head of Governance Services 
Andy Hodson 
 

Statement of Accounts 
 

To receive the Council’s accounts. 
 

Chief Officer (Financial 
Management) 
Doug Meeson 
 

September 30th 2008 
 

Audited Statement of 
Accounts 
 
 

To receive a report detailing any issues with the audited accounts. 
 

Chief Officer (Financial 
Management) 
Doug Meeson 
 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
6



 

 29

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Local Government 
Ombudsman’s Annual 
Letter 
 

To receive the annual letter from the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

Corporate Customer Relations 
Manager 
Wendy Bowes 
 

Annual Report on 
Corporate Complaints   

To receive a report summarising and identifying any trends in relation 
to all corporate complaints received in 2007-08.  
 

Corporate Customer Relations 
Manager 
Wendy Bowes 
  

Children’s Services  To receive a report of the Director of Children’s Services responding to 
the Committee’s resolution at their meeting on the 19th March 2008 – 
to detail accountabilities at a local level.  
 
 

Director of Children’s Services 
Rosemary Archer  

Developing the 
community engagement 
portal  

To receive a report regarding on-going work to develop  the internet 
for community engagement.  

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Policy, Planning and 
Improvement) 
James Rogers  
 

Council Planning 
Applications  

Further to Standards Ctte resolution of the 5th December to receive a 
report on the process by which the Council makes planning 
applications and by which these are decided. The Ctte is to consider 
this process and whether is provides assurance that the Council deals 
with these planning applications in the same manner as with others.  
 

Chief Officer (Planning)  
Phil Crabtree  
 
Caroline Allen  

CAA Use of Resources – 
self – assessment 

To receive a report detailing the results of the self – assessment 
exercised carried out by officers in relation to the proposed CAA use of 
resources key lines of enquiry for 2008 / 09  
 

Chief Officer (Financial 
Management)  
Doug Meeson  

P
a
g
e
 2

7
7



 

 30

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Data Security  To receive a report on actions taken by the Council to ensure data 
security.  

Head of Information and 
Knowledge Management 
Lee Hemsworth  

Leeds Community 
Foundation  

To receive a report providing information regarding the Council’s 
relationship with the Foundation and the governance of the Foundation 
itself.  
 
 
 
 

Head of Governance Services  
Andy Hodson  

November 26th 2008  
 

Half Year Internal Audit 
Report 2007/08 
 

To receive a report detailing the work of the internal audit section to 
date. 
 

Head of Internal Audit 
Neil Hunter 
 

Update Report on Risk 
Management 
 

To receive a report updating Members on the Council’s risk 
management arrangements 
 

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey 
 

Corporate Governance 
Statement Action Plan 
 

To receive a report detailing progress made against actions in the 
Corporate Governance Statement Action Plan 
 

Head of Governance Services 
Andy Hodson 
 

January 21st 2009  
 

Standards Committee 
Update Report  

To receive a report summarising the activities of the Standards 
Committee over the last 6 months 
 

Head of Governance Services 
Andy Hodson 
 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
8



 

 31

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Update Report on 
complaints to the 
Ombudsman 
 

To receive the regular performance report in relation to complaints to 
the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

Corporate Customer Relations 
Manager 
Wendy Bowes 
 

March 18th 2009 
 

Update Report on Risk 
Management 
 

To receive a report updating Members on the Council’s risk 
management arrangements 
 

Chief Officer (Audit and Risk) 
Tim Pouncey 
 

April 29th 2009 
 

Annual Review of the 
Constitution 
 

To receive a report regarding proposed amendments to the 
Constitution as a result of the annual review. 
 

Head of Governance Services 
Andy Hodson 
 

Update Report on 
complaints to the 
Ombudsman 

To receive the regular performance report in relation to complaints to 
the Local Government Ombudsman. 
 

Corporate Customer Relations 
Manager 
Wendy Bowes 
 

Unscheduled Items / Items for 2008-2009  
 

Project Prioritisation  
 

To receive a report demonstrating the application of project 
prioritisation.   

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Planning, Policy and 
Improvement)  
James Rogers   
 

P
a
g
e
 2

7
9



 

 32

 

ITEM DESCRIPTION RESPONSIBLE OFFICER 
 

Report on the governance 
arrangements in ALMOs 
and other arms length 
management 
organisations.  
 

To receive a report regarding the management / governance 
arrangements in place to manage the Council’s relationship with the 
ALMOs and other arms length management organisations.  

TBC  

Update reports on the 
waste solution programme  

To receive regular update reports regarding the governance 
arrangements in place for the waste solution programme.  
 

Recycling and Waste Manager  
Pippa Milne  

 

 P
a
g
e
 2

8
0


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Reports
	appointments

	7 Recommendations of the Executive Board
	Safer Leeds Partnership Plan Report 18th March
	Safer Leeds Partnership Plan 7th April (vsn 2)
	cover report Council Business Plan 20 jun
	Council Business Plan Final Draft 20 jun
	cover report Leeds Strategic Plan 23 june
	Leeds Strategic Plan Memorandum of LAA 20 june
	Leeds Strategic Plan Full Text 20 june

	8 Recommendations of the Standards Committee
	Stds Annual Report 2007-08

	9 Recommendations of the Corporate Governance and Audit Committee
	080613 CGA Annual Report 2007-08


